Thesis submitted for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

at the University of Leicester

by

# Tomas Walsh BSc (Galway), MSc (Leicester)

# **Department of Pathology**

**University of Leicester** 

September 1997

UMI Number: U601239

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U601239 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 For Mary and Padraic

#### Abstract

Despite extensive research the pathways of breast cancer development remain largely unknown. The identification of key genetic alterations, particularly at the early stages of the disease, are central to elucidating the developmental pathways for this disease.

Pure populations of tumour cells were microdissected from well defined groups of breast lesions, comprising: ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) tubular carcinomas, and mammographically-detected, impalpable early stage, moderately to well differentiated invasive carcinomas, and analysed for alterations in polymorphic tandem repetitive sequences (microsatellites). This enabled analysis of microsatellite instability (MI), which has been demonstrated to be indicative of a mutator phenotype in colorectal cancer, and loss of heterozygosity (LOH), which may indicate the presence of a tumour suppressor gene.

MI was demonstrated to be a tumour specific alteration not present in benign proliferative disorders. It was present in 8 of 11 (73%) high grade lesions of DCIS, but only at a low frequency in low grade DCIS and invasive carcinomas and was absent from the tubular carcinomas. Two distinct types of alteration were observed: alterations to a single trinucleotide repeat (DM-1), and alterations of multiple microsatellite loci. Cases demonstrating this phenotype did not show alterations of candidate DNA repair genes (MSH2, MLH1 and PMS2), or in key cancer associated loci (TGF $\beta$ RII, IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4), indicating that this phenotype is distinct to that described in colorectal tumours.

LOH studies were focused on chromosome 16q21-24.4, a site for which there is evidence of alteration in the early stages of the disease. A high frequency of LOH (greater than 40%) was observed in all carcinomas. A candidate tumour suppressor gene, E-cadherin, mapping to this region, was not found to be mutated in these cases demonstrating LOH. In vivo experiments suggested that this gene could be silenced by aberrant methylation.

In summary, MI was associated with high grade lesions, whereas LOH at 16q was observed at similar frequencies in all the carcinomas, possibly reflecting different roles in the development and progression of breast cancer.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisors Jacqui Shaw and Rosemary Walker for giving me the opportunity to train as a scientist, for their continued support and encouragement over the years, and their tremendous dedication during the writing of this thesis.

Special thanks to Steve Chappell for being a great friend and for always being there.

Thanks also to Louise Jones for many inspirational ideas and discussions, and to Howard Pringle for help with 'the big picture'.

Thanks to everyone at Glenfield, especially Sheila, Howyda, Steve "23", Alison, Fiona, Simon, Amrick and Vanessa. To everyone at the Royal, especially Malcolm, Jon, Steve D, Leon, Gareth, and Matt. Also, to Michelle for her excellent proofreading skills.

Thanks to Richard and Tony and all the staff and patrons of Woods for their continued friendship and support over the years.

To Julian Ketley, thank you for inspiring me to be a scientist.

Finally, thank you to Karen, Eileen and Finlay Scott for your generosity and kindness.

# Contents

Title	i
Dedication	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Table Of Contents	v-viii
List Of Figures and Tables	ix-x
Abbreviations	xi-xiii
CHAPTER 1. General Introduction To Breast Cancer	1-37
1.1 Introduction To Breast Cancer	1
1.2 Risk Factors For The Development Of Breast Cancer	2-8
Family History Of Breast Cancer	2-5
Age	5
Age At Menarche	5
Age At Birth Of First Child And Parity	5
Age At Menopause	6
Obesity	6
Smoking	6
Oral Contraceptive Pill	6-7
Hormone Replacement Therapy	7
Radiation	7
Geographical Variation	7
Benign Breast Disease	8
1.3 Predicting The Behavior Of Breast Cancer	9-17
Staging	9-11
Pathological Features	11-15
Biological Features	16-17
1.4 The Multistep Nature Of Carcinogenesis	18-22
1.5 Genetic Alterations In Breast Cancer	23-28
Tumour Suppressor Genes	23-26
Oncogenes	26-28
1.6 Natural History Of Breast Cancer	29-35
Ductal Carcinoma In Situ	32-33
Lobular Carcinoma In Situ	33-34
Atypical Ductal Hyperplasia	34
Morphologically Normal Breast Tissue	34
Susceptibility Genes	35
1.7 Hypothesis and Aims	36-37
CHAPTER 2. Materials And Methods	38-69
2.1 Introduction To Materials And Methods	38-46
Formalin Fixed Paraffin Embedded Tissues	38
Polymerase Chain Reaction	38-42
Purification Of Tumour Cell Populations	43
Immunohistochemistry And Antigen-Retrieval	44
Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy	44
Tissue Culture	44-45
Methylation Analysis	45-46
2.2 Materials	47-54

Tissues	47
Histology	47-49
Reagents And Cell Lines	50-52
Commonly Used Solutions	53-54
2.3. Methods	55-69
Cell culture	55
DNA Extraction's	55-57
PCR Methodologies	57-61
Electrophoresis	61
DNA Sequencing	62-64
Methylation Analysis	64
Immunohistochemistry	64-68
Western Blotting	68-69
CHAPTER 3. Introduction	70-84
3.1 Genetic Instability And Human Disease	70-72
Trinucleotide Repeat Expansion	70-72
3.2. Microsatellite Instability And Cancer	73-79
Mismatch Repair Genes	74
Mechanism Of Mismatch Repair	75-76
Microsatellite Instability In Sporadic Cancers	77
Microsatellite Instability In Breast Cancer	77-79
Mismatch Repair Genes In Breast Cancer	79
3.3 Mismatch Repair Mechanisms And Cancer	80-82
ΤGFβRII	80
IGFIIR	80
Bax	81
E2F-4	81
APC	82
MSH3 and MSH6	82
Other Targets	82
3.4 Mismatch Repair Deficiency And Drug Resistance	83-84
CHAPTER 3. Aims	84
CHAPTER 3. Results	85-115
3.5 Microdissection	85-87
3.6 Microsatellite Instability Analysis	88-98
Fibroadenomas	89
DCIS	90-92
Early Invasive Carcinomas	93-96
Tubular Carcinomas	97-98
3.7 Analysis Of Cancer-Associated Genes	99-106
<b>TGF</b> β <b>R</b> II	99-100
Bax	101
IGFIIR	102
E2F-4	103-104
c-erbB-2 and p53	105-106
3.8 Analysis Of Mismatch Repair Proteins	107-111
3.9 Microsatellite Instability And Development Of Drug Resistance	112-115

MCF-7/Adr Cell Line	112-113
Doxorubicin Treatment Of MCF-7 Cell Line	114-115
CHAPTER 3. Discussion	116-128
3.10 Microsatellite Instability	116-117
Technical Problems	116-117
Fibroadenomas	117
Invasive Carcinomas	117-119
DCIS	119-120
3.11 Mismatch Repair Proteins And Cancer-Associated Genes	121-128
MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2	121-123
TGFBRII, IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4	123-127
DM-1 and DMPK ?	127
3.12 Microsatellite Instability And Drug Resistance	127-128
CHAPTER 4. Introduction	
4.1 The Tumour Suppressor Gene Concept	129-134
Somatic Cell Genetics	129
Retinoblastoma And The 'Two-Hit Hypothesis'	129-131
De novo Methylation	132-133
4.2 LOH In Breast Cancer - The Role Of Chromosome 16q	134-137
Cytogenetic Evidence	134-135
Molecular Studies	135
Analysis Of 'Early' Lesions'	135-136
Distinct Regions Of LOH On Chromosome 16q	136-137
4.3 Candidate Tumour Suppressor Genes On Chromosome 16q	138-141
Chromosome 16q22.1	138-140
E-cadherin	138-140
P-cadherin	140
Chromosome 16q24.3-qter	141
H-Cadherin	141
CHAPTER 4. Aims	141
CHAPTER 4. Results	142-171
4. 4 Microdissection	142
4.5 Loss of Heterozygosity Analysis	143-151
Fibroadenomas	143
DCIS	144-146
Early Invasive Carcinomas	147-149
Tubular Carcinomas	150-151
4.6 Analysis Of Candidate Tumour Suppressor Genes	152-165
E-cadherin Mutation Analysis	152-155
E-cadherin Immunohistochemistry	156-160
H-cadherin	101-102
P-cadherin	103-103
4.7 Metnylation Analysis	100-171
PCR-Based Methylation Assay	100-109
Methylation Specific-PCR	1/0-1/1
CHAPTER 4. Discussion	172-177
4.8 Loss of Heterozygosity	172-175

Technical Difficulties	172
Fibroadenomas	172
DCIS	173-174
Early Invasive Carcinomas	174
Tubular Carcinomas	175
4.9 Analysis Of Candidate Genes	175-177
E-cadherin	175-177
H-cadherin and P-cadherin	177
CHAPTER 5. Conclusions	178-182
Microdissection	178
Microsatellite Instability	178-179
LOH	179-180
Breast Cancer Development	181-182
5.2 Future Approaches	183-184
DM-1 and DMPK In Breast Cancer	183-184
LOH And Tumour Suppressor Genes	184
Breast Cancer Development	184
Appendix 1	185
Bibliography	186-223
Publications	224

# Figures And Tables

FIGURES	
Figure 1.1 The proportion of breast cancer cases due to autosomal dominant	2
<b>Figure 1.2</b> Genetic alterations associated with colorectal carcinogesis	21
<b>Figure 1.3</b> Caretakers and gatekeener nathways of inherited suscentibility to cancer	21
Figure 1.4 Hypothetical model for infiltrating ductal carcinoma	22
Figure 1.5 Model of breast cancer pathways	31
right 1.5 Model of bleast cancer pathways	51
Figure 2.1 Diagrammatic representation of SSCP	41
Figure 2.2 Direct solid-phase sequencing of PCR products	42
Figure 3.1 Triplet repeat expansion with respect to gene Organisation	72
Figure 3.2 Steps in mismatch repair	76
Figure 3.3 Preparation for microdissection	85-86
Figure 3.4 Direct microdissection of DCIS	87
Figure 3.5 Representative example of microsatellite instability analysis in	89
fibroadenomas	
Figure 3.6 Representative examples of microsatellite instability in DCIS	92
Figure 3.7 Representative examples of microsatellite instability in invasive carcinomas	95-96
Figure 3.8 Microsatellite instability in tubular carcinomas	98
Figure 3.9 TGFβRII assay	100
Figure 3.10 Bax assay	101
Figure 3.11 IGFIIR assay	102
Figure 3.12 E2F-4 assay	104
Figure 3.13 PMS2 Immunohistochemistry	108
Figure 3.14 MSH2 Immunohistochemistry	109
Figure 3.15 MLH1 Immunohistochemistry	110
Figure 3.16 Microsatellite Instability analysis of MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell line	113
Figure 3.17 Mismatch protein analysis of MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell line	113
Figure 3.18 Schematic representation of doxorubicin experiment	114
Figure 3.19 Doxorubicin treatment of MCF-7 cell line	115
Figure 4.1 Mechanism of loss of heterozygosity	131
Figure 4.2 Abnormal silencing of tumour suppresser genes	133
Figure 4.3 Chromosome 16q and LOH in breast cancer	137
Figure 4.4 Interaction of E-cadherin molecules	138
Figure 4.5 Analysis of allelic imbalance by microdissection	142
Figure 4.6 Loss of Heterozygosity analysis in fibroadenomas and a phyllodes tumou	r 143
Figure 4.7 Representative examples of LOH in DCIS	145
Figure 4.8 Loss of Heterozygosity analysis in invasive carcinomas	148
Figure 4.9 Loss of Heterozygosity in tubular carcinomas	151
Figure 4.10 SSCP analysis in early invasive carcinomas and DCIS cases	154
Figure 4.11 DNA sequence analysis of E-cadherin gene	157 159
Figure 4.12 E-cadherin immunohistochemistry	157-158
Figure 4.13 H-cadherin immunohistochemistry	164 165
Figure 4.14 P-cadherin immunohistochemistry	104-103
Figure 4.15 Schematic of PCK-based Methylation Assay	10/
Figure 4.10 PCK-based Methylation Assay	109
rigure 4.1 / Bisulphite conversion and MIS-PCK	170

Figure 4.18 Methylation-Specific PCR (MS-PCR)	171
Figure 5.1 Possible pathways of breast cancer progression with respect to microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity at 16q	182
TABLES	
Table 1.1 Relative risk for breast cancer with and without atypia	8
Table 1.2 Stage and survival at 5 years	10
Table 1.3 The main staging systems used to assess the extent of spread of breast	10
carcinomas	
Table1.4 Five year breast cancer survival rates (%) by tumour size and lymph node	11
status	
Table 1.5 Relative frequency of the different types of invasive breast tumours in a	13
symptomatic population	
Table1.6 Ten year survival rate (%) for the different carcinoma types	14
Table 1.7 Assessment scores for tubule formation, and nuclear pleomorphism	15
Table 1.8 The prognostic significance of measuring oestrogen and progesterone	17
receptors together	~ .
in breast cancer	24
	10
Table 2.1 Pathological features of DCIS	49
Table 2.2 Pathological features of early invasive breast carcinomas   Table 2.2 Pathological features of early invasive breast carcinomas	49
<b>Table 2.3</b> Tumour samples with characterised E-cadherin gene mutations	50
<b>Table 2.4a)</b> Primers used for microsatellite analysis	58 59
<b>Table 2.40)</b> Primers used for methylation analysis of E-cadherin promoter region <b>Table 2.4</b> 0) Primers used for lass of hotorographics analysis	50 50
<b>Table 2.4c)</b> Primers used for ISS OF neterozygosity analysis <b>Table 2.4d)</b> Drimers used for SSCD and mutational analysis	59 50
<b>Table 2.5</b> Antibodies used for staining formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissue	59 67
sections	07
<b>Table 2.6</b> Antibodies used for staining cryostat tissue sections	67
Table 2.7 Antibodies used for immunofluorescent studies	67
Table 3.1 Type I trinucleotide repeat diseases	71
Table 3.2 Type II trinucleotide repeat disorders	71
Table 3.3 HNPCC germline mutations	74
Table 3.4 Microsatellite instability in invasive breast carcinomas	78
Table 3.5 Microsatellite markers used to investigate MI	88
<b>Table 3.6</b> Microsatellite markers analysed for instability in DCIS cases	91
<b>Table 3.7</b> Pathological and microsatellite instability data for DCIS cases	91
<b>Table 3.8</b> Microsatellite markers analysed for instability in early invasive carcinomas	94
<b>Table 3.9</b> Pathological and microsatellite instability data for invasive carcinomas	94
<b>Table 3.10</b> Pathological and microsatellite instability data for DCIS cases	106
<b>Table 3.11</b> Mismatch repair protein reactivity in DCIS	111
Table 4.1 Pathological and Loss of Heterozygosity data for DCIS cases	146
<b>Table 4.2</b> Summary of Loss of Heterozygosity data for invasive carcinomas	149
Table 4.3 Loss of Heterozygosity data in early invasive carcinomas	149
Table 4.4 Loss of Heterozygosity in tubular carcinomas	150
Table 4.5 LOH and E-cadherin immunohistochemical data in DCIS cases	159
<b>Table 4.6</b> LOH and E-cadherin immunohistochemical data in invasive carcinomas	160

ACF	Aberrant Cryptic Foci
ADH	Atypical Ductal Hyperplasia
Adr	Adriamycin Resistant
AH	Atypical Hyperplasia
ALH	Atypical Lobular Hyperplasia
APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
AR	Androgen Receptor
AT	Ataxia Telangiectasia
ATM	Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated
ΑΤΡγS	Adenosine-5'-O-(3-Thiotriphosphate)
bp .	Base Pair
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
BW	Binding And Washing
CASH	Cancer And Steroid Hormone Study
cd	Codon Position
cdk	Cyclin Dependent Kinase
CGH	Comparative Genomic Hybridisation
cm	Centimeter
dd	Deionised
DAR	Diaminobenzidine
datp	2'-Deoxyadenosine 5'-Trinhosnhate
DCC	Deleted In Colorectal Cancer
DCIS	Ductal Carcinoma In Situ
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modification Of Fagles Media
ANTD	2' Deovynucleotide 5' Triphosphate
DM	2 -Deoxyndeleonde 5 - Imphosphate
	Distant Metasiasis
	Denotomikrol Delliduvcion Atronky
	Enhanced Chemilumesenee
ECL	Emanced Chemnumesence
E. COII	Escherichia coll Dige dium Ethylene Diemine Tetressetete
	Osstragen Recenter
EK	Cestrogen Receptor
ESI	Expressed Sequence Tags
FAP	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
FCS	Foetal Call Serum
FISH	Fluorescence In Situ Hybridisation
FIIC	Fluoroscine Isothiocyante
FA	Friedrich's Ataxia
g	Gravity
GIBP	G-T Binding Protein
h	Hour
HD	Huntingtons Disease
H&E	Haematoxylin And Eosin
HMEC	Human Mammary Epithelial Cells
HNPCC	Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer
HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase
HRT	Hormone Replacement Therapy
IDC	Infiltrating Ductal Carcinoma
IGFII	Insulin-Like Growth Factor II
IGFIIR	Insulin-Like Growth Factor II Receptor

Inter	Intermediate
ILC	Infiltrating Lobular Carcinoma
IPTG	Isopropyl-1-Thio-β-D-Galactopyranoside
kb	Kilobases
kD	Kilodalton
1	Litre
LB	Luria Broth
LCIS	Lobular Carcinoma In Situ
LFL	Li-Fraumeni-Like
LFS	Li-Fraumeni Syndrome
LOH	Loss Of Heterozygosity
LNM	Lymph Node Metastasis
М	Molar
mA	Milliamps
Mamm	Mammographically
MBa	Megabecquel
MCMT	Microcell Mediated Transfer
MD	Myotonic Dystrophy
MDE	Mutation Detection Enhancement
5-meC	5-methyl-cytosine
mg	Milligram
110	Microgram
MI	Microsatellite Instability
min	Minute
MIN	Microsatellite Instability (Thibodeau <i>et al.</i> 1993)
MID/SCA3	Machado-Iosenh Disease
ml	Millilitre
ul	Microlitre
mm	Millimeter
mM	Millimolar
	Micrometer
MMAC1	Mutated In Multiple Advanced Cancers
MMR	Mismatch Renair
MS-PCR	Methylation Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction
NG-I CR	Not Applicable
ND	Not Described
ng	Nanogram
NIRH	N-iodacetyl-N'-biotinylbeyylenediamine
NHSRSP	National Health Service Program National Coordinating Group For Breast
1115051	Screening Pathology
nM	Nanomolar
nM	Nanometre
NP40	Nonvi Phenyi Polyethylene Glycol 40
NST	Non Specific Type
OCP	Oral Contracentive Pill
	Onticel Density
OPE	Open Booding Frame
	Delyosylamide Cel Electrophoresia
I AUE DRS	Desphate Duffered Solino
I DO PCP	Polymorogo Chain Depation
I UK DE	r orymenase Unann Keachon Dradisnosod Enithalium
DEC	r reuisposed Epimenum Polyothylono Glygol
I EU	

PgR	Progesterone Receptor
pmol	Picomoles
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl Fluoride
pRB	Phosphorylated Retinoblastoma Protein
PTEN	Phosphatase And Tensin Homologue Deleted On Chromosome 10
RER	Replication Error
RFLP	Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rpm	Revolutions Per Minute
SBMA	Spinal And Bulbar Muscular Dystrophy
SCA	Spinocerebellar Ataxia
S. cerevisiae	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
Sec	Seconds
SRO	Smallest Region Of Overlap
SSCP	Single Stranded Conformational Polymorphism
StrepABC	Streptavidin Biotin Complex
SURF	Selective Ultraviolet Radiation Fractionation
Taq	Thermus Aquaticus
TAE	Tris Acetic Disodium Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetate
TBE	Tris Boric Disodium Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetate
TBS	Tris Buffered Saline
TBS-T	Tris Buffered Saline-Tween
TE	Tris Disodium Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetate
temp	Temperature
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
TGF-βIIR	Transforming Growth Factor Beta type II Receptor
USM	Ubiquitous Somatic Mutations
UTR	Untranslated Region
V	Volts
Vols	Volumes
VNTR	Variable Number Of Tandem Repeats
WHO	World Health Organisation
X-gal	(5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl-β-D-galactopyranoside)

Chapter 1

General Introduction to Breast Cancer

## **1.1 Introduction To Breast Cancer**

Breast cancer is one of the most common cancers affecting women in the industrialised countries of the West (Boring *et al.*, 1993). The incidence of breast cancer in the UK is 25, 000 newly diagnosed cases each year with a mortality rate of 15, 000 cases each year. The UK has the poorest 5 year survival rate in Europe (Coleman *et al.*, 1993). The age specific incidence begins to rise after 35 years of age and it is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in women over the age of 50.

The incidence of breast cancer has been rising steadily since the early eighties (Miller, 1992). Improvement in cancer registration is unlikely to account for more than 25 % of the increase that has occurred, and the introduction of screening mammography is thought to be responsible for the surge in increase.

Although mortality from breast cancer has generally been increasing world wide, there have been recent reports of declining mortality in the UK, USA, Norway, and Sweden (Blot *et al.*, 1987; Beral *et al.*, 1995; Hermon and Beral, 1996). Identification of environmental, biochemical and genetic factors that might contribute to the aetiology and progression of breast cancer are therefore essential in terms of improving prevention, diagnosis and therapy.

Epidemiological studies have evaluated the potential of several etiological factors and other variables associated with the development of breast cancer in women (detailed in Section 1.2). However, none of these factors alone or in combination can predict the occurrence or explain the variability of the disease. These studies generally state the relative risk to indicate the strength of a risk factor. However since these studies are purely observational, only an association, and no causation can be inferred.

The epidemiological studies have highlighted a number of important areas for further investigation. By using molecular approaches to study these associations, it will be possible to determine the mechanisms underlying the natural history of breast cancer.

## **1.2 Risk Factors For The Development Of Breast Cancer**

## **Family History Of Breast Cancer**

Breast cancer has been recognised as having a familial component for many years (Brocca, 1886). Segregation analysis of data collected during the Cancer and Steroid Hormone Study (CASH), conducted by the Centres for Disease Control, has provided the largest estimate of the effect of family history (Claus *et al.*, 1991). This study found that familial clustering of breast cancer could be best explained by the inheritance of an autosomal dominant gene or genes. The model also proposed that if a single affected case is young at diagnosis, that individual has, at most a 36% chance of being a gene carrier if affected at age 20 to 29 years. However, if two first degree relatives are affected at age 30, the chance of a gene being present in the family, rises to 90%, as depicted in Figure 1.1.





Age at diagnosis (years)

A familial component has also been recognised in ovarian cancer (Schildkraut *et al.*, 1988), and is sometimes associated with breast cancer (Schildkraut *et al.*, 1989). This suggests the existence of a gene predisposing to both familial breast and ovarian cancer (*BRCA1*), as described below.

Although the epidemiological data are consistent with a single major gene effect in both breast and ovarian cancer, it is clear that other predisposing genes are also involved. At least three other familial syndromes have been identified for which an increased risk of developing breast cancer is well established: Li-Fraumeni syndrome, Ataxia Telangiectasia, and Cowden disease, as detailed in the remainder of this section.

#### BRCA1 and BRCA2

In 1990, Hall *et al.*, found significant evidence of linkage between breast cancer and a marker on chromosome 17q21, in 23 families with multiple cases of early onset breast cancer. This locus was designated *BRCA1*. Linkage to 17q was confirmed in additional families with multiple cases of both breast and ovarian cancer (Narod *et al.*, 1991). Subsequent, positional cloning strategies led to the identification of *BRCA1* (Miki *et al.*, 1994).

Linkage analysis study for 214 families, has demonstrated that only about half of the families with breast cancer alone, can be attributed to *BRCA1*, although most of the families with breast and ovarian cancer were due to this gene (Easton *et al.*, 1993). Additional evidence, supporting the existence of a second susceptibility gene, came from a study of families with at least one case of male breast cancer (and generally several cases of female breast cancer and/or ovarian cancer) (Stratton *et al.*, 1994). The susceptibility gene, described as *BRCA2*, was again localised to chromosome 13q12-13, by linkage analysis (Wooster *et al.*, 1994a) and cloned a year later (Wooster *et al.*, 1995).

Like *BRCA1*, germline mutations in *BRCA2* are believed to account for up to half of the families with early onset breast cancer. In contrast to *BRCA1*, however, germ-line mutations in *BRCA2* predispose male carriers to an increased risk of breast cancer (Wooster *et al.*, 1995), and female carriers to an increase in ovarian cancer risk, which is less pronounced than that associated with germ line *BRCA1* mutations (Easton *et al.*, 1995).

Although, over 200 germline *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutations have now been described in affected familial cases, the presence of somatic mutations in women without a family history of breast cancer ('sporadic') has not been adequately demonstrated (Futreal *et al.*, 1994;

Hosking *et al.*, 1995; Merajver *et al.*, 1995; Takahahi *et al.*, 1995; Lancaster *et al.*, 1996; Miki *et al.*, 1996). There is recent evidence to suggest that somatic alteration may be due to another mechanism (detailed in Section 4.1).

#### Li-Fraumeni syndrome

Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS) is a rare dominant cancer syndrome involving childhood sarcomas, early onset breast cancer, brain tumours and a number of other cancers (Li, F. P et al., 1988). The molecular basis underlying some LFS families was identified as a mutation in the tumour suppressor gene, p53 (Malkin et al., 1990, Srivastava et al., 1990). Recent studies, have described p53 mutations in 15 of 21 (71%) LFS families (Birch et al., 1994; Varley et al., 1997). Germline p53 mutations have also been confirmed in families which do not fulfil the criteria of classical LFS, so called Li-Fraumeni-like (LFL). Of these families, 4 of 18 (21%) have p53 mutations (Birch et al., 1994; Varley et al., 1997). In general, studies have shown that germline p53 mutations account for less than 1% of all breast cancer cases (Borresen et al., 1992; Sidransky et al., 1992) and this appears to be mainly in the context of LFS or LFL.

The function of the p53 gene and the role of somatic alterations in non-familial breast cancer is discussed in Section 1.5.

#### Ataxia Telangiectasia

Ataxia Telangiectasia (AT) is a rare autosomal recessive disease in which homozygotes develop a progressive cerebellar ataxia, hypersensitivity to ionising radiation and a predisposition to the development of cancer (Swift *et al.*, 1976). The gene responsible for AT (*ATM*) was recently identified on chromosome 11q22-23 (Sativsky *et al.*, 1995). Individuals homozygous for an *ATM* mutation develop cancer at a rate 100 times that of the general population and have an increased risk for breast cancer. It has been demonstrated that women heterozygous for an *ATM* mutation also have an increased risk of breast cancer (Swift *et al.*, 1976). However, recent studies have produced conflicting results concerning the risk associated. Athma *et al.*, (1997), found evidence of an approximately four-fold risk compared to non-carriers. However, another study (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 1997), has found no evidence of an increased risk.

#### Cowden disease

Cowden disease is characterised by benign tumours of multiple organs, including skin, intestine, thyroid and the breast (reviewed in Mallary, 1995). In addition to benign breast disease, breast cancer develops in approximately 30-50% of affected women (Starink *et al.*, 1986). Linkage analysis first identified a locus at chromosome 10q23 (Nelen *et al.*, 1996). A candidate gene mapping to this region was identified independently, by two different groups investigating sporadic tumours of the breast and brain, respectively. The gene has been designated *PTEN* (*phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10*) (Li *et al.*, 1997), and *MMAC1 (mutated in multiple advanced cancers*) (Steck *et al.*, 1997). Mutational analysis of *PTEN* in Cowden disease kindreds has recently identified germline mutations in four of five families (Liaw *et al.*, 1997).

#### Age

Breast cancer is a rare disease among young women, it has been suggested that the development of breast cancer before the age of 35 is an independent risk factor (Bonnier *et al.*, 1995). Above 35 years of age breast cancer rates double about every 10 years until after the menopause, when the rate of increase slows dramatically.

#### Age At Menarche

Women who begin to menstruate early in life have an increased risk of developing breast cancer. In addition, for a fixed age at menarche, women who establish regular menstrual cycles within 1 year of the first menstrual period have more than double the risk of breast cancer than women with a 5 year longer delay in onset of regular cycles (Henderson *et al.*, 1981). A delay in establishment of regular ovulatory cycles is thought to be protective (Apter and Vihko, 1983).

#### Age At Birth Of First Child And Parity

Nulliparity and late age at first birth both increase the lifetime incidence of breast cancer. The risk of breast cancer in women who have their first child after the age of 30 is about twice that of women who have their first child before the age of 20 (Anderson, 1974).

#### Age At Menopause

Women who experience a natural menopause before the age of 45 have half the breast cancer risk of those whose menopause occurs after the age of 55 (Trichopoulos *et al.*, 1972). Artificial menopause, by lateral oopherectomy or pelvic irradiation, also markedly reduces breast cancer risk.

#### Obesity

Obese women have a higher breast cancer mortality, thought to be due to delayed detection (Lew and Garfunkel, 1979). The relationship between weight and breast cancer risk is critically dependent on age. Subsequent to the menopause, the data suggests a modest increase in risk in women with higher relative weight only amongst older post-menopausal women (Choi *et al.*, 1978; Lubin *et al.*, 1985).

#### Smoking

Mutagens from cigarette smoke can come into direct contact with breast epithelial cells. Nipple fluid aspirated from smokers contains nicotine metabolites and is mutagenic. Aromatic amines found in tobacco smoke could be mutagenic and carcinogenic because they are metabolically activated and cause DNA damage in human breast epithelial cells, transform cultured mouse mammary epithelial cells, and induce mammary tumours in laboratory animals (Li *et al.*, 1996).

Most epidemiological studies have not found a clear association between smoking and breast cancer risk. Some have found elevated breast cancer risks (Morabia *et al.*, 1996), while others have reported a decreased risk (Field *et al.*, 1992). A recent study has considered genetic variability to cigarette smoke carcinogens (Ambrose *et al.*, 1996). Aromatic amines are detoxified and/or activated by metabolizing enzymes, including N-acetyltransferase. The level of activity of this enzyme determines the rates of aromatic amine detoxification and activation. Individuals can be classified as rapid or slow acetylators. Smoking appears to increase the risk for breast cancer 4-fold among postmenopausal women who are also slow acetylators (Ambrose *et al.*, 1996).

### **Oral Contraceptive Pill (OCP)**

The relationship between oral contraceptive use and the risk of breast cancer continues to be a source of controversy (Pike *et al.*, 1983). The relative risk of breast cancer in women who

have taken the OCP has been estimated to be 1.15 (WHO study of neoplasia and steroid contraceptives 1990). The risk did not increase with duration of use and dropped when the pill was stopped. However, studies that have targeted specific groups for example, younger women have shown that the use of the pill for more than a few years is associated with increased risk of breast cancer irrespective of when they were used (UK national case control study group 1989; Miller *et al.*, 1989).

#### Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)

The association between HRT and the development of breast cancer is controversial. HRT is popular with post menopausal women as it has been shown to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, stroke, Alzheimer's disease and increase the users overall quality of life (Lobo, 1995). Women who have taken HRT for 5 years or more have an increased risk of developing breast cancer (La Vecchia *et al.*, 1995; Colditz *et al.*, 1995). The risk among women of developing breast cancer using progestins in combination with oestrogens are similar to the risk of women using oestrogen alone (La Vecchia *et al.*, 1995).

## Radiation

The carcinogenic effect of high doses of radiation on breast tissue has been well studied in atomic bomb survivors. From this data, it is known that risk is highest amongst women exposed before the age of 20, with definite evidence of a dose-response effect. The carcinogenic effect of radiation on the breast appears to diminish with increasing age and exposure, and is very small following exposure after the age of 40 (Tokunga *et al.*, 1984).

## **Geographical Variation**

Age adjusted incidence and mortality for breast cancer varies greatly between countries, with Western countries generally having a higher incidence of breast cancer than Eastern. Studies have documented the gradual acquisition of the breast cancer rates of their adoptive countries by migrants from areas of lower incidence (Haenszel, 1961). For example, the incidence of breast cancer in Asia is low, yet studies of Japanese who have emigrated to America show that the second generation have an incidence of breast cancer approaching that of the native white population (Dunn, 1977). These studies suggest the importance of environmental factors in the development of breast cancer.

## **Benign Breast Disease**

Benign breast diseases encompasses a heterogeneous group of lesions that clinically and radiographically span the entire spectrum of breast abnormalities. Dupont and Page (1985) categorised benign breast diseases into three main groups.

(i) Non proliferative lesions, e.g., cysts, papillary apocrine change, epithelial-related calcifications and fibroadenomas;

(ii) Proliferative lesions without atypia, e.g., intraductal hyperplasias, sclerosing adenosis and moderate or florid hyperplasia of usual type;

(iii) Proliferative lesion with atypia, such as atypical ductal or lobular hyperplasia.

All these groups have different relative risks for subsequent development of breast cancer. Studies by Dupont and Page (1985) and London *et al.*, (1992) have suggested a link between breast cancer and proliferative disease with atypia (Table 1.1).

Table 1	1.1.	Relative	risk j	for	breast	cancer	with	and	without	atypia.
										~ 1

Dupont and	Page (1985)	London <i>et al.</i> , (1992)		
Relative Risk	95%	Relative Risk	95%	
	confidence		confidence	
	Interval		Interval	
1.9	1.2 - 2.9	1.6	1.0 - 2.5	
5.3	3.1 - 8.8	3.7	2.1 - 6.8	
	Dupont and Relative Risk 1.9 5.3	Dupont and Page (1985)Relative Risk95%confidenceInterval1.91.2 - 2.95.33.1 - 8.8	Dupont and Page (1985)London etRelative Risk95%Relative RiskconfidenceInterval1.91.2 - 2.91.65.33.1 - 8.83.7	

It is likely that more than one of the aforementioned factors may play a role in the pathogenesis of breast cancer in any given patient. However, 75% of all breast cancer patients do not have a recognisable risk factor (Strax, 1989).

## **1.3 Predicting The Behaviour Of Breast Cancer**

The overall five year survival from breast cancer is approximately 62% (WHO, 1988). Prognosis in relation to breast cancer can be measured in terms of interval to recurrence after primary treatment, and length of survival. In general, these are closely related factors with a high frequency of recurrence correlating with reduced survival. However, treatment that delays recurrence but does not reduce its frequency may increase survival time, but not necessarily reduce the mortality from the disease.

Various factors are used to try and predict the behaviour of a breast cancer. These relate to clinical, pathological and biological features of the tumour.

### Staging

Staging of a cancer is the grouping of patients according to the extent of spread of the disease. It is an established indicator for overall survival (Table 1.2). The two main systems used are the International Classification of Staging and the TNM system (Table 1.3).

The nodal status is best evaluated histologically as clinical evaluation has a high false positive and negative rate (Schottenfeld, 1976). The histologic involvement of axillary nodes, and the number of nodes involved correlates with prognosis (Valagussal *et al.*, 1978; Ferguson *et al.*, 1982).

Tumour size has also been cited as a prognostic indicator, although Fisher *et al.*, (1969) concluded that size alone was not as consequential to the patient's survival as lymph node involvement. A large study by the National Cancer Institute concluded that tumour size and node status were independent but additive prognostic indicators (Table 1.4). As tumour size increased, the prognosis was less favourable regardless of lymph node status and as lymph node involvement increased, survival status decreased regardless of tumour size (Carter *et al.*, 1989).

Table 1.2. Stage and survival at 5 years.

Stage	Survival at 5 years
Ι	84%
II	71%
III	48%
IV	18%

Table 1.3. The main staging systems used to assess the extent of spread of breast carcinomas.

International Classification					
I	Lump with slight tethering to skin but node negative				
II	Lump with lymph node metastasis or skin tethering				
III	Tumour which is extensively adherent to skin and / or underlying muscles, or ulcerating or lymph nodes are fixed				
IV	Distant metastasis				

TNM				
T <sub>1</sub>	Tumour 20mm or less; no fixation or nipple retraction,			
	including Paget's disease			
T <sub>2</sub>	Tumour 20-30mm, or less than 20mm but with tethering			
T <sub>3</sub>	Tumour greater than 50mm but less than 100mm; or less			
	than 50mm but with infiltration, ulceration or fixation			
T <sub>4</sub>	Any tumour with ulceration or infiltration wide of it, or			
	chest wall fixation, or greater than 100 mm in diameter			
N <sub>0</sub>	Node negative			
N <sub>1</sub>	Axillary nodes mobile			
N <sub>2</sub>	Axillary nodes fixed			
N <sub>3</sub>	Supraventricular nodes or oedema of arm			
M <sub>0</sub>	No distant metastasis			
M <sub>1</sub>	Distant metastases			

Table	1.4.	Five	year	breast	cancer	survival	rates	(%)	by	tumour	size	and	lymph	node	status
(Carte	r et	al., 1	989).												

LN Status	Size (mm)							
	< 5	5-10	10-19	20-50	>50			
Negative	99.2	94.9	90.6	89.4	82.2			
1-3 Nodes	95.3	94	86.6	79.9	73			
>4 Nodes	59	54.2	67.2	58.7	45.5			
Total	96.2	94.9	90.6	79.8	62.7			

## **Pathological Features**

## Histological Classification

The following outlines the differing histological types, adapted from the WHO classification of breast cancer (1981).

## Non Invasive Carcinoma

These are lesions in which tumour cells are confined to the ductal or lobular units of the breast without evidence of invasion through the basement membrane into the surrounding stroma. They are characterised as either ductal or lobular, depending on the cytological features and growth patterns, although there may be overlap between the two lesions.

## Ductal Carcinoma In Situ (DCIS)

DCIS is divided into high, intermediate and low grades (Bobrow *et al.*, 1995). In the past most women with a diagnosis of DCIS underwent mastectomy, so there is only limited data as to whether DCIS progresses to invasive carcinoma.

## Lobular Carcinoma In Situ (LCIS)

These lesions originate from the terminal ductules or acini. It is multicentric, does not form a palpable tumour and has no characteristic radiographic signs. The true incidence of LCIS is consequently unknown. LCIS is a marker of increased risk of developing cancer.

# Invasive Carcinoma

The incidence of different histological types of invasive carcinoma are given in Table 1.5.

# Infiltrating Ductal Carcinoma (IDC, No Special Type or NST)

Invasive ductal carcinoma is the single largest group of malignant mammary tumours (Rosen *et al.*, 1979). To be defined as infiltrating ductal, over 90% of the tumour should not contain features of special tumour types and it is thought of as a classification of exclusion (WHO, 1981). There is considerable histological variation within this group with cell in trabeculae or solid groups, with the cells themselves ranging from regular to pleomorphic. In addition, there is variable or absent gland formation.

# Infiltrating Lobular Carcinoma (ILC)

Typical clinical presentation is a palpable area of ill defined thickness in contrast to the prominent lump of ductal carcinoma and characterised by single cell infiltration, often around pre-existing breast structures. Infiltrating lobular carcinoma is far more frequently associated with bilateral disease than NST tumours and tends to be multicentric within the same breast.

# Special Types

# Medullary Carcinoma

These tumours are circumscribed, often large (up to 5-10cm) and are composed of syncytial cells with vesicular nuclei. Necrosis is common and the mitotic rate is often high. They have extensive lymphocytic infiltrate and scanty fibrous tissue.

# Colloid or Mucinous Carcinoma

This is the most common tumour amongst older women, and are generally large due to late presentation rather than rapid growth rate. Histologically, the tumour is composed of nests, cords and even isolated cells lying in lakes of mucin which often accounts for more than half the volume of the tumour. It may be pure colloid or associated with other histological types. The presence of other histological types excludes it from the colloid category to that of mixed ductal-special type.

# Tubular Carcinoma

These are highly differentiated infiltrating carcinomas composed of uniform cells arranged in well developed tubules. Diagnosis is made if tubule formation is greater than 90%, the exception being a combination of tubular and cribriform patterns where it is classified as tubular if the former component is greater than 50%. Generally, they are small lesions (1-2 cm). They are well differentiated and have an excellent prognosis. Ellis *et al.*, (1992) showed this type to be associated with a five year survival of approximately 90%.

# Invasive Cribriform Carcinoma

Although similar to tubular carcinoma this type of tumour is classified as a special type due to its excellent prognosis. It is characterised by the presence of islands of small cells that are similar to cribriform DCIS. To be classified as cribriform carcinoma this pattern should be present in >90% of the section.

Histological typing provides useful prognostic information in patients with primary operable breast cancer (Ellis *et al.*, 1992). Mucinous, tubular, and cribriform carcinomas have a better prognosis than ductal carcinoma (Ellis *et al.*, 1992). These data are summarised in Table 1.6.

Table 1.5. Relative frequency of the different types of invasive breast tumours in a symptomatic population (Page and Anderson, 1987).

Туре	Frequency (%)
Infiltrating ductal	73
Infiltrating lobular	10
Medullary	5
Mucinous	2
Tubular	3
Cribriform and Papillary	5
Mixed Tumours	2

Type of Carcinoma	Ten Year Survival		
Ductal Carcinoma In Situ	92		
Lobular Carcinoma In Situ	NA		
Infiltrating ductal	47		
Infiltrating lobular	54		
Special Types			
Medullary	51		
Mucinous	80		
Tubular-Cribriform	90		

Table 1.6. Ten year survival rate (%) for the different carcinoma types (adapted from Ellis et al., (1992). NA = Not applicable.

## Histological Grade

The term grade refers to the level of differentiation within a tumour. The method of grading generally employed is a modification of the Bloom and Richardson method described in 1957 (Elston and Ellis 1991) and is based on evaluation of tubule formation, nuclear pleomorphism and mitotic count. Each of these variables is given a score of 1-3 for each feature that is assessed (Table 1.7). Scores are added together to obtain the overall tumour grade:

3-5 points - Grade 1 i.e. Well differentiated

6-7 points - Grade 2 i.e. Moderately differentiated

8-9 points - Grade 3 i.e. Poorly differentiated

The correlation between high histological grade and poor prognosis has been demonstrated in many studies (Fisher *et al.*, 1975; Contesso *et al.*, 1987; Elston and Ellis, 1991).

Assessed Feature	Score
Tubule formation	
>75%	1
10-75%	2
<10%	3
Nuclear pleomorphism	
Small, regular, uniform cells	1
Moderate increase in size and variability	2
Marked variation	3
Mitotic counts	
Based on the number of mitosis per high power fields,	
which relates to the microscope	

Table 1.7. Assessment scores for tubule formation, and nuclear pleomorphism.

## **Biological Features**

## Cell Kinetics

The relevance of cell kinetics as a tool to investigate growth pattern, biological heterogeneity and clinical progression of human tumours has been supported by a number of reports (Silvestrini *et al.*, 1989; Merkel and McGuire 1990). Consequently the measurement of the proliferative fraction of tumour cell populations (the ratio of cycling to non-cycling cells) has become increasingly important as a complement to the clinicopathologic findings in making clinical decisions.

The growth rate of a tumour can be defined as low, medium or high. A tumour with a lower rate of cell growth is generally associated with an improved prognosis. It is important to keep in mind that a high rate of cell differentiation may also be accompanied by a high rate of cell death and that aberrant cell division occurs such that one division fails to result in the doubling of the number of cells. Cell proliferation can be measured by counting of mitotic figures, [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake, flow cytometry and by use of monoclonal antibodies mainly directed against the Ki-67 antigen (Walker and Camplejohn, 1988; Bouzubar *et al.*, 1989).

#### Steroid Receptors

Many risk factors point towards the role of steroid hormones and their receptors in the progression of breast cancer. The steroids implicated are oestrogen and progesterone, with their hormonal action most likely via their cognate receptors, the oestrogen receptor (ER) and the progesterone receptor (PgR).

It is thought that two thirds of breast tumours are ER positive (Lippman and Allegra, 1980) with approximately half of these responding to anti-oestrogen therapy, while approximately 10% of ER negative tumours do respond (Anderson and Poulsen, 1989). Patients with ER negative tumours have shorter disease free intervals, earlier recurrence rates, and shorter survival times when compared to patients with ER positive tumours (Maynard *et al.*, 1978; Hartveit *et al.*, 1980). As PgR synthesis is regulated by ER (Lippman *et al.*, 1986), PgR is considered as an additional marker of response to endocrine therapy and overall prognosis (Table 1.8). PgR negative tumours are less likely to respond to endocrine therapy than PgR positive tumours (Pertschuk *et al.*, 1988). In addition, patients with PgR positive tumours have a longer disease free interval and longer overall survival (Fisher *et al.*, 1988; Chevellier

et al., 1978). In conclusion, evidence suggests that both the ER and PgR are prognostic indicators but neither is a strong predictor of behaviour.

Table 1.8 The prognostic significance of measuring oestrogen and progesterone receptors together (reviewed by Leong and Lee, 1995).

Combination of	Incidence	5 year disease free	Overall 5 year		
receptors		interval	survival		
$ER^{+}PgR^{+}$	50%	73%	91%		
$ER^+ PgR^-$	20%	75%	93%		
ER <sup>-</sup> PgR <sup>+</sup>	5%	68%	88%		
ER <sup>-</sup> PgR <sup>-</sup>	25%	64%	77%		

#### **1.4 The Multistep Nature Of Carcinogenesis**

Nowell (1976) was the first to propose that cancer can develop in a multistep manner and a substantial amount of evidence has been collected over the past decade which indicates that the genesis of malignancy requires the sequential accumulation of a number of genetic alterations (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). Colorectal carcinoma is an excellent model of the multistep nature of cancer in which distinct clinical stages of disease development are identifiable.

Epidemiological studies have suggested that approximately 15% of colorectal cancers occur in a dominantly inherited pattern (Houlston *et al.*, 1992). Two familial forms are now well defined, familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC). FAP patients develop between hundreds and thousands of benign colorectal tumours (adenomas), some of which eventually progress to carcinomas. The disease is characterised at the molecular level by gross chromosomal alterations leading to losses of chromosome regions. This is identified at the molecular level as Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH), which is recognised as the hallmark of tumour suppressor gene inactivation (described in detail in Chapter 4). LOH is particularly prevalent at chromosomes: 5q, 17p and 18q, suggesting the involvement of tumour suppressor genes at these regions (Vogelstein *et al.*, 1988).

In the late 1980s, the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene was identified on chromosome 5q and mutant *APC* alleles were shown to co-segregate with the affected FAP kindreds (Bodmer *et al.*, 1987; Leppert *et al.*, 1987). However, patients with germline mutations of *APC* do not necessarily develop colon cancer, but they are at an elevated risk of doing so over the general population. In order for such tumours to form, additional genetic alterations are required (Figure 1.2).

The other genetic alterations identified in the sequence of events include: the activation of the proto-oncogene K-*ras*, and the inactivation of the tumour suppressor gene p53 (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). The identity of the putative tumour suppressor gene at the 18q locus remains controversial. The initial candidate was *DCC* (*deleted in colon cancer*) (Fearon *et al.*, 1990). However, recent evidence suggests that this gene may not have tumour suppressive functions (Fazeli *et al.*, 1997). Members of the *Mad* family, encoding proteins that transduce signals from the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) family of cytokines, are possible candidates (Thiagalingam *et al.*, 1996) which are currently under investigation.

As the multistep progression for colorectal carcinogenesis has been refined over the years, it has emerged that the order in which the molecular aberrations occur is not important, except for in the initiation stage. Mutations in genes other than *APC* (e.g. *p53* or K-*ras*) do not efficiently initiate the neoplastic process. Therefore, it has been proposed that APC acts as cellular 'gatekeeper', that directly regulates colonic epithelial growth by inhibiting growth or promoting cellular death (apoptosis) (Morin *et al.*, 1996). The mechanisms by which APC normally control this switch are now emerging (Peifer *et al.*, 1997). In normal colonic epithelial cells, APC and a serine-threonine protein kinase (GSK) function together to maintain low levels of a key signalling molecule ( $\beta$ -catenin increases. In turn, high levels of  $\beta$ -catenin lead to the formation of complexes with a group of transcription factors (Korinek *et al.*, 1997; Morin *et al.*, 1997), which may activate expression of genes involved in the stimulation of proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis.

In contrast to FAP, tumours of the HNPCC syndrome do not typically display loss of chromosomal regions. Instead these tumours are characterised by an elevated mutation rate which is manifest at the molecular level by replication errors or microsatellite instability (MI). HNPCC has been shown to be caused by germline mutations in four mismatch repair genes (Marra and Boland, 1995). Although the increase in genetic instability can be simply monitored by genome-wide changes at arbitrary loci, it is emerging that this defect may also target critical cancer-associated loci (Markowitz *et al.*, 1995) (described in detail in Chapter 3). The mismatch repair genes play a role in maintaining genome integrity, and have been described as 'caretaker' genes (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1997). In HNPCC, it is believed that adenomas form at approximately the same rate as in the general population. However, an adenoma cell from a HNPCC patient will acquire mutations at an elevated rate, and the resultant accumulation of mutations in oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes may lead to a rapid progression to malignancy.

It has been assumed that the genetic instability, associated with MI, occurred in the later stages of the model, accelerating the rate of tumour progression (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996). However, a recent study has demonstrated that tumours with MI also have mutations of *APC* (Huang *et al.*, 1996). The specific type of APC mutations in the MI patients are distinctly different from those of the APC mutations in patients without MI, and are characteristic of tumours with the MI phenotype (described in detail in Chapter 3). This suggests that the genetic instability may precede *APC* mutations In these patients with MI

tumours, genetic instability may lead to tumourigenesis via *APC* inactivation and therefore is indirectly responsible for tumour initiation and progression.

A model of how 'gatekeeper' and 'caretaker' genes may co-operate in pathways of inherited susceptibility to cancer, and in particular the development of colon cancer, has recently been proposed (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1997), and is illustrated in Figure 1.3. Inherited mutations of either a caretaker or gatekeeper gene can predispose an individual to neoplasia, however, additional genetic alterations are needed to convert a predisposed cell to a neoplastic cell. In the caretaker pathway, a mutation of one caretaker allele must be followed by three other mutations (the second caretaker allele and two gatekeeper alleles). In the gatekeeper pathway, mutation of one gatekeeper allele is followed by mutation of the other gatekeeper allele, in order to initiate neoplasia.



Figure 1.2. Genetic alterations associated with colorectal carcinogenesis (Adapted from Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996)

Defects to the mismatch repair (MMR) proteins lead to mutations of the APC gene, as indicated by the 'rolling circle'. APC inactivation leads to the formation of dysplastic aberrant crypt foci (ACF), which are believed to be precursors of adenomas. These in turn progress to carcinoma as they acquire subsequent mutations (K-ras proto-oncogene activation, allelic loss of Chromosome 18, and finally p53 alterations).


N E

0

P

I.

A

S

A

Figure 1.3. Caretaker and Gatekeeper pathways of inherited susceptibility to cancer (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1997).

In the caretaker pathway, an inherited mutation is followed by three additional mutations, although the genetic instability that follows inactivation of the second caretaker allele accelerates the accumulation of the later mutations. In the gatekeeper pathway, one mutation coupled with the inherited mutation is needed to initiate neoplasia.

## **1.5 Genetic Alterations In Breast Cancer**

A wide variety of genetic alterations have been described in breast cancer (outlined below) the majority of these have come from studies which analysed larger, possibly more advanced carcinomas. Changes manifest at this late stage do not necessarily reflect how a tumour initially developed or how it progressed through the early stages of disease and may merely reflect evolving genetic instability in the tumour.

This focus on larger, possibly late stage tumours reflected the limitations of the techniques used to carry out the genetic analysis. Chromosomal aberrations were detected primarily using Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms (RFLPs) and hybridisation protocols. This approach required high amounts of high molecular weight DNA, often necessitating the use of fresh frozen tissue from larger tumours. As a consequence the smaller tumours and the non-invasive carcinomas, representing earlier stages in the development of the disease, were excluded.

However, with the advent of the Polymerase Chain Reaction (Saiki *et al.*, 1985) smaller amounts of starting material could be used, and more critically the quality of DNA was not of paramount importance. Therefore the tumour samples which had been fixed in formalin and stored in paraffin wax could be readily studied. Another major advance has been the development of techniques to enrich samples for tumour cells (microdissection, detailed in Chapter 2). This has enabled the study of distinct tumour foci, for example areas of *in situ* carcinoma alone or associated with an invasive lesion (detailed in Section 1.6).

Clearly, the molecular alterations associated with breast cancer include inactivation of tumour suppressor genes and activation of proto-oncogenes. The key loci identified and analysed to date are briefly introduced in the remainder of this section.

### **Tumour Suppressor Genes**

The involvement of a number of tumour suppressor genes in the development of breast cancer is postulated on the basis of non-random frequencies of allelic losses (Loss of Heterozygosity) at specific chromosomal loci (detailed in Chapter 4). However, the majority of the putative tumour suppressor genes at these loci have not yet been identified. In the absence of known specific genes, the identification of allelic losses is often used as the basis for studying the molecular biology of breast cancer. The most prevalent loci characterised to date are outlined in Table 1.9. Two of these regions are located on chromosomes 13 and 17p, which are known to harbour the tumour suppressor genes: RB1 and p53.

Chromosomal region	LOH	Reference
1p31	28%	Nagai <i>et al.</i> , 1995
1q21-31	65%	Bieche <i>et al.</i> , 1995
3p14.2	38%	Ahmadian et al., 1997
6q25-27	35%	Orphanos et al., 1995
7q23	41%	Zenklusen et al., 1994
8p12-21	50%	Kerangueven et al., 1995
9p21-22	58%	Brenner and Aldaz, 1995
11p15.5	35%	Winqist <i>et al.</i> , 1995
11q23	42%	Koreth et al., 1995
13q12-14	33%	Cleton-Jansen et al., 1995a
16q22	67%	Iida et al., 1997
17p13.3	48%	Ito et al., 1995

Table 1.9. Representative chromosome regions showing Loss of Heterozygosity in breast cancer. The majority of the studies described below utilised microsatellite markers and PCR.

The frequencies given for LOH are those from the cited references.

#### RB1

The retinoblastoma gene (*RB1*) has been mapped to 13q14 (Friend *et al.*, 1986) and encodes a 105kD protein which in its unphosphorylated form restricts cell cycle progression in G1, by interacting with E2F transcription factor (Chellappan *et al.*, 1991). Alterations to 13q (Lundberg *et al.*, 1987) and to the *RB1* gene itself (T'Ang *et al.*, 1988) have been found in breast carcinomas. Comparison of allele loss and protein expression have shown both loss of protein with loss of allele (Varley *et al.*, 1989) and high protein expression with allele loss (Borg *et al.*, 1992). Alterations were found either in advanced cases (Varley *et al.*, 1989) or in aneuploid high S phase cancer (Borg *et al.*, 1992) suggesting that *RB1* alterations were not an initiating event in breast cancer but as a consequence of an unstable genome.

p53

The p53 gene is located on the short arm of chromosome 17. It was originally believed to be an oncogene (Linzer and Levine, 1979; Lane and Crawford, 1979). However, its ability to reverse the tumourigenic phenotype if transfected into tumour cell lines, the frequent finding that both alleles were inactivated in tumour cells and its association with hereditary cancers (Section 1.2) led to its reclassification as a tumour suppressor gene (Lane and Benchimol, 1980).

p53 functions as a cell cycle protein which exerts its function during the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Kastan *et al.*, 1991). The protein has been designated as 'guardian of the genome', since it has a major role in maintenance of cellular fidelity (Lane, 1992). In response to DNA damage, there is a rapid increase in the level of p53, which leads to arrest of the cell cycle. This enables the cell to initiate DNA repair pathways. However, if repair is not possible, p53 induces apoptosis (Haffner and Oren, 1995).

Most p53 mutational studies in sporadic breast tumours have focused on sequence changes in exons 5, 6, 7 and 8, within the highly conserved domains (Osbourne *et al.*, 1991; Varley *et al.*, 1991; Coles *et al.*, 1992; Mazars *et al.*, 1992; Andersen *et al.*, 1993; Merlo *et al.*, 1993; Caleffi *et al.*, 1994; Eyfjord *et al.*, 1995) although complete sequencing has also been undertaken (Bergh *et al.*, 1995). These studies have demonstrated an association between the presence of mutations and aggressive features within breast carcinomas, e.g. lack of ER expression (Mazars *et al.*, 1992; Andersen *et al.*, 1993; Caleffi *et al.*, 1994) and high S phase index (Merlo *et al.*, 1993). A significant association was found between p53 mutations and

disease-free and overall survival (Andersen *et al.*, 1993), and differences between location of mutation within p53, between node positive and node negative cases (Caleffi *et al.*, 1994). p53 mutations have also been documented in DCIS, suggesting that alteration is important early in the development of breast cancer (Munn *et al.*, 1996a).

Immunohistochemical staining of p53 is also used in combination with DNA sequencing to detect protein accumulation. Wild-type p53 has a short half-life and is not detected by immunohistochemical methods (Gronstajaski *et al.*, 1984). Prominent reactivity for p53 has been shown to be associated with the lack of ER expression, poor differentiation and high proliferation rates (reviewed in Walker *et al.*, 1997). Protein expression of p53 in DCIS is correlated with high grade (Rajan *et al.*, 1997).

#### Oncogenes

The most frequently observed mechanism of proto-oncogene activation in breast cancer is gene amplification (reviewed in Devilee *et al.*, 1994). The mechanism which leads to gene amplification often involves the surrounding chromosomal loci. The net result of this amplification is a 'chromosomal gain', detectable by molecular methods. Commonly amplified chromosomal regions in breast cancer are 17q12, 8q24, and 11q13 and encode c-*erb*-B2, c-*myc*, and cyclin D1, respectively.

#### c-erb-B2

The c-*erb*-B2 gene encodes a 185kD transmembrane glycoprotein, that has extensive homology to the epidermal growth factor receptor and is a putative growth factor receptor (Coussens *et al.*, 1985). Amplification of the c-*erb*-B2 gene has been found in 20-30% of invasive carcinomas (Slamon *et al.*, 1987; Varley *et al.*, 1987; Zhou *et al.*, 1987; Borresen *et al.*, 1990) with a correlation found between amplification and aggressive features and poor short term prognosis, although not in all studies (Clark and McGuire, 1991; Zhou *et al.*, 1989). Such c-*erb*-B2 gene amplifications have been shown to correlated with a corresponding over-expression of mRNA and protein levels (Walker *et al.*, 1989a; Borresen *et al.*, 1990; Venter *et al.*, 1987).

Many researchers have found c-*erb*-B2 overexpression to be an independent predictor of poorer disease free survival (Walker *et al.*, 1989b; Gullick *et al.*, 1991; Lovekin *et al.*, 1991; Winstanley *et al.*, 1991; Press *et al.*, 1993) and associated with more aggressive forms of the disease. Surprisingly, c-*erb*-B2 protein has been detected in ductal carcinoma *in situ* (van der

Vijver *et al.*, 1988), with more extensive studies demonstrating expression in 40-60% of cases but always associated with high grade DCIS (Bartkova, *et al.*, 1990; Lodata *et al.*, 1990; Ramachandra *et al.*, 1990).

#### c-*myc*

The c-myc gene encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein which acts as a transcriptional regulator controlling cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis (Evan *et al.*, 1992). Alterations to the c-myc gene, predominantly by amplification, have been found in approximately 25% of carcinomas (Bonilla *et al.*, 1988) Other studies have correlated c-myc alterations with aggressive features and/or poor prognosis (Escot *et al.*, 1986; Varley *et al.*, 1987; Berns *et al.*, 1992).

# Cyclin D1

The cyclins are a family of cell cycle proteins. Cyclin D1 is a 36kD protein which is active in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. It forms a complex with cyclin dependant kinases 4 and 6 (cdk4 and 6) and following activation by cdk-activating kinases these complexes, along with cyclin E/cdk2, phosphorylate the retinoblastoma protein (pRB). Unphosphorylated RB is growth inhibitory and phosphorylation is required to remove this block in order to allow the cell to pass through the critical restriction point, thereby allowing the cell cycle to proceed to the S phase (Bates and Peters, 1995).

The *cyclin D1* gene is located at chromosome 11q13, and although amplification of this area is found in approximately 15-20% of breast cancers, overexpression of cyclin D1 mRNA and protein is seen in approximately 50% of cases (Gillet *et al.*, 1994). In this and another study (Gillet *et al.*, 1996) overexpression was associated with an overall longer disease free survival than with was found in women with low or non-expression of the protein. Other supporting studies have also correlated overexpression of cyclin D1 with factors which indicate a good prognosis (Scott and Walker, 1997).

### H-ras-1

The H-*ras*-1 gene encodes a G protein involved in signal transduction. The role of activated *ras* genes in human cancer has not been fully elucidated. Mutations are rarely identified (Rochlitz *et al.*, 1989), although loss of one H-*ras*-1 allele has been correlated with aggressive features (Theillet *et al.*, 1986).

The H-*ras*-1 variable number tandem repeat (VNTR) polymorphism, located 1kb downstream of the H-*ras*-1 proto-oncogene (chromosome 11p15.5) is a possible genetic modifier of cancer penetrance. Individuals who have rare alleles of this VNTR have an increased risk of certain types of cancers, including breast cancer (Lidereau *et al.*, 1986; Garret *et al.*, 1993; Krontiris *et al.*, 1993).

# **Recent Approaches**

Comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH) is a relatively new technique which compares two genomes for example, tumour and normal at the genomic level, and can identify all regions showing gain or loss in copy number (Kallioniemi *et al.*, 1992). Among the chromosomal loci which have been reported thus far to demonstrate consistent amplification in invasive breast tumours and lesions of DCIS are: 1q, 3q, 6p, 8q, 10q, 11q, 12q, and 20q (Isola *et al.*, 1994; Kallioniemi *et al.*, 1994; Reid *et al.*, 1995; James *et al.*, 1997; Kuukasjarvi *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, amplification of as yet unknown genes may often occur in breast cancer.

# 1.6 Natural History Of Breast Cancer

A model of breast tumourigenesis has been postulated in which a normal epithelium cell of the ducts or lobules gives rise to a focus of proliferating cells (hyperplastic without atypia and subsequently, with atypia) and then, through an accumulation of molecular abnormalities, evolves into a neoplasm, initially carcinoma *in situ*, followed by invasive disease and finally to metastatic disease (Russo and Russo, 1991).

This progression has been depicted by Devilee *et al.*, (1994), and is illustrated in Figure 1.4. As can be seen the proposed model is very complex, with the potential for breast cancer to develop through a variety of different pathways. For example, invasive carcinoma may develop from normal epithelium without progressing through a non-invasive step. Similarly it is possible that not all *in situ* disease progresses to invasive carcinoma. This model has been proposed mainly from histological observations and epidemiological data which suggest that certain histological subtypes confer an increased risk of developing breast cancer (Section 1.2).

Over the last few years, a major area of research as been in attempting to understand how the various precursor lesions behave at the molecular level. The studies described below provide some molecular evidence to underpin each of the pathways proposed by Devilee *et al.*, (1994).

The model proposed by Devilee *et al.*, (1994), only accounts for the development of infiltrating ductal carcinoma. Another model has recently been proposed which encompasses some of the other histological subtypes of breast cancer (Walker, 1997), illustrated in Figure 1.5. The early steps in this model are also supported by the molecular analysis of precursor lesions described below. However, this model also positions previously defined genetic alterations (Section 1.5) in the proposed pathways of breast cancer development, as well as the genes responsible for the familial component of the disease.



Figure 1.4. Hypothetical model for infiltrating ductal carcinoma (Adapted from Devilee et al., 1994)

- (1) Normal (NE) or predisposed epithelium (PE) may develop into infiltrating ductal carcinoma (IDC), without proceeding through atypical ductal hyperplasia (AH) or ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), as proposed by Deng et al., 1996
- (2) DCIS may progress to larger DCIS, with the accumulation of further genetic alterations, or develop into IDC, or remain as DCIS, as proposed by Fujii et al., 1996b. LMN indicates lymph node metastasis. DM is distant metastasis.

Figure 1.5. Model of breast cancer pathways (Walker, 1997).

The small arrows indicate possible pathways where the evidence is limited. The larger arrows indicate there is better evidence. AH indicates atypical hyperplasia, LCIS is lobular carcinoma in situ, DCIS is ductal carcinoma in situ, IDC is infiltrating ductal carcinoma, and ILC in infiltrating lobular carcinoma.



#### **Ductal Carcinoma In Situ**

Histological observations indicate that DCIS is a precursor to infiltrating ductal carcinoma of the breast because of finding it in association with invasive carcinoma (Page and Anderson, 1987). However, not all cases of DCIS appear to have the same potential of progressing to invasive cancer. This does depend on the nature of DCIS; low grade DCIS, misdiagnosed as benign, and incompletely excised can recur up to 24 years later (Page *et al.*, 1995). High grade DCIS recurs, with invasion, earlier and at a higher frequency (Lagios *et al.*, 1989). A greater understanding of the biology of DCIS is a major concern, because DCIS has been diagnosed with increasing frequency in recent years, largely as a result of the introduction of screening mammography.

In the absence of known specific genes, the identification of allelic losses is often used to analyse DCIS. LOH at chromosomes 1 (Munn *et al.*, 1995), 11q (Zhuang *et al.*, 1995), 17q (Munn *et al.*, 1996b), and 16q and 17p (Radford *et al.*, 1995; Stratton *et al.*, 1995; Munn *et al.*, 1996a; Chen *et al.*, 1996) have been demonstrated. To date, all of the chromosomal regions identified in DCIS, have been previously documented in invasive carcinomas (Section 1.5).

A number of these studies have analysed pure DCIS, without associated invasion, and DCIS with synchronous invasion. Microdissection of individual *in situ* and invasive foci have identified loss of the same allele for markers on chromosome 11q13 in all of the cases studied by Zhuang *et al.*, (1995), suggesting that in these cases, the *in situ* tumour may have represented a precursor lesion of invasive carcinoma. This has also been observed at the majority of cases for other chromosomal regions: 1q (Munn *et al.*, 1995), 16q and 17p (Stratton *et al.*, 1995; Munn *et al.*, 1996a), and 17q (Munn *et al.*, 1996b).

In general, the investigations described above analysed one or two *in situ* and invasive foci from individual tumours. Fujii *et al.*, (1996a), reasoned that this approach may not be adequate to define the sequence of genetic events in the progression of an individual tumour, since distinct foci at various stages of progression may be present within one tumour sample. In their study, multiple individual foci were microdissected and analysed at 7 chromosomal regions, in two groups of lesions: cases with DCIS and synchronous infiltrating breast cancer, and cases of pure DCIS. In 8 of 20 (40%) cases with synchronous DCIS and invasive cancer, loss of different alleles was observed in some of the *in situ* foci. This phenomenon has been described as 'allelic heterogeneity' (Chen *et al.*, 1992). In contrast the frequency of allelic

heterogeneity between ducts from the pure DCIS was only 8% (3 of 23). Further evidence for this difference between the pure DCIS, and DCIS with invasion, came from an extended study of pure DCIS, which also described low frequencies of allelic heterogeneity (Fujii *et al.*, 1996b).

Fujii *et al.*, (1996a, 1996b) proposed a model whereby the involved ducts in pure DCIS have evolved along a common pathway. As the tumour becomes invasive (DCIS with synchronous invasive cancer) several *in situ* tumour foci diverge along different pathways of genetic progression. In contrast allele heterogeneity was not observed between multiple foci of invasive carcinomas. Therefore it is possible that growth of invasive cancer is the result of a rapid expansion of one population from the divergent *in situ* cancer.

Clinically, DCIS is a heterogeneous group of pathological and biological subtypes, which may differ in behaviour. The lesions can be categorised by their nuclear morphology into high, intermediate and low nuclear grade (Bobrow *et al.*, 1995). The nuclear grade of a particular DCIS lesion can be predictive of the biological behaviour of the tumour. For example, high grade lesions may be at greater risk of local recurrence if incompletely excised and be associated with the development of invasion (Lagios *et al.*, 1982). Therefore it is important to characterise the genetic changes of the different categories of DCIS, and to determine the sequence of genetic changes in tumour evolution. The allelic loss studies described by Fujii *et al.*, (1996a) have suggested that the cumulative allelic loss for all loci and LOH at each of the chromosomal loci studied (with the exception of chromosome 16q) are significantly greater in intermediate or high-grade DCIS than in the low grade DCIS. This is consistent with the model proposed by Walker (1997), whereby high grade DCIS accumulates either more or different genetic alterations than non-high grade DCIS, and in turn may progress to a more aggressive form of invasive carcinoma than that of non-high grade DCIS.

Two of the groups of investigators who had investigated allele loss on chromosome 11q13 and chromosome 16q and 17p in DCIS, have extended their analyses to lesions of atypical hyperplasia (ADH) and lobular carcinoma *in situ* (LCIS), as described below.

#### Lobular Carcinoma In Situ

LCIS and atypical lobular hyperplasia (ALH) are generally regarded as being markers of an increased risk for breast cancer rather than direct precursors of invasive breast carcinoma (Page *et al.*, 1991). A study by Nayar *et al.*, (1996), noted 40% LOH at 11q13 in ILC and in

LCIS associated with ILC. In all cases in which synchronous LCIS and ILC from the same case showed LOH, the same allele was lost in both foci, similar to the previous study of DCIS (Zhuang *et al.*, 1995). This provides molecular evidence for the hypothesis that invasive lobular carcinoma develops from foci of LCIS. However, LCIS without associated invasive lobular carcinoma showed a very low frequency of LOH, comparable to a study of ALH (Chuqui *et al.*, 1997). The authors proposed that the observed differences in LOH frequency may indicate two sub-populations of ALH/LCIS, one that shows little genetic changes and indicates lesions that do not progress or possibly regress, and the second population, characterised by genetic alterations, which have the potential to progress to invasive carcinoma.

Cases of pure LCIS, and LCIS with associated DCIS or invasive cancer were examined for LOH at chromosomes 16q and 17p by Lakhani *et al.*, (1995a). In this study, multiple loci from seven cases were analysed. In one case, two distinct foci of pure LCIS showed allelic heterogeneity, suggesting the presence of independent genetic clones, as described for DCIS.

# **Atypical Ductal Hyperplasia**

The study by Lakhani *et al.*, (1995b), demonstrated LOH for loci on chromosomes 16q and 17p in approximately 55% (5 of 9), and 20% (2 of 9) of ADH lesions, respectively. These findings suggest that ADH is a monoclonal, and therefore neoplastic proliferation which exhibits at least some of the genetic changes which characterise established *in situ* and invasive breast carcinoma. The incidence of LOH at chromosome 16q is similar to that reported in DCIS (Stratton *et al.*, 1995) and LCIS (Lakhani *et al.*, 1995a), suggesting that ADH, LCIS and DCIS may share a common path of evolution, as illustrated in Figure 1.5.

#### **Morphologically Normal Breast Tissue**

A recent investigation has demonstrated that some of the genetic aberrations found in invasive cancers are also present in morphologically normal breast epithelium from the same patient (Deng *et al.*, 1996). This study identified 8 of 30 cases with LOH, at three chromosome regions in morphologically normal ducts. In each of these cases the same allele was lost from the adjacent carcinoma cells. The highest frequency of LOH was observed at a marker positioned at 3p22-25. LOH was not found in normal ducts from surrounding tissue distant to the area of carcinoma, suggesting that the alteration was confined to normal ducts surrounding

the carcinoma. This has provided the first evidence that some invasive carcinomas may develop from morphologically normal epithelium (Figure 1.4).

### **Susceptibility Genes**

A major incentive for studying the genetics of hereditary breast cancer was the belief that the genes responsible would also be somatically mutated or altered in a proportion of the non-familial or sporadic cases of the disease, similar to findings for colorectal cancer. To date, somatic mutations of *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* have not been identified outside of the familial cases. However, recent evidence suggests that these genes may fulfil the criteria of 'caretakers', as proposed by Kinzler and Vogelstein (1997). These have demonstrated that *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* bind to *Rad51*, a protein involved in maintaining genome integrity (Scully *et al.*, 1997; Sharan *et al.*, 1997). A model has been proposed whereby *Rad51*, *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* act as a complex together to repair damaged DNA (Brugarolso and Jacks, 1997). The *ATM* gene may also fulfil the criteria of a caretaker gene, since it has a central role in surveillance of DNA damage. It is part of a signal transduction pathway which activates cellular function in response to DNA damage (Meyn *et al.*, 1995).

Further insight in to the development and progression of breast cancer is likely to come with the identity of 'gatekeeper' genes.

# 1.7 Hypothesis and Aims

The hypothesis of this thesis was that genetic analysis of distinct and well defined groups of breast lesions would lead to the delineation of pathways of breast cancer development. It was reasoned that the starting point for genetic analysis must be a pure population of breast cancer cells. The genetic alterations chosen for this investigation (microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity) had previously been used to uncover distinct pathways ('mutator' and 'suppressor') in colorectal cancer development.

The specific aims associated with each type of genetic alteration are outlined below:

# Loss of Heterozygosity

At the beginning of the project there was preliminary data to suggest that loss of regions on chromosome 16q maybe an 'early' event in the development of progression of breast cancer. The evidence came from cytogenetic analysis of breast tumours with little or no other genetic changes (Rodgers *et al.*, 1984; Dutrillaux *et al.*, 1990; Hainsworth *et al.*, 1991), and molecular analysis of invasive breast carcinomas (Larsson *et al.*, 1990; Sato *et al.*, 1990; Devilee *et al.*, 1991).

The aim of this thesis was to determine whether LOH at markers on chromosome 16q could be identified in well defined groups of breast lesions, each representing different stages in the hypothetical model of progression for the disease. The groups comprised: DCIS; tubular carcinomas, and mammographically detected early invasive carcinomas.

The approach involved preparation of tumour foci by microdissection. Each of these lesions could then be analysed by microsatellite PCR using highly polymorphic loci mapping to regions previously defined as undergoing LOH. Candidate tumour suppressor genes mapping to these regions could then by studied, in the cases which demonstrated LOH, using a combination of expression and mutation analyses.

The specific aims of this project were to:

- Determine if LOH on 16q occurs in early lesions;
- Investigate frequency of LOH on different regions of 16q;
- Analyse candidate tumour suppressor genes mapping to 16q in tumours which demonstrate LOH

# Microsatellite instability (MI)

In 1994 there had been preliminary investigations of MI in breast cancer. The reported data were conflicting. Peltomaki *et al.*, (1993), and Han *et al.*, (1993) found no evidence of MI in breast tumours, whereas investigations by Yee *et al.*, (1994) and Wooster *et al.*, (1994b) did observe MI. It was clear that the presence or not and the significance of MI in breast cancer was a controversial issue.

MI was investigated in multiple microdissected foci of each of the breast lesions, using polymorphic microsatellites. The initial strategy of this project was to investigate the frequency of MI using different types of markers. Specific trinucleotide microsatellite markers were selected because they have been demonstrated to be intrinsically unstable in genetic diseases and therefore may represent sensitive markers of instability in cancer. A group of dinucleotides markers were studied because of concurrent projects with LOH mapping on chromosome 16q (and chromosome 6q by Steve Chappell). Finally, a number of mononucleotides were included in the analysis since it emerged that instability of this type may reflect an alternative pathway of mismatch repair.

The specific aims of this project were to:

- Determine if MI occurs in early lesions;
- Investigate the type and frequency of MI with different markers;
- Analyse candidate DNA repair genes;
- Analyse cancer-associated genes which may be targets for tumours with MI.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

### 2.1 Introduction To Materials And Methods

The thesis has been concerned predominantly with the analysis of pre-invasive and mammographically-detected early invasive breast carcinomas. This does cause limitations since the lesions may not be diagnosed until after the tissue has been fixed and processed. There are advantages in that detailed analysis of different areas within individual cancers can be undertaken, and there are a variety of techniques now available which can be applied to fixed tissues.

#### Formalin Fixed Paraffin Embedded Tissues

Once removed from their normal physiological environment, morphological relationships between and within cells can only be preserved if their main structural components are stabilised and degradation prevented. Fixation by chemical methods relies on reagents that precipitate, denature or cross-link structural components within the tissue. Formaldehyde (formalin) works by reacting with basic amino acids to form cross-linking between proteins and DNA (Jackson and Chalkey, 1974).

Until the mid-1980s it was not known whether DNA could be prepared from formalin-fixed tissues. However, two studies (Goelz *et al.*, 1985; Dubeau *et al.*, 1986), demonstrated that DNA purified from fixed tissue remained partially intact, was double stranded, cleavable with restriction enzymes and therefore amenable to genetic analysis. The majority of DNA prepared from fixed tissues is in the range of 100 to 1500bp (Goelz *et al.*, 1985).

Tumour-specific alterations have traditionally been detected by Southern blot analysis. This technique generally requires microgram quantities of DNA, which are not available from many clinically obtained, small specimens. In addition this procedure requires DNA that can be digested by restriction enzymes. Warford *et al.*, (1988), demonstrated that although the extracted DNA was cleavable with some enzymes, not all could, and therefore there were still limitations in the use of fixed tissue.

### **Polymerase Chain Reaction**

The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a technique which allows the amplification of a specific DNA region that lies between two regions of known DNA sequence (Saiki *et al.*, 1985). In the past few years, PCR has proven to be a fast and effective alternative for the analysis of small DNA regions that requires only minute amounts of DNA (Li H *et al.*, 1988).

In addition the quality of the DNA is not crucial because PCR allows amplification of DNA which has been partially degraded, in contrast to Southern blotting where the quality of DNA is important. The PCR has been used successfully on tissue samples from microscope slides (Meltzer *et al.*, 1991). Due to its exponential amplification, PCR can detect mutations in as little as one cell among a hundred thousand or more normal cells (Hardingham *et al.*, 1993). Therefore, when looking for tumour-specific alterations, the PCR is equally sensitive to the presence of non-tumour cells which can yield a PCR product and thus mask a tumour-specific alteration. Approaches to tumour enrichment are described later in this section.

The PCR applications utilised in this thesis are described below.

#### **Microsatellites**

Tandem dinucleotide repeats are one class of microsatellite sequences which are abundant interspersed repetitive DNA elements. Between 50 to 100,000 interspersed CA repeats are present in the human genome. The repeat sequences often exhibit length polymorphisms, which are inherited in a Mendelian manner, therefore representing an abundant source of genetic markers (Weber and May, 1989). The polymorphisms can then be analysed following PCR amplification using unique sequence primers that flank the microsatellite. The length variation of PCR amplification products can be revealed following fractionation by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Microsatellite-PCR analysis is ideally suited to DNA prepared from fixed material because the amplification products are generally small (less than 200bp), and only nanogram quantities of DNA are required.

By comparing the microsatellite profiles of tumour and normal cells, from the same patient, it is possible to detect phenomena characteristic of some cancers, for example: genomic instability and loss of chromosomal regions (described in Chapters 3 and 4, respectively).

The majority of the microsatellites used in this thesis were dinucleotide repeats. In theory, heterozygous alleles can differ in size by a single repeat, i.e. 2bp. This type of resolution can not typically be achieved by agarose gel electrophoresis, therefore the microsatellite products are resolved on denaturing polyacrylamide gels. Following initial heat denaturation of the PCR products, they migrate through the polyacrylamide as single strands, in a size-dependent manner. Since polyacrylamide gels are larger than agarose gels, ethidium bromide staining is not practical. Therefore in order to visualise the PCR products a radioactive nucleotide (<sup>35</sup>S dATP) is incorporated during the amplification procedure. This results in a radiolabelled PCR

product which can be visualised following exposure to autoradiographic film. DNA sequencing reactions (described below) which require 1bp resolution, were also analysed on denaturing polyacrylamide gels.

#### Mutation Detection

Single stranded conformation polymorphism analysis (SSCP) is a gel electrophoresis technique that allows the detection of mutations and polymorphisms in PCR products (Orita *et al.*, 1989a, 1989b). SSCP is based on the principle that the electrophoretic mobility of a molecule through a gel is dependent on size, charge, and shape of the molecule. Under non-denaturing conditions, single-stranded DNA has a folded secondary structure that is imposed by intramolecular interactions dictated by its nucleotide sequence. A single nucleotide difference between two similar sequences is sufficient to alter the secondary structure of one relative to the other. This results in a difference in mobility of the sequences. Incorporation of a radiolabel into the amplification reaction, allows the visualisation of these products following electrophoresis and autoradiography, as illustrated in Figure 2.1. Characterisation of mobility differences can then carried out by DNA sequencing.

#### DNA Sequencing

PCR products can also be sequenced directly without the need for subcloning. The approach used in this thesis was direct solid phase sequencing, as illustrated in Figure 2.2. One of the primers used for PCR is biotinylated at the 5' end and following PCR amplification the product is captured with magnetic beads covalently coupled to streptavidin (Hultman *et al.*, 1989). The non-biotinylated strand is then eluted with alkali to yield single-stranded DNA immobilised at the 5' end. The non-biotinylated primer can then be used as a sequencing primer in di-deoxy sequencing (Sanger *et al.*, 1977).

Figure 2.1. Diagrammatic representation of SSCP. Following heat denaturation, double stranded character of PCR products is eliminated and folded single-stranded secondary structures emerge during cooling. The three dimensional structures are unique to the primary sequence and move at different rates through non-

Homozygote (A)	Heterozygote	Homozygote (B)
	Denature with heat and	
		$\int$
J.		
	Non-Denaturing Polyacrylamide	

denaturing polyacrylamide gels.

Figure 2.2. Direct solid-phase sequencing of PCR products (Newton and Graham, 1994). PCR amplification is carried out with a biotin labelled primer. Following amplification the products are captured by streptavidin coupled magnetic beads. The non-biotin strand is removed by alkali denaturation and the remaining strand is sequenced. Primers are indicated by black boxes.



# **Purification Of Tumour Cell Populations**

Breast cancers are composed of a mixture of neoplastic and non-neoplastic cells. In tumour sections, neoplastic cells are surrounded by supporting stromal cells, leukocytes, necrotic cells and in some cases the pre-existing tissue of origin. DNA prepared from a single section of a paraffin embedded breast tumour is therefore likely to contain large amounts of non-tumour cell DNA, which may mask tumour specific alterations.

Individual breast tumour sections may also contain different histological components. For example, lesions of invasive carcinoma can contain areas of in situ carcinoma, each of which may harbour different genetic alterations. A tumour enrichment protocol must therefore be able to analyse multiple foci from a sample and correlate distinct alterations with each individual focus. The two main techniques which fulfil these criteria are: microdissection and selective ultraviolet radiation fractionation (SURF).

### **Microdissection**

Tumour cells to be purified are identified and simply removed either manually by scraping cells from the tissue section with fine needles or capillary tubing (Going and Lamb, 1996), or by selectively adhering the cells to a transfer film with a pulse from a laser (Emmert-Buck *et al.*, 1996). DNA is then purified from procured cells, by standard extraction protocols, and amplified using PCR amplification.

### SURF

This technique is essentially the reverse of microdissection. The tumour cells to be purified are protected by a covering of ink. The whole section is then irradiated with UV light, which leads to cross linking of DNA in all cells bar those protected by ink (Shibata *et al.*, 1992, 1993). DNA is then purified in the same was as described above.

A review of the current literature (Bohm and Wieland, 1997), shows that the microdissection approach is more widely used than SURF technique. The main disadvantage of SURF, is that it does not reliably inactivate short targets of DNA (less than 120bp). This may be a problem because many of the microsatellite markers used for PCR analysis generate PCR products less than 120bp.

#### **Immunohistochemistry And Antigen-Retrieval**

Although formalin fixation results in a high level of morphological preservation, the extensive cross-linking of proteins, may lead to a decrease in antigenic preservation. However, analysis of protein expression is possible. This is achieved by the technique of immunohistochemistry, whereby a specific antibody is targeted against the protein of interest and applied directly to the tissue section. Specific binding of antigen and antibody is then visualised microscopically. A variety of detection systems of increasing sensitivity have been developed, for example those based on avidin-biotin detection (Hsu *et al.*, 1981). There are also a number of 'antigen unmasking' or retrieval protocols which can improve protein detection (Shi *et al.*, 1991; Cattoretti *et al.*, 1993). Overall the method can qualitatively determine protein reactivity and also allow spatial distribution of protein expression.

In general, cryostat sections from fresh-frozen tissue give better antigenic preservation than formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tumours, but cytological and architectural detail can be poorer.

### **Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy**

An immunohistochemical approach using confocal laser scanning microscopy was adopted to gain more precise information about the localisation of cell adhesion molecules, and in particular to determine whether these proteins were expressed by breast myoepithelial cells.

In conventional microscopy, the illumination stimulates fluorescence throughout the whole depth of the specimen, thus contrast and resolution for objects within the focal plane can be compromised by background fluorescence from out of focus structures.

Confocal microscopy in contrast uses a combination of a focused illumination spot and a detection pinhole to restrict excitation and detection to within the focal plane. Consequently, out of focus structures do not contribute to background fluorescence as they receive little or no illumination. Image contrast and resolution are greatly improved in confocal microscopy and it is also possible to optically section specimens allowing three dimensional imaging of tissues (Ockleford, 1995).

#### **Tissue Culture**

A major limitation of fixed tissue is the inability to undertake functional assays. Cell lines have their limitations but can provide useful model systems and are of value for evaluating new techniques, for example, methylation analysis. It is also possible to design experiments *in vitro* which may mimic what is occurring *in vivo*. For example, by adding anti-tumour drugs to the growth medium, it is possible to assess whether tolerance to these drugs is related to a decrease in the genetic stability of the cell lines or alterations in gene expression (Budworth *et al.*, 1997).

Over recent years tissue culture techniques have been developed to allow the maintenance of primary cultures, which have the advantage of allowing normal cells to be studied. For example, breast tissue from reduction mammoplasties can be maintained in culture. Individual cell populations, such as myoepithelial and epithelial cells can then by grown and studied independently, following cell separation protocols (Gomm *et al.*, 1995).

#### **Methylation Analysis**

It is now emerging that alterations in the DNA methylation machinery are among the most common changes associated with neoplasia and may have a causative role at an early stage in carcinogenesis (reviewed in Jones and Gonzalago, 1997). In higher order eukaryotes, DNA is methylated only at cytosine residues located 5' to guanosine in the CG dinucleotide, giving rise to 5-methyl-cytosine (5-meC) (Jones, 1996). In humans, approximately 60% of genes contain CG-rich regions of DNA in their promoters. These 'CpG islands' are normally devoid of DNA methylation regardless of the expression status of the gene (reviewed in Jones, 1996). When present, DNA methylation of promoter-associated CpG islands leads to irreversible inhibition of gene expression, as demonstrated in X chromosome inactivation in women (Pfeiffer et al., 1990), and in the transcriptionally silent copy of parentally imprinted genes (Sasaki et al., 1992; Ferguson-Smith et al., 1993; Stoger et al., 1993). It is believed that methylation of these residues leads to the gene silencing through heterochromatisation (Bird, 1986). In recent years, inactivation of at least five tumour suppressor genes has been demonstrated to be due to de novo promoter methylation in sporadic cases (reviewed in Jones, 1996). Therefore, there is a need for a reliable technique which can detect aberrantly methylated gene sequences.

The detection of methylated regions of DNA has traditionally relied on Southern blotting approaches, based on the inability of methylation sensitive restriction enzymes (for example *Hpa*II, or *Cfo*I) to cleave sequences that contain one or more methylated CpG sites. This approach requires large amounts of high molecular weight DNA, and can detect methylation

only if present in greater than a few percent of alleles (Issa *et al.*, 1993). PCR-based methylation assays have been described which enable analysis of smaller amounts of template. These assays also use methylation specific enzymes to distinguish between methylated and unmethylated regions of DNA. Primers can be designed to amplify specific regions of interest following enzyme digestion (Singer-Sam *et al.*, 1993; Gonzalez-Zulueta *et al.*, 1995). However, due to the sensitive nature of PCR, a small percentage of undigested DNA can confuse the analysis.

A technique which reliably detects methylated DNA has recently been developed. It relies upon the ability of a chemical (sodium-bisulphite) to efficiently convert cytosine to uracil in single-stranded DNA, under conditions where methylated cytosines (5-MeC) are unreactive and remain as cytosine. The DNA sequence under investigation is then amplified by PCR with two sets of strand-specific primers to yield a pair of fragments, one derived from each strand, in which all uracil and thymine residues have been amplified as thymine and only 5-MeC residues have been amplified as cytosine (Frommer *et al.*, 1992). The PCR products can then be cloned and sequenced to provide methylation maps of single DNA molecules, or sequenced directly to determine the average methylation (Clark *et al.*, 1994).

More recently, a novel bisulphite-based PCR method, methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR) has been developed which is specific and sensitive for methylation of CpG sites within CpG islands. The DNA sequence differences that result from the bisulphite reaction allow the design of PCR primers which distinguish methylated from unmethylated DNA. MS-PCR has recently been used for detecting aberrant methylation in four tumour suppressor genes in human cancer (Herman *et al.*, 1996).

## 2.2 Materials

#### Tissues

Impalpable carcinomas which had been detected by mammographic screening were fixed in 4% formaldehyde in saline for 18 h. After slicing, selected blocks 3-4 mm in thickness were processed through graded alcohols and xylene to paraffin wax.

All other tissues were received fresh within 30 min after surgery. Samples 8x5x3 mm were taken and frozen in liquid nitrogen, with subsequent storage in the vapour phase of a liquid nitrogen freezer. Parallel blocks of tissue 3-4 mm in thickness were taken and fixed for 18 h, then processed through graded alcohols and xylene to paraffin wax.

Following a review of haematoxylin and eosin-stained sections by Dr. R. A. Walker, a representative block was chosen for further study.

### Histology

## Ductal Carcinoma In Situ

DCIS from 23 patients was examined. 13 cases were identified by mammographic screening and 10 had presented clinically. Haematoxylin and eosin stained sections were examined and DCIS categorised for grade and architecture using the criteria in the NHS Breast Screening Programme National Co-ordinating Group for Breast Screening Pathology Guidelines, 1995 (NHSBSP), (Dr. R. A. Walker). These comprised 11 cases were of high nuclear grade, 3 of intermediate grade and 9 low grade, summarised in Table 2.1. For 2 cases lymph node tissue was available which was used as a source of normal DNA, whereas for 21 cases normal breast tissue, at least 3 cm away from the area of in situ carcinoma was the source of normal DNA. All tumour and normal samples had received the same fixation and processing.

#### Early Invasive Carcinomas

Thirty invasive breast carcinomas detected by screening mammography by the Leicestershire Breast Screening Service (between 1989 and 1992) were examined. All carcinomas were reported according to the NHSBSP guidelines (Dr. R. A. Walker). Infiltrating ductal carcinomas were graded using the modified Bloom and Richardson system (Elston and Ellis, 1991), summarised in Table 2.2. All had either axillary node sampling or axillary dissection. Lymph nodes, all of which negative for metastasis, were used as a source of normal DNA. None of the tumours were from women with either a strong predisposition to the development of cancer or any known inherited predisposition to the development of tumours.

### Tubular Carcinomas

Thirteen cases of tubular carcinoma were investigated. These were selected from the research files and were symptomatic cases. All tissues had initially been received fresh. They ranged in size from 10 mm to 35 mm, and four were lymph node positive.

## Infiltrating Lobular Carcinomas

Twelve cases of infiltrating lobular carcinoma were investigated. These were selected from the research files and were symptomatic cases. All tissues had been received fresh. They ranged in size from 10 mm to 35 mm, and all were node positive.

### Fibroadenomas

Eight cases of fibroadenoma and one benign phyllodes tumour (a neoplasm in which the stromal component predominates) were examined. These were selected from the research files. Normal surrounding breast tissue, at least 3 cm away from the lesion was the source of normal DNA.

### Other Tissues

Extra-mammary tissues from selected patients were obtained from the Pathology files of the Leicester Royal Infirmary. All had been fixed and processed as described previously.

DCIS Case	Nuclear Grade	Presentation	Source of normal DNA
1	High	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
2	High	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
3	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
4	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
5	High	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
6	High	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
7	High	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
8	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
9	Intermediate	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
10	Intermediate	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
11	High	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
12	High	Clinically presenting	Lymph Node
13	High	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
14	High	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
15	Intermediate	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
16	High	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
17	High	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
18	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
19	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
20	Low	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast
21	Low	Clinically presenting	Lymph Node
22	Low	Mamm. detected	Normal Breast
23	Low	Clinically presenting	Normal Breast

Table 2.1. Pathological features of DCIS.

Mamm. detected, indicates mammographically detected

Table 2.2. Pathological features of early invasive breast carcinomas.

Туре	Grade	No. of Cases	Tumour size (mm)	No. of Cases
Tubular		4	<10	4
ILC/Tubular		1	10	10
IDC/ILC		1	11	2
ILC		1	12	4
IDC	Ι	10	13	2
IDC	II	11	14	0
IDC	III	2	15	8
Total		30		30

ILC, indicates Infiltrating Lobular Carcinoma, ICD, Infiltrating Ductal Carcinoma.

# **Chemical Reagents**

All chemicals were 'analar' grade purchased from Sigma, with a few exceptions; Phenol, chloroform, isopropanol, acetone (Fisons), 2'-Deoxynucleoside 5'-Triphosphates (Pharmacia), ATPγS (Amersham USB), BSA (Boehringer Mannheim).

# **Bacteriological Reagents**

Tryptone, Bacto-agar, and Yeast extract were purchased from Difco. Ampicillin, X-gal, and IPTG were from Sigma.

# **Tissue Culture Reagents**

DMEM (without phenol red), FCS, L-glutamine and PBS were from Life Sciences. Trypsin and Dimethylsulfoxide were from Sigma. 75 cm<sup>3</sup> culture flasks were from Nunclon. Doxorubicin (2mg/ml) was kindly provided by Louise Reeve, Dept. Surgery.

# Radioisotopes

 $\alpha(^{35}S)$  dATP (0.4625 MBq/µl) was from either ICN Flow or Amersham USB.

# DNAs

Plasmids containing trinucleotide repeats ( $CTG_5$  and  $CTG_{20}$ ) were kindly provided by Professor Keith Johnson, University of Glasgow

Genomic DNAs with previously characterised E-cadherin mutations (Berx *et al.*, 1996) were kindly provided by Dr Anne-Marie Cleton-Jansen, University of Leiden, as detailed in Table 2.3.

Tumour Sample	Mutation Site	Exon	Nucleotide Change
BT1004	cd 254	6	Deletion of 17bp
BT1172	cd 321	7	Insertion of 5bp
BT823	cd 346	8	Substitution of 1bp
BT887	cd 368	8	Insertion of 1bp
BT995A	cd 408	9	Deletion of 1bp

Table 2.3. Tumour samples with characterised E-cadherin gene mutations

cd indicates codon position (Berx et al., 1995a)

### **Antibodies and Sera**

### E-cadherin

Mouse monoclonal E-cadherin antibody (Clone 5H9) was purchased from EuroPath. The antibody reacts with 120 kD and 80 kD proteins in Western-blotting.

## P-cadherin

Mouse monoclonal P-cadherin (NCC-CAD-299), available within the Department of. Pathology, was originally supplied by Dr. Setsuo Hirohashi, National Cancer Center Research Institute, Tokyo. The antibody reacts with a 72 kD protein in Western-blotting (Shimoyama *et al.*, 1989).

### H-cadherin

Rabbit polyclonal H-cadherin was kindly provided by Dr. Sam Lee, Beth Israel Hospital, Harvard. The polyclonal was raised against a synthetic peptide spanning an extra-cellular domain of the H-cadherin molecule. The antibody detects proteins of 80 kD and approximately 110 kD by Western blotting (Lee, 1996).

### MSH2

Mouse monoclonal MSH2 (NA27) was purchased from Oncogene Science. The antibody was raised against a carboxy-terminal fragment of human MSH2 protein, and reacts with a 100 kD protein in Western-blotting (Thibodeau *et al.*, 1996).

### MLHI

Mouse monoclonal MLH1 (NA28) was purchased from Oncogene Science. The antibody reacts with a 88 kD protein in Western-blotting. The epitope from which the antibody was raised is unknown.

### PMS2

Mouse monoclonal PMS2 (NA30), was purchased from Oncogene Science. The antibody reacts with a 96 kD protein on western-blotting. The epitope from which the antibody was raised is unknown.

### Secondary antibodies

Biotinylated and FITC-labelled swine anti-rabbit immunoglobulin and rabbit anti mouse immunoglobulin antisera were obtained from Dako. StreptABC Complex HRP Kit was purchased from Dako.

### Sera

Normal rabbit and normal swine sera were purchased from Life Sciences.

### **Cell lines**

T-47-D - ER positive (Keydar *et al.*, 1979), MCF-7 - ER positive (Soule *et al.*, 1973), MDA-MB-231 - ER negative (Cailleau *et al.*,1974), cell lines were originally derived from malignant pleural effusions. HBL-100 - An ER positive cell line was derived from the milk of a lactating mother (Gaffney *et al.*, 1976). It is considered to be 'non-tumourigenic'. However, it was shown to be abnormal as early as passage 7 and has been demonstrated by some workers to be tumourigenic in nude mice (Ziche & Gullino, 1982). All cell lines were originally obtained from American Type Culture Collection.

MCF-7/Adr - A multiple drug-resistant derivative of MCF-7 was kindly provided by Dr. Gillian Hirst, Beatson Institute, Glasgow.

Pure populations of breast myoepithelial cells, prepared by cell separation of reduction mammoplasty samples, were kindly provided by Dr Louise Jones, Department of Pathology.

#### Enzymes

Commonly used restriction endonucleases were purchased from Life Sciences BRL and Boehringer Mannheim. *Taq* DNA polymerase was from Life Sciences, Promega and Bioline. Proteinase K and Protease (Type14) were from Boehringer Mannheim. RNase I and Trypsin were from Sigma. *Pfu* DNA polymerase was from Strategene.

### Electrophoresis

Agarose was from ICN. Nusieve low melting agarose was from FMC. The  $\lambda$ /HindIII and  $\phi$ X174/HaeIII DNA fragments used as size markers were obtained from Promega. Sequagel polyacrylamide was from National Diagnostics. Mutation Detection Enhancement (MDE) acrylamide was from AT Biochem. 3MM chromatography paper was from Whatmann.

## Photography And Autoradiography

Photographs of gels were taken using a Sony Gel Documentation system 5000 and a UVP transilluminator, with Sony UPP-11-HD thermal paper. Biomax film was from Kodak. Exposed autoradiographs were developed automatically using a RP-X-OMAT Kodak processor.

<b>Commonly Used Solutions</b>	
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	Distilled and sterile throughout
PBS (20X)	2.6M NaCl, 60mM Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> , 140mM NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , pH 7.4
TBS (20X)	0.05M Tris, 0.15M NaCl, 0.1% (w/v) BSA, pH 7.65
TE (1X)	10mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 1mM EDTA (pH8.0)
TAE Buffer (50X)	2M Tris, 1M Glacial Acetic Acid, 0.005M EDTA, pH 8.0
TBE Buffer (10X)	108g Tris, 55g Boric Acid, 40ml 0.5M EDTA
Agarose loading buffer	0.025% Bromophenol blue, 0.025% Xylene cyanol, 2.5% Ficoll in water
PAGE loading buffer	95% formamide, 20mM EDTA, 0.05%
	Bromophenol blue 0.05% Xylene cyanol
SSCP loading buffer	As PAGE buffer with 50mM NaOH
Standard PCR buffer	45mM Tris-HCl (pH8.8), 11mM (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> , 4.5mM MgCl <sub>2</sub> , 200 $\mu$ M each dNTP, 113mg/ml BSA, 6.7mM β-mercaptoethanol, 4.4 $\mu$ M EDTA (pH 8.0)
<sup>35</sup> S PCR buffer	As standard recipe except, dATP at $25\mu M$
Binding Washing (BW) buffer (2X)	10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 1mM EDTA, 2.0 M NaCl.
Mayer's Haematoxylin Solution	<ul><li>0.1% Haematoxylin, 5% ammonium or</li><li>potassium alum, 0.02% sodium iodide,</li><li>0.1% acid, 5% chloral hydrate</li></ul>
Eosin Solution	1% Aqueous water soluble eosin
Citric Acid Buffer	10mM Citric acid, pH 6.0

Homogenisation buffer	0.05M Tris-HCl, 2M urea, 1g/l NaCl, 1g/l
	EDTA, 1ml/l Brij 35, 0.1mM PMSF
SDS-PAGE sample buffer (2X)	0.05M Tris-HCl, 4% SDS, 20% glycerol, 0.2%
	bromophenol blue, 1.4M $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol ,pH
	6.7.
TBS-T	As TBS, without BSA, and with 0.1% Tween
	20.
Blocking solution	TBS-T and 5% dried skimmed milk powder
LB/litre	10g bacto-tryptone, 5g yeast extract, 10g NaCl,
	lg glucose, (15g agar/litre for plates).

# 2.3. Methods

# **Cell Culture**

# Maintenance Of Cell Lines

Established breast cancer cell lines were routinely maintained in  $50 \text{cm}^3$  culture flasks containing phenol red-free Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FCS and 2mM L-Glutamine and incubated in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>/95% air at 37°C until 70-90% confluent.

# Passage

Culture media was aspirated, cell monolayers were washed with PBS and cells removed by treatment with 2ml trypsin (0.5g/l). The cell suspension was then centrifuged at 3,000rpm for 5 min at  $4^{0}$ C. Cell pellets were resuspended in 6ml preheated culture medium, and used to seed 3 flasks each containing 8ml of culture medium.

# Freezing Down

A cell suspension was prepared as described above and resuspended in 0.5ml FCS and 0.5ml freezing solution (20% dimethylsulfoxide, 80% DMEM), placed at  $-70^{\circ}$ C overnight, then stored under liquid nitrogen.

# Doxorubicin Experiments

An experiment was conducted to assess the tolerance of the MCF-7 cell line to increasing concentrations of the anti-tumour drug, doxorubicin. A flask of MCF-7 cells was grown to 70-90% confluence in the absence of doxorubicin. The cells were harvested and used to seed three flasks each containing medium with of 3nM doxorubicin. This was repeated for 30nM and 300nM doxorubicin. Cells were washed, trypsinised, and pelleted prior to DNA and protein extraction, as described later in this section.

# **DNA Extraction's**

DNA template was prepared from tumour foci by means of microdissection. DNA was also prepared from both cell lines and fixed tissues, as described below.

### Microdissection

A microdissection procedure was used to procure tumour cells from haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained sections of formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded tissues. DNA template was then prepared from the cells and used in subsequent genetic analysis.

### Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) Staining Of Tissue Sections

Tissue sections (10µm) were cut onto glass microscope slides and placed in a 37°C incubator overnight. Dried sections were then dewaxed in xylene (1x 5min, 1x 2min) and rehydrated through a series of graded alcohols (2x 2min 99% alcohol; 1x 2min 95% alcohol) and rinsed in running tap water. Sections were then immersed in Mayer's haematoxylin solution for 1 min, rinsed in tap water, immersed in eosin for 15 sec and rinsed in running tap water. Stained section were then dehydrated, transferred to xylene and mounted in resinous mountant (XAM).

### Microdissection Of Tissue Sections

The method used was based on the technique described by Koreth *et al.*, (1995). Two 10 $\mu$ m sections were cut and mounted on microscope slides, deparaffinised and stained with H&E, One H&E section was mounted and served as a reference section. Distinct foci were visualised and marked with pen by a Dr R. A. Walker. The corresponding foci were dissected from the unmounted section, with the aid of x40 magnification dissecting microscope (American Optical Corporation) using a sterile drawn-out capillary tube. The glass tip and procured cells was broken into a 0.5ml eppendorf containing 25 $\mu$ l digestion buffer (100mM Tris-HCl (pH8.8), 1mM EDTA (pH8.0), 200 $\mu$ g/ml Proteinase K). The samples were then incubated for 3h at 56<sup>o</sup>C, followed by heat inactivation of Proteinase K at 94<sup>o</sup>C for 10min, and then stored at 4<sup>o</sup>C. An aliquot (typically 5 $\mu$ l) was used as template for PCR amplification.

### Fixed Tissues

Between two and six, 10µm sections were cut and placed in a sterile tube. Xylene (1ml) was added and they were allowed to stand at room temperature for 10 min. The samples were centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 5 min and the supernatant removed. The procedure was repeated with 1ml fresh xylene, then with 2x 1ml of absolute ethanol. The tissue pellets were air-dried and incubated for 3h at 56<sup>o</sup>C in 100µl digestion buffer (100mM Tris-HCl (pH8.8), 1mM EDTA (pH8.0), 200µg/ml Proteinase K). Samples were then extracted twice with equal volumes of phenol/chloroform, twice with chloroform and precipitated with three vols. of ethanol and 0.1 vol. of 3M sodium acetate (pH4.8). Following centrifugation (13,000 rpm for
10 min at  $4^{0}$ C) the pellets were washed with 70% ethanol, air dried and resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O, prior to spectrophotometry.

# Cell Lines

Cells were washed, trypsinised and pelleted as described previously. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 100µl extraction buffer (0.05M KCl, 0.01M Tris-HCl, pH8.3, 0.01M MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5% Tween 20, 0.5% NP40, 500µg/ml Proteinase K) incubated at  $56^{0}$ C for 3h and phenol/chloroform extracted prior to ethanol precipitation, and resuspension in ddH<sub>2</sub>0. The concentration of the resulting DNA was determined by spectrophotometry.

# Spectrophotometry

DNA concentrations were determined by spectroscopy. DNA samples diluted in  $ddH_20$  were placed in silica cuvettes and the absorbency read at a wavelength of 260 and 280nm on a spectrophotometer (Pye Unicam, SP1700). DNA concentrations were calculated using the following approximation:  $OD_{260}$  of 1.0 is equivalent to  $50\mu$ g/ml of double stranded DNA (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989a).

## **PCR Methodologies**

To avoid contamination, all PCR reactions were prepared using PCR-dedicated reagents, tips and tubes. Reactions were prepared in a dedicated 'clean' area, in which no other experiments involving DNA, were carried out.

## Primers

PCR primer information was obtained from cited publications (detailed in Table 2.4) the Genome Data Base (http://www.gdb.org), and the Chromosome 16 database at the Center for Human Genome Studies (http://www-ls.lanl.gov).

For a number of experiments, PCR primers were designed using the 'Prime' program of the Wisconsin Package (Genetics Computer Group). The default settings for the program were used on all occasions, except when designing primers to amplify GC-rich regions. For these primers, the percentage of CG content of the PCR primers and PCR products were increased to allow primer design. Primer combinations were then compared with EMBL/Genbank databases using the 'findpatterns' program to ensure unique primer binding sites. Primers were purchased from Life Sciences and Genosys, and supplied as desiccated oligonucleotide pellets.

Table 2.4. (a) Primers used for microsatellite instability analysis.

Primer	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'	Tm	Chr/Gene	Size	Reference
			( <sup>0</sup> C)	location	(bp)	
DM	CTTCCCAGGCCTGCAGTTTGCCCATC	GAACGGGGCTCGAAGGGTCCTTGTAGC	67	3' UTR	128-176	Brook <i>et al.</i> , 1992
X75b	GCCAGCCATTCAGTCATTTGAAG	CTGAAAGACACGTCACACTGGT	62	19q13	120-142	Jansen et al., 1992
SBMA	GCCTGTTGAACTCTTCTGAGC	GCTGTGAAGGTTGCTGTTCCTC	65	Xq12	405-450	La Spada <i>et al.</i> , 1991
SCA-1	CAACATGGGCAGTCTGAG	AACTGGAAATGTGGACGTAC	57	6p22-23	210-	Orr <i>et al.</i> , 1993
TGFβRII	CTTTATTCTGGAAGATGCTGC	GAAGAAAGTCTCACCACG	63	n. 665-737	73	Myeroff et al., 1995
IGFIIR	GCAGGTCTCCTGACTCAGAA	GAAGAAGATGGCTGTGGAGC	66	n.4029-4140	111	Souza <i>et al.</i> , 1996
Bax	ATCCAGGATCGAGCAGGGCG	ACTCGCTCAGCTTCTTGGTG	67	n. 91-185	94	Rampino et al., 1997
E2F-4	CAACAACACTGGACACCCGGC	TCAAAGGAGGTAGAAGGGTTGG	67	а	130	Yoshitaka et al., 1996
BAT25	TCGCCTCCAAGAATGTAAGT	TCTCATTTTAACTATGGCTC	59	b	80	Liu et al., 1995
BAT40	ATTAACTTCCTACACCACAAC	GTAGAGCAAGACCACCTTG	61	с	105	Liu et al., 1995
cESR	GAC GCA TGA TAT ACT TCA CC	GCA GAA TCA AAT ATC CAG ATG	56	6q25.1	178-194	Orphanous et al., 1995
D6186	TTA CCC ACT ACC TAC CCA GAG	GTC CCT TGG AAA ATT CTC CCT	56	6q26-27	235	Orphanous et al., 1995
D6S193	AGA GCA GGC TCT GCA TGG TTA	CTG ACA AAA GAA CAT ATT GTT TCC C	56	6q26-27	190	Orphanous et al., 1995

<sup>a</sup> Reverse primer is intronic, <sup>b</sup> Intron of c-kit oncogene and <sup>c</sup> Intron of 3-β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase gene. n., is nucleotide position, UTR, is untranslated region.

Primer	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'	Tm ( <sup>0</sup> C)	Gene location	Size (bp)	Reference
EcadProm	ACCTAGACCCTAGCAACTCC	ACAGGTGCTTTGCAGTTC	63	See Appendix I	221	Not Applicable
EcadM	TTAGGTTAGAGGGTTATCGCGT	TAACTAAAAATTCACCTACCGAC	57	See Appendix I	116	Herman <i>et al.</i> , 1996
EcadU	TAATTTTAGGTTAGAGGGTTATTGT	CACAACCAATCAACAACACA	53	See Appendix I	97	Herman et al., 1996

Table2.4. (b) Primers used for methylation analysis of E-cadherin promoter region.

Table 2.4. (c) Primers used for loss of heterozygosity and microsatellite instability analysis.

Primer	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'		Chr.	Size (bp)	Reference
			( <sup>0</sup> C)	location		
D16S400	CTCATCCGACTTCTCACAGC	AATATGAACCCTCCATGCTG	60	16q21	192-202	Weissenbach et al., 1992
D16S289	CACACATTATCATTTCTTCCAAGCTGTG	AGTTGGAGGAAGAGAGAAGCAG	62	16q23	156-172	Weissenbach et al., 1992
D16S402	TTTTGTAACCATGTACCCCC	ATTTATAGGGCCATGACCAG	66	16q24.2	161-187	Weissenbach et al., 1992
D16S3026	CTCCCTGAGCAACAACACC	GGTCATTTATATGCGCCTGA	65	16q24.3	212-220	Dib et al., 1996
D16S413	ACTCCAGCCCGAGTAA	GGTCACAGGTGGGTTC	65	16q24.4	131-149	Weissenbach et al., 1992

Table2.4. (d) Primers used for SSCP and mutation analysis of E-cadherin gene. Primers are located in introns flanking each exon.

Primer	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'	Tm ( <sup>0</sup> C)	Gene location	Size (bp)	Reference
GEC14/24	ACCCAGTGTTGGGATCCTTC	GTTACCCCGGTGTCAACAAG	66	Exon 5	192	Kanai <i>et al.,</i> 1994
GEC12/22	TCCTCATCACAGCTCAAGTC	GGGTCCAAAGAACCTAAGAG	62	Exon 6	243	Oda et al., 1994
GEC11/21	TGCCCAGTCCCAAAGTGCAG	TCCACACCCTCTGGATCCTC	65	Exon 7	253	Oda et al., 1994
GEC13/23	CCTGACTTGGTTGTGTCGATC	GACCTTTCTTTGGAAACCCTC	65	Exon 8	178	Kanai <i>et al.</i> , 1994
Ecad9	GTACTTGTAATGACACATCTC	TGCCAGTTTCTGCATCTTGC	63	Exon 9	252	Berx et al., 1995a

The oligonucleotide pellet was resuspended in  $200\mu$ l ddH<sub>2</sub>0 and stored at  $-20^{0}$ C. An aliquot of this stock solution was then diluted to 10pmol/ml and used as the working stock solution. The sequence of each primer set is outlined in Table 2.4.

A number of PCR primers were 'biotinylated' to enable single-stranded DNA sequencing. This procedure is detailed the section describing DNA sequencing.

## PCR Optimisation

PCR conditions for each primer set were optimised by evaluating different annealing temperatures. The initial annealing temperature was calculated using the following equation: 4(G+C) + 2(A+T). A number of reactions were then set up in parallel, and amplified at the estimated initial annealing temperature, and with temperatures increasing in increments of  $2^{0}$ C. The optimal annealing temperature for each primer, was then judged as that which gave specific and consistent amplification. The optimised annealing temperatures for each of the primer sets is outlined in Table 2.4.

#### DNA Amplification

PCR amplification was carried out using the 'hot-start' procedure. This technique involves heating all of the reaction components, except for the PCR primers, to 94<sup>0</sup>C. By adding the primers after the initial denaturation step, non-specific hybridisation can be avoided and in general this decreases amplification of spurious PCR products.

Typically,  $25\mu$ l reactions were set up. DNA template (50-100ng or  $5\mu$ l of microdissected material) were mixed with standard PCR reaction buffer (Section 2.2) and overlaid with a drop of mineral oil. This solution was then denatured for 5 min at  $94^{\circ}$ C before primers (10pmoles each) and 1 Unit *Taq* DNA polymerase were added.

For radiolabelled PCR, amplification was carried out in the presence of 0.0925MBq <sup>35</sup>S dATP. The reaction components were similar to those described above, for non-radioactive PCR except that <sup>35</sup>S reaction buffer was used (Section 2.2). This contained dATP at a final concentration, eight times lower than that of the other dNTPs. The lower concentration of dATP facilitated the incorporation of the <sup>35</sup>S labelled dATP in the amplification products.

Reactions were amplified for between 30-35 cycles in a Perkin-Elmer Cetus (Version 2.2) or Hybaid Omnigene thermal cycler. Negative and positive controls were used throughout. A typical amplification protocol is outlined below. Typical cycling conditions:

Initial denaturation	94 <sup>0</sup> C - 5 min
	94 <sup>0</sup> C - 1min
Cycling program (X35)	$60^{0}C$ - 1min (optimised annealing temperature)
	72 <sup>0</sup> C - 1min
Final extension	72 <sup>0</sup> C - 7min

## Electrophoresis

Restriction digests of genomic DNA and non-radioactive PCR products were resolved on agarose gels, and visualised by ethidium bromide staining of the DNA. DNA sequence products and microsatellite PCR products were resolved on denaturing polyacrylamide gels. Mutation analysis by SSCP, was carried out on non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels.

## Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

PCR products were fractionated by electrophoresis through 1.0 - 2.0% Seakem agarose gels in 1X TAE buffer. Loading buffer was added to the samples to 1X concentration, prior to electrophoresis. Gels were stained in 0.5mg/ml ethidium bromide for 15 min to allow the DNA to be visualised on a UVP transilluminator. Electrophoresis was performed typically at 80 volts for 1-3h.

## Denaturing Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Radiolabelled PCR products and DNA sequencing reactions were diluted 2:1 in loading buffer. The samples (7µl) were denatured for 3min at 94<sup>0</sup>C and loaded directly onto 6% polyacrylamide/8M urea gels. Electrophoresis was performed in 1X TBE at 60-90 Watts, 50<sup>0</sup>C for 2-4 h. Gels were then fixed for 20min in 10% methanol and 10% acetic acid and then vacuum dried. Exposure to X-OMAT film (Kodak) took place at room temperature for 1 to 7 days.

## Non-Denaturing Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SSCP)

PCR products were diluted 2:1 in SSCP loading buffer, heat denatured, as above, and incubated on ice for 5 min, prior to loading samples on 0.5 - 0.8X MDE gels. Electrophoresis was performed in 0.6X TBE at 6-8 Watts for 12-18 h, at room temperature. Gels were dried and exposed to film as described above.

## **DNA Sequencing**

DNA sequencing was carried out by the dideoxy chain-terminating method (Sanger *et al.*, 1977), using the Sequenase Version 2.0 Kit (Amersham). DNA sequencing was carried out on subcloned PEG-purified plasmid and biotinylated-PCR products. The preparation of each of these templates is described below.

## Preparation Of Plasmid

DNA regions to be sequenced were PCR-amplified and subcloned into restricted plasmid. The subcloning procedure, transformation, and subsequent plasmid preparation of recombinant clones is detailed below.

## Subcloning

Direct subcloning of PCR products was carried out with the pCR-Script SK(+) Cloning Kit (Stratagene), according to the manufacturers directions. *Pfu* DNA polymerase was used in the initial amplification reaction to facilitate blunt ended ligation of vector to insert.

## **Transformation**

Following subcloning, 10ng of the ligation reaction was transformed into supercompetent *E. coli* XL-1 Blue cells, by 'heat-pulse', as per the manufacturers guidelines. The transformation reaction was plated onto selective agar plates, and recombinant colonies were differentiated from transformants by colour selection, with X-gal and IPTG. Recombinant colonies were then restreaked onto new plates and stored in a glycerol suspension at  $-70^{\circ}$ C (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989b).

## Plasmid Preparation (Birnboim and Doly, 1979)

A single colony was inoculated into 10ml of LB/Ampicillin ( $50\mu g/ml$ ) and grown overnight at  $37^{0}$ C with shaking (200 rpm). A 10ml overnight culture of the clone of interest was then pelleted by centrifugation at 13,000rpm for 1min, and resuspended in 400µl of chilled buffer P1 (100µg RNase A, 50mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 10mM EDTA pH 8.0) and split into two eppendorfs. 200µl of freshly prepared buffer P2 (200mM NaOH, 1% SDS) was added, mixed gently by inversion, and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. 200µl chilled buffer P3 (3M Potassium Acetate, pH 5.5) was added, mixed gently by inversion, and incubated to fresh tubes following centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 5 min, followed by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation.

The plasmid was resuspended in  $32\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O and polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitated by the addition of  $8\mu$ l 4M NaCl and  $30\mu$ l 13% PEG. Following incubation on ice, the plasmid was centrifuged as before, washed in 70% ethanol, and finally resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Sequencing was carried out with 3-5µg RNA-free PEG purified, alkali denatured plasmid, using the conditions described by the manufacturers.

## Single Stranded Sequencing

Single stranded DNA template was prepared by streptavidin-biotin selection of PCR products. Streptavidin coated Dynabeads (Dynal) were used to capture biotinylated PCR products. The primer biotinylation, and Dynabead purification is detailed below.

#### **Primer Biotinylation**

Primers were biotinylated essentially as described in the Oligonucleotide Labelling Kit (Amersham). Briefly, 500pmoles of primer was incubated with 1X T4 polynucleotide kinase buffer, 5mM ATP $\gamma$ S and 30 units of T4 polynucleotide kinase. At 37<sup>o</sup>C for 1h, followed by inactivation at 70<sup>o</sup>C for 10min. The primer was then ethanol precipitated and resuspended in 100mM Potassium Phosphate (pH 8.0), NIBH, and incubated at 50<sup>o</sup>C for 1h. The reaction was made up to 100µl with ddH<sub>2</sub>O and purified on pre-equilibrated Sephadex G25 spun columns by centrifugation at 1200g for 5 min.

# Spun-Column Chromatography

Spun columns were prepared by plugging 1ml disposable syringes with polyallomer wool and then adding a slurry of pre-swollen Sephadex G25/TE. Columns were spun at 1200g for 5min and topped up with slurry until the column was packed. The column was then equilibrated by adding 100µl TE and centrifuged as before. After each centrifugation the volume of eluent was measured and the procedure was repeated until the eluent was 100µl.

## Dynabead Separation

Following PCR amplification with one biotinylated primer (typically the reverse primer) and a non-biotinylated primer (forward), the PCR products were captured using Dynabeads coated with Streptavidin, essentially as described in the Dynabead M-280 kit (Dynal). 10µl Dynabeads (1mg/ml) were washed in an equal volume of 1X Binding and Washing (BW) buffer, by placing in a magnet for 30 sec, and resuspended in 40µl of 2X BW. Washed beads were added to an equal volume of biotin-labelled PCR products and incubated with constant pipetting for 15 min at room temperature The pellet was washed in 40µl of 1x BW, and then incubated in 8µl 0.1M freshly prepared NaOH with constant mixing for 10 min. This was

followed by washes in: 50 $\mu$ l 0.1M NaOH, 40 $\mu$ l 1X BW, 50 $\mu$ l 1X TE, and finally resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O.

#### **Methylation Analysis**

Methylation analysis of the E-cadherin promoter region was carried out on DNA prepared from the MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines using a PCR based methylation assay, and the Methylation-Specific PCR protocol (Herman *et al.*, 1996). Appendix I, illustrates the E-cadherin promoter region.

#### PCR-based Methylation Assay

1µg cell line DNA was digested for 3 h at  $37^{0}$ C with 25 Units *Hpa*II, in a total volume of 25µl. Samples were then inactivated by heating at 100<sup>0</sup>C for 10min. 50ng of digested DNA was then used in PCR amplification.

## **Bisulphite Treatment**

The bisulphite reaction was carried out on linear fragments of DNA (Herman *et al.*, 1996). This was achieved by digestion with a restriction enzyme which did not cut within the target sequence. DNA (typically 1µg) was denatured by the addition of freshly prepared NaOH, to a final concentration of 0.3M and incubated for 15 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C. 3.1M Sodium bisulphite (pH 5.0) and 0.5mM hydroquinone were added to the denatured DNA. The sample was gently mixed, overlayed with mineral oil and incubated at  $50^{\circ}$ C for 16 h. The DNA was recovered by snap freezing the reaction and removing the unfrozen mineral oil.

Removal of free bisulphite was achieved by using a desalting column (Wizard Columns, Promega), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and eluted in  $50\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>0. The sample was then denatured with NaOH, as before, and neutralised by the addition of NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, pH 7.0, to a final concentration of 3M and the DNA was ethanol precipitated, dried, and resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Amplifications with the MS-PCR primers were performed on 1- $5\mu$ l of bisulphite-treated genomic DNA.

#### Immunohistochemistry - Immunoperoxidase

Immunohistochemistry was performed to detect protein expression/antigen reactivity of cryostat tissue sections and formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue samples.

#### Cryostat Tissue Sections

Frozen sections (7 $\mu$ m)were cut on a cryostat (Bright) at -20<sup>o</sup>C. Sections were stored at -70<sup>o</sup>C overnight and air dried, prior to fixation in acetone for 10 min at 4<sup>o</sup>C. Following air drying, the sections were equilibrated in PBS and immunostained as outlined below.

#### Antigen Retrieval/Presentation Conditions For Formalin-Fixed Paraffin Embedded Tissues

Sections (4 $\mu$ m) were cut onto glass slides coated with 2% 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane and placed in a 37°C incubator overnight. Sections were then dewaxed and rehydrated, as previously described (DNA extractions).

## Pressure Cooking

The dewaxed sections were immersed in a Prestige pressure cooker (Model Number 6869) containing boiling 10mM citric acid buffer, pH6.0. The sections were incubated for 1 min, once the pressure gauge had risen completely. After completion slides were immediately transferred to PBS prior to immunostaining.

## Protease Digestion

The dewaxed sections were immersed in a solution of 0.05% protease type-14, prepared in 0.01%  $CaCl_2/PBS$  (preheated to 37°C) for 20 min. Slides were then rinsed in PBS prior to immunostaining.

#### Proteinase K Digestion

The dewaxed sections were immersed in a solution of 2-5mg/ml proteinase K in PBS (preheated to 37°C) for 20 min. Slides were then rinsed in PBS prior to immunostaining.

#### Antibody Dilutions

The working dilutions of the primary and secondary antibodies are summarised in Table 2.5 - 2.7.

## Avidin-Biotin Complex Peroxidase (ABC) Technique

Hydrated sections were equilibrated in PBS for 5 min. Excess buffer was wiped from around the sections and placed in a humidity chamber on a rocker platform and incubated with 100µl of 20% normal serum, diluted in PBS, for 10 min at room temperature. Excess serum was shaken and wiped off, and 100µl of the diluted primary antibody was added for 12-16 h at 4<sup>o</sup>C. After washing in PBS, secondary antibody was added for 30 min. The ABC solution was then prepared (1µl Streptavidin and 1µl Biotinylated Horseradish Peroxide in 1ml PBS) and

added to the rinsed sections for 30 min. Diaminobenzidine (DAB) solution (500µl DAB and 9.5ml deionised water filtered through a Whatman No. 1 filter paper and, immediately before use, the addition of 100µl of 3% hydrogen peroxide) was then added for 5 min. The slides were then rinsed briefly in PBS, washed in running tap water and counterstained with Mayers haematoxylin. Following dehydration through the series of graded alcohols, sections were mounted in XAM using appropriately sized coverslips.

For each case a negative control section was tested whereby the primary antibody step was omitted and the normal serum left on. In addition, with each batch of slides processed a known positive control was included to ensure consistency between batches.

1 <sup>°</sup> Antibody	Dilution	Pretreatment	2 <sup>0</sup> Antibody (biotinylated)	Dilution
E-cadherin	1:50	Protease	Rabbit anti mouse	1:400
			immunoglobulins	
MSH2	1:40	Pressure Cooking	Rabbit anti mouse	1:400
			immunoglobulins	
MLH1	1:10	Pressure Cooking	Rabbit anti mouse	1:400
			immunoglobulins	
PMS2	1:40	Pressure Cooking	Rabbit anti mouse	1:400
			immunoglobulins	

Table 2.5. Antibodies used for staining formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tissue sections.

Table 2.6. Antibodies used for staining cryostat tissue sections.

1 <sup>°</sup> Antibody	Dilution	Pretreatment	2 <sup>0</sup> Antibody (biotinylated)	Dilution
H-cadherin	1:10	Not Applicable	Swine anti rabbit	1:600
			immunoglobulins	
P-cadherin	Neat	Not Applicable	Rabbit anti mouse	1:400
			immunoglobulins	

Table 2.7. Antibodies used for immunofluorescent studies.

1 <sup>°</sup> Antibody	Dilution	Pretreatment	2 <sup>°</sup> Antibody (FITC)	Dilution
E-cadherin	1:50	Not Applicable	Rabbit anti mouse	1:50
			immunoglobulins	
H-cadherin	1:10	Not Applicable	Swine anti rabbit	1:50
			immunoglobulins	
P-cadherin	Neat	Not Applicable	Rabbit anti mouse	1:50
			immunoglobulins	
Cytokeratin14	1:10	Not Applicable	Rabbit anti mouse	1:50
			immunoglobulins	

#### Immunohistochemistry - Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescent microscopy was performed to detect and localise protein expression in pure populations of breast myoepithelial cells. Cells were grown on glass coverslips by Dr. Louise Jones.

## Cell Fixation

Cells adhered to coverslips were fixed in acetone for 10 mins at 4<sup>o</sup>C and washed in PBS prior to immunsostaining.

## Immunofluorescent Detection

Excess buffer was tipped off the coverslips and incubated with 100µl of 20% normal serum, diluted in PBS, for 20 min at room temperature. Excess serum was washed off with PBS, and 100µl of the diluted primary antibody (Table 2.7) was added for 2 h. After washing in PBS, secondary antibody (Table 2.7) was added for 1 h. Following a PBS wash, the coverslips were mounted in aqueous mountant and stored in the dark prior to immunofluorescent microscopy.

For each batch a negative control section was tested whereby the primary antibody step was omitted and the normal serum left on. In addition, a known positive control was included.

## Confocal Microscopy

Sections were examined using a BioRad MRC 600 laser confocal microscope, and images recorded.

# Western Blotting

Western blotting was carried out to determine qualitative protein expression in the breast cancer cell lines.

## **Protein Extraction**

Cell suspensions were resuspended in  $300\mu$ l homogenisation buffer and homogenised for 1 min using a Pellet Pestle Motor (Kontes). The suspension was centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 1min at 4<sup>o</sup>C, and the supernatant was stored at -80<sup>o</sup>C until required.

## **Protein Estimation**

The protein concentration of samples was determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay, based on the method of Bradford *et al.*, (1976). A standard curve of absorbance (595nm) versus protein concentration was constructed using a series of protein standards  $(0.1\mu g/m)$  to 200µg/ml of BSA). Protein sample to be analysed (50µl) was mixed with 50µl PBS, then added to 900µl 1X Protein assay reagent (BioRad), and the absorbance read at 595nm, and the concentration read from the standard curve.

## SDS-PAGE

Electrophoresis of proteins was carried out using a mini-gel unit (Hoeffer), as adapted by Towbin *et al.*, (1979). Protein samples ( $20\mu g$ ) were heated at 95<sup>0</sup>C in an equal volume of sample buffer for 3min and immediately loaded onto 3.75% stacking gels and 7.5% resolving polyacrylamide gels and run for 50V, through the stacking gel, and then at 75V for 2-3h, in running buffer (0.025M Tris, 0.192M glycine; pH 8.3). Molecular weight protein markers (BioRad) were run along side the samples to allow size determination of the resulting protein bands.

#### Electroblotting

Following electrophoresis the protein gel was transferred to Hybond  $C^+$  nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham) by electroblotting at 300mA for 5 h in transfer buffer (0.025M Tris, 0.192M glycine, 20% methanol; pH 8.3).

#### ECL Immunodetection

Protein detection was determined by a chemiluminescent technique, using an ECL kit (Amersham). Following electroblotting the membrane was rinsed of residual polyacrylamide with TBS and incubated for 1h in blocking solution at room temperature, with shaking. The membrane was then rinsed in TBS-T, twice, followed by washes of 1 x 15min, and 2 x 5min, prior to the addition of primary antibody against either MSH2, PMS2, or MLH1 all diluted in blocking solution to 1:100 for 1h. The membrane was then washed as before, and incubated with secondary antibody diluted in TBS-T to 1:2000 for 1h. After washing the membrane was developed by incubating with the ECL solutions for 1min, followed by exposure to film (X-OMAT, Kodak) for 30secs to 1min.

Chapter 3

Microsatellite Instability

## 3.1 Genetic Instability And Human Disease

#### **Trinucleotide Repeat Expansion**

The expansion of trinucleotide repeat sequences has been shown to be the underlying cause of 11 human genetic diseases (Mitas, 1997). In general, expansion of these triplet repeats is characterised clinically by 'anticipation'. As the disease is transmitted from one generation to the next, the symptoms progress in severity and/or there is an earlier age of onset of the disease.

The disorders fall into two broad categories, summarised in Table 3.1 and 3.2. Type I disorders are categorised by progressive neuronal loss. Members of this group includes Huntingdon's disease (HD) (The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, 1993), spinal and bulbar muscular dystrophy (SBMA) (La Spada *et al.*, 1991), dentatorubral-pallidluysian atrophy (DRPLA) (Koide *et al.*, 1994), Machado-Joseph disease (MJD/SCA3) (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 1994), and the spinocerebellar ataxias (SCAs) (Orr *et al.*, 1993; Imbert *et al.*, 1996; Pulst *et al.*, 1994; Sanpei *et al.*, 1996; Zhuchenko *et al.*, 1997).

The second group of disorders includes myotonic dystrophy (DM) (Brook *et al.*, 1992), fragile X syndrome (Kremer *et al.*, 1991; Verkeck *et al.*, 1991; Gu *et al.*, 1996), and Friedrich's ataxia (FA) (Campuzano *et al.*, 1996). These diseases are characterised by a more multisystem pathology (Table 3.2). DM is characterised by muscle weakness and wasting. Fragile X syndrome is characterised by mental retardation. Friedrich's ataxia is characterised by spinocerebellar degeneration.

Type I disorders, are associated with shorter repeat expansion lengths compared with type II disorders. In general, type I disorders have repeat lengths in the range of 40 to 70 CAGs, in contrast to lengths ranging from 50 into the thousands for type II disorders. In all type I disorders the expanded repeat encodes a polyglutamine segment within the open reading frame of an expressed gene. In contrast, repeat sequences of the type II diseases are not translated, as depicted in Figure 3.1.

Disease	Repeat	Repeat Number	Repeat Number	Location of the	Gene product	Gene function	Change in gene
		Normal	Disease	Repeat			function
HD	CAG	6-34	36-121	ORF	Huntingtin	Unknown	Gain
DRPLA	CAG	7-25	49-88	ORF	Atrophin	Unknown	Gain
SBMA	CAG	11-34	40-62	ORF	Androgen receptor	Transcription factor	Gain
SCA1	CAG	6-39	41-81	ORF	Ataxin-1	Unknown	Gain
SCA2	CAG	15-29	35-59	ORF	Ataxin-2	Unknown	Gain
MJD/SCA3	CAG	13-36	68-79	ORF	Ataxin-3	Unknown	Gain
SCA6	CAG	4-16	21-27	ORF	Ataxin-6	Calcium channel	Gain

Table 3.1. Type I trinucleotide repeat diseases (Adapted from Reddy and Housman, 1997).

ORF indicates open reading frame

Table 3.2. Type II trinucleotide repeat diseases (Adapted from Reddy and Housman, 1997).

Disease	Repeat	Repeat No.	Repeat No.	Repeat No.	Location of	Gene product	Gene function	Change in
		Normal	Premutation	Disease	the Repeat			gene function
DM	CTG	5-7	50-180	200->2000	3'UTR	DMPK	Serine/threonine protein kinase	?
FRAXA	CGG	6-52	60-200	200->2000	5'UTR	FMR-1	RNA-binding protein	Loss
FRAXE	GCC	6-25	43-200	>200	?	?	?	?
FA	GAA	7-22	-	200->900	Intron	Frataxin	Unknown	Loss

UTR indicates untranslated region, ? is unknown.



Figure 3.1 Triplet repeat expansions with respect to gene organisation (Adapted from Mitas, 1997) Blocks indicate exons and untranslated regions (UTRs), lines indicate introns.

# 3.2. Microsatellite Instability And Cancer

Hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) is a common cancer predisposition, which accounts for approximately 2-4% of the total colorectal cancers in the Western world (Lynch *et al.*, 1996). HNPCC patients develop colorectal cancer at an average age of 42, more than two decades earlier than the general population. Although colorectal carcinoma is the major cancer in HNPCC families, about 35-40% of the people in these families have other types of tumours, of which endometrial and ovarian tumours are the most common. In addition, approximately 35% of people in HNPCC families develop more than one tumour. The detection of 'microsatellite instability' in colorectal tumours from HNPCC patients led to the identification of a new class of gene causing cancer predisposition.

In 1993, three articles reported that an unusual form of somatic mutation occurred in 12-15% of all colorectal tumours and was found in virtually all the colorectal tumours of HNPCC. These mutations consisted of changes in the length of DNA tandem repeat sequences that are normally interspersed throughout the genome and were termed 'ubiquitous somatic mutations' (USMs) in simple repeated sequences by Ionov *et al.*, (1993) 'replicative errors' (RERs) by Aaltonen *et al.*, (1993) or 'microsatellite instability' (MIN) by Thibodeau *et al.* (1993). All three investigating groups recognised that errors of insertion or deletion of dinucleotide repeats or other short repeated sequences occurred during the replication of DNA by neoplastic cells in HNPCC tumours. It was recognised that RERs could possibly represent a new mechanism contributing to tumour development. (The microsatellite instability phenotype is referred to as  $MI^+$  in the remainder of this thesis).

In bacteria this mutational fingerprint is characteristic of a failure of the mismatch repair (MMR) enzymatic complex. The best known MMR pathway is the *E. coli* MutHLS system that promotes a 'long-patch' methyl-directed repair of single base-pair mismatches and short mismatched loops in newly synthesised DNA, thus increasing the fidelity of DNA replication (reviewed in Modrich, 1991). The bacterial MutS protein binds to DNA mismatches, and other proteins of the MutHLS system distinguish the newly synthesised unmethylated strand, excise the incorrectly synthesised nucleotides, and resynthesise double-stranded DNA. Failure of the bacterial MutHLS repair system results in genetic instability. The MMR pathway in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* requires MSH (a homologue of bacterial MutS) and two MLH proteins (homologues of the bacterial MutL proteins). Mutation of MMR genes in *S*.

*cerevisiae* results in an increase in the rate of expansion and contraction of dinucleotide repeat sequences.

#### **Mismatch Repair Genes**

The human homologue of the MutS, hMSH2 (or human MutS Homologue), was subsequently cloned and disease-causing mutations were characterised in HNPCC kindreds (Fishel *et al.*, 1993; Leach *et al.*, 1993). Several additional human mismatch repair genes (hMLH1 and hPMS1 through hPMS8) have been cloned by virtue of homology to bacterial and yeast MutL homologues (Nicolaides *et al.*, 1995). Of these hMLH1 (Bronner *et al.*, 1994) has been confirmed as another major locus in HNPCC (Table 3.3). Although HNPCC kindreds with hPMS1 and hPMS2 have also been identified, mutations at these loci are less prevalent than mutations in either hMSH2 and hMLH1 in patients tested to date (Nicolaides *et al.*, 1994; Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996). Another MutS homologue, hMSH6 or GTBP (G-T binding protein) has been identified through biochemical characterisation (Drummond *et al.*, 1995; Palambo *et al.*, 1995). The yeast MSH3 (DUG) gene is another MutS gene, but it is not yet clear whether it plays any role in human mismatch repair (Fujii and Shimada, 1989). The role of this gene in mismatch repair is currently under investigation.

Table 3.3. HNPCC germline mutations (Adapted from Rhyu, 1996, Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996, Eshleman and Markowitz, 1996).

Gene	<i>E. coli</i> homologue	Mutated in HNPCC (%)	Chromosome location
hMSH2	MutS	45	2p16
hMSH6	MutS	-	2p16
hMSH3	MutS	-	-
hMLH1	MutL	49	3p21
hPMS1	MutL	*	2q31-33
hPMS2	MutL	6	7p22

\* Indicates that a hPMS1 mutation was identified in a single kindred (Liu et al., 1996), Dash signifies not yet reported.

#### **Mechanism Of Mismatch Repair**

In human cells, mismatches are recognised by a heterodimer, hMutS $\alpha$ , comprising hMSH2 and hMSH6 (Figure 3.2). Biochemical and genetic data indicate that inactivation of each partner has a different effect on genome stability (Karran, 1995). Mutations in *hMSH6* are associated with a selective inability to repair single base mismatches and single nucleotide loops. Dinucleotide loops are repaired efficiently. In contrast, cells with *hMSH2* mutations are unable to repair single base mismatches, single base loops or dinucleotide loops. It has now been proposed that hMSH2 participates, in combination with hMSH3, in a second mismatch repair function that stabilises dinucleotide or larger repeats (Johnson *et al.*, 1996).

After mismatch recognition, binding of MutL occurs. The MutL component is also a heterodimer (hMutL $\alpha$ ) of hMLH1 and hPMS2. The fact that these MutL homologues form functional heterodimers, combined with evidence that a mutation in hPMS1 is also associated with HNPCC, suggests that hPMS1 may form a heterodimer with a different MutL homologue. This putative partner may be among the family of six MutL-like genes (hPMS3-hPMS8) on chromosome 7.

The later steps in mismatch repair are less clear, but the interaction of Mut S and MutL heterodimers is likely to lead to the recruitment of polymerases, nucleases and other proteins required for the repair processes. Recently, the hMSH2 gene has been postulated to be a novel p53-regulated target gene (Scherer *et al.*, 1996). This may indicate a direct involvement of p53 in repair mechanisms via DNA binding of a mismatch repair gene.

Figure 3.2. Steps in mismatch repair (Karran, 1995, 1996)

Displaced single bases (e.g. -A-) are recognised by the mismatch binding heterodimer MSH2:MSH6 which bind to the mispaired region. Dinucleotide loops (e.g. -CA-) are bound by an alternative complex comprising MSH2:MSH3. The MLH1:PMS2 heterodimer is then recruited to the bound complexes and this facilitates further assembly of other proteins



leading to excision and resynthesis of a stretch of DNA containing the mismatched region.

#### **Microsatellite Instability In Sporadic Cancers**

Sporadic tumours with microsatellite instability account for 13% of all colorectal cancers, but the molecular mechanisms responsible for the instability has not been fully elucidated. Approximately 65% of these cases have somatic mutations of the same MMR genes causing HNPCC (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996), while others have mutations of *hMSH6* or *hMSH3*, which are rarely mutated in HNPCC (Papadopoulos *et al.*, 1995; Malkohysan *et al.*, 1996) or in the proof-reading domain of polymerase  $\delta$  (da Costa *et al.*, 1995). In other colorectal tumours with MI<sup>+</sup>, no mutations of repair genes have been identified (Liu *et al.*, 1995).

Microsatellite alterations have also been observed in a small fraction of many tumour types (Eshleman and Markowitz, 1995), including breast (detailed below). In general, the instability is considerably less pronounced than that observed in colon tumours.

#### **Microsatellite Instability In Breast Cancer**

To date there have been 21 studies of microsatellite instability in breast tumours, including the work presented in this thesis (Shaw *et al.*, 1996). Invasive carcinomas represent the most studied group (summarised in Table 3.4), however, a few studies have studied non-malignant as well as non-invasive breast lesions. The status and relevance of microsatellite instability in breast cancer is currently being debated. For example, Peltomaki *et al.*, (1993) found no evidence of MI in breast carcinomas, whereas Patel *et al.*, (1994) detected instability in all of the tumours they studied.

#### Invasive Carcinomas

The cases studied represent a variety of carcinomas, each analysed with different set of microsatellites. The lack of a standard definition for the presence of microsatellite instability in a tumour has led to widely divergent estimates of its incidence in sporadic cancers. Therefore the results have been divided in to tumours showing instability at a single locus and those with alterations at more than one locus (Table 3.4).

	No. of tumours	No. of tumours	MI at single	MI more than
	studied	with MI	locus	one locus
Peltomaki et al., 1993	84	0 (0%)	-	-
Han et al., 1993	26	1 (4%)	1	0
Wooster et al., 1994b	104	11 (10%)	10	1
Yee et al., 1994	20	4 (20%)	1	3
Glebov et al., 1994	14	6 (3%)	6	0
Patel et al., 1994	13	13 (100%)	1	12
Jonsson et al., 1995	30	2 (7%)	ND	ND
Contegiacomo et al.,1995	28	6 (21%)	1	5
Aldaz et al., 1995	52	12 (23%)	ND	ND
Karnick et al., 1995	69 .	20 (29%)	19	1
Shaw et al., 1996	30	4 (8%)	2	2
Huang et al., 1995	29	9 (31%)	8	1
Paulson et al., 1996	37	25 (67%)	14	11
Toyama et al., 1996a	100	8 (8%)	6	2
DeMarchis et al., 1997	81	27 (33%)	7	20
Sourvinos et al., 1997	42	11 (26%)	9	2
Rush et al., 1997	46	13 (28%)	8	5
Yang et al., 1997	21	10 (48%)	10	NA
Dillon et al., 1997	100	13 (13%)	12	1

Table. 3.4. Microsatellite instability in invasive breast carcinomas.

NA indicates non-applicable since only a single microsatellite was investigated, ND indicates that type of MI has not been described in the cited publications.

#### Non-Invasive Carcinomas

The most comprehensive study to date of DCIS has been described by Aldaz *et al.*, (1995). They investigated MSI in 23 cases of pure DCIS. Three (13%) tumours with MI were identified. Dillon *et al.*, (1997) also investigated MI in 33 cases of DCIS. MI was detected in one (3%) case. Toyama *et al.*, (1996b), studied two foci of DCIS from two invasive tumours which had previously been demonstrated to show microsatellite instability (Toyama *et al.*, 1996a). Both areas demonstrated the same pattern of instability to that seen in the invasive components.

## Non-Malignant Lesions.

The study described by De Marchis *et al.*, (1997) included seven cases of fibroadenoma. Eight microsatellites were analysed, but there was no evidence of instability in these cases. Rosenberg *et al.*, (1997) examined 12 separate atypical hyperplastic lesions, from 6 breast cancer patients, for microsatellite instability. Alterations were detected in 5 of the 12 ADH lesions, from three patients. Kasami *et al.*, (1997) demonstrated MI in 2 of 8 breast biopsies with hyperplastic lesions. Dillon *et al.*, (1997) also investigated 18 specimens of epithelial hyperplasia (without atypia), one (6%) of which demonstrated MI.

#### **Mismatch Repair Genes In Breast Cancer**

To date mutational analysis or expression studies of candidate MMR genes have not been reported in breast tumours displaying MI. However, a recent study has identified a breast tumour (as an integral tumour within the HNPCC syndrome) which displayed MI and a had a frameshift mutation in *hMLH1* (Risinger *et al.*, 1996). This was the first evidence that breast cancer, albeit within the context of HNPCC, may result from the inheritance of a mutant mismatch repair gene.

#### 3.3 Mismatch Repair Mechanisms And Cancer

Exactly how such mismatch-repair defective mutations lead to the development of cancer is unclear at present. One possibility is that cells which have a mismatch repair defect have a significantly higher mutation rate. If this causes mutations to accumulate in tumour suppressor genes and/or oncogenes, then the mutant cells will probably progress to become tumour cells. This has been termed the mutator hypothesis of tumourigenesis (Loeb 1991, 1994). The targeted genes are now beginning to emerge.

## **TGF**β**RII**

TGF $\beta$  is one of the most potent inhibitors of normal cell growth. However, many malignancies of epithelial origin are resistant to TGF $\beta$ , suggesting that developing resistance to growth inhibitory cytokines plays an important role in tumourigenesis (reviewed in Polyak, 1996). Tumours can become resistant to TGF $\beta$  in many different ways. However, mutation of one of the TGF $\beta$  signalling receptors (type II) has recently been associated with microsatellite instability in colon cancer (Markowitz *et al.*, 1995). The TGF $\beta$  type II receptor (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII*) contains a region of 10 consecutive adenines which is a target for up to 90% of colon tumours with the MI<sup>+</sup> phenotype. Insertions or deletions of adenines within this repeat produce frameshift mutations, resulting in truncated type II receptors, and hence resistance to TGF $\beta$ . However, this does not seem to be a universal target for all MI<sup>+</sup> tumour types. Endometrial tumours with microsatellite instability do not show mutations at the *TGF* $\beta$ *RII* poly A tract (Myeroff *et al.*, 1995).

## IGFIIR

The insulin-like growth factor type II receptor (*IGFIIR*) or mannose-6-phosphate receptor plays roles in a number of cellular functions, the most critical of which is the activation of the potent growth inhibitor TGF $\beta$  (Dennis and Rifkin, 1991). This receptor also inhibits cellular proliferation mediated by IGFII, which is a potent growth stimulant, by internalising and degrading this protein (Kornfield, 1992). Recent studies have suggested that *IGFIIR* functions as a tumour suppressor gene, in a number of tissues, including breast (Hankins *et al.*, 1996). The *IGFIIR* gene harbours a tract of 8 guanines in its coding region. Recent studies have characterised mutations of this sequence in MI<sup>+</sup> tumours of the gastrointestinal tract and endometrium (Souza *et al.*, 1996, Ouyang *et al.*, 1997).

#### Bax

The development and growth of tumours are controlled by a combination of cellular replication and cell death (Williams, 1991). The most common mechanism of cell death is programmed cell death, a precisely regulated process that culminates in a set of characteristic and morphological and structural alterations referred to as apoptosis (Wyllie *et al.*, 1980). Many apoptotic stimuli induce cell death through a pathway that is regulated by members of the Bcl-2 family. These promoters function to either promote or inhibit apoptosis. Bcl-2 is a suppressor of apoptosis and can heterodimerise with Bax, a pro-apoptotic member of this family of proteins (Oltavi *et al.*, 1993).

The ability of Bax to promote cell death suggests that it may function as a tumour suppressor gene, with reductions in Bax giving cells a survival advantage and therefore contributing to their expansion. The *Bax* gene contains a tract of 8 consecutive guanines in exon 3 (Oltvai *et al.*, 1993). One nucleotide insertions and deletions within the poly G tract were identified in 51% of colon tumours which were also  $MI^+$ , but not in any tumours characterised as  $MI^-$  (Rampino *et al.*, 1997). The frameshift mutations resulted in truncated proteins which result in loss of BAX function. Cells lacking Bax protein are likely to have a diminished capacity to trigger apoptosis after receiving a death signal, thereby facilitating tumourigenesis.

#### E2F-4

The E2F family of transcription factors are involved in the regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis (La Thangue, 1994). Some of the genes were found to be potential oncogenes (Xu *et al.*, 1995). E2F-4 is a member of this family, and is involved in the transition from  $G_0$  to  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle, as well as in early  $G_1$ , facilitating the transactivation of genes necessary for cellular proliferation (Sardat *et al.*, 1995). This gene contains a long spacer region encoded by 13 consecutive serine (CAG) residues, which is likely to function as a transactivation domain. This repeat is polymorphic in the normal human population and therefore a functional effect of mutation in this region can not be assumed. However, modification of the transactivation domain may alter the expression of E2F-4 responsive genes. Yoshitaka *et al.*, (1996) demonstrated that two (10%) of patients with sporadic colorectal carcinoma had tumour specific alterations at the 13 consecutive trinucleotide repeats. Of the twenty tumours studied only the two with *E2F-4* alterations were classified as MI<sup>+</sup>.

In an extended study Souza *et al.*, (1997), examined 86 neoplastic lesions, including 46 sporadic colorectal carcinomas (31 of which were MI<sup>+</sup> and 15 MI<sup>-</sup>) gastric adenocarcinomas, endometrial cancers and prostate carcinomas, all of which were classified as MI<sup>+</sup>. Of the MI<sup>+</sup> gastrointestinal tumours, 37% demonstrated tumour specific alterations of the CAG repeats. None of the MI<sup>-</sup> gastrointestinal tumours or the MI<sup>+</sup> endometrial or prostate tumours showed alterations, suggesting that this gene is a frequent target of microsatellite instability in gastrointestinal tumourigenesis.

#### APC

Huang *et al.*, (1996) have recently demonstrated a relationship in colorectal cancer between the *APC* mutational spectrum and the presence of  $MI^+$  (Section 1.4). The prevalence of APC mutations was similar when  $MI^-$  and  $MI^+$  tumours were compared. However, in a total of 101 sequenced mutations, there was a substantial excess of *APC* frameshift mutations in the  $MI^+$ cases, particularly at mononucleotide repeats. This suggests that the *APC* gene is also a mutational target for  $MI^+$  colorectal tumours.

## MSH3 and MSH6

Interestingly some of the mismatch repair genes themselves may be targets for slippage induced frameshift at repetitive coding sequences. Malkhosyan *et al.*, (1996), demonstrated that approximately 30% and 40% of  $MI^+$  colorectal tumours contained frameshifts in the *MSH6* and *MSH3* genes, respectively. These frameshift mutations were at tracts of 8 adenines in the coding region of MSH3 and in a run of 8 cytidines in the *MSH6* gene, suggesting that they were the consequence of a previous defect in mismatch repair.

## **Other Targets**

At present, the four genes described above represent the only targets which have definitively been correlated with the presence of microsatellite instability in a large number of tumours. However, there are a wealth of candidate genes which possess similar repeat motifs in their coding regions. For example, the *BRCA2* gene contains a number of poly A tracts in it coding region. Insertion of an adenine at one of these regions has been described in an ovarian tumour which also showed microsatellite instability (Takahashi *et al.*, 1996). A recent review of *BRCA1* mutations also found that mutations at sites of homonucleotide and short repeats was common (Rodenhiser *et al.*, 1996).

## 3.4 Mismatch Repair Deficiency And Drug Resistance

It is emerging that the mismatch repair proteins may function in other aspects of genome integrity. One topic under investigation at present is the role mismatch repair proteins play in recognition of DNA damage induced by anti-tumour drugs. It has been proposed that alterations to the mismatch repair genes may enable tumours to become resistant to treatment with anti-cancer drugs (described below).

A number of widely used chemotherapeutic agents act by forming DNA adducts. The exact mechanism by which these adducts cause cell death is not known. However, it is likely that a failure to repair the damaged DNA causes the formation of double-strand breaks or single-strand gaps in the DNA, which lead to chromosome aberrations and breakage during mitosis (reviewed in Chaney and Sancar, 1996). Ultimately, the DNA adducts or the damage induced by the adducts triggers apoptosis. Therefore it has been proposed that repair of these adducts would cause resistance to some anticancer drugs.

Cisplatin induces cytotoxic DNA damage predominantly in the form of intrastrand cross-links at adjacent guanine bases (reviewed in Sanderson *et al.*, 1996). Doxorubicin (Adriamycin) another effective anticancer drug intercalates into DNA and is believed to be cytotoxic due to the induction of DNA double-strand breaks (Cummings *et al.*, 1991).

The observation that mismatch repair proteins recognise insertion/deletion mispairs and single-base mismatches, suggested that they may also recognise the drug-induced structural distortions in DNA. Mello *et al.*, (1996) and Yamada *et al.*, (1997) demonstrated that purified MSH2 protein recognises and binds specifically to the DNA adducts induced by cisplatin treatment. The mechanism by which this binding leads to cell death is unclear. However, it is possible that the initial recognition of these adducts could lead to the induction of an apoptotic signal, or that the mismatch repair proteins shield the adduct from DNA repair enzymes thereby allowing incorporation of the adduct into the genome.

It was predicted from the model that inactivation of the mismatch repair pathway would lead to tumours that were resistant to the action of cisplatin. This has now been demonstrated in a series of studies. Anthoney *et al.*, (1996) first demonstrated that an MI<sup>+</sup> phenotype appears to be selected for during the acquisition of anticancer drug resistance. This study revealed that microsatellite instability was a common phenotype in ovarian and breast cancer cell lines, selected for resistance to cisplatin and adriamycin. The drug resistant ovarian lines were later

shown to be mismatch-repair deficient owing to defective expression of hMLH1 (Drummond *et al.*, 1996).

### Aims Of This Chapter

The objectives of this part of the thesis were to determine if MI occurs in cases of DCIS, mammographically detected impalpable early invasive carcinomas and tubular carcinomas by analysing microdissected tumour foci for alterations in a panel of microsatellites (mono-, di-, and trinucleotide repeats). Cases which did demonstrate instability, could then be screened for alterations in candidate DNA repair loci (MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2) and frameshift mutations in a number of cancer-associated genes (TGFβRII, IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4).

The relationship between MI and the development to drug resistance was also investigated by using breast cancer cell lines and the anti tumour drug, doxorubicin.

## **3.5 Microdissection**

Tumour cells were initially removed from the tissue sections with sterile needles (21 gauge). However, this did not prove reliable since the cells did not always become detached when placed in buffer. Sterile drawn-out capillary tubes were then used. This method was more reliable as it was possible to break the tip of the tubing, containing cells, directly into the digestion buffer.

In order to reduce the presence of non-tumour cells in the microdissection preparations it was often beneficial to first remove surrounding non-malignant cells and areas of necrosis. This was particularly useful when procuring cells from cases of DCIS (as illustrated in Figure 3.3). For other cases, tumour foci were generally removed straight from the section (as illustrated in Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.3. Preparation for microdissection.

(a) Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stained section of DCIS showing duct (Case No. 10). Black is edge of area that has been marked.



(b) As in (a), demonstrating removal of necrosis.



(c) As above, demonstrating removal of surrounding tissue around duct, leaving pure population of cells which would subsequently be removed and incubated in digestion buffer.



Figure 3.4. Direct microdissection of DCIS

(a) Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stained section of DCIS (Case No.15) showing duct filled with malignant cells and area of necrosis.



(b) Parallel H&E section after removal of cells by microdissection.



# 3.6 Microsatellite Instability Analysis

Four types of breast lesion were investigated for evidence of microsatellite instability (MI). These comprised 8 fibroadenomas and one phyllodes, 23 cases of DCIS, 30 mammographically detected early invasive carcinomas, and 13 tubular carcinomas. MI was investigated by analysing each of the lesions for tumour-specific alterations in a series of microsatellites. The microsatellite markers used to investigate the occurrence and frequency of MI are detailed in Table 3.5.

Microsatellite	Repeat	Chromosome	Associated gene (where known)
		region	
BAT25	A	4q11-13	c-kit oncogene (intronic)
BAT40	A		$3\beta$ hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (intronic)
D6S193	CA	6q26-27	
D6S186	CA	6q26-27	
ESR	TA	6q25.1	Oestrogen receptor (1kb upstream)
D16S400	CA	16q22	
D16S413	CA	16q24.3	
D16S289	CA	16q24.3	
D16S402	CA	16q24.3	
X75b	CA	19q13	
DM-1	CTG	19q13.3	DM protein kinase (3'UTR)
SCA-1	CAG	6p21	Spinocerebellar ataxia type I
SBMA	CAG	Xq12	Androgen receptor (exon 1)
TGFβRII	A <sub>10</sub>	3p22	TGFβ type II receptor
IGFIIR	G <sub>8</sub>	6q26-27	Insulin-like growth factor II receptor
BAX	G <sub>8</sub>		Bax
E2F-4	CAG	16q24.3	E2F-4

Table 3.5. Microsatellite markers used to investigate MI.

Chromosome 6q analysis was performed by Steve Chappell

#### Fibroadenomas

In fibroadenomas, hyperproliferation affects both the connective tissue component and the epithelial cells, which together grow to form well-circumscribed benign breast tumours. Little is known about the implication of genetic alterations in the development of fibroadenomas. In order to determine whether microsatellite instability might be a feature of proliferation, 8 cases of fibroadenoma and one benign phyllodes tumour (a neoplasm in which the stromal component predominates) were investigated for MI.

At least three distinct epithelial and three stromal components from each of the fibroadenomas and the phyllodes tumour were separately microdissected and compared with normal ducts from adjacent surrounding tissue. For two of these cases, areas of ductal hyperplasia in the surrounding tissue were also examined. Microdissected foci were analysed with two microsatellites. Instability of the DM-1 trinucleotide was investigated, since during the course of this thesis it emerged as a sensitive marker of MI (see Chapter 3 - Discussion). The second marker analysed was the D16S400 dinucleotide. Analysis of this marker allowed concomitant assessment of LOH at chromosome 16q (as described in Chapter 4). However, MI was not observed for any of the samples (Figure 3.5).

Figure 3.5. Representative example of microsatellite instability analysis in fibroadenomas. Analysis of normal ducts (N), epithelial (E), and stromal components (S) by PCR, at the DM-1 marker, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. Arrows



#### indicate alleles.

#### DCIS

MI was initially investigated, in this study group, using DNA prepared from whole tumour sections. However, using this approach, microsatellite alterations were not observed (data not shown). This was attributed to the masking of tumour specific alterations by the vast quantities of non-tumour cells present in the DCIS tissue sections (see Chapter 3 - Discussion).

Therefore, the analysis was repeated using DCIS samples which had been prepared by microdissection. In general, three individual non-contiguous foci from each case were compared with non-involved lymph node or surrounding breast tissue, using a series of microsatellite markers (summarised in Table 3.6). MI was characterised by the appearance of alleles of altered length in tumour samples, indicating an alteration in microsatellite size. A tumour was classified as  $MI^+$  when alterations in microsatellite size at two or more independent genomic sites were observed, as defined by Aaltonen *et al.*, (1993).

MI was documented in 12 cases. However, different patterns of instability were observed. Five of 23 (22%) DCIS cases showed instability at 2 or more loci (MI<sup>+</sup>), and a further 7 (30%) cases showed alterations only at the DM-1 marker. Representative examples of cases with MI<sup>+</sup> and those with alterations of DM-1 are illustrated in Figure 3.6. (a) to (d). The pathological characteristics of the tumours displaying MI are summarised in Table 3.7. Eleven cases were of high nuclear grade, three of intermediate grade and 9 low grade (as determined by Dr. R. A. Walker). MI<sup>+</sup> and instability at DM-1 was found in high grade (8/11) and intermediate grade (2/3) at a higher frequency than in the low grade (2/9), but this was not statistically significant (p=0.06).

Microdissection of individual foci from within the same tumour section allowed analysis of intratumoural heterogeneity. Two of the 7 cases (9%) with instability only at DM-1 showed heterogeneity in instability between the ducts examined (listed in Table 3.7). A representative example of intratumoural heterogeneity is illustrated in Figure 3.6 (e). All other cases which were  $MI^+$  or showed instability at DM-1 (MI) had the same alteration in each of the ducts examined, and were therefore homogeneous.

Analysis of morphologically normal breast ducts adjacent to areas of in situ carcinoma was also attempted. New slides for each of the MI<sup>+</sup> tumours and those with alterations to DM-1 were prepared and re-evaluated by Dr. R. A. Walker. Four of the cases with alterations

contained DCIS and adjacent normal ducts. These were marked and microdissected and analysed using the DM-1 marker. However, only Case No.14 yielded PCR products, as illustrated in Figure 3.6 (f). Two of the areas of DCIS showed altered alleles, as previously demonstrated Figure 3.6 (a). Whereas each of the adjacent normal ducts and a hyperplastic region showed the same alleles as those present in the surrounding normal breast tissue distant from the DCIS. The third area of DCIS did not demonstrate instability indicating heterogeneity between the ducts.

Table 3.6. Microsatellite markers analysed for instability in DCIS cases.

Mononucleotides	BAT25, BAT40
Dinucleotides	DI6S400, D16S413, X75b, D6S186, D6S193, ESR
Trinucleotides	DM-1, SCA-1

Case No.	Grade	Microsatellite Instability
2	High	DM-1, D6S193
5	High	DM-1
7	High	D6S193, D6S186
12	High	DM-1
13	High	DM-1*
14	High	DM-1
16	High	DM-1
17	High	DM-1, D6S193, D16S400, D16S413
10	Inter.	DM-1, D6S193
15	Inter.	DM-1*
3	Low	DM-1
20	Low	BAT25, BAT40

Table 3.7. Pathological and microsatellite instability data for DCIS cases.

Inter. Indicates intermediate, and \* indicates cases with intratumoural heterogeneity
### Figure 3.6. Representative examples of microsatellite instability in DCIS.

*Analysis of normal (N) and microdissected DCIS (T) by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography, (a) and (b) Case Nos.* 14 and 16 showing alterations to the DM-1 locus, (c) Case No. 20 with instability of the BAT40 mononucleotide, and (d) Case No. 1<sup>-7</sup> with instability at multiple loci. Arrows indicate alleles showing MI.

#### (e) Representative example of intratumoural heterogeneity in DCIS.

Analysis of normal (N) and microdissected ducts (T1, T2, T3), from Case No. 13 by PCR, at the DM-1 marker. The foci labelled T1 and T2 each contain two alleles, one of which is present in the normal sample, whereas the T3 duct contains only one allele (indicated by the arrow) which is distinct from that seen in the normal DNA sample.

### (f) Analysis of DCIS and adjacent morphologically normal ducts.

Analysis of normal surrounding breast tissue (N), microdissected ducts (T), adjacent morphologically normal ducts (D) and hyperplastic region (H), from Case No.14 by PCR at the DM-1 marker. Two of the involved ducts show alterations of one allele, whereas the remaining involved duct, the adjacent normal ducts and the hyperplastic duct, each contain the same alleles that are present in the surrounding breast tissue.







#### **Early Invasive Carcinomas**

Microsatellite analysis in this group was performed on DNA prepared from whole tumour sections, compared with DNA from non-involved lymph nodes. The microsatellites investigated are listed in Table 3.8. MI was documented in 4 early invasive carcinomas. Similar to the DCIS analysis, different patterns of instability were observed. Two of 30 (7%) were MI<sup>+</sup> (with instability at 9 of 10 loci) and a further 2 (7%) cases showed alterations at the DM-1 marker. The pathological characteristics of the tumours displaying MI are listed in Table 3.9. Each of the cases with MI<sup>+</sup> and those with alterations of DM-1 are illustrated in Figure 3.7 (a) to (d).

Analysis was repeated on template DNA prepared from each of 30 early invasive cases by microdissection. This confirmed the initial MI data. No other evidence of MI was detected in the remainder of the cases.

In order to determine whether the observed alterations were confined to the tumour cells of each patient, a series of DNAs were prepared from other, non-tumour, tissues and the microsatellite analysis was repeated. This analysis was carried out for each of the 4 cases with microsatellite alterations. Only DNA prepared from tumour cells demonstrated alterations. An example of tumour-specific MI is illustrated in Figure 3.7 (e).

Individual foci from each of the cases with microsatellite alterations were microdissected to investigate the presence of intratumoural heterogeneity. Histological evaluation of one of carcinomas (Case No. 5) revealed that it contained groups of cells with tubular and solid architecture. The microsatellite alterations were confined to the solid component of the carcinoma, as illustrated in Figure 3.7 (f).

The tumours which displayed  $MI^+$  were sequenced at a number of different loci, to confirm that observed instability was due to an alteration in the number of microsatellite repeats. A representative example of microsatellite sequencing is illustrated in Figure 3.7 (g).

Table 3.8. Microsatellite markers analysed for instability in early invasive carcinomas

Dinucleotides	DI6S400, D16S413, D16S289, D16S402, X75b, D6S193, ESR
Trinucleotides	DM-1, SBMA, SCA-1

Table. 3.9. Pathological and microsatellite instability data for invasive carcinomas.

Tumour No.	Туре	Grade	Microsatellite Instability	
5	IDC/ILC	II	DM-1, SCA-1, SBMA, X75b, ESR, D6S193,	
			D16S400, D16S402, D16S413	
55	IDC	II	DM-1, SCA-1, SBMA, X75b, ERTA, D6S193,	
			D16S400, D16S402, D16S413	
59	IDC	II	DM-1	
61	IDC	Ι	DM-1	

IDC indicates Infiltrating ductal carcinoma, ILC is Infiltrating lobular carcinoma.

Figure 3.7. Representative examples of microsatellite instability in invasive carcinomas.

Analysis of normal (N) and tumour DNA (T) by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) and (b) Case Nos 37 and 59 with instability at DM-1, respectively. (c) Case No.5 with MI at X75b and SCA-1, (d) Case No.55 with MI at D16S413 and at D16S400. Arrows indicate alleles showing tumour-specific alterations.

٠



(c)







D16S413

(e) Analysis of non-tumourous tissues for evidence of microsatellite instability.

Analysis of DNAs, prepared from tumour (T). lymph node (N), histologically normal breast (B), endometrium (E), cervix (C), myometrium (M). and ovary (O), from Case No.55, by PCR at the DM-1.

(f) Example of intratumoural heterogeneity in invasive carcinoma

Analysis of lymph node (N) and microdissected solid (S) and tubular foci (T) from Case No. 5 by PCR, at the DM-1 marker. The tubular area contains one allele, which is identical to that seen in the normal sample, whereas the area of solid tumour contains an additional allele not present in the normal or tubular areas (indicated by the arrow).

(g) Case No.55 with MI<sup>+</sup> atD16S400 and sequence analysis of the D16S400 PCR products.

ł

ł



# (g)

## **Tubular Carcinomas**

The data obtained from the analysis of the early invasive carcinomas suggested that the presence of MI may be associated with different histological components. The solid component from invasive carcinoma No. 5 was unstable compared to the tubular component of this carcinoma. In order to test the hypothesis that MI may represent different pathways of tumour development, a series of tubular carcinomas were examined for MI.

In general, three distinct tubular components from each of the 13 tubular carcinomas were separately microdissected and compared with non-involved lymph node from the same patient. For two of the cases, foci of DCIS were microdissected and examined. Another case contained an area of LCIS which was also examined for MI.

Analysis was performed with trinucleotide and dinucleotide microsatellites. The strategy was similar to that adopted for the analysis of the fibroadenomas cases. Three markers were analysed: DM-1 (as a sensitive indicator of MI), and two dinucleotides mapping to chromosome 16q (D16S289 and D16S413) so that LOH could also be assessed (as described in Chapter 4)

MI was not observed in any of the tubular carcinomas. However, instability of D16S413 was observed in LCIS associated with one of the cases. This pattern of instability was distinct from that of the previous findings, since the alteration was present in a single dinucleotide repeat and the DM-1 marker remained stable, as illustrated in Figure 3.8 (a).

Figure 3.8. Microsatellite instability in tubular carcinomas.

Analysis of normal (N), microdissected tubular foci (T1. T2, T3), and an area of LCIS (L) from Case No. 13 by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Analysis of the DM-1 marker, no evidence of instability. (b) Analysis of the D16S413 marker, with instability present in the LCIS component. Arrow indicates allele showing MI.



#### DESERT

The weld-type *TGFBRH* gene contains a trace of 10 consecutive advances. Amplification serves this region using published primers (Myerufi et al., 1995), results in a single band of Tbp with a 'storter' band migrating at 72bp (-1 *Taq* storter band). Prior to testing the tumour includes a series of normal DNAs were tested to establish the wild-type banding pattern (constraints) and the banding pattern.

the neshold oftennions in this tege in work not of served in other the daily investive case or the CCI's many astilluctured in Fig. (2007) (around (b), respectively. A number of PCR modules from the using dome bed above serve sequence of directly, to be near that the 73by product acceleration 16 administration only. A significant two or simple of AGPTCH sequencing in the annual in Journal 9(c).

#### 3.7 Analysis Of Cancer-Associated Genes

The existence of a mutator phenotype, characterised by  $MI^+$ , may be responsible for aberrations to critical cancer-associated loci (Loeb *et al.*, 1991, 1994). Among the targets identified to date are repetitive sequences in the coding regions of the TGF $\beta$  type II receptor (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII*) (Myeroff *et al.*, 1995), the insulin-like growth factor II receptor (*IGFIIR*) (Souza *et al.*, 1996, Ouyang *et al.*, 1997), *Bax* (Rampino *et al.*, 1997) and the *E2F-4* gene (Yoshitaka *et al.*, 1996, Souza *et al.*, 1997). Each of the genes has been proposed to have tumour suppressive functions relating to: resistance and activation of TGF $\beta$  (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII* and *IGFIIR*, respectively); maintenance of apoptosis (*BAX*); and co-ordinating control of the cell cycle (*E2F-4*).

Each of the 12 DCIS cases demonstrating microsatellite alterations were screened for frameshift mutations within repetitive motifs of  $TGF\beta RII$ , IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4. Due to the paucity of tissue available for study, only Case No. 55 from the early invasive carcinoma group was screened for alterations in these genes.

#### TGFβRII

The wild-type  $TGF\beta RII$  gene contains a tract of 10 consecutive adenines. Amplification across this region using published primers (Myeroff *et al.*, 1995), results in a single band of 73bp with a 'stutter' band migrating at 72bp (-1 *Taq* stutter band). Prior to testing the tumour samples a series of normal DNAs were tested to establish the wild-type banding pattern (personal communication, Lois Myeroff), as illustrated in Figure 3.9 (a).

Frameshift alterations at this region were not observed in either the early invasive case or the DCIS cases, as illustrated in Figures 3.9 (a) and (b), respectively. A number of PCR products from the assay described above were sequenced directly, to confirm that the 73bp product contained 10 adenines only. A representative example of  $TGF\beta RII$  sequencing is illustrated in Figure 3.9 (c).

Figure 3.9 TGF<sub>β</sub>RII assay.

Analysis of tumour (T) and corresponding normal DNA (N), by PCR at the TGF $\beta$ RII gene, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55 and normal DNAs (1-8), including an M13 DNA sequence ladder with sizes in base pairs (b) DCIS Case No.20, including a wild-type positive control (P) from Figure 3.11 (a), and (c) Sequence analysis of the TGF $\beta$ RII PCR products in tumour and normal tissues from early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55.



g c P N T T T 72►

(b)

(a)



gatc gatc

#### -

(c)

## Bax

Amplification of the region spanning the  $G_8$  tract of the *Bax* gene results in a PCR product of 93bp. It was not necessary to establish the wild-type banding pattern for this PCR product, since there are no '*Taq* stutter' bands generated during PCR amplification.

Frameshift alterations of the *Bax*  $G_8$  region were not detected in the early invasive carcinoma or the DCIS cases, as illustrated in Figures 3.10 (a) and (b) respectively.

Figure 3.10. Bax assay

Analysis of tumour (T) and corresponding normal DNA (N), by PCR at the Bax gene, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55 and normal DNAs (1and 2), including an M13 DNA sequence ladder with sizes in base pairs (b) DCIS Case No.20, including a wild-type positive control (P) from Fig 2.5 (a).



#### IGFIIR

Amplification of the region spanning the  $G_8$  tract of the *IGFIIR* gene results in a PCR product of 111bp. Similar to the *Bax* gene, it was not necessary to establish the wild-type banding pattern for this PCR product, since there are no '*Taq* stutter' bands generated during PCR amplification.

Frameshift alterations of the *IGFIIR*  $G_8$  region were not detected in the early invasive carcinoma or the DCIS cases, as illustrated in Figures 3.11 (a) and (b) respectively. Sequence analysis of the *IGFIIR* PCR products confirmed that the 111bp product contained 8 consecutive guanine residues only, as illustrated in Figure 3.11 (c).

#### Figure 3.11. IGFIIR assay

Analysis of tumour (T) and corresponding normal DNA (N), by PCR at the IGFIIR gene, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55 and normal DNAs (1 and 2), including an M13 DNA sequence ladder with sizes in base pairs (b) DCIS Case No.20, including a wild-type positive control (P) from Fig 3.11 (a), and (c) Sequence analysis of the IGFIIR PCR products in tumour and normal tissues from early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55.



T N

gatc gatc

#### E2F-4

This gene contains 13 consecutive (CAG) repeats. However, this region is polymorphic, with variation of the number of repeats occurring throughout the population. Amplification of the region was initially attempted with a primer set which amplified a 330bp product. However, a number of the cases did not yield PCR products. Therefore the analysis was repeated with a primer set which amplified a smaller 135bp product.

Alterations of the CAG repeat were not observed in the early invasive carcinoma. Analysis of the DCIS cases identified one case (No. 13) that contained an extra allele corresponding to 14 copies of the CAG repeat. However, the same number of repeats was also present in the corresponding normal tissue for this case, and therefore this was not a tumour-specific alteration, as illustrated in Figures 3.12 (a) and (b) respectively.

Sequence analysis of the *E2F-4* PCR products confirmed that the early invasive case No. 55 contained  $(CAG)_{13}$  as illustrated in Figure 3.12 (c).

#### Figure. 3.12. E2F-4 assay

Analysis of tumour (T) and corresponding normal DNA (N), by PCR at the E2F-4 gene. followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55 and normal DNAs (1 and 2), including an M13 DNA sequence ladder with sizes in base pairs (b) DCIS Case No.13, including a CAG<sub>13</sub> control (P) from Fig 3.12 (a), and (c) Sequence analysis of the E2F-4 PCR products from (c) early invasive carcinoma Case No. 55.

(a)

*(b)* 







#### c-erbB-2 and p53

Each of the DCIS cases had been screened for expression of p53 and c-*erb*B-2 by immunohistochemistry and data was provided by Dr. RA Walker. Comparison of data was undertaken to determine if the presence or not of microsatellite alterations in the DCIS cases, related to alterations to p53 and c-*erb*B-2. The immunohistochemical and MI data are summarised in Table 3.10.

### c-erbB-2

c-*erb*B-2 staining was detected in 10 cases, four of which showed heterogenous labelling. Three were  $MI^+$  and five showed instability exclusively at DM-1, and this was a significant association (p=0.02). All of these were high grade and comprised 10 of the 11 high grade cases.

#### p53

p53 was detected in 20-85% of cells in 6 cases. One was MI<sup>+</sup> and four had instability at DM-1. Five were high grade and one low grade. However, there was no relationship between immunoreactive p53 and microsatellite instability.

Case No.	Grade	Microsatellite Instability	p53	c-erbB-2
1	High		-	-
2	High	DM-1, D6S193	-	Het. +
3	Low	DM-1	-	-
4	Low		-	-
5	High	DM-1	85%	+
6	High		-	Het. +
7	High	D6S193, D6S186	-	Het. +
8	Low		-	-
9	Inter.		-	-
10	Inter.	DM-1, D6S193	-	-
11	High		-	+
12	High	DM-1	50%	+
13	High	DM-1	20%	Het. +
14	High	DM-1	80%	+
15	Inter.	DM-1	_	-
16	High	DM-1	-	+
17	High	DM-1, D6S193, D16S400, D16S413	45%	+
18	Low		-	-
19	Low			-
20	Low	BAT25, BAT40	_	-
21	Low		30%	-
22	Low		-	-
23	Low		-	-

Table 3.10. Pathological and microsatellite instability data for DCIS cases.

p53 reactivity was determined by calculating the percentage of positive cells present in 10 ducts. Inter. designates Intermediate; Het. is Heterogenous; - is Negative; + is Positive

#### 3.8 Analysis Of Mismatch Repair Proteins

Mismatch repair protein expression was examined by immunohistochemistry. The first MMR protein to be examined was PMS2 with the Clone 9 antibody. This antibody had not been previously tested on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues. It was initially tested on untreated breast tissue sections with primary antibody dilutions ranging from, 1:10 to 1:50. No reactivity was observed. The sections were then pre-treated by protease digestion or pressure cooking and tested with the same dilution range. Pressure cooking gave consistent and reproducible nuclear reactivity.

The other MMR proteins investigated were MLH1 (Clone 14) and MSH2 (FE11). These antibodies had previously been demonstrated to stain paraffin sections, pre-treated with 10mM sodium citrate buffer for 10 mins at 95<sup>o</sup>C, with and without proteinase K digestion (personal communication, Oncogene Science). This protocol was compared directly with the pressure cooking procedure. Pressure cooking led to antigen unmasking and consistent nuclear reactivity, whereas reactivity was not observed using the 'boiling sodium citrate' protocol. Therefore, pressure cooking was favoured for all subsequent immunohistochemical staining with these antibodies.

Evaluation of MMR protein staining was confirmed by Dr. R. A. Walker. DCIS reactivity was compared to that seen in normal breast tissue in the same section, in relation to presence and intensity. Two cases showed stronger PMS2 staining in the DCIS as compared to normal (Case Nos. 3 and 22). Case No. 3 had an alteration at the DM-1 repeat, whereas case No. 22 showed no alterations. The staining for MSH2 was stronger and generally there was clear nuclear reactivity in normal breast and DCIS. Overall there was no difference in the reactivity for PMS2, MLH1 and MSH2 between those cases showing MI and those not. Immunohistochemical staining of PMS2, MSH2, and MLH1 is illustrated in Figures 3.13, 3.14, and 3.15, respectively. The immunohistochemical staining for each of the mismatch repair proteins is summarised in Table 3.11.

Figure 3.13 PMS2 Immunohistochemistry.

(a) Pure DCIS of intermediate grade (Case No. 10) showing staining of majority of nuclei. A few cells have no labelling, which is also seen in the corresponding normal breast, demonstrating variability. This case did not demonstrate microsatellite instability.



(b) Micropapillary DCIS (Case No.16) with clear nuclear staining. This case did not demonstrate microsatellite instability.



Figure 3.14. MSH2 Immunohistochemistry.

(a) Area of DCIS of low grade (Case No. 19) showing staining of majority of nuclei. This case did not demonstrate microsatellite instability.



(b)Adjacent hyperplastic breast with strong nuclear staining.



Figure 3.15. MLH1 Immunohistochemistry.

(a) Same case as stained for MSH2. Variable nuclear staining in DCIS. Arrows indicate positive cells.



(b) Adjacent hyperplastic breast with variable nuclear staining.



Case	PMS2	MSH2	MLH1
No.			
1	ND	Staining in N*	ND
2	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N	ND
3	Staining stronger in DCIS	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N
4	No staining	Staining in DCIS and N	ND
5	Weak staining	Staining in N*	Staining in DCIS
6	Weak staining	Variable staining	Staining in DCIS and N
7	Weak staining		Staining in DCIS and N
8	ND	Weaker in papillary areas	No staining
9	No staining	Staining in DCIS and N	ND
10	Staining in DCIS	Staining in DCIS and N	ND
11	Weak staining	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N
12	Weak staining	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in N*
13	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS	Staining in DCIS
14	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in N*	Staining in DCIS and N
15	ND	Staining in DCIS and N	ND
16	Staining of DCIS	Variable staining	Staining in DCIS and N
17	Weak staining	Staining in N*	Staining in N*
18	Weak staining	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N
19	Weak staining	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N
20	No staining	Staining in DCIS and N	Variable staining
21	Staining of DCIS and N	ND	Variable staining
22	Staining stronger in DCIS	Staining in DCIS and N	Staining in DCIS and N
23	Weak staining	Variable staining	No staining

Table 3. 11. Mismatch repair protein reactivity in DCIS.

Staining refers to DCIS, unless normal ducts (N) are present within the same section, where staining is then described in relation to that seen in DCIS.

\* Indicates that there is no DCIS in the section, ND is not determined due to insufficient tissue.

#### 3.9 Microsatellite Instability And Development Of Drug Resistance

This project was developed to determine whether there was an association between the presence of microsatellite instability and the development of drug resistance in culture. This was investigated by using the multidrug resistant derivative of the MCF-7 cell line, called MCF-7/Adr (kindly provided by Gillian Hirst) and the anti-tumour drug, doxorubicin (adriamycin). The studies were designed to answer two main questions:

1. Is the presence of MI<sup>+</sup>, in the MCF-7/Adr cell line, characterised by:

- (i) a decreased expression of the mismatch repair proteins (MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2), and
- (ii) the presence of frameshift mutations of the cancer-associated genes (TGFβRII, IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4).

2. Can microsatellite instability be 'induced' in MCF-7 cells by treatment with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin.

#### MCF-7/Adr Cell Line

The MCF-7/Adr cell line had previously been shown to demonstrate  $MI^+$  (Anthoney *et al.*, 1996). In this study the cell line was shown to be unstable at 6 of 13 loci tested. These were predominantly dinucleotide markers mapping to the long arm of chromosome 17.

Prior to analysing the cancer-associated genes in the MCF-7/Adr cell line, the microsatellite profiles of an extended panel of markers were compared in the MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell lines. The markers chosen were from each of the three repeat types available: the BAT25 mononucleotide, D16S400 dinucleotide, and DM-1 trinucleotide. The analysis revealed that for each marker tested, the MCF-7/Adr cell line showed alterations to both alleles compared to the alleles form the MCF-7 cell line (Figure 3.16a). Each of the repeat regions from the cancer associated genes (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII*, *IGFIIR*, *Bax*, and *E2F-4*) were then investigated in both cell lines, however the there were no alterations from the wild-type alleles (Figure 3.16b).

Alterations of multiple microsatellite loci may suggest an aberration to one of the mismatch repair genes in the MCF-7/Adr cell line. Therefore, the expression levels of PMS2, MLH1 and MSH2 from both cell lines were compared by Western blot analysis. Each of the blots detected a single band, within the correct size range, for the MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr samples. For each of the mismatch repair proteins there was no difference in band intensity between MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell lines (Figure 3.17) suggesting equivalent levels of expression of

these proteins in both cell lines. However, determination of equivalent protein loading was not determined.

Figure 3.16. Microsatellite Instability analysis of MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell line. Microsatellite analysis of breast cancer cell lines (MCF-7, and MCF-7/Adr) by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) DM-1 marker, (b) Bax  $G_8$  region. Arrow indicates altered alleles in MCF-7/Adr in comparison to MCF-7.



Figure 3.17. Mismatch protein analysis of MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell line. Protein extracts (20µg) from MCF-7 and MCF-7/ADR cell lines were electrophoriesed on 10% SDS-PAGE, blotted onto Hybord  $C^+$  and probed with MSH2 antibody. Sizes are in kD.



#### **Doxorubicin Treatment Of MCF-7 Cell Line**

The second part of this study was to determine whether increasing concentrations of doxorubicin could lead to the development of microsatellite instability. The initial concentration of doxorubicin used in these experiments (3nM) was based upon a recent publication (Ogretman and Safa, 1997) which conducted cell survival assays and calculated the concentration of doxorubicin that inhibited MCF-7 cell survival by 50% (IC<sub>50</sub>).

The schematic (Figure 3.18) illustrates the experimental design. MCF-7 cells were grown in triplicate in increasing concentrations of doxorubicin. Total DNA and protein extracts were prepared when the cells had reached confluence in the presence of 3nM, 30nM, and 300nM, respectively.

Figure 3.18. Schematic representation of doxorubicin experiment.

A flask of MCF-7 cells are split in two. One flask is grown in the absence of doxorubicin, while the other is grown in the presence of the drug, in triplicate. When cells are confluent, one flask is used to subculture three more flasks with (increasing doxorubicin concentration) and the two remaining flasks are used to prepare total protein and DNA extracts respectively.



Due to time constraints, the expression levels of each of the mismatch repair proteins in the doxorubicin-treated cells were not determined. The DNA from each of the subcultures and the untreated control were analysed with respect to stability of the DM-1 marker. This marker was selected because it was judged to be a sensitive marker of microsatellite instability. There was no evidence of microsatellite instability in any of the four doxorubicin-treated MCF-7 cell derivatives (Figure 3.19).

### Figure 3.19. Doxorubicin treatment of MCF-7 cell line.

Microsatellite analysis of DNA prepared from MCF-7, MCF-7/Adr cell lines, and MCF-7 cells, cultured in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (Dox), at the DM-1 marker by PCR, followed by electrophoresis, along side an M13 DNA sequencing ladder. Arrow indicates the altered alleles of the MCF-7/Adr cell line.



#### 3.10 Microsatellite Instability

The accumulation of widespread mutations (insertions and deletions of one or a few nucleotides) in simple repeated sequences of a tumour cell genome is the diagnostic feature of cancer of the microsatellite instability phenotype (MI<sup>+</sup>) (Ionov *et al.*, 1993; Perucho *et al.*, 1994). MI<sup>+</sup> tumour represent a well characterised and supportive example of the cancer as a mutator phenotype hypothesis (Loeb *et al.*, 1991, 1994) and of the mechanisms responsible for cancer susceptibility (Knudson *et al.*, 1971, 1985). Mutations in these unstable repeat sequences (reviewed in Eshelman and Markowitz, 1995) accumulate because of the failure by the DNA mismatch repair machinery (MSH2, MLH1, PMS2, PMS1, and MSH6) to correct the errors of replication due to slippage by strand misalignment (Streisinger *et al.*, 1966). Mutated cancer associated genes in MI<sup>+</sup> tumours are generally different from those found in tumours of the classical suppressor pathway (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990) because they contain targets for slippage-induced frameshift mutations. For example, the *TGF*β*RII*, *IGFIIR*, and *Bax* genes contain polynucleotide regions within coding regions which are subject to one or two base insertions or deletions in a high proportion of sporadic gastrointestinal and urogenital MI<sup>+</sup> tumours (Myeroff *et al.*, 1995; Ouyang *et al.*, 1997; Rampino *et al.*, 1997).

One of the problems associated with the analysis of microsatellite instability in breast cancer is that clear criteria to define the phenomenon have not been established. In this thesis, a tumour was defined as having microsatellite instability (MI) if an alteration of a single marker was observed. Tumours which demonstrated alterations at two or more independent genomic locations were described as having the microsatellite instability *phenotype* and designated as MI<sup>+</sup>, as first defined by Aaltonen *et al.*, (1993).

### **Technical Problems**

The DNA template procured from microdissected tumour foci produced consistent amplification of the microsatellites used in this study. In general, microdissection of a single involved duct or group of carcinoma cells produced sufficient template for analysis with multiple markers. However, analysis of morphologically normal ducts adjacent to DCIS unfortunately produced a high (3 of 4) failure rate of amplification, suggesting that there was insufficient template in these ducts. The study by Deng *et al.*, (1996) overcame this problem by PCR-amplifying their markers for 45 cycles. Amplification of the microsatellites used in this study for 45 cycles did result in PCR products but with additional non-specific products which made interpretation of the results difficult. The efficiency of DNA preparation from

very small numbers of cells would be greatly improved by using the recently described technique of laser captured microdissection (Emmet-Buck *et al.*, 1996).

#### Fibroadenomas

Although it was subsequently demonstrated that MI was a tumour specific alteration, it was possible that observed instability was simply a consequence of the increased proliferation rate of the tumours. This was tested by examining a group of hyperproliferative breast lesions (fibroadenomas) for MI. Analysis with DM-1 and a dinucleotide did not reveal MI in any of the cases, demonstrating that this alteration was not solely due to an increased rate of proliferation. Interestingly, a proportion of the cases did show allelic loss for the chromosome 16q marker (described in Chapter 4), suggesting that genetic alterations could be detected in this type of lesion.

#### **Invasive Carcinomas**

One problem associated with MI analysis of breast tumours is that, to date, each investigation has used a different panel of microsatellite markers, therefore making comparisons between different groups of tumours and different tumour types very difficult. Other problems for the analysis of invasive carcinomas relate to the investigation of unselected groups, for example early and advanced groups combined. In order to establish the role of MI in early stages of invasive tumours, small (less than 15mm) node negative tumours were investigated. The analysis in this group was initially performed on DNA prepared from whole tumour sections, similar to the majority of other studies performed on invasive carcinomas (summarised in Table 3.4). The analysis identified four tumours that showed two types of instability.

Two (7%) of the cases had alterations exclusively to the DM-1 marker. Both of these tumours showed contraction of the larger DM-1 allele by a single repeat unit (three base pairs). It is noteworthy that the only other study to use the DM-1 marker to assess MI, also characterised a tumour with a 3bp contraction of the larger allele (Wooster *et al.*, 1994b). As the analyses progressed it emerged that the DM-1 marker may be a sensitive marker of  $MI^+$  in breast cancer. It was observed that when a tumour had alterations to both DM-1 alleles, this was always accompanied by alterations to several other microsatellite markers. In contrast, alteration to just one DM-1 allele was typically not accompanied by further genetic changes. This is unlikely to be a reflection of the repeat length at DM-1 because other microsatellites used (for example, AR) generally had longer repeats than DM-1. It is possible that this

instability has implications for the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) gene in which the repeat is located (as discussed later in this section).

The second type of instability was more pronounced. Two (7%) cases displayed instability at 9 of 10 loci tested (including both dinucleotide and trinucleotide markers) and were designated  $MI^+$ . In the majority of instances both alleles were altered for each of the markers analysed, including DM-1. Breast carcinomas with similar widespread alterations have also been reported by other investigators. For example, Contegiacomo *et al.*, (1995), characterised a tumour with alterations to 6 of 8 markers, and Toyama *et al.*, (1996a), demonstrated alterations to 8 of 12 loci in one tumour in their study. These cases have instability similar to that reported in the HNPCC kindreds, however, the pattern of instability is different. In tumours from HNPCC patients there is generally a ladder of unstable alleles which results in 'smearing' of the PCR products. The tumours described here generally had two new alleles not present in the corresponding normal sample. The possibility of a sample mix up was discounted by repeating the analysis with alternative tumour blocks from the same patient, since heterozygous stable alleles were observed for at least one other locus.

The group of invasive carcinomas studied were predominantly infiltrating ductal, with a small number of tubular carcinomas or lobular-tubular carcinomas. MI and  $MI^+$  was only identified in the infiltrating ductal carcinomas. Other studies have included infiltrating lobular carcinomas and have correlated the presence of MI with this phenotype (Aldaz *et al.*, 1995; Contegiacomo *et al.*, 1995).

Microdissection of individual foci from each of the carcinomas confirmed the initial MI results obtained from DNA prepared from an entire tumour tissue section, and did not lead to the identification of any additional cases with alterations. This suggests that microdissection may not be necessary for the analysis of infiltrating carcinomas where the majority of cells in the tissue section are malignant, in contrast to the non-invasive carcinomas where there are high proportions of non-malignant cells surrounding malignant foci (described later in this section). However, the microdissection analysis of DNA prepared by microdissection on each of these components. Microsatellite analysis of DNA prepared by microdissection on each of these components demonstrated that only the solid groups of cells were altered with respect to the normal tissue. This provided preliminary evidence that MI may be associated with dedifferentiation. Within individual tumours clones of MI could occur, and may be the focal points for progression.

To further investigate the role of MI in breast cancer pathways, a group of tubular carcinomas were investigated. The analysis was conducted with the DM-1 marker and two dinucleotides (D16S413 and D16S289) mapping to chromosome 16q. There was no evidence of MI in any of the tubular carcinomas. However, instability of the D16S413 marker was observed in LCIS associated with one of the cases. This type of instability, of a single dinucleotide, was not observed in any of the other cases examined in this thesis but it has been reported by a number of investigators (Table 3.4) and is best exemplified by the data of Karnick *et al.*, (1995). In their study, the authors examined a series of dinucleotide repeats mapping to chromosome 11p, but demonstrated instability of only one in 19 of 69 (28%) cases. A number of other investigators have studied the D16S413 marker with respect to Loss of Heterozygosity of chromosome 16q in microdissected breast lesions and found no evidence of instability with this marker (Aldaz *et al.*, 1995; Lakhani *et al.*, 1995a; Lakhani *et al.*, 1995b; Stratton *et al.*, 1995), suggesting that the instability of D16S413 described above, does not merely reflect that this marker is inherently unstable.

#### DCIS

The benefits of microdissection analysis were particularly evident when studying MI in the group of DCIS. Microsatellite analysis in these lesions using DNA template prepared from whole tissue sections revealed no alterations, as would be expected since tumour cells may often represent a low percentage of the total cells from cases of this type. Microdissection enabled enrichment for tumour cells and the analysis of multiple ducts from the same tumour section. The types of MI were similar to that seen in the early invasive carcinomas, although the frequencies were higher, with 7 (30%) cases showing alterations to one allele of the DM-1 marker, and 5 (22%) characterised as MI<sup>+</sup>. However, there were different patterns of MI<sup>+</sup>. Three cases showed alterations at DM-1 and different dinucleotides, one showed alterations to two dinucleotides, and the remaining tumour was altered at the BAT25 and BAT40 mononucleotide repeats. This last case is particularly interesting because alterations restricted to mononucleotide repeats may prove to be indicative of alterations to a separate mismatch repair pathway. This is supported by the study of Yee *et al.*, (1994), who investigated MI in 20 invasive carcinomas with mono-, di-, tri- and tetranucleotide repeats. One tumour showed an alteration exclusively at a mononucleotide repeat, a (T)n repeat within an Alu sequence.

Aldaz *et al.*, (1995) also studied MI in 23 cases of pure DCIS, and found a  $MI^+$  frequency of 13% (3 of 23). Unfortunately, the markers showing instability in these cases were not

described. The nuclear grade of the cases was also not reported. However, the data recently presented by Dillon *et al.*, (1997) seems to contradict these findings. They examined 33 cases of DCIS with a panel of microsatellites, and found only one case to be altered. However, it is not clear from this paper whether microdissected tumour foci or DNA from whole sections were used. Considering the evidence presented in this thesis it seems likely that the vast quantities of non-malignant cells present in cases of pure DCIS would lead to 'masking' of tumour specific alterations.

Microsatellite instability was detected at a higher frequency in the high and intermediate grade cases, compared to the low grade cases. It is not possible to demonstrate correlation between MI<sup>+</sup> and grade from the other DCIS studies of Aldaz *et al.*, (1995) and Dillon *et al.*, (1997). However, MI<sup>+</sup> in invasive breast carcinomas has been correlated with indicators commonly associated with poor disease prognosis, such as involvement of lymph node (de Marchis *et al.*, 1997), and reduced overall survival (Paulson *et al.*, 1996).

Heterogeneity between ducts was observed in two cases, as demonstrated by different instability of the DM-1 alleles. This low frequency (9%) of heterogeneity is similar to that described by Fujii *et al.*, (1996b), who demonstrated 3 of 23 (13%) cases with heterogeneity between ducts, as determined by allelic loss. From their studies on DCIS, Fujii *et al.*, (1996b) proposed a model of how DCIS may progress to invasive carcinoma. The involved ducts evolve along a common pathway, until a point where several foci diverge along pathways of genetic progression, which is associated with synchronous invasion. The growth of invasive carcinoma. This is supported by the identification of allelic heterogeneity which is present in a low frequency in the pure DCIS, increased in DCIS with synchronous invasion and not present in invasive carcinomas. Although analysis of DCIS with synchronous invasion is central to this model, the allelic heterogeneity data presented here (with respect to instability of the DM-1 marker) supports this model. There was a low level of genetic heterogeneity in the cases of pure DCIS, and no heterogeneity in the invasive foci.

#### **Overall Findings**

The overall findings indicate that, in the DCIS and early invasive breast lesions, MI was a tumour specific alteration. There was no evidence of MI in fibroadenomas, ruling out MI occurring as a sole consequence of increased proliferation. The data from the DCIS cases together with evidence from other investigations suggests that in cases of DCIS and invasive breast carcinomas instability is associated with high nuclear grade and an aggressive phenotype. This is also supported by the findings of low frequency of MI in well to moderately differentiated early invasive carcinomas and absence of microsatellite alterations in the tubular carcinomas.

#### 3.11 Mismatch Repair Proteins And Cancer-Associated Genes

Despite a large number of MI studies in breast cancer, there have been no reports correlating this phenotype with alterations in the mismatch repair proteins or any of the cancer-associated loci containing targets for slippage-induced frameshift mutations. The only data reported thus far is a frameshift mutation in MLH1 in a MI<sup>+</sup> breast tumour from a patient with HNPCC (Risinger *et al.*, 1996). This was the first evidence that breast cancer, albeit as an integral tumour within the HNPCC syndrome, may result from the inheritance of a mutant MMR gene.

Following the identification and characterisation of MI in various breast malignancies, the project then questioned the 'cause' and 'effect' of the observed instability. Subsequent analysis of the mismatch repair genes and cancer-associated loci was confined to the cases of DCIS, where 5 cases were categorised as MI<sup>+</sup>, and a further seven showed alterations at the DM-1 marker.

# Is MI<sup>+</sup> 'caused' by inactivation of key mismatch repair genes (MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2) in breast cancer ?

HNPCC is caused by germ-line mutations in at least four mismatch repair genes (MSH2, MLH1, PMS1, and PMS2) (Marra and Bolon, 1995). At-risk individuals have much to gain from genetic screening because frequent colonoscopic examination allows early detection and curative removal of pre-malignant polyps (Lynch *et al.*, 1993). Somatic mutation analysis of these genes and the other mismatch repair genes is also required to address the origin of the MI<sup>+</sup> phenotype in sporadic cancers. Even limiting the mutation analysis to the MSH2 and MLH1 genes still entails scanning 35 exons over 150kb of genomic DNA (Kolodner *et al.*, *and*).

1995). Approximately 70% of MSH2 mutations result in inactivation by premature stop codons, frameshifts, or alternative splicing. This type of alteration can be readily detected by the protein truncation test, which involves in vitro transcription and translation and subsequent analysis of protein products (Powell *et al.*, 1993). However, this technique cannot readily be applied to paraffin embedded tissues, which was the majority of material available in this study.

An alternative strategy for the identification of altered mismatch repair expression has been described which directly examines tumour specimens for the presence or absence of mismatch repair protein expression by immunohistochemistry (Thibodeau *et al.*, 1996). This investigation examined the expression pattern of MSH2 and MLH1 in a large series of patients with colorectal cancer (both HNPCC and sporadic colorectal cases). The results demonstrated that an absence of protein expression for both proteins was associated with the presence of MI<sup>+</sup>. The technique therefore has the potential to be a rapid and convenient screen for identifying defects in mismatch repair genes.

In order to gain further insight into the nature of microsatellite instability in breast cancer, each of the DCIS cases was screened for expression of three MMR (MSH2. MLH1, and PMS2) proteins by immunohistochemistry. The immunohistochemical analysis of the DCIS cases was for MSH2 was performed with the same antibody clone used by Thibodeau et al., (1996) to identify cases with MSH2 mutations. The immunohistochemical analysis described in the cases of DCIS was not carried out in the presence of a known mutant control. Fixation processes generally vary from institute to institute, and reactivity of particular epitopes, on tissue sections, is known to be affected by the type of fixation process used. Thus in order for a mutant control to be used effectively along side the DCIS cases, it would have to be processed in the same manner as the breast tissues. The antigen retrieval protocol used for this epitope has been shown previously to be effective for the study of nuclear antigens (Scott and Walker, in press), and is similar to the protocol used by Thibodeau et al., (1996). The staining for MSH2 was present in nuclei of normal ducts and DCIS. Immunohistochemical analyses with the MLH1 and PMS2 antibody clones has not been described, and in general the staining was weaker for these antibodies when compared to MSH2. This may reflect that these antibodies are less well characterised and have been raised against unknown epitopes.

However, despite these shortcomings, all the MI<sup>+</sup> tumours in this study demonstrated expression of MSH2, MLH1 and PMS2, and there were no significant differences in staining

for MMR protein between cases showing MI<sup>+</sup> and those without alterations to microsatellites. It is important to note that the immunohistochemical detection of these proteins does not necessarily imply normal DNA mismatch repair function. However, it is also possible that aberrations to the other MMR genes are responsible for the observed MI<sup>+</sup>.

The cases in this study that showed less widespread instability, that is alterations only at the DM-1 repeat, are unlikely to reflect aberrations to the MSH2 and MLH1 genes since HNPCC tumours with MMR gene mutations show widespread instability at all types of loci examined. Moreover, colorectal cell lines that contain mutations in MSH2 and MLH1, show very similar or identical DM-1 repeat lengths to that of mismatch proficient cell lines (Kramer *et al.*, 1996) suggesting that instability at this locus is unusual in HNPCC. Other candidate mutator loci need to be investigated in these breast cancers. Based on the enzymology of mismatch repair in yeast, inactivating mutations in the human homologue of MSH3 (hMSH3) might be predicted, since mutations in MSH2 do not cause the extreme microsatellite instability and spontaneous mutability observed in MSH2 mutants (Johnson *et al.*, 1996).

# Does $MI^+$ 'effect' key cancer-associated loci (TGF $\beta$ RII, IGFIIR, Bax, and E2F-4) in breast cancer ?

To date, mutations of the mononucleotide coding regions within the  $TGF\beta RII$ , IGFIIR, and *Bax* genes have been identified predominantly in MI<sup>+</sup> tumours of the gastrointestinal and urogenital tracts (Myeroff *et al.*, 1995; Ouyang *et al.*, 1997; Rampino *et al.*, 1997). In each gene a single nucleotide or in some cases two nucleotides are deleted or inserted at these mononucleotide regions, resulting in frameshifts, leading to introduction of premature stop codons, and consequently truncated proteins with impaired function. These types of alteration can be detected by PCR amplification and standard polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Each of the investigations, to date, has also limited the size of the PCR products so that material from paraffin embedded blocks can be readily analysed. Despite that fact that these alterations have been predominantly identified in MI<sup>+</sup> gastrointestinal and urogenital tumours, the genes also play important roles in breast tissue (as described below) and are therefore worthy of analysis.

## TGFβRII

Loss of a growth inhibitory response to transforming growth factor  $\beta$  has been proposed to contribute to breast cancer progression, and TGF $\beta$  responsiveness often correlates with

TGF $\beta$ RII expression in breast cancer (reviewed in Koli and Arteaga, 1997). There are several lines of evidence to suggest the TGF $\beta$ RII encodes a tumour suppressor gene involved in breast cancer development. For example, transfection of a TGF $\beta$ RII construct into MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines produces reversion of malignancy, as determined by soft agar assay and tumourigenicity in mice (Sun *et al.*, 1994). This suggests that *TGF\betaRII could* be a target for MI<sup>+</sup> breast tumours.

A tract of 10 adenines in exon 3 of the gene is mutated in up to 90% of MI<sup>+</sup> colon cancers and 70% of MI<sup>+</sup> gastrointestinal tumours. This can be readily analysed by PCR amplification of a 73bp region (Myeroff et al., 1995). In the assay it was important to establish the wild-type banding pattern of this locus because the assay was optimised without a mutant positive control (for example DNA with 9 or 11 adenines at this region). Amplification across the region produced a 73bp product and a Taq. 'stutter' band migrating at 72bp. This is due to slippage by *Taq.* polymerase and is often associated with the amplification of longer repetitive sequences (Huage and Litt, 1993). Direct DNA sequence analysis of the products confirmed the presence of 10 consecutive adenines only. Although there was no deviation from this allelic pattern in any of the tumour samples analysed, it is possible that a homozygous or heterozygous alteration, leading to the loss of a single adenine, may have been 'masked' by the stutter band. An alternative strategy may have been to electrophorese the products on nondenaturing gels. An alteration of one base pair could produce a 'band shift' more easily identifiable than the extra stutter band that was seen on the denaturing polyacrylamide gel. However, resolution of base differences from PCR products less than 200bp in size by SSCP is sub-optimal (Orita et al., 1989a, 1989b).

Vincent *et al.*, (1996) also failed to demonstrate mutations in 10 cases of breast cancer. This study used a different set of primers which amplified a 140bp product and did not co-amplify 'stutter bands'. However, the breast tumours investigated in this study were not characterised for MI. Studies have also failed to demonstrate alterations in  $MI^+$  tumours of the lung, pancreas and endometrium, suggesting that this alteration may in fact be confined to tumours from the stomach and colorectum (Abe *et al.*, 1996).

#### IGFIIR

Chromosome 6q has been shown to be a frequent site for loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer (Devilee *et al.*, 1991; Chappell *et al.*, 1997). The *IGFIIR* maps to chromosome 6q26-27, and functions in the activation of TGF $\beta$ . LOH of the *IGFIIR* locus with accompanying
mutation of the remaining allele has been reported in liver tumours (De Souza *et al.*, 1995) and recently in two cases of high grade DCIS, suggesting that *IGFIIR* may be tumour suppressor gene important in the development of some breast cancers (Hankins *et al.*, 1996).

Frameshift mutations within a tract of eight guanines of this gene have been described in a high proportion of  $MI^+$  gastrointestinal tumours (Souza *et al.*, 1996; Ouyang *et al.*, 1997) However, there was no evidence of alteration in the  $MI^+$  cases identified. The assay was also conducted in the absence of mutant controls, however, there were no stutter products associated with amplification of this region, making detection of altered alleles more recognisable than in the *TGF* $\beta$ *RII* assay.

## Bax

In recent years, it has become clear that defective apoptosis contributes significantly to the origins and progression of breast cancer (Reed, 1996). Two groups have reported marked reductions in the expression of Bax in breast cancers. Bargou *et al.*, (1995) showed that Bax mRNA levels were reduced compared to normal breast tissue in 10 of 10 breast tumour specimens. In an extended analysis, the same investigators demonstrated reduced Bax mRNA levels in 35 of 36 breast carcinomas and in 4 of 4 in situ carcinomas (Bargou *et al.*, 1996). Krajewski *et al.*, (1995) have correlated reduced Bax expression (as determined by immunohistochemistry) with patients who did not respond to therapy and with shorter overall survival. The molecular mechanisms that result in reduced expression in breast cancer are not clear. Tumour suppressive qualities for this gene have also been suggested by a study that showed the growth of breast cancer cell lines, in immuno-compromised mice, can be suppressed by gene transfer-mediated overexpression of Bax (Bargou *et al.*, 1996).

The analysis at the guanine tract ( $G_8$ ) in the *Bax* gene was similar to the *IGFIIR* analysis. The PCR product amplified a single product without any stutter bands, thereby facilitating simple identification of any alteration at this region. However, again there was no evidence to suggest that this region was altered in any of the MI<sup>+</sup> cases.

## E2F-4

There is little direct evidence to suggest that this gene is involved in the development of breast cancer. However, to date it remains the only gene, with a trinucleotide repeat, which is associated with alterations in MI<sup>+</sup> tumours. Considering the high frequency of alterations in the DM-1 trinucleotide repeat this gene was considered to be a candidate worthy for analysis.

The gene contains a region of 13 consecutive CAGs encoding a poly-serine region involved in the transactivation activities associated with the gene. The region is known to be polymorphic in the general population, and therefore alterations at this region cannot be inferred directly. Also, because this repeated region is a trinucleotide, alterations in the number of repeats, will not result in the introduction of a premature stop codon into the gene. An alteration of 3bp was detected at this region in one case. However, the extra repeat was also present in the normal tissue of that patient suggesting that it was merely a polymorphism.

Overall the data suggested that each of the four previously defined targets for frameshift mutations do not appear to be selected for in the  $MI^+$  breast tumours identified in this study. Wild-type alleles were observed in each of the mononucleotide regions, even for the case with alterations to the long mononucleotide markers. Similarly, *E2F-4* (trinucleotide) alterations were not present in the cases with changes in the DM-1 trinucleotide.

It is possible that there are other cancer-associated genes targeted in  $MI^+$  breast cancers. A recent study has conducted an extensive search for other targets which may be altered in  $MI^+$  gastrointestinal tumours (Simms *et al.*, 1997). The putative targets included coding and noncoding repeats of mono-, di-, and tri-, tetra-, and pentanucleotide repeats from other cancer associated loci involved in tumour suppression (*p53*), cell adhesion ( $\beta$ -*catenin*), and apoptosis (*Bcl-2*). However, each of the loci were stable in MI<sup>+</sup> gastrointestinal tumours. Among the other targets which remained stable was a combined trinucleotide and mononucleotide repeat within exon 1 of the oestrogen receptor gene. Considering the central role of the oestrogen receptor in the development and progression of breast cancer, this region may represent a particularly good candidate for future mutation analyses in MI<sup>+</sup> breast tumours.

### Other genes

In order to gain further insight into the nature of microsatellite instability in breast cancer, each of the DCIS cases was screened for expression of the oncogene c-*erb*B-2 and the tumour suppressor gene p53. Since MI was associated with high nuclear grade, as is c-*erb*B-2 overexpression (Bobrow *et al.*, 1995) this may account for the association. A proportion of the tumours did display strong nuclear reactivity for p53, four of which showed alterations to DM-1. Immunohistochemically reactive p53 represents stabilised p53 which, in those case with greater reactivity is more likely to be due to a mutation (Gretasdottir *et al.*, 1996). This may indicate that DM-1 alterations lead to alteration of repetitive sequences within the p53

gene. An extensive review of p53 mutations by Greenblatt *et al.*, (1996), suggest that there are numerous targets for slippage-induced mutations within the gene.

## **DM-1 and DMPK ?**

It is possible that the DM-1 specific instability, observed in cases of DCIS and early invasive carcinoma, indicates a role for the gene in which the repeat is located. The DM-1 repeat is located in a 3' region of the *DMPK* gene which is transcribed but not translated (Brook *et al.*, 1992). Expression studies for this gene have not been described in breast tissues. Alterations in the number of CTGn repeats may alter mRNA stability or the translational controls that normally function to regulate *DMPK*. This may be worthy of further investigation particularly as *DMPK* has been identified as an orthologue of the Drosophila *warts/lats* tumour suppressor gene (reviewed in Watson, 1995), and an association between defects in human mismatch repair genes and those of transcription coupled excision repair has recently been described (Mellon *et al.*, 1996).

# 3.12 Microsatellite Instability And Drug Resistance

The development of drug resistance is a major clinical problem. Doxorubicin is widely used as an anti cancer drug in breast cancer (Cummings *et al.*, 1991) but its clinical effectiveness is often limited by the emergence of drug-resistant tumour cell populations. The experiments described in this chapter provided a preliminary investigation as to the role of  $MI^+$  in the resistance of breast cancer cell lines to doxorubicin.

The ovarian cancer cell line A2780/AD was isolated by in vitro selection for doxorubicin resistance of its parental A2780 cell line (Anthoney *et al.*, 1996). The doxorubicin resistant derived cell line has been shown to be  $MI^+$  in contrast to the MI<sup>-</sup> doxorubicin sensitive cell line (Anthoney *et al.*, 1996). The basis for the observed  $MI^+$  was subsequently shown to be due an absence of the mismatch repair protein, MLH1 (Drummond *et al.*, 1996; Brown *et al.*, 1997).

The doxorubicin resistant breast cancer cell line (MCF-7/Adr) which is dervied from the MCF-7 cell line, was also demonstrated to be MI<sup>+</sup>, as determined by 6 of 13 alterations at dinucleotide repeats (Anthoney *et al.*, 1996). However, the molecular basis for the microsatellite instability has not yet been described. The microsatellite profile of the MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cells confirmed that the doxorubicin derivative was MI<sup>+</sup> and that it was not limited to dinucleotide repeats, since alterations were observed at the BAT25 mononucleotide

and DM-1 trinucleotide repeats. However, the subsequent investigation of mismatch proteins (MLH1, MSH2 and PMS2) demonstrated no significant differences in expression between the MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cell lines by Western blotting. This may have been attributable to the culturing conditions. Prior to arrival in this laboratory the cells had been routinely maintained in the presence of doxorubicin (Gillian Hirst, personal communication). Subsequent passaging was performed in the absence of the drug. A recent study has suggested that in order to maintain a high level of resistance, MCF-7/Adr cells have to be cultured in the continuing presence of doxorubicin (Budworth *et al.*, 1997). It is therefore possible that the cultured cells contained a mixed population of cells, and that there were insufficient numbers of resistant clones to enable detection of microsatellite intability. In contrast, the presence of non-resistant cells prevented accurate determination of mismatch repair protein expression. An alternative strategy would be to establish independent subclones from single doxorubicin resistant cells.

Treating MCF-7 cells with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (up to 300nM) did not result in any microsatellite alterations, as determined by analysis with the DM-1 marker. A recent investigation has performed cell survival analysis of MCF-7 and MCF-7/Adr cells and demonstrated that the doxorubicin derivative is 6,000-fold more resistant to doxorubicin than the MCF-7 cells (Ogretmen and Safa, 1997). This would suggest that the selection with increasing concentrations of drug may need to be over much longer periods of time (and with increasing concentrations of the drug) to determine whether emerging resistance is associated with the development of MI<sup>+</sup> and concomitant decrease in MMR protein expression. Similar to the experimetns with the MCF-7/Adr cell line, an alternative strategy would be to repeat the analysis on cell populations initially derived from a single cell.

Chapter 4

Loss of Heterozygosity

## 4.1 The Tumour Suppressor Gene Concept

## **Somatic Cell Genetics**

In 1969, Harris *et al.*, first proposed the existence of genetic elements which were capable of suppressing tumour proliferation. In their experiments, a cancerous cell, capable of forming tumours in animals, was fused with a non-tumourigenic cell. The hybrid cell line, that resulted from the fusion, grew in culture and maintained many of the properties of cancer cells, however, it was no longer capable of producing tumours in animals. During the course of these studies and others (reviewed by Stanbridge *et al.*, 1992), it was observed that an occasional hybrid cell line would produce a tumour in an animal. Analysis of these rare clones, demonstrated that they had lost one or more chromosomes that originated from the normal parent cells. This suggested that the normal cells had contributed one or more genes whose product suppressed the ability to form tumours in animals. The chromosomes that contained these putative tumour suppressor genes were identified using microcells, which carry only a single chromosome, derived from the normal parent and then fused with a tumourigenic cell.

The main conclusion to be drawn from these studies is that tumour suppressor genes loose their functions in cancer cells, which can be restored by a single dominant wild-type allele, and so both alleles of a tumour suppressor gene must be lost by mutation in cancerous cells. Karyotypic analysis of tumours has supported this notion. Different types of cancerous cells have been shown to contain loss of complete chromosomes or deletions of specific portions of chromosomes (reviewed in Mitelman *et al.*, 1997).

# Retinoblastoma And The 'Two-Hit Hypothesis'

Epidemiological studies (Knudson, 1971) of the childhood cancer, retinoblastoma, provided further evidence for the role of tumour suppressor genes in cancer. Knudson noted that 40% of the cases of retinoblastoma occurred in young infants with a mean age of 14 months, and these tumours were almost always bilateral with an average of three independent tumours per patient. In some of these cases there was a family history of tumours, suggesting an inherited predisposition for these cancers. By contrast, Knudson noted, about 60% of the retinoblastomas did not fit this pattern. In these cases, there was no familial component. The tumours in these patients were some what different than the first group. They were detected

at a later age, and originated only in one eye, with only one cancer per patient. This class of retinoblastoma was also quite rare, occurring in about one in 30,000 people.

Knudson developed a hypothesis (the so-called 'two-hit' hypothesis) to explain the origins of both categories of retinoblastoma. He suggested that some children inherited a mutant allele in a gene (subsequently designated RB1) and that a second somatic mutation in a retinoblast cell would then give rise to this cancer. He also hypothesised that the children who developed retinoblastoma at a later age do not inherit a mutant RB1 allele. Instead, two independent mutations in a single retinoblast must occur to give rise to late-onset tumours, which are rare. The first group have one inherited mutant allele and one somatic mutation, while the second group has two somatic mutations, which, because they are the same genetic loci as in the first group, cause the same disease.

Some of the familial retinoblastoma were reproducibly shown to contain small deletions in chromosome 13q14 (Yunis and Ramsey, 1978), suggesting a locus for the *RB1* gene. Several DNA probes spanning the chromosome 13q14 region were shown to detect natural polymorphisms of human DNA, restriction fragment polymorphisms (RFLPs). Interestingly, some of these probes showed a reduction to homozygosity in the cancerous tissue, that is while the normal tissue contained two alleles the tumour tissue only contained one of these alleles (Cavenee *et al.*, 1983). This could arise from a loss of a chromosome, a deletion of the genetic locus, or a gene conversion where one allele is copied (via replication or recombination) and inserted into the other allele (Figure 4.1).

The reduction to homozygosity or loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at 13q14 was observed in both the inherited and 'sporadic' forms of retinoblastoma. The *RB1* gene, mapped to chromosome 13q14, was then isolated (Friend *et al.*, 1986), therefore permitting a test of Knudson's hypothesis. It was subsequently demonstrated that *RB1* gene from retinoblastoma carried mutations in both alleles, or in one allele with the second lost by LOH (Weinberg, 1992).

The genetic mechanisms for RB1 were subsequently demonstrated in other tumour suppressor genes, e.g. APC (colorectal cancer), NF2 (Neurofibromatosis type 2), VHL (Von Hippel-Lindau disease) and p53 (breast cancer). Therefore, the finding of consistent LOH, at a chromosomal region, in any malignancy could signify the presence of a nearby tumour suppressor locus. This has led to investigators comparing the constitutional genotype of cancer patients with that of their tumours, using a series of polymorphic markers, to

determine allelic losses in tumour DNA as compared with normal tissue from the same patient (Lasko *et al.*, 1991). LOH analysis for deletion is therefore analogous to cytogenetic analysis, with the advantages of enhanced resolution.

## Figure 4.1. Mechanism of loss of heterozygosity (Lasko et al., 1991).

A general model for mechanism eliciting loss of heterozygosity. Upper left: In heritable disease, a recessive defect (labelled \*) at the tumour locus is inherited, giving a genotype \*/+ in all cells. The predisposition is unmasked by elimination of the wild-type alleles, usually by one or the chromosomal mechanisms described in the text, followed by other alterations during malignant progression. Lower left: In sporadic disease, somatic mutation at the tumour locus results in formation of a predisposed precursor cell. Predisposition is unmasked in mechanistically similar ways as in heritable disease.



### De novo Methylation

Alternative mechanisms of tumour suppressor gene inactivation exist. The most common mechanism is aberrant methylation of promoter regions of tumour suppressor genes. It is now emerging that alterations in the DNA methylation machinery are among the most common changes associated with neoplasia and may have a causative role at an early stage in carcinogenesis (Jones and Gonzalgo, 1997). In higher order eukaryotes, DNA is methylated only at cytosine residues located 5' to guanosine in the CG dinucleotide, giving rise to 5-methyl-cytosine (Bird, 1986). In humans, approximately 60% of genes contain CGrich regions of DNA in their promoters, which function in gene regulation by binding specific transcription factors. These 'CpG islands' are normally devoid of DNA methylation, regardless of the expression status of the gene (reviewed in Jones, 1996). When present, DNA methylation of promoter-associated CpG islands leads to irreversible inhibition of gene expression, as demonstrated in X chromosome inactivation in women (Pfeiffer et al., 1990), and in the transcriptionally silent copy of parentally imprinted genes (Sasaki et al., 1992; Ferguson-Smith et al., 1993; Stoger et al., 1993). It is believed that methylation of these residues leads to gene silencing through heterochromatisation (Jones, 1996).

In recent years, inactivation of at least five tumour suppressor genes has been demonstrated to be due to de novo promoter methylation in both familial and sporadic cases of cancer. These include *RB1* in 15% of sporadic Retinoblastoma, (Sakai *et al.*, 1991), *VHL* in 20% of sporadic renal tumours (Herman *et al.*, 1994), and most recently p16 in a variety of sporadic human tumours (Merlo *et al.*, 1995, Herman *et al.*, 1995, Gonzalez-Zulueta, *et al.*, 1995). These studies have also shown that inactivation of these genes can occur through LOH of one allele coupled with methylation of the remaining allele. Cell culture studies have also demonstrated that E-cadherin and the oestrogen receptor genes are also transcriptionally silenced by *de novo* methylation in breast cancer cell lines (reviewed in Jones, 1996). There is also recent evidence demonstrating that methylation of the *BRCA1* promoter region occurs in sporadic breast cancer (Dobrovic and Simpfendofer, 1997).

Hypermethylation of a gene promoter region is depicted in Figure 4.2. As can be seen this *de novo* methylation results in gene silencing.

Contraction of Cancer - The Role Of Chromosome 153

Figure 4.2. Abnormal silencing of tumour suppressor genes (Jones and Gonzalgo, 1997). Circles represent CpG dinucleotides; open circles represent unmethylated cytosines; solid



circles represent methylated cytosines.

1011 on the long atth of chromosome 16 has been postulated to play an early role in the low hopment of breast cancer. Evidence for this comes from two main types of study, firstly projected data of turnours with few chromosomal aberrations, and secondly molecular publicly of 'early' breast cancer lesiont. for example non-mulignant lesions and in situ

### Evidenceic Evidence

The second secon

### 4.2 LOH In Breast Cancer - The Role Of Chromosome 16q

The polymorphic DNA markers used to analyse tumour and normal pairs can reveal any imbalance in parental alleles, that is they can detect loss of an allele as well as a gain in allele copy number. This suggests that not all differences in allele intensity are due to LOH. The term 'allelic imbalance' has been used to overcome this problem (Devilee and Cornelisse, 1990), but 'LOH' has traditionally been used to describe the differences in allele loss (Devilee and Cornelisse, 1994).

Our knowledge of LOH in breast cancer is predominantly due to three main studies which have carried out genome-wide analysis in over 400 breast tumours and identified consistent LOH on chromosomes 3p, 16q, and 17p in over 45% of informative cases (Larsson *et al.*, 1990; Sato *et al.*, 1990; Devilee *et al.*, 1991). Other researchers have focused on particular areas of specific chromosomes in which key regions of LOH have been identified (summarised in Table 1.9). The cumulative evidence highlights the complexity of chromosome involvement in breast cancer, given that half the cases studied showed LOH at more than 2 different chromosomes (Devilee *et al.*, 1994).

LOH on the long arm of chromosome 16 has been postulated to play an early role in the development of breast cancer. Evidence for this comes from two main types of study, firstly cytogenetic data of tumours with few chromosomal aberrations, and secondly molecular analysis of 'early' breast cancer lesions, for example non-malignant lesions and in situ carcinomas.

### **Cytogenetic Evidence**

In 1984, Rodgers *et al.*, described the first detailed cytogenetic study on direct preparations from primary breast carcinomas. The chromosome analysis was made from cell suspensions of the tumour material without any preceding cell culture, thereby excluding the secondary chromosome changes associated with prolonged cell culture. Cytogenetic banding techniques revealed extremely complex chromosome abnormalities in a high proportion of cases. The only chromosome feature common to all of the breast tumours was the presence of extra chromosomal material from 1q. However, monosomy or partial monosomy of chromosome 16 was observed in 6 of the 9 cases, including two cases with the simplest alterations. This was the first evidence that loss of regions of chromosome 16 could have a role in breast cancer.

In an attempt to differentiate primary chromosome abnormalities from secondary changes Hainsworth *et al.*, (1991) focused on tumours with diploid range karyotypes (32-57 chromosomes per cell). Of 4 such tumours, 3 displayed translocations with a 16q22 breakpoint. This was the first study to suggest that the 16q 21-24 segment might be of relevance for the initiation of malignant transformation in breast cancer. Among the non-diploid tumours in this study (which represent a later stage of tumour evolution) only one had a non-random rearrangement of chromosome 16 suggesting that the 16q21-24, important in early stages of breast carcinogenesis, may become submerged among the other abnormalities associated with tumour progression.

Analysis of another 20 cases of breast cancer with near-diploid karyotypes (Dutrillaux *et al.*, 1990) also demonstrated that rearrangements of chromosome 16, which principally led to loss of 16q, were frequent.

## **Molecular Studies**

In the near diploid tumours described above, almost all deletions and losses should lead to the loss of one of the two parental chromosomes or chromosome segments and therefore to loss of heterozygosity. In the late 1980s, molecular approaches were initiated to investigate the areas of loss uncovered by cytogenetic analysis. The polymorphic sites used to study LOH were RFLPs. As previously described in Chapter 1 (Section 1.5), this technique required large amounts of good quality DNA, thereby confining investigations to the larger invasive carcinomas. The advent of the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) enabled smaller quantities of starting material to be used. Moreover, DNA prepared from archival specimens of fixed tissue proved to be suitable template for the PCR. The molecular studies of chromosome 16q losses are described below.

## Analysis Of 'Early' Lesions'

Microdissection techniques designed to enrich samples for tumour cells, have recently been adapted to analyse lesions of non malignant and preinvasive disease. LOH on chromosome 16q has now been investigated in cases of DCIS, LCIS and atypical ductal hyperplasia. Stratton *et al.*, (1995) demonstrated LOH at a marker (D16S413) located at 16q24 in 40% of microdissected DCIS samples. Using the same microsatellite marker, Lakhani *et al.*, (1995a) identified 20% of 10 cases of pure LCIS cases with LOH. The same group demonstrated

LOH at D16S413 in 5 of 9 microdissected samples of atypical ductal hyperplasia (Lakhani et al., 1995b).

These studies complemented the existing cytogenetic evidence, and also lend further support to the theory that the putative tumour suppressor gene(s) residing on chromosome 16q are important in the early stages of breast carcinogenesis.

## **Distinct Regions Of LOH On Chromosome 16q**

In an effort to clone the putative tumour suppressor gene(s) on chromosome 16q, a number of groups have tried to localise, more accurately, the region commonly deleted on this chromosome arm (Figure 4.3). This was facilitated by the refinement of physical and genetic chromosome maps using a large number of novel polymorphic markers (Kozman *et al.*, 1993).

Tsuda *et al.*, (1994), detected a high frequency of LOH (49%) on 16q in predominantly invasive carcinomas. Of the tumours which showed LOH, 98% demonstrated loss in the 16q24.2 - qter region. Cleton-Jansen *et al.*, (1994) studied 79 invasive tumours using 20 polymorphic markers mapping to 16q. Only samples which contained greater than 50% tumours cells where analysed. Two regions involved in allelic loss on 16q were observed. One region at q24.3 and a second at q22.1. Dorion-Bonnet *et al.*, (1995), analysed 45 breast tumours with 11 microsatellites, and also found a high frequency of LOH at q22.1 region. The most recent study of LOH on 16q (analysing 210 breast carcinomas) has reiterated the presence of the q24.3 deleted region (Iida *et al.*, 1997). However, the q22 region of deletion identified by Iida *et al.*, (1997), does not correspond to the site defined by Cleton-Jansen *et al.*, (1994).

The only study to date to focus entirely on 16q in DCIS (Chen *et al.*, 1996) confirmed the presence of the two commonly deleted regions, similar to the invasive carcinoma studies. However, the highest frequency of LOH (77%) was present in a region between q23.1 and q24.1, a locus not previously reported.

q13 q21	Marker D16S400	Cler	ton-Jansen <i>et al</i> ., 1994	Skirnisdottir et al., 1995	Chen <i>et al.</i> , 1996 64% (7/11)
q22.1	D16S398 D16S421	E-cadherin	29% (16/56)	58% (35/60)	46% (13/28) 55% (12/22)
q22.2 q27.3	D16S260				50% (8/16)
q23.1 q23.2 q23.3	D16S289		37% (21/57)		
q24.1 q24.2 q24.3	D16S422 D16S402 D16S413	H-cadherin		45% (45/97) 46% (53/116)	48% (10/21) 74% (14/19) 37% (10/27)

# Figure 4.3. Chromosome 16q and LOH in breast cancer.

Representative studies which have analysed LOH in breast carcinomas with the markers used in this thesis (emboldened). Each marker is positioned beside its corresponding cytogenetic location. Percentages refer to the LOH at each particular marker for informative cases in brackets. Candidate tumour suppressor genes investigated in this thesis are also positioned on the map.

٠

# 4.3 Candidate Tumour Suppressor Genes On Chromosome 16q

# Chromosome 16q22.1

# E-Cadherin

Cadherins are calcium-dependent transmembrane glycoproteins which mediate cell-cell adhesion by binding to cadherin molecules of the same type on adjacent cells. E-cadherin is a 120kD transmembrane glycoprotein that mediates the adhesion of epithelial cells. The cytoplasmic portion of the molecule is linked via the catenins to the actin cytoskeleton (Cowin *et al.*, 1994), whereas the extracellular domain is involved in a molecular zipper mediating cell-cell adhesion (Shapiro *et al.*, 1995), illustrated in Figure 4.4.

A role for E-cadherin as a potential turnour suppressor protein was proposed following experiments which demonstrated that inhibition of E-cadherin function by specific antibodies or antisense mRNA, resulted in changes to cellular growth pattern with the acquisition of invasive potential in vitro (Behrens *et al.*, 1989). In contrast, the invasive potential was suppressed when cell lines were transfected with E-cadherin cDNA (Nagafuchi *et al.*, 1987). An in vitro model has shown that a cell without E-cadherin, or with dysfunctioning E-cadherin, is easily washed off a main turnour mass by lymphatic or venous shear forces (Byers *et al.*, 1995).

# Figure 4.4. Interaction of E-cadherin molecules (Adapted from Jiang, 1996) Extracellular domains (EC1-5) involved in homophilic binding of E-cadherin, and cytoplasmic portion (CP) interacting with $\alpha$ , $\beta$ , and $\gamma$ catenins and actin filaments (a).



## Expression Of E-cadherin In Breast Cancer

Immunohistochemical studies have demonstrated that the expression of E-cadherin is partially or totally lost in various human epithelial tumours (Birchmeier and Behrens, 1994). In breast carcinoma, reduced expression of E-cadherin is associated with invasiveness and loss of differentiation characteristics. Immunohistological studies have shown that approximately 50% of infiltrating ductal carcinomas show reduced E-cadherin expression, whereas reduced or negative expression is a uniform finding in infiltrating lobular carcinomas (Moll *et al.*, 1993; Oka *et al.*, 1993; Gamallo *et al.*, 1993; Palacios *et al.*, 1995; Siitonen *et al.*, 1996; Jones *et al.*, 1996).

Gupta, S.K., *et al.*, (1997) examined E-cadherin expression semi-quantitatively in 96 cases of pure DCIS, using an intensity distribution method. They demonstrated that well differentiated DCIS had significantly higher expression of E-cadherin than poorly differentiated tumours. This study was the first to suggest that progressive loss of E-cadherin may occur at an early stage of breast carcinoma development.

## Mutation Analysis Of E-cadherin.

The first investigation of E-cadherin mutation in breast tumours was conducted by Kanai et al., (1994). Focusing on the cadherin domain encoded by exons 5-8, they identified two infiltrating lobular carcinomas (10%) with an identical missense mutation, which was likely to abolish the adhesive function of the molecule. A similar study of 25 infiltrating ductal carcinomas failed to identify mutations in exons 6 to 9 (Kashiwaba et al., 1995). Berx et al., (1995a) performed an extensive mutation screen, combined with LOH analysis and immunohistochemistry, in 49 breast tumours (predominantly infiltrating ductal carcinomas). They identified four truncation mutations in infiltrating lobular carcinomas out of seven. Each of the tumours demonstrated LOH at the 16q22.1 chromosomal band and lacked Ecadherin expression. None of the infiltrating ductal carcinomas in this study demonstrated mutations. The same group then reported mutation analysis of a larger series of infiltrating lobular carcinomas (Berx et al., 1996). A further 23 (56%) of the infiltrating lobular carcinomas had mutations (predominantly nonsense mutations and frameshifts), the majority in combination with LOH of the wild-type locus. Consistent with these findings, Candidus et al., (1996) also described truncation mutations in infiltrating lobular carcinomas. However, this study also identified a point mutation in a infiltrating ductal carcinoma.

### De novo Methylation Of The E-cadherin Promoter

Accumulating evidence supports the hypothesis that *de novo* methylation (or hypermethylation) of CpG islands located in the 5' regulatory and proximal promoter regions causes transcriptional inactivation of tumour suppressor genes in human carcinomas (reviewed in Jones, 1996). GC-rich regions have recently been identified in the promoter region (Bussemakers *et al.*, 1994) and spanning intron 1 of the E-cadherin gene (Berx *et al.*, 1995a)

CpG methylation of the E-cadherin promoter has been demonstrated in many cancer cell lines (Yoshiura *et al.*, 1995), including breast cancer cell lines (Henning *et al.*, 1995; Graff *et al.*, 1995; Herman *et al.*, 1996). The study by Graff *et al.*, (1995) also examined primary tissue from breast tumours and normal breast samples and concluded that *de novo* methylation of the E-cadherin CpG island was tumour specific and not limited to cultured cancer cell lines. This study also demonstrated the direct involvement of *de novo* methylation in the suppression of E-cadherin gene expression. Treatment of E-cadherin gene expression.

## **P-Cadherin**

A cadherin first described in placental tissue (P-cadherin) has been shown to be present in the myoepithelium of normal breast (Shimoyama et al., 1989). The P-cadherin gene has been localised 32kb upstream of the E-cadherin gene, on 16q22.1 (Bussemakers et al., 1994), but the genomic organisation of this gene has not been described. Two studies have role of P-cadherin analysed the possible in breast carcinogenesis, using immunohistochemistry. Rasbridge et al., (1993) studied expression in a series of benign biopsies, DCIS, and cases of infiltrating ductal and lobular carcinoma. Staining was not observed in normal luminal or hyperplastic breast epithelium, but there was strong reactivity of myoepithelial cells. Only one tumour (an infiltrating lobular carcinoma) was P-cadherin positive. The remaining carcinomas did not express P-cadherin, although staining was observed in myoepithelial cells surrounding foci of carcinoma in situ.

Palacios *et al.*, (1995) investigated a larger group of infiltrating carcinomas. In most of the carcinomas analysed, staining for P-cadherin was observed in myoepithelial cells around areas of carcinoma in situ, or normal breast adjacent to the carcinoma, similar to the report

of Rasbridge *et al.*, (1993). However, 20% of the infiltrating ductal carcinomas also expressed P-cadherin. These tumours tended to be of high nuclear grade and negative for hormone receptors, suggesting that P-cadherin expression may identify a subset of infiltrating ductal carcinoma with a particularly poor prognosis.

## Chromosome 16q24.3-qter

## H-Cadherin

A novel member of the cadherin family was recently identified by subtractive hybridisation using normal mammary epithelial cells and mammary tumour cell lines (Lee, 1996). Hcadherin has been mapped to chromosome 16q24 by FISH analysis. The gene contains many of the motifs associated with cadherins, including an extracellular region containing several cadherin domains and a transmembrane domain. The absence of a cytoplasmic domain suggests that H-cadherin has a different regulatory pathway from E-cadherin. Introduction of H-cadherin cDNA into established breast cancer cell lines resulted in markedly decreased cell growth, and loss of anchorage independent growth in soft agar assays. In vitro invasion assays suggested that loss of H-cadherin may lead to an invasive phenotype in cancer cells. Immunohistochemistry of a small number of paraffin embedded tissues revealed H-cadherin expression is restricted to normal mammary epithelial cells and non-cancerous benign breast tissue. It was not detected in situ or invasive breast carcinomas. To date, mutation analysis of H-cadherin has not been reported.

### Aims Of This Chapter

The objectives of this part of the thesis were to determine if LOH of chromosome 16q occurs in cases of DCIS, mammographically detected impalpable early invasive carcinomas and tubular carcinomas by analysing microdissected tumour foci for allele loss in a panel of microsatellites: D16S400 (16q21), D16S289 (16q23.3), D16S402 (16q24.2), D16S3026 (16q24.3), and D16S413 (16q24.4). Cases which did demonstrate allele loss, could then be screened for alterations in candidate tumour suppressor genes by mutation analysis (E-cadherin) and by immunohistochemistry (E-cadherin, P-cadherin and H-cadherin).

The relationship between promoter methylation and silencing of E-cadherin gene expression was also investigated by using breast cancer cell line assays to detect aberrant methylation.

### 4. 4 Microdissection

The 'allelic imbalance' data presented in this chapter was predominantly loss rather than gain. The microdissection technique, used in Chapter 3, confirmed the reduction in allelic intensity in tumour compared to normal DNA.

For example, Figure 4.5 demonstrates how microdissection helped distinguish allele loss from gain. DNA was prepared from a complete tissue section for early invasive Case No.57, and analysed in parallel with corresponding normal DNA, at the D16S400 marker on chromosome 16q21. (Figure 4.5a). As can be seen there is a slight reduction in allele intensity when the larger allele in the tumour DNA is compared with the same allele in the normal DNA. However, when comparing the smaller alleles, the tumour DNA shows an increase in allele intensity compared to that of the normal. This might suggest that this tumour is undergoing allelic gain rather than allelic loss (LOH). However, microdissection of individual tumour foci from this case, and subsequent reanalysis at the same marker (Figure 4.5b), revealed that the larger allele was completely lost, confirming LOH.

## Figure 4.5. Analysis of allelic imbalance by microdissection.

Analysis of normal DNA (N), tumour DNA (T) and DNA template from three microdissected tumour foci (T1, T2, T3), from early invasive Case No.57, by PCR at the D16S400 marker, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography.

- (a) Gain in intensity of the smaller allele in tumour DNA (T), relative to the same allele in the normal DNA (N), as indicated by the arrow.
- (b) Complete loss of the larger allele in the microdissected tumour foci (T1, T2, T3) compared with the same allele in the normal (N), as indicated by the arrow.



## 4.5 Loss of Heterozygosity Analysis

### Fibroadenomas

In order to determine whether LOH on chromosome 16q was a genetic alteration associated with development of fibroadenomas, microdissected foci from 8 cases of fibroadenoma and one benign phyllodes tumour were analysed with the D16S400 marker. This marker was selected because it was highly informative, did not produce stutter bands which may mask allele loss, and it is located at q21 within a region of chromosome 16q which is know to undergo allelic loss in breast carcinomas.

In general, three distinct epithelial and three stromal components from each of the fibroadenomas and phyllodes tumour were separately microdissected and compared with normal ducts from adjacent surrounding tissue. For two of these cases, areas of ductal hyperplasia in the surrounding tissue were also examined.

Seven of the nine cases (78%) were heterozygous for the D16S400 marker. LOH was observed in 1 of 6 (17%) informative fibroadenomas, and the phyllodes tumour. However, LOH was not observed at all of the components. In Case No. 5 (phyllodes), LOH was observed in 2 of 3 stromal components but not in the epithelial components of the tumour (Figure 4.6a). In contrast, Case No.9 displayed LOH in 1 of 3 epithelial components but not in the stroma of this lesion (Figure 4.6b).

Figure 4.6. Loss of Heterozygosity analysis in fibroadenomas and a phyllodes tumour. Analysis of normal ducts (N), epithelial (E), and stromal components (S) by PCR, at the D16S400 marker, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. Arrows indicate alleles showing LOH. Case No. 5 (phyllodes) with LOH at S2 and S3, (b) Case No. 9, with LOH at E2.

(b) (a)E S S S E N N N Ε E S NNN

## DCIS

LOH analysis was conducted on 20 of the 23 DCIS cases which had previously been analysed for MI. LOH analysis was initially investigated using DNA prepared from whole tumour sections. However, using this approach, microsatellite alterations were not observed (data not shown). This was attributed to the masking of tumour specific alterations by the vast quantities of non-tumour cells present in the DCIS cases, as previously described for MI analysis (Chapter 3).

The analysis was repeated using DCIS samples which had been prepared by microdissection. In general, three individual non-contiguous foci from each case were compared with non-involved lymph node or surrounding breast tissue, using the D16S413 and D16S400 markers. The D16S400 marker was selected for the same reasons it was used in analysis of the fibroadenomas. The D16S413 marker was selected because it maps to 16q24.4, the second site of frequent deletion (as defined by Cleton-Jansen *et al.*, 1994).

LOH at one of the markers was documented in 10 of 20 DCIS cases. Five cases showed LOH at both loci. The D16S400 marker showed LOH in 8 of 12 (67%) informative cases. Seven of 14 (50%) cases showed LOH at the D16S413 marker. Representative examples of cases with LOH are illustrated in Figure 4.7 (a) and (b). The pathological characteristics of the DCIS cases displaying LOH are summarised in Table 4.1. Four cases were of high nuclear grade, three of intermediate grade, and three of low grade. There was no association between presence of LOH and grade of DCIS.

Intratumoural heterogeneity was observed in one case (5%). This was categorised by the loss of different alleles (of the D16S400 marker) in distinct ducts, and is illustrated in Figure 4.7 (c).

Analysis of adjacent morphologically normal ducts adjacent to areas of in situ carcinoma was not performed.

Figure 4.7. Representative examples of LOH in DCIS.

Analysis of normal (N) and microdissected ducts (T1, T2, T3) by PCR at D16S413. followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. (a) Case No. 16 showing LOH in all ducts, and (b) Case No. 5 with LOH in ducts T1 and T2, but with retention of heterozygosity in T3. Arrows indicate alleles showing LOH.



(c) Intratumoural heterogeneity in DCIS.

Analysis of normal (N) and microdissected ducts (T1, T2, T3), from Case No. 19 by PCR, at the D16S400 marker. The T1 shows reduction in intensity of the upper allele, whereas T3 shows reduction in intensity of lower allele, compared with the normal sample. Arrows indicate the heterozygous alleles in the normal sample.



Case No.	Grade	D16S400	D16S413
1	High	0	NI
2	High	•	•
3	Low	•	•
4	Low	NI	NI
5	High	NI	•
6	High	0	0
7	High	•	•
8	Low	NI	NI
9	Inter.	•	NI
10	Inter.	•	•
11	High	NI	0
12	High	NI	NI
13	High	NI	0
14	High	NI	NI
15	Inter.	•	•
16	High	NI	•
17	High	MI	MI
18	Low	0	0
19	Low	•	0
20	Low	•	0

Table 4.1. Pathological and Loss of Heterozygosity data for DCIS cases

 $\bigcirc$  indicates allele retention,  $\bigcirc$  is LOH, and NI is non informative (homozygous), MI is microsatellite instability

## **Early Invasive Carcinomas**

Loss of heterozygosity analysis in this group was initially performed on DNA prepared from whole tumour sections. The D16S400 (q21), D16S289 (q23.3), D16S402 (q24.2), D16S413 (q24.4) microsatellites were analysed in each of the 30 carcinomas and corresponding normal tissues from non-involved lymph nodes. Due to paucity of tissue the D16S3026 (q24.3) marker was only analysed in 10 of the cases.

This analysis identified 13 (43%) cases with allelic imbalance for at least one marker, two of which were interpreted as allelic gain rather than loss. For the cases which demonstrated loss, the reduction in intensity was never greater than approximately 50%, as determined by visual inspection.

Individual foci from each of the cases were microdissected to confirm the initial result and to investigate the presence of intratumoural heterogeneity. All of the cases which demonstrated partial reduction in allele intensity were confirmed as allelic loss (LOH) using the template DNA prepared by microdissection. The cases with possible allelic gain were also were subsequently demonstrated to show LOH (as demonstrated in Section 4.5).

Alleic heterogeneity was not observed. In a small number of cases a weak normal allele was sometimes seen, for example, Figure 4.8a. This may reflect the presence of non-malignant cells within the microdissected invasive foci.

The highest frequency of LOH (50%) was observed at the D16S3026 marker at q24.3, however there were only 4 informative cases, two of which demonstrated LOH. The D16S400 marker at q22.1 showed 40% LOH. The frequency of LOH at the other q24 markers was approximately 35%, as summarised in Table 4.2. The LOH frequencies are summarised in Table 4.2, and the cumulative LOH analysis for each case is depicted in Table 4.3.

Figure 4.8. Loss of Heterozygosity analysis in invasive carcinomas.

Analysis of normal DNA (N), DNA template from three microdissected tumour foci (T1, T2, T3) by PCR followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. Arrows indicate alleles showing LOH. (a) Case No. 21 at the D16S400 marker, (b) Case No.45 at the D16S413 marker.

(b)

(a)

🕽 indualez referition 🔍 is lost of best zivo e 🖄 t is het-upermitter.

dependent of the accouncility bunchlity,

Marker	Cases Analysed	Informative Cases	LOH Cases
D16S400	30	20/30 (67%)	8/20 (40%)
D16S289	27	23/27 (85%)	4/25 (16%)
D16S402	20	15/20 (75%)	7/20 (35%)
D16S3026	10	4/10 (40%)	2/4 (50%)
D16S413	29	25/29 (86%)	9/25 (36%)

Table 4.2 Summary of Loss of Heterozygosity data for invasive carcinomas

Table 4.3. Loss of Heterozygosity data in early invasive carcinomas

Case	D16S400	D16S289	D16S402	D16S3026	D16S413
No.					
1	0	Ο	ND	ND	ND
3	0	О	О	ND	Ο
5	MI	MI	MI	ND	MI
7	0	Ο	0	ND	0
9	0	0	0	ND	О
11	0	Ο	О	ND	<b>O</b>
13	0	О	0	ND	Ο
15	0	0	Ο	ND	0
17	О	NI		ND	0
19		Ο	ND	NI	
21			NI	NI	
23	NI	О		NI	
25	0	ND	ND	ND	О
27	NI	Ο	NI	ND	Ο
29	Ο	О	ND	ND	0
31	0	О	0	ND	0
33	$\bullet$	Ο			Ο
35	NI	ND	0	ND	Ο
37	NI	0	ND	NI	
39		О	ND	NI	
41	NI	0		ND	Ο
43		О	Ο	ND	
45		$\bullet$		0	О
47	NI	0	ND	ND	
49		NI		0	
51	0	0	ND	ND	NI
53	NI				
55	MI	NI	MI	ND	MI
57			ND	ND	
59		ND	ND	0	

 $\bigcirc$  indicates retention,  $\bigcirc$  is loss of heterozygosity, NI is non-informative, ND is not determined, MI is microsatellite instability,

# **Tubular Carcinomas**

In general, three distinct tubular components from each of the 13 tubular carcinomas were separately microdissected and compared with non-involved lymph node from the same patient. For two of the cases, foci of DCIS were microdissected and examined. Another case contained an area of LCIS which was also examined for LOH. The D16S413 and D16S289 markers were analysed in each of the foci.

The D16S289 marker showed LOH in 4 of 10 (40%) informative cases. Five of 9 (55%) cases showed LOH at the D16S413 marker (Table 4.4). LOH was not observed in any of the in situ foci associated with tubular carcinomas, and all invasive foci showed loss of the same allele, thereby ruling out allelic heterogeneity (Figure 4.9).

Table 4.4. Loss of Heterozygosity in tubular carcinomas and associated areas of in situ carcinoma.

Case No.	D16S289	D16S413
1		•
2	О	О
2 (DCIS)	О	О
3	•	•
4	•	•
5	NI	О
5 (DCIS)	NI	О
6	О	NI
7	•	•
8	NI	О
9	О	•
10	О	О
11	О	NI
12	NI	NI
13	О	NI
13 (LCIS)	О	MI

Figure 4.9. Loss of Heterozygosity in tubular carcinomas.

Analysis of normal (N), and microdissected tubular foci (T1, T2, T3), by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography. Arrow indicates allele showing LOH

(a) Analysis of the D16S289 marker, in Case No.1 with LOH at T1

(b) Analysis of the D16S413 marker, in Case No. 9 with LOH in the foci T1 and T3 foci.

(a)

(b)



the majority of cases studied the parafilit embedded tissue blocks represented the only

**Excluterio Mutation Analysis** 

Contractions of the DCIS cases, were further analysed for mutations in exons 5 - 9 of the Esection of the DCIS cases, were further analysed for mutations in exons 5 - 9 of the Esector in gene. For the remaining cases there was insufficient tissue to perform SSCP analysis, and there cases were nequenced directly (as described later in this section). The optimum SSCP confirmed for each even were identified by electrophorening PCR products from enumericanity (kindly provided by Dr. Anne-Mario Cleton-Jansen and detailed in Table 2.3).

a constant due conty in and a CIS cases did not reveal any mobility shifts in the models of bacters contistly. Representative examples of SACP analysis and subsequent DNA constants of bacters of an Figure 4.10.

which important the basis performed on the cases which overe excluded from SNCP analysis proton of parameters of manas. Case No.57 from the early invasive group showed extra bands at which, the configuration of which is an administration in the position 657 of the gene. No other the transmission and the stations is an administration of the continuit flat alternation. Analysis of the

# 4.6 Analysis Of Candidate Tumour Suppressor Genes

The experimental strategy adopted was to analyse each of the candidate genes, by a combination of approaches, in the tumours which demonstrated LOH at one or more loci on chromosome 16q. The analysis was confined to the early invasive carcinomas and the DCIS cases.

The approaches adopted depended on how well the gene had been characterised. For Ecadherin, the genomic structure of the intron-exon borders was available, thereby facilitating mutation screening and DNA sequencing of exons encoding key regions of the gene.

For H-cadherin and P-cadherin, the analysis was limited to immunohistochemistry. At present the only antibodies available are those described in the original publications. The H-cadherin clone has been shown to react with fixed tissues (Lee, 1996). The P-cadherin antibody has only been tested on frozen section to date (Palacios *et al.*, 1995).

For the majority of cases studied the paraffin embedded tissue blocks represented the only source of material available for analysis. '

## **E-cadherin Mutation Analysis**

LOH analysis identified 13 early invasive carcinomas and 9 DCIS cases with LOH at one or more markers on chromosome 16q. Microdissected foci from 9 of the 13 invasive carcinomas, and 8 of 9 of the DCIS cases, were further analysed for mutations in exons 5 - 9 of the Ecadherin gene. For the remaining cases there was insufficient tissue to perform SSCP analysis, and these cases were sequenced directly (as described later in this section). The optimum SSCP conditions for each exon were identified by electrophoresing PCR products from mutant controls (kindly provided by Dr. Anne-Marie Cleton-Jansen and detailed in Table 2.3) on different concentrations of non-denaturing (MDE) gels.

Analysis of the early invasive and DCIS cases did not reveal any mobility shifts in the presence of known controls. Representative examples of SSCP analysis and subsequent DNA sequence analysis are illustrated in Figure 4.10.

DNA sequence analysis was performed on the cases which were excluded from SSCP analysis because of paucity of tissue. Case No.57 from the early invasive group showed extra bands at exon 7, the strongest of which is an adenine at amino acid position 857 of the gene. No other tissue was available to repeat the analysis in order to confirm this alteration. Analysis of the

corresponding normal DNA for this case, showed wild-type sequence suggesting that the putative alteration was a tumour-specific change. A number of the controls used in the SSCP analysis were also sequenced to confirm the observed mobility shifts. Representative examples of DNA sequencing are illustrated in Figure 4.11.

In light of the publications describing a high incidence of E-cadherin mutations in infiltrating lobular carcinomas, 10 infiltrating lobular carcinomas were selected from the files and analysed at two exons (7 and 8). Each of these cases had previously been shown to be negative for E-cadherin protein expression, as determined by immunohistochemistry (Jones J. L *et al.*, 1996). However, no alterations were observed at the exons studied during SSCP analysis (data not shown).

Figure 4.10. SSCP analysis in early invasive carcinomas and DCIS cases.

Analysis of normal (N), microdissected tumour foci (T1, T2, T3), and mutant controls (P), by PCR, followed by electrophoresis on 0.6xMDE non-denaturing gels and autoradiography. Arrows indicate altered mobility shifts.

- (a) Exon 6 analysis of early invasive carcinoma Case Nos. 21 and 33, and positive control (BT1004 deletion of 17bp).
- (b) Exon 7 analysis of DCIS Case Nos. 7 and 10, and positive control (BT1172 insertion of 5bp).
- (c) Exon 9 analysis of early invasive carcinoma Case Nos. 49 and 53, and positive control (BT995A deletion of 1bp).



Figure 4.11. DNA sequence analysis of E-cadherin gene.

Sequence analysis of PCR products, followed by electrophoresis on 6% denaturing gels and autoradiography.

- (a) Exon 7 sequence analysis of early invasive Case No. 57 with possible 1bp insertion restricted to tumour DNA.
- (b) Exon 9 sequence analysis of BT995A with 1bp deletion, and wild-type sequence from early invasive Case No. 21.



(a)



Tumour

/g

g

t

g

(b)



Wild-Type

Mutant

GATC

### E-cadherin Immunohistochemistry

E-cadherin protein expression was examined by immunohistochemistry. The pre-treatment protocol for E-cadherin immunohistochemical analysis had previously been optimised by Sheila Dearing. All of the early invasive carcinomas (carried out by Sheila Dearing) and cases of DCIS were examined for E-cadherin expression.

Evaluation of protein expression was confirmed by Dr. R. A. Walker. No reactivity was observed in 5 of 23 DCIS cases, and maybe associated with fixation problems, since this was for both normal and tumour. Reactivity of the DCIS was compared to that seen in normal breast tissue in the same section, in relation to presence and intensity (Figure 4.12a). Two cases of DCIS (Nos. 9 and 13) showed complete loss of E-cadherin reactivity in involved ducts, but had normal membranous staining of normal ducts within the same tissue section (Figure 4.12b). A third case of DCIS (No. 5) showed heterogenous staining of involved ducts (some ducts positive and some negative) and strong reactivity of adjacent normal and hyperplastic ducts. Case No.14 showed a decrease of E-cadherin in ducts, in approximately 50% of the section. The immunoreactivity for E-caderhin is summarised in relation to the chromosome 16q LOH data for each of the case in Table 4.5. In general, LOH does correlate with a decrease or absence of E-cadherin protein reactivity. Case Nos. 9 and 14 were non-informative for both of the markers. However, Case Nos. 13 and 5 both demonstrated LOH at the D16S400 and D16S413 markers.

A higher proportion (11 of 30) of the early invasive carcinomas failed to show any reactivity. Reactivity of the carcinoma cells was evaluated by comparing foci throughout the tissue section. Three cases (Nos. 3, 27, and 29) showed no staining in the carcinoma cells. Comparison of LOH data with expression data (Table 4.6) demonstrated that each of these cases retained all chromosome 16q markers tested. A representative example of E-cadherin immunoreactivity is illustrated in Figure 4.12 (c).

Taken together the data suggest that decrease in E-cadherin protein expression may be occurring via a mechanism which does not involve loss of regions of chromosome 16q, as detailed in Section 4.8.

Figure 4.12. E-cadherin immunohistochemistry.

(a) DCIS case No. 3. Normal breast, hyperplastic and DCIS showing E-cadherin membrane reactivity. This case retained heterozygosity at the D16S400 and D16S413 markers.



(b) DCIS case No.5. Normal breast showing E-cadherin membrane staining, whereas adjacent DCIS does not show labelling. This case demonstrated LOH at D16S413 marker, but was non-informative for the D16S400 marker.



(c) Early invasive Case No. 33. Normal breast (lower left hand side) showing labelling for Ecadherin. Adjacent tumour cells also show labelling but more variable. This case demonstrated LOH at the D16S400 and D16S402 markers.



less should be the second difference of the being the second second second second second second second second s

the selection being of the lange of the selection wanting and is available to be available to be available to b

The second s

No.	Grade	D16S400	D16S413	E-cadherin immunohistochemical data
1	High	О	NI	Normal: pos. DCIS: pos (cyto and memb)
2	High	•	•	Normal: weak/patchy DCIS: weak/patchy
3	Low	•		Normal/Hyperplasia: strong memb. DCIS: het+/-
4	Low	NI	NI	Normal: weak, DCIS: weak
5	High	NI	•	Normal: pos, DCIS: neg
6	High	О	0	DCIS: clear memb
7	High	•	•	Normal: pos, DCIS: neg
8	Low	NI	NI	Normal: pos, DCIS: pos
9	Inter.		NI	Excluded
10	Inter.	•		Normal: variable, DCIS: variable
11	High	NI	0	Normal: strong, DCIS: weak
12	High	NI	NI	Het. memb staining
13	High	NI	0	DCIS: weak (but no loss)
14	High	NI	NI	Normal: strong, DCIS: strong
15	Inter.			DCIS: weak, clear memb
16	High	NI	•	DCIS: clear memb
17	High	MI	MI	No staining in section
18	Low	О	0	Normal: strong, DCIS: strong except some ducts
19	Low	•	Ο	DCIS: weak (cyto and memb)
20	Low	•	О	Memb staining of all ducts
21	Low	ND	ND	No staining in section
22	Low	ND	ND	No staining in section
23	Low	ND	ND	No staining in section

Table 4.5. LOH and E-cadherin immunohistochemical data in DCIS cases.

 $\bigcirc$  indicates retention,  $\bullet$  is loss of heterozygosity, NI is non-informative, ND is not determined, MI is microsatellite instability, Inter., is intermediate grade.

Het. indicates heterogeneous staining, memb, is membranous staining, cyto, is cytoplasmic staining, pos, is positive, and neg, is negative
No.	D16S400	D16S289	D16S402	D16S3026	D16S413	E-cadherin immunohistochemical data
1	О	О	ND	ND	ND	No staining in section
3	О	О	О	ND	О	No staining in tumour
5	MI	MI	MI	ND	MI	Cytoplasmic and membrane staining
7	0	О	0	ND	О	No staining in section
9	0	0	0	ND	О	Het. cytoplasmic staining >50% reactivity
11	О	0	0	ND	0	No staining in section
13	0	0	0	ND	0	Het. membrane staining (>50% reactivity)
15	О	0	0	ND	0	Membrane staining
17	0	NI	•	ND	0	No staining in section
19	•	0	ND	NI	•	Het. normal staining (Weak cyto. <50%)
21	•	•	NI	NI	•	Het. membrane staining
23	NI	0	•	NI	•	Het. membrane staining (>50% reactivity)
25	О	ND	ND	ND	0	Het. membrane staining (<50% reactivity)
27	NI	0	NI	ND	0	No staining in tumour
29	О	0	ND	ND	0	No staining in tumour
31	О	0	О	ND	0	Membrane staining
33	•	0	•	•	0	Cytoplasmic and membrane staining
35	NI	ND	О	ND	0	No staining in section
37	NI	0	ND	NI	•	No staining in section
39	•	0	ND	NI	•	No staining in section
41	NI	0	•	ND	0	No staining in section
43	•	0	0	ND	•	No staining in section
45	•	•	•	О	0	Membrane staining
47	NI	О	ND	ND	•	No staining in section
49		NI	•	0	•	Membrane staining
51	О	О	ND	ND	NI	No staining in section
53	NI	•	•	•	•	No staining in section
55	MI	NI	MI	ND	MI	Het. cytoplasmic staining of tumour (<50%)
57	•	•	ND	ND	•	Homogen. cytoplasmic staining of tumour
59		ND	ND	О		No tumour cells remaining

Table 4.6. LOH and E-cadherin immunohistochemical data in invasive carcinomas

 $\bigcirc$  indicates retention,  $\bullet$  is loss of heterozygosity, NI is non-informative, ND is not determined, MI is microsatellite instability.

Het. indicates heterogeneous staining, Homog. is homogeneous staining.

## **H-cadherin**

The strategy for H-cadherin analysis was to characterise reactivity of this protein in the cases previously analysed for LOH with chromosome 16q markers, so that correlations between expression levels and LOH could be attempted.

Immunohistochemistry was attempted with polyclonal H-cadherin antibodies (kindly provided by Dr Sam Lee). This antibody had previously been tested on sections of paraffin embedded breast tissues and shown to be present in the membrane of normal and benign ducts but absent from in situ and infiltrating carcinomas (Lee, 1996).

Tissue sections of DCIS containing adjacent normal breast tissue were tested with dilutions ranging from neat to 1:100. However reactivity was not observed. The same dilution range was applied to tissue sections which had been pre-treated by pressure cooking and protease digestion, but this also failed to produce reactivity. Frozen sections of normal breast tissue were then tested and reactivity was observed. Using a 1:10 dilution of the H-cadherin antibody, reactivity was only observed in the breast myoepithelial cells surrounding medium sized ducts, as determined by Dr. R.A Walker, and illustrated in Figure 4.13 (a).

In order to further characterise the putative myoepithelial expression of H-cadherin, immunofluorescence microscopy was performed on purified populations of breast myoepithelial cells (kindly provided by Dr. Louise Jones) stained with a range of antibody dilutions. Peripheral reactivity was observed (Figure 4.13b). The immunofluorescence experiments were carried out in the presence of antibodies raised against specific myoepithelial-specific proteins (Cytokeratin 14 and P-cadherin, the latter demonstrated below).

There was insufficient antibody to perform Western blot analysis.

Figure 4.13. H-cadherin immunohistochemistry.

(a) High power view of normal breast duct (frozen section) showing staining of elongated cells around periphery of duct in position of myoepithelial cells.



(b) Confocal microscopic analysis of H-cadherin in isolated myoepithelial cells showing membrane localisation.



## **P-cadherin**

The strategy for analysing P-cadherin was similar to that for H-cadherin. The P-cadherin antibody (NCC-CAD-299) although demonstrated to be reactive on frozen tissue in a number of studies (Shimoyama *et al.*, 1989; Rasbridge *et al.*, 1993; Palacios *et al.*, 1995), had not previously been tested on paraffin embedded tissue sections. The antibody has been demonstrated to react with breast myoepithelial cells (Shimoyama *et al.*, 1989; Rasbridge *et al.*, 1993) and some infiltrating ductal carcinoma cells (Palacios *et al.*, 1995). Basal keratinocytes and sweat glands of the skin are a positive control for P-cadherin expression (Shimoyama *et al.*, 1989), as illustrated in Figure 4.14 (a).

Reactivity of breast myoepithelial cells were observed by immunohistochemistry using an undiluted stock of this antibody on frozen sections of DCIS and surrounding normal breast tissue, as illustrated in Figure 4.14 (b) and (c). In order to determine whether this antibody would be reactive on formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissue, a section of skin from a reduction mammoplasty was fixed and processed as described in Section 2.2. Tissue sections from the embedded block of skin were then pre-treated by protease digestion and pressure cooking prior to immunohistochemistry with an undiluted aliquot of P-cadherin antibody. However, no reactivity was observed.

Immunofluorescence studies on purified myoepithelial cells with this antibody confirmed the myoepithelial expression observed in the sections of frozen tissue, as illustrated in Figure 4.14 (d).

Figure 4.14. P-cadherin immunohistochemistry.

(a) Skin. Two eccrine glands in frozen section of skin showing strong staining predominantly of outer layer (myoepithelium)



(b) Normal breast. Duct from frozen section showing labelling of peripheral cells with elongation - myoepithelia.





(c) DCIS. Labelling of cells around periphery of DCIS - myoepithelia.

(d) Confocal microscopic analysis of purified myoepithelial cells showing membrane localisation for P-cadherin. Density is residual bead from purification procedure.



# 4.7 Methylation Analysis

Recent evidence has suggested that de novo methylation of promoter regions may lead to transcriptional silencing of tumour suppressor genes, including the E-cadherin genes (Section 2.1). This was investigated in breast cancer cell lines with well established E-cadherin expression profiles. The long term aim of this project was to develop a technique that would be applicable to fixed tissues.

The experimental strategy involved two approaches, the development of a PCR-based methylation assay, and the recently described method of methylation-specific PCR (MS-PCR).

## **PCR-Based Methylation Assay**

The MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 (231) breast cancer cell lines had previously been demonstrated to be positive and negative for E-cadherin expression, by immunohistochemistry, respectively (personal communication, Louise Jones). Studies using Southern blotting have demonstrated that this is in fact due to aberrant methylation of the E-cadherin promoter region (Graff *et al.*, 1995). The 231 cell line is methylated at regions within the E-cadherin promoter region, whereas the MCF-7 cell line is unmethylated

This PCR-based methylation assay relied on the inability of particular methylation sensitive restriction enzymes (for example *Hpa*II) to digest DNA specifically at methylated bases in the promoter region of the E-cadherin gene. Following digestion, the DNA is PCR amplified with primers flanking the restriction site, as illustrated in Figure 4.15 and Appendix I.

Figure 4.15. Schematic Of PCR-based Methylation Assay.

DNA from 231 (E-cadherin negative) and MCF-7 (E-cadherin positive) is digested with the methylation-sensitive HpaII enzyme. The enzyme does not restrict methylated DNA (231) but does restrict unmethylated DNA (MCF-7). Following PCR amplification with primers flanking the restriction sites, only the DNA from the 231 cell line produces a product.



The presence of methylated regions is detected by the lack of an amplifiable PCR product. Therefore it essential to include a positive control for PCR amplification. The exon 9 primer was selected as a positive control for amplification because it does not contain *Hpa*II sites, and was sufficiently different in size to allow resolution of both products (promoter region and exon 9) on agarose gels.

Genomic DNA prepared from 231 cell line digested (with *Hpa*II) and undigested was amplified with both sets of primers in a multiplex PCR. This led to amplification of promoter and exon 9 products from *Hpa*II-digested and undigested DNA, as illustrated in Figure 4.16 (a). This was an expected result for DNA with methylated bases within the promoter region.

The experiments with DNA prepared from the MCF-7 cell line were conducted in the presence of radio-isotope to improve the sensitivity of detection. In order to determine the optimum number of cycles for the assay, a cycle titration curve was set up. This involved removing aliquots from the amplification reaction at 26, 29, 32, and 35 cycles and electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gels (Figure 4.16b).

Digestion of MCF-7 DNA with *Hpa*II and subsequent amplification with the promoter and exon 9 primers led to the amplification of the exon 9 product only. However, the titre experiment detected amplification products above 32 cycles in *Hpa*II digested DNA, suggesting that at this cycle number incompletely digested DNA could be lead to the amplification of a PCR product, as illustrated in Figure 4.16 (b).

Experiments were then planned to determine the effect of the fixation process on the digestibility of DNA with the *Hpa*II enzymes. However, at this time, another technique became available which offered more scope for application to fixed tissues, as described below.

Figure 4.16. PCR-based Methylation Assay

- (a) Undigested (U) and HpaII digested DNA samples (D) from the 231 cell line were amplified with exon 9 primers (9), promoter-specific primers (P) and a combination of both sets (9+P). PCR products were electrophoresed on 4% agarose gels alongside φX174/HaeII molecular weight markers. Sizes are indicated in base pairs.
- (b) Titration experiment with undigested and HpaII digested DNA from MCF-7 cell line, and undigested tonsil DNA, amplified with exon 9, promoter-specific, and both sets of primers. Aliquots were removed at the cycle number indicated and electrophoresed on 6% denaturing polyacrylamide gels followed by autoradiography. Negative control (N) without DNA was amplified for 35 cycles.



(a)



*(b)* 

### **Methylation Specific-PCR**

This recently described technique relies on the ability of sodium bisulphite to convert cytosine to uracil. Methylated cytosines are not converted to uracil and remain as cytosine as described in Section 2.1. and depicted in Figure 4.17. The DNA sequence changes that result from the bisulphite conversion allow the design of PCR primers which distinguish methylated from unmethylated DNA, thereby producing a positive display for methylated regions. This technique has recently been applied to the analysis of methylation in the E-cadherin gene (Herman *et al.*, 1996). They confirmed, using MS-PCR, that DNA from MCF-7 cells showed no evidence of methylation, and that DNA from 231 cells displayed prominent methylation in the E-cadherin promoter region.

### Figure 4.17. Bisulphite conversion and MS-PCR (Adapted from Clark et al., 1994).

Two complementary strands of DNA. Cytosine residues are converted to uracil residues whereas as methylated cytosines (mC) remain as cytosine. This allows design of primers which specifically recognise methylated and unmethylated regions of DNA. The two DNA strands are no longer complementary and therefore can be amplified independently.

The protocol described by Herman *et al.*, (1996) was initially attempted but failed to produce PCR products. An earlier publication suggested shearing the DNA or digesting it with a



The protocol described by Herman *et al.* (1996) was initially attempted but failed to produce PCR products. An earlier publication suggested shearing the DNA or digesting it with a restriction enzyme prior to bisulphite conversion, improved the efficiency of conversion (Clark *et al.*, 1994). The DNA was restricted with *Eco*RI which does not cleave within the E-cadherin promoter region. This led to the amplification of MS-PCR products. The 231 cell lines only amplified a product with primers designed to detected methylated regions, whereas the MCF-7 cells produced a product with primers designed for unmethylated DNA, as illustrated in Figure 4.18.

### Figure 4.18. Methylation-Specific PCR (MS-PCR)

Bisulphite treated DNA from the MCF-7 cell line was PCR amplified with primers which were designed to amplify unmethylated (U) and methylated DNA (M), followed by electrophoresis along side an M13 DNA sequence ladder. The arrow indicated the 93bp product obtained with the unmethylated specific primers.



in the second particle is the second se

## 4.8 Loss of Heterozygosity

#### **Technical Difficulties**

Characterisation of LOH and MI in the same cases can be difficult to interpret. MI is characterised by alteration to the size of alleles, whereas LOH is defined by loss of an allele. It is possible that a tumour with MI may have an allele alteration to the position of the other allele which could be interpreted as LOH. The data from Chapter 3 suggested that MI<sup>+</sup> cases had alterations of both DM-1 alleles and subsequently other alleles. Alterations of the 16q microsatellite markers in all MI<sup>-</sup> cases and those with alterations to a single DM-1 allele were described as LOH.

A proportion of the microdissected tumour foci from each of the carcinoma study groups failed to produce amplification products at some loci but not at others. Each locus was analysed separately, so it is possible that sampling errors may have occurred, for example, the omission of template in some reactions. It is also possible that absence of PCR products is a result of homozygous deletion of the marker under investigation. This is difficult to analyse because it results in a 'negative' result. However, this may be worthy of further investigation, and could be conducted in the presence of a positive control with a defined homozygous mutation at 16q, for example the SK-BR-3 breast cancer cell line (Pierceall *et al.*, 1995).

#### Fibroadenomas

The low frequency of LOH (17%) at chromosome 16q21 observed in the fibroadenomas, suggests that loss of this region may not be an important genetic alteration in the development of fibroadenomas. A frequency of LOH between 10 and 15% is considered to reflect a 'background' level, of random genetic alteration (Orphanos *et al.*, 1995). The identification of LOH in 2 of 3 stromal components, and retention of the locus in both epithelial components, in the single phyllodes tumour may be worthy of further investigation since phyllodes tumours have been shown to be a neoplasm of stromal cells with the potential to behave in a malignant fashion. Analysis of 50 fibroadenomas and 8 phyllodes tumours (Lizard-Nacol *et al.*, 1995) failed to demonstrate any genetic alterations, either LOH (at loci on chromosomes 1p, 3p, 7q, 11p, 17p, 17q, and 18q), or gene amplification (with probes for c-*myc*, cyclin D1 and c-*erb*B-2). However, these investigators analysed DNA from complete fibroadenoma and phyllodes specimens, and compared polymorphisms with DNA prepared from leukocytes of the same patients, which might not be sufficiently sensitive to detect alterations.

#### DCIS

LOH at the chromosome 16q markers was observed in a high proportion of the cases. The frequencies of LOH were 67% for the D16S400 marker and 50% for the D16S413 marker. These markers have been used in a number of other studies that have investigated LOH in cases of pure DCIS. In general the frequency of LOH at the D16S413 marker is higher than observed in previous studies (21% (4/19), Radford et al., (1995), 28% (11/39) Stratton et al., (1995), 25% (5/20) Aldaz et al., (1995) and, 37% (14/19) Chen et al., (1996)). The reasons for the observed higher frequency are unlikely to reflect differences in preparation of tumour material, because all of the studies have used similar microdissection protocols. It may simply be due to differences in sample size. It is possible that the cases in this thesis are displaying different patterns of LOH than those in the other published studies. This is supported by the data presented by Chen et al., (1996), who observed different patterns of LOH. Approximately one third of their cases displayed large terminal deletions or recombinations involving most or all of the whole chromosome 16q arm, whereas the remaining two thirds of LOH cases appeared to be mostly the result of interstitial deletions or more complex recombination events. Whether this is the case in tumours presented in this thesis could only be proved by examining an extended panel of flanking markers in these cases.

Chen *et al.*, (1996) also analysed the D16S400 marker and demonstrated 64% LOH (7/11), which is comparable to the observed frequency of 67% (8/12) in this study and confirms that this locus is commonly deleted in cases of DCIS.

In contrast to MI (Chapter 3), there was no association between LOH at chromosome 16q and histological grade of DCIS. The frequency in low grade cases was not significantly different from the frequency in high grade DCIS. This has also been observed by Chen *et al.*, (1996). Fujii *et al.*, (1995b) examined LOH at 10 chromosomal regions and demonstrated that for each of the regions, with the exception of 16q, there was a significantly greater frequency of LOH in high and intermediate grade than in the low grade DCIS.

Intratumoural heterogeneity, with respect to LOH, was observed in one case. This has not been observed previously (Radford *et al.*, (1995), Stratton *et al.*, (1995), Aldaz *et al.*, (1995) or Chen *et al.*, (1996)). However, in each of the aforementioned investigations it was not clear how many individual ducts from each case were examined. It is possible that the occurrence of heterogeneity could not be investigated because only a single duct was examined. In

contrast, Fujii *et al.*, (1996b) analysed up to eight individual involved ducts and observed heterogeneity of a chromosome 16q marker in 1 of 19 cases showing LOH.

#### **Early Invasive Carcinomas**

LOH in the early invasive group was conducted with five markers. The frequencies of LOH detected ranged from 40% at q22.1 (D16S400), 16% at q23.2 (D16S289) to 35-50% at the q24 markers (D16S402, D16S3026, D16S413). Comparison of LOH frequencies between different studies is not feasible because of the variety of carcinomas studied. It is however possible to compare patterns of LOH between studies. Approximately half of the early invasive cases showed LOH confined to the q24 markers, whereas the remainder showed complex patterns of LOH, which might suggest interstitial deletions and recombination events. A recent investigation has proposed that LOH of 16q in vivo is primarily due to mitotic recombination (Gupta, P.W., *et al.*, 1997).

The highest frequency of LOH detected in this study was at the q24 and the q22.1 regions. However, because only one marker, mapping between these regions, was studied it is not possible to confirm that these regions are two independent sites of LOH as proposed by Cleton-Jansen *et al.*, (1994).

The microdissection analyses of distinct tumour foci proved beneficial. Distinguishing between allelic gain and loss was difficult without this. The subsequent demonstration of LOH in these cases is consistent with previous cytogenetic data (Hainsworth *et al.*, 1991) and the recent data provided by comparative genomic hybridisation analysis (James *et al.*, 1997) which has not demonstrated gains on the long arm of chromosome 16.

Intratumoural heterogeneity was not observed in any of the early invasive carcinomas cases. However, analysis of multiple foci did reveal foci with incomplete allele loss. This may have been due to the presence of non-neoplastic stromal cells in the microdissected invasive cancer, In contrast this was generally not observed in the DCIS cases were there were fewer non-neoplastic cells and where it was easier to identify individual ducts. Stratton *et al.*, (1995), have calculated that the presence of more than 20 percent of non-neoplastic cells in invasive breast cancer makes LOH difficult to detect by PCR of microsatellite repeats.

## **Tubular Carcinomas**

The frequency of LOH in this group was higher than in the early invasive group, with 40% LOH at the D16S289 marker and 55% LOH at the D16S413 marker. A recent investigation of LOH in tubular carcinomas (Mau *et al.*, 1996) has demonstrated 40% LOH at a marker mapping to 16q24.2 (D16S402).

## Overall

The overall findings indicate that LOH of chromosome 16q was common in all of the malignant lesions, but was not identified at a significant frequency in benign fibroadenomas, which will not progress to malignancy.

The frequency of LOH did vary between the groups of carcinomas, with the highest frequency observed in the DCIS cases. However, this is difficult to interpret because of differences in sample size. In contrast to MI, there was no association with grade of DCIS. It has been proposed that high and low grade DCIS proceed along different pathways of breast cancer development (Walker, 1997). The finding of relative equal frequency of 16q LOH in high and non-high grade DCIS suggest that ducts with this alteration are unlikely to diverge along any one particular pathway, which is different to that observed by MI analysis.

## 4. 9 Analysis Of Candidate Genes

The loss of heterozygosity data provided the cases which would be investigated for alterations in candidate tumour suppressor genes mapping to chromosome 16q.

## **E-cadherin**

The SSCP assay used has been demonstrated to be sensitive for the detection of a single base pair mutation. However, no evidence of alterations was found. This suggests that each of the early invasive and DCIS cases demonstrating LOH at markers on chromosome 16q did not contain mutations in the exons 5 to 9 of the E-cadherin gene. DCIS cases have not previously been investigated for mutations of E-cadherin. However, the data from the early invasive carcinomas is consistent with previous studies which have demonstrated low frequencies of mutations in infiltrating ductal carcinomas (Kanai *et al.*, 1994; Berx *et al.*, 1995b; Berx *et al.*, 1996; Candidus *et al.*, 1996). These same studies have demonstrated that approximately half of all infiltrating lobular carcinomas, examined to date, contain mutations in this gene. Data from the literature suggests that the mutations are not confined to the functionally important

domains of the gene, but are scattered over all 16 exons. It is therefore possible that the DCIS cases and invasive carcinomas are mutated in exons other than those investigated. The recently described multiplex-SSCP technique (Berx *et al.*, 1997) would greatly improve the efficiency of detection of alterations.

Direct sequence analysis did produce a putative tumour-specific alteration in one infiltrating ductal carcinoma at exon 7. However, this could not be confirmed due to paucity of tissue available for study. The additional bands did not produce an 'overlap' between wild-type and mutant sequence as would be expected from a true insertion of one base pair. This alteration is therefore likely to have resulted from a DNA sequencing artefact, for example 'pausing' of the polymerase. Interestingly, this case was the only one to demonstrate homogeneous cytoplasmic reactivity of E-cadherin as demonstrated by immunohistochemistry. The significance of the change from membraneous to cytoplasmic reactivity is not clear at present but may be due to altered cadherin-catenin interactions (Jones *et al.*, 1996).

The immunohistochemical analysis of all the DCIS and invasive carcinomas provided an estimate of qualitative E-cadherin protein expression. This uncovered a number of cases which seem to have lost expression of the protein whilst retaining chromosome 16 markers flanking the E-cadherin locus. This provided preliminary evidence for an alternative mechanism of inactivation for this gene, for example aberrant methylation of the E-cadherin promoter regions.

The association between methylation and E-cadherin gene inactivation had been previously demonstrated in culture (Graff *et al.*, 1995) and was investigated during this thesis using two different approaches. In the first approach, a PCR-based methylation assay was modified to enable application to microdissected tumour foci. However, the difficulties encountered with the technique made it apparent that the technique would only produce reliable results with intact DNA, because it depends upon complete digestion of DNA. The bisulphite approach developed by Herman *et al.*, (1996) has much more potential for application to fixed tissue. Establishing the methylation status of the breast cancer cell lines was important since it will provide controls for further investigations. In particular it will be important to determine whether the fixation process will effect the bisulphite conversion process. This can be addressed by fixing cells from the MCF-7 and 231 cell lines in formalin and processing through to wax, and repeating the MS-PCR procedure along side freshly prepared DNA from these lines.

### H-cadherin and P-cadherin

H-cadherin was proposed as a candidate tumour suppressor gene in breast cancer primarily on the evidence that expression of the protein, while present in normal and benign tissues was not present in DCIS and invasive carcinomas, as determined by immunohistochemistry with an anti-H-cadherin antibody (Lee, 1996). The immunofluorescence and immunohistological data presented in this thesis, using the same antibody clone, would suggest that H-cadherin protein may be expressed in breast myoepithelial cells. This would in part explain the immunohistological observations of Lee (1996), since myoepithelial cells are not present in invasive carcinomas. However, this does not explain the absence of expression in DCIS, where they can be around ducts, that was observed by Lee (1996).

There are a number of lines of evidence to suggest that myoepithelial specific genes may play tumour suppressive roles in cancer. In particular, these cells have been proposed to act as a host defence mechanism against cancer development (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997). Removal of myoepithelial cells from surrounding epithelial cells is unlikely to be achieved even with laser capture techniques and therefore it will be difficult to analyse P-cadherin and H-cadherin with respect to allele loss and mutation analysis. Further investigations should focus on how the expression of H-cadherin and P-cadherin contribute to the host-defence mechanism proposed for the myoepithelial cells.

### 4.8 Loss of Heterozygosity

#### **Technical Difficulties**

Characterisation of LOH and MI in the same cases can be difficult to interpret. MI is characterised by alteration to the size of alleles, whereas LOH is defined by loss of an allele. It is possible that a tumour with MI may have an allele alteration to the position of the other allele which could be interpreted as LOH. The data from Chapter 3 suggested that MI<sup>+</sup> cases had alterations of both DM-1 alleles and subsequently other alleles. Alterations of the 16q microsatellite markers in all MI<sup>-</sup> cases and those with alterations to a single DM-1 allele were described as LOH.

A proportion of the microdissected tumour foci from each of the carcinoma study groups failed to produce amplification products at some loci but not at others. Each locus was analysed separately, so it is possible that sampling errors may have occurred, for example, the omission of template in some reactions. It is also possible that absence of PCR products is a result of homozygous deletion of the marker under investigation. This is difficult to analyse because it results in a 'negative' result. However, this may be worthy of further investigation, and could be conducted in the presence of a positive control with a defined homozygous mutation at 16q, for example the SK-BR-3 breast cancer cell line (Pierceall *et al.*, 1995).

## Fibroadenomas

The low frequency of LOH (17%) at chromosome 16q21 observed in the fibroadenomas, suggests that loss of this region may not an important genetic alteration in the development of fibroadenomas. A frequency of LOH between 15 and 20% is considered to reflect a 'background' level, of random genetic alteration. The identification of LOH in 2 of 3 stromal components, and retention of the locus in both epithelial components, in the single phyllodes tumour may be worthy of further investigation since phyllodes tumours have been shown to be a neoplasm of stromal cells with the potential to behave in a malignant fashion. Analysis of 50 fibroadenomas and 8 phyllodes tumours (Lizard-Nacol *et al.*, 1995) failed to demonstrate any genetic alterations, either LOH (at loci on chromosomes 1p, 3p, 7q, 11p, 17p, 17q, and 18q), or gene amplification (with probes for c-*myc*, cyclin D1 and c-*erb*B-2). However, these investigators analysed DNA from complete fibroadenoma and phyllodes specimens, and

compared polymorphisms with DNA prepared from leukocytes of the same patients, which might not be sufficiently sensitive to detect alterations.

## DCIS

LOH at the chromosome 16q markers was observed in a high proportion of the cases. The frequencies of LOH were 67% for the D16S400 marker and 50% for the D16S413 marker. These markers have been used in a number of other studies that have investigated LOH in cases of pure DCIS. In general the frequency of LOH at the D16S413 marker is higher than observed in previous studies (21% (4/19), Radford et al., (1995), 28% (11/39) Stratton et al., (1995), 25% (5/20) Aldaz et al., (1995) and, 37% (14/19) Chen et al., (1996)). The reasons for the observed higher frequency are unlikely to reflect differences in preparation of tumour material, because all of the studies have used similar microdissection protocols. It may simply be due to differences in sample size. It is possible that the cases in this thesis are displaying different patterns of LOH than those in the other published studies. This is supported by the data presented by Chen et al., (1996), who observed different patterns of LOH. Approximately one third of their cases displayed large terminal deletions or recombinations involving most or all of the whole chromosome 16q arm, whereas the remaining two thirds of LOH cases appeared to be mostly the result of interstitial deletions or more complex recombination events. Whether this is the case in tumours presented in this thesis could only be proved by examining an extended panel of flanking markers in these cases.

Chen *et al.*, (1996) also analysed the D16S400 marker and demonstrated 64% LOH (7/11), which is comparable to the observed frequency of 67% (8/12) in this study and confirms that this locus is commonly deleted in cases of DCIS.

In contrast to MI (Chapter 3), there was no association between LOH at chromosome 16q and histological grade of DCIS. The frequency in low grade cases was not significantly different from the frequency in high grade DCIS. This has also been observed by Chen *et al.*, (1996). Fujii *et al.*, (1995b) examined LOH at 10 chromosomal regions and demonstrated that for each of the regions, with the exception of 16q, there was a significantly greater frequency of LOH in high and intermediate grade than in the low grade DCIS.

Intratumoural heterogeneity, with respect to LOH, was observed in one case. This has not been observed previously (Radford *et al.*, (1995), Stratton *et al.*, (1995), Aldaz *et al.*, (1995) or Chen *et al.*, (1996)). However, in each of the aforementioned investigations it was not clear

how many individual ducts from each case were examined. It is possible that the occurrence of heterogeneity could not be investigated because only a single duct was examined. In contrast, Fujii *et al.*, (1996b) analysed up to eight individual involved ducts and observed heterogeneity of a chromosome 16q marker in 1 of 19 cases showing LOH.

#### **Early Invasive Carcinomas**

LOH in the early invasive group was conducted with five markers. The frequencies of LOH detected ranged from 40% at q22.1 (D16S400), 16% at q23.2 (D16S289) to 35-50% at the q24 markers (D16S402, D16S3026, D16S413). Comparison of LOH frequencies between different studies is not feasible because of the variety of carcinomas studied. It is however possible to compare patterns of LOH between studies. Approximately half of the early invasive cases showed LOH confined to the q24 markers, whereas the remainder showed complex patterns of LOH, which might suggest interstitial deletions and recombination events. A recent investigation has proposed that LOH of 16q in vivo is primarily due to mitotic recombination (Gupta, P.W., *et al.*, 1997).

The highest frequency of LOH detected in this study was at the q24 and the q22.1 regions. However, because only one marker, mapping between these regions, was studied it is not possible to confirm that these regions are two independent sites of LOH as proposed by Cleton-Jansen *et al.*, (1994).

The microdissection analyses of distinct tumour foci proved beneficial. Distinguishing between allelic gain and loss was difficult without this. The subsequent demonstration of LOH in these cases is consistent with previous cytogenetic data (Hainsworth *et al.*, 1991) and the recent data provided by comparative genomic hybridisation analysis (James *et al.*, 1997) which has not demonstrated gains on the long arm of chromosome 16.

Intratumoural heterogeneity was not observed in any of the early invasive carcinomas cases. However, analysis of multiple foci did reveal foci with incomplete allele loss. This may have been due to the presence of non-neoplastic stromal cells in the microdissected invasive cancer, In contrast this was generally not observed in the DCIS cases were there were fewer non-neoplastic cells and where it was easier to identify individual ducts. Stratton *et al.*, (1995), have calculated that the presence of more than 20 percent of non-neoplastic cells in invasive breast cancer makes LOH difficult to detect by PCR of microsatellite repeats.

## **Tubular Carcinomas**

The frequency of LOH in this group was higher than in the early invasive group, with 40% LOH at the D16S289 marker and 55% LOH at the D16S413 marker. A recent investigation of LOH in tubular carcinomas (Man *et al.*, 1996) has demonstrated 40% LOH at a marker mapping to 16q24.2 (D16S402).

## Overall

The overall findings indicate that LOH of chromosome 16q was common in all of the malignant lesions, but was not identified at a significant frequency in benign fibroadenomas, which will not progress to malignancy.

The frequency of LOH did vary between the groups of carcinomas, with the highest frequency observed in the DCIS cases. However, this is difficult to interpret because of differences in sample size. In contrast to MI, there was no association with grade of DCIS. It has been proposed that high and low grade DCIS proceed along different pathways of breast cancer development (Walker, 1997). The finding of relative equal frequency of 16q LOH in high and non-high grade DCIS suggest that ducts with this alteration are unlikely to diverge along any one particular pathway, which is different to that observed by MI analysis.

## 4. 9 Analysis Of Candidate Genes

The loss of heterozygosity data provided the cases which would be investigated for alterations in candidate tumour suppressor genes mapping to chromosome 16q.

## **E-cadherin**

The SSCP assay used has been demonstrated to be sensitive for the detection of a single base pair mutation. However, no evidence of alterations was found. This suggests that each of the early invasive and DCIS cases demonstrating LOH at markers on chromosome 16q did not contain mutations in the exons 5 to 9 of the E-cadherin gene. DCIS cases have not previously been investigated for mutations of E-cadherin. However, the data from the early invasive carcinomas is consistent with previous studies which have demonstrated low frequencies of mutations in infiltrating ductal carcinomas (Kanai *et al.*, 1994; Berx *et al.*, 1995; Berx *et al.*, 1996; Candidus *et al.*, 1996). These same studies have demonstrated that approximately half of all infiltrating lobular carcinomas, examined to date, contain mutations in this gene. Data from the literature suggests that the mutations are not confined to the functionally important

domains of the gene, but are scattered over all 16 exons. It is therefore possible that the DCIS cases and invasive carcinomas are mutated in exons other than those investigated. The recently described multiplex-SSCP technique (Berx *et al.*, 1997) would greatly improve the efficiency of detection of alterations.

Direct sequence analysis did produce a putative tumour-specific alteration in one infiltrating ductal carcinoma at exon 7. However, this could not be confirmed due to paucity of tissue available for study. It may have resulted from a DNA sequencing artefact, for example 'pausing' of the polymerase. However, a number of samples set up in parallel on tissue of the same type, and analysed under the same electrophoretic conditions, did not display this alteration.

The putative change introduced by the 1bp insertion would lead to a premature stop codon and hence a truncated transcript. This could not be confirmed by RT-PCR because of the inability to obtain reliable yields of mRNA from fixed tissue. However, it is possible that the truncation would affect the cellular localisation of this product. Interestingly, this case was the only one to demonstrate homogeneous cytoplasmic reactivity of E-cadherin as demonstrated by immunohistochemistry. The significance of the change from membraneous to cytoplasmic reactivity is not clear at present but may be due to altered cadherin-catenin interactions (Jones *et al.*, 1996).

The immunohistochemical analysis of all the DCIS and invasive carcinomas provided an estimate of qualitative E-cadherin protein expression. This uncovered a number of cases which seem to have lost expression of the protein whilst retaining chromosome 16 markers flanking the E-cadherin locus. This provided preliminary evidence for an alternative mechanism of inactivation for this gene, for example aberrant methylation of the E-cadherin promoter regions.

The association between methylation and E-cadherin gene inactivation had been previously demonstrated in culture (Graff *et al.*, 1995) and was investigated during this thesis using two different approaches. In the first approach, a PCR-based methylation assay was modified to enable application to microdissected tumour foci. However, the difficulties encountered with the technique made it apparent that the technique would only produce reliable results with intact DNA, because it depends upon complete digestion of DNA. The bisulphite approach developed by Herman *et al.*, (1996) has much more potential for application to fixed tissue. Establishing the methylation status of the breast cancer cell lines was important since it will

provide controls for further investigations. In particular it will be important to determine whether the fixation process will effect the bisulphite conversion process. This can be addressed by fixing cells from the MCF-7 and 231 cell lines in formalin and processing through to wax, and repeating the MS-PCR procedure along side freshly prepared DNA from these lines.

#### **H-cadherin and P-cadherin**

H-cadherin was proposed as a candidate tumour suppressor gene in breast cancer primarily on the evidence that expression of the protein, while present in normal and benign tissues was not present in DCIS and invasive carcinomas, as determined by immunohistochemistry with an anti-H-cadherin antibody (Lee, 1996). The immunofluorescence and immunohistological data presented in this thesis, using the same antibody clone, would suggest that H-cadherin protein may be expressed in breast myoepithelial cells. This would in part explain the immunohistological observations of Lee (1996), since myoepithelial cells are not present in invasive carcinomas. However, this does not explain the absence of expression in DCIS, where they can be around ducts, that was observed by Lee (1996).

There are a number of lines of evidence to suggest that myoepithelial specific genes may play tumour suppressive roles in cancer. In particular, these cells have been proposed to act as a host defence mechanism against cancer development (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997). Removal of myoepithelial cells from surrounding epithelial cells is unlikely to be achieved even with laser capture techniques and therefore it will be difficult to analyse P-cadherin and H-cadherin with respect to allele loss and mutation analysis. Further investigations should focus on how the expression of H-cadherin and P-cadherin contribute to the host-defence mechanism proposed for the myoepithelial cells.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Studies

## **5.1 Conclusions**

### Microdissection

Breast carcinomas have long been recognised as heterogeneous in their biological and clinical behaviour. The development of microdissection of different tissue components within breast cancers has enabled the analysis of heterogeneity at the molecular level. This has been particularly important in the study of DCIS. By analysing multiple involved ducts it was possible to compare genetic differences between ducts from the same case. The differences observed between ducts, for certain genetic alterations, may suggest that DCIS is composed of distinct populations of genetically divergent clones. The technique has also allowed comparison of DCIS and invasive components of the same carcinoma, and similarly different types of differentiation. The significance of this will be discussed later.

The microdissection technique was initially adopted to enable enrichment of tumour cells and thus identify tumour-specific alterations which may be masked by analysis of samples composed of large amounts of non-malignant tissue. Whilst this was critical for the analysis of DCIS, it seems less so for invasive carcinomas. However, it has been empirically determined that even a small proportion of non-neoplastic cells (20%) can lead to misinterpretation of LOH (Stratton *et al.*, 1995). Therefore it is still important to enrich samples for tumour cells by microdissection. This does have some associated advantages.

Analysing DNA template from whole tumour sections can be associated with problems of LOH interpretation. For example a difference in allele intensity between a tumour and normal sample can be interpreted as allelic gain as well as loss. As demonstrated in this thesis, the analysis of template from microdissected tumour foci can greatly clarify this interpretation.

#### **Microsatellite Instability**

The identification of MI in breast cancer remains a controversial issue. The data presented here suggests that  $MI^+$  breast tumours do not have targeting of the same cancer-associated loci (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII*, *IGFIIR*, *Bax* and *E2F-4*) that have been characterised in colorectal tumours with this phenotype. The preliminary immunohistochemical data suggests that altered expression of three of the mismatch repair proteins (MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2) is also not associated with MI<sup>+</sup> in breast cancer. This questions the significance of the instability in breast cancer. Analysis of other cancer-associated genes that contain repeat motifs, targets

for slippage-induced mutations (for example the oestrogen receptor gene), and other candidate DNA repair loci (for example MSH3) is needed to clarify the role of  $MI^+$  in breast cancer.

Further evidence for different features of MI in breast comes with the association with high nuclear grade in DCIS. This is in contrast to colorectal carcinomas where  $MI^+$  is associated with less aggressive features and overall better survival rates than  $MI^-$  patients.

A greater understanding of the significance of MI in breast cancer is likely to come when a set of criteria for analysis have been established. Only then can inter-study comparisons be made. The panel of microsatellites investigated should include at least one of the long mononucleotide markers, in particular BAT26. Alterations, specifically contractions of this repeat, have been indicative of the MI<sup>+</sup> phenotype in over 90% of colorectal cancers (Hoang *et al.*, 1997). A range of dinucleotides will also be important, particularly those mapping to regions not associated with allele loss in breast cancers. Finally, in light of the finding of high incidence of alterations at the DM-1 locus which have been presented in this thesis, it will be important to establish whether this is also a feature of symptomatic and more advanced breast carcinomas.

The instability exclusively at the DM-1 marker is distinct from the widespread instability associated with MI<sup>+</sup>. This has also been demonstrated by others (Wooster *et al.*, 1994) and may have implications for the role of DMPK in breast cancer development. Immunohistochemistry with an anti-DMPK antibody on a panel of breast carcinomas and normal breast tissues would give an insight into the expression levels and cellular localisation of this protein. The relationship between trinucleotide repeat length and expression levels of this gene, can be addressed using RT-PCR of DMPK transcripts in breast cancer cell lines which have different length DM-1 alleles, for example MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 (data not shown).

#### LOH

The identification of LOH on chromosome 16q21-24.4 has been demonstrated to be a frequent event in all the carcinomas examined. It is not possible to determine whether there were significant differences of LOH frequency between each of the types of carcinoma because of the differences in the number of cases studied and the markers analysed.

However, in light of the high frequency of LOH at the DCIS stage it would suggest that this alteration is indeed an early event in the progression of the disease.

The identity of the putative tumour suppressor gene(s) mapping to chromosome 16q remains unknown. It seems likely that the E-cadherin gene is not the proposed tumour suppressor gene, at least in infiltrating ductal carcinoma. This contrasts with the infiltrating lobular carcinomas, where inactivating mutations have been described in 56% of carcinomas studied (Berx *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, 90% of infiltrating lobular carcinomas with LOH at markers on 16q22.1 have been demonstrated to have E-cadherin mutations. It is conceivable that a high proportion of the lobular carcinomas, not demonstrating LOH within the vicinity of the E-cadherin genomic locus, will have reduced or absent E-cadherin expression as a consequence of promoter methylation.

The developmental experiments presented in this thesis suggest that the MS-PCR protocol represents a more suitable approach to studying promoter methylation in fixed tissues, than techniques which rely upon the inability of methylation specific to cleave specific methylated sites. Herman *et al.*, (1996) demonstrated that MS-PCR could be applied to fixed tissues, so it is likely that tumour foci showing absence of E-cadherin reactivity, as determined by immunohistochemistry in this thesis, could be analysed with respect to methylation status of the E-cadherin gene.

The immunological data presented for the H-cadherin protein have added to the understanding of how this novel protein may relate to the development of breast cancer. The initial report describing the cloning of this gene (Lee, 1996) proposed a tumour suppressor role for H-cadherin, primarily on the basis that there was a lack of expression in DCIS and invasive carcinoma whilst normal/benign tissues expressed the protein. If H-cadherin expression is genuinely confined to myoepithelial cells then this would explain the lack of expression in invasive carcinomas, since this cell type is not present in invasive carcinomas. An extended analysis with DCIS cases would clarify the myoepithelial expression of H-cadherin.

Key tumour suppressor candidate genes will emerge following collaborative LOH mapping, refinement of the smallest region of overlap (SRO) and large scale genomic sequencing. It is also possible that the location of the proposed gene(s) will be further refined by linkage analysis in breast cancer families which show genetic linkage to this chromosomal region (Hall *et al.*, 1990).

## **Breast Cancer Development**

The main aim of this thesis was to study key genetic alteration in specific tumour types with the view to defining possible pathways of breast cancer development. The results from the 16q LOH analysis suggest that this type of alteration is common to all the tumour lesions analysed, and interestingly is not associated with grade of DCIS. In contrast the MI analysis has provided circumstantial evidence that low grade DCIS may progress to well to moderately differentiated invasive carcinomas. Of interest is the lack of instability in tubular carcinomas and tubular components within invasive carcinomas, suggesting that an inverse relationship with good structural differentiation.

The finding of a high frequency of MI in high grade DCIS, and the existing data regarding association between MI and aggressive features in invasive carcinomas (Paulson *et al.*, 1996; De Marchis *et al.*, 1997) suggests that high grade DCIS may progress to poorly differentiated, high grade, invasive carcinomas. Whether this is independent of other genetic alterations for example c-erbB-2 amplification remains to be classified. Additional evidence for this proposed pathway of breast cancer development could be provided by analysing an extended group of high grade DCIS and high grade poorly associated invasive carcinomas. The hypothetical pathways described here are represented in the scheme proposed by Walker (1997), Figure 5.1.

It would have been of interest, and relevance, to analyse 'at risk' lesions whose role in breast cancer development is still uncertain, for example the atypical ductal hyperplasias and lobular carcinoma in situ. The one example of the latter studied did show instability of D16S413. Obtaining tissue showing these alterations without associated malignancy is difficult but investigation of this would be of value.

Figure 5.1. Possible pathways of breast cancer progression with respect to microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity at 16q.

A high frequency of MI in high grade DCIS may suggest progression to high grade invasive carcinoma, whereas, a low frequency of MI in low grade DCIS and well to moderately differentiated invasive carcinomas may suggest a common pathway. LOH at 16q is common to each of the divergent pathways



## **5.2 Future Approaches**

## **DM-1 and DMPK In Breast Cancer**

Although there is a wealth of clinicopathological information available from archival tissues, the techniques which can be applied to these tissue types are limited to PCR-based approaches and immunohistochemistry. However, those cases in which a diagnosis is made preoperatively the tumour can be bisected, and one half is fixed and processed to wax, whereas the other half is snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. This enables histological evaluation in sections prepared from paraffin-embedded tissue. These can then be microdissected and analysed with markers, for example DM-1. Any alterations that are documented between different tumour foci can then be further analysed by microdissection of the corresponding region in the frozen tissue, thereby allowing analysis of mRNA. It may therefore be possible to determine whether alterations in the length of the DM-1 repeat are correlated with an alteration in expression levels of DMPK mRNA, using a quantitative RT-PCR protocol which has been optimised for use with small amounts of starting material (Bicknell *et al.*, 1996).

An important question to address is the function, if any, of DMPK in breast cancer development. Sequence analysis has revealed homology between DMPK and members of a subfamily of serine/threonine protein kinases, which are closely related to cyclic AMP-dependant protein kinases. Members of this family are present in a diverse variety of organisms. The greatest amino acid sequence similarities exist within the catalytic domains of the WARTS (*wts*) gene in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Justice *et al.*, 1995)

Studies of *wts* indicates a role in cell differentiation and proliferation. Homozygous *wts* clones develop prominent outgrowths on the adult cell body, resulting from increased proliferation of the *wts* cells (Justice *et al.*, 1995). This indicates that *wts* has tumour suppressive functions. In myotonic dystrophy (DM) the presence of neural-crest derived tumours and small bowel carcinomas in some patients may reflect DMPKs role as a tumour suppressor gene.

Testing the tumour suppressive role of DMPK in breast cancer could be performed in culture using antisense techniques in cell culture. The human mammary epithelial cells (HMECs) represent a well studied immortalised 'non-tumourigenic' cell line. By transfecting an antisense DMPK construct into HMECs and breast cancer cell lines it will be

possible to assess the effects of transiently 'knocking-out' this gene. Assays which detect differences in cell doubling time, contact inhibition, and anchorage dependence can then be performed to determine whether decrease in DMPK expression leads to an increased growth and invasive capacity, as a prelude to the acquisition of a tumourigenic phenotype.

### LOH And Tumour Suppressor Genes

Although LOH is considered as the hallmark of tumour suppressor gene inactivation, there is no functional evidence to suggest that regions of chromosome 16q encode a tumour suppressor gene important in the development of breast cancer. Introduction of individual normal chromosomes in cancer cells by the process of microcell fusion-mediated transfer (MCMT) represents an alternative approach for the identification of chromosomes which contain tumour suppressor genes (Trent *et al.*, 1990). If chromosome 16q does contain a tumour suppressor gene (other than E-cadherin) then introduction of chromosome 16q into tumourigenic breast cancer cell lines should result in the generation of sublines with a suppressed phenotype. Structural analysis of the 16q segments retained in these hybrid sublines and non-suppressor gene(s).

#### **Breast Cancer Development**

The development of the laser capture microdissection technique (Emmet-Buck *et al.*, 1996) has greatly improved the accuracy and efficiency of procuring DNA template from small foci of tumour cells. The technique has the added advantage of being able to yield high quality RNA from frozen specimens. This allows the construction of short stretches of cDNA or expressed sequence tags (ESTs) for each area analysed. The Cancer Genome Anatomy Project has amalgamated these two techniques and has begun to comprehensively characterise different lesions in a number of cancers.

Analysis of the various histological subtypes including normal breast, atypical hyperplasia, pure DCIS, DCIS with associated invasion, and invasive carcinoma, using these approaches will provide a wealth of information regarding the pattern of gene expression at each stage of the hypothetical progression of the disease. This will hopefully lead to the delineation of individual pathways of development with the identification of key genetic alterations for each stage in the natural history of the disease.

### 5.1 Conclusions

#### Microdissection

Breast carcinomas have long been recognised as heterogeneous in their biological and clinical behaviour. The development of microdissection of different tissue components within breast cancers has enabled the analysis of heterogeneity at the molecular level. This has been particularly important in the study of DCIS. By analysing multiple involved ducts it was possible to compare genetic differences between ducts from the same case. The differences observed between ducts, for certain genetic alterations, may suggest that DCIS is composed of distinct populations of genetically divergent clones. The technique has also allowed comparison of DCIS and invasive components of the same carcinoma, and similarly different types of differentiation. The significance of this will be discussed later.

The microdissection technique was initially adopted to enable enrichment of tumour cells and thus identify tumour-specific alterations which may be masked by analysis of samples composed of large amounts of non-malignant tissue. Whilst this was critical for the analysis of DCIS, it seems less so for invasive carcinomas. However, it has been empirically determined that even a small proportion of tumour cells (20%) can lead to misinterpretation of LOH (Stratton *et al.*, 1995). Therefore it is still important to enrich samples for tumour cells by microdissection. This does have some associated advantages.

Analysing DNA template from whole tumour sections can be associated with problems of LOH interpretation. For example a difference in allele intensity between a tumour and normal sample can be interpreted as allelic gain aswell as loss. As demonstrated in this thesis, the analysis of template from microdissected tumour foci can greatly clarify this interpretation.

### **Microsatellite Instability**

The identification of MI in breast cancer remains a controversial issue. The data presented here suggests that  $MI^+$  breast tumours do not have targeting of the same cancer-associated loci (*TGF* $\beta$ *RII*, *IGFIIR*, *Bax* and *E2F-4*) that have been characterised in colorectal tumours with this phenotype. The preliminary immunohistochemical data suggests that altered expression of three of the mismatch repair proteins (MSH2, MLH1, and PMS2) is also not associated with MI<sup>+</sup> in breast cancer. This questions the significance of the instability in breast cancer. Analysis of other cancer-associated genes that contain repeat motifs, targets

for slippage-induced mutations (for example the oestrogen receptor gene), and other candidate DNA repair loci (for example MSH3) is needed to clarify the role of  $MI^+$  in breast cancer.

Further evidence for different features of MI in breast comes with the association with high nuclear grade in DCIS. This is in contrast to colorectal carcinomas where MI<sup>+</sup> is associated with less aggressive features and overall better survival rates than MI<sup>-</sup> patients.

A greater understanding of the significance of MI in breast cancer is likely to come when a set of criteria for analysis have been established. Only then can inter-study comparisons be made. The panel of microsatellites investigated should include at least one of the long mononucleotide markers, in particular BAT26. Alterations, specifically contractions of this repeat, have been indicative of the  $MI^+$  phenotype in over 90% of colorectal cancers (Hoang *et al.*, 1997). A range of dinucleotides will also be important, particularly those mapping to regions not associated with allele loss in breast cancers. Finally, in light of the finding of high incidence of alterations at the DM-1 locus which have been presented in this thesis, it will be important to establish whether this is also a feature of symptomatic and more advanced breast carcinomas.

The instability exclusively at the DM-1 marker is distinct from the widespread instability associated with MI<sup>+</sup>. This has also been demonstrated by others (Wooster *et al.*, 1994) and may have implications for the role of DMPK in breast cancer development. Immunohistochemistry with an anti-DMPK antibody on a panel of breast carcinomas and normal breast tissues would give an insight into the expression levels and cellular localisation of this protein. The relationship between trinucleotide repeat length and expression levels of this gene, can be addressed using RT-PCR of DMPK transcripts in breast cancer cell lines which have different length DM-1 alleles, for example MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 (data not shown).

#### LOH

The identification of LOH on chromosome 16q21-24.4 has been demonstrated to be a frequent event in all the carcinomas examined. It is not possible to determine whether there were significant differences of LOH frequency between each of the types of carcinoma because of the differences in the number of cases studied and the markers analysed.

However, in light of the high frequency of LOH at the DCIS stage it would suggest that this alteration is indeed an early event in the progression of the disease.

The identity of the putative tumour suppressor gene(s) mapping to chromosome 16q remains unknown. It seems likely that the E-cadherin gene is not the proposed tumour suppressor gene, at least in infiltrating ductal carcinoma. This contrasts with the infiltrating lobular carcinomas, where inactivating mutations have been described in 56% of carcinomas studied (Berx *et al.*, 1996b). Moreover, 90% of infiltrating lobular carcinomas with LOH at markers on 16q22.1 have been demonstrated to have E-cadherin mutations. It is conceivable that a high proportion of the lobular carcinomas, not demonstrating LOH within the vicinity of the E-cadherin genomic locus, will have reduced or absent E-cadherin expression as a consequence of promoter methylation.

The developmental experiments presented in this thesis suggest that the MS-PCR protocol represents a more suitable approach to studying promoter methylation in fixed tissues, than techniques which rely upon the inability of methylation specific to cleave specific methylated sites. Herman *et al.*, (1996) demonstrated that MS-PCR could be applied to fixed tissues, so it is likely that tumour foci showing absence of E-cadherin reactivity, as determined by immunohistochemistry in this thesis, could be analysed with respect yo methylation status of the E-cadherin gene.

The immunological data presented for the H-cadherin protein have added to the understanding of how this novel protein may relate to the development of breast cancer. The initial report describing the cloning of this gene (Lee, 1996) proposed a tumour suppressor role for H-cadherin, primarily on the basis that there was a lack of expression in DCIS and invasive carcinoma whilst normal/benign tissues expressed the protein. If H-cadherin expression is genuinely confined to myoepithelial cells then this would explain the lack of expression in invasive carcinomas, since this cell type is not present in invasive carcinomas. An extended analysis with DCIS cases would clarify the myoepithelial expression of H-cadherin.

Key tumour suppressor candidate genes will emerge following collaborative LOH mapping, refinement of the smallest region of overlap (SRO) and large scale genomic sequencing. It is also possible that the location of the proposed gene(s) will be further refined by linkage analysis in breast cancer families which show genetic linkage to this chromosomal region (Hall *et al.*, 1990).

## **Breast Cancer Development**

The main aim of this thesis was to study key genetic alteration in specific tumour types with the view to defining possible pathways of breast cancer development. The results from the 16q LOH analysis suggest that this type of alteration is common to all the tumour lesions analysed, and interestingly is not associated with grade of DCIS. In contrast the MI analysis has provided circumstantial evidence that low grade DCIS may progress to well to moderately differentiated invasive carcinomas. Of interest is the lack of instability in tubular carcinomas and tubular components within invasive carcinomas, suggesting that an inverse relationship with good structural differentiation.

The finding of a high frequency of MI in high grade DCIS, and the existing data regarding association between MI and aggressive features in invasive carcinomas (Paulson *et al.*, 1996; De Marchis *et al.*, 1997) suggests that high grade DCIS may progress to poorly differentiated, high grade, invasive carcinomas. Whether this is independent of other genetic alterations for example c-erbB-2 amplification remains to be classified. Additional evidence for this proposed pathway of breast cancer development could be provided by analysing an extended group of high grade DCIS and high grade poorly associated invasive carcinomas. The hypothetical pathways described here are represented in the scheme proposed by Walker (1997), Figure 5.1.

It would have been of interest, and relevance, to analyse 'at risk' lesions whose role in breast cancer development is still uncertain, for example the atypical ductal hyperplasias and lobular carcinoma in situ. The one example of the latter studied did show instability of D16S413. Obtaining tissue showing these alterations without associated malignancy is difficult but investigation of this would be of value.
Figure 5.1. Possible pathways of breast cancer progression with respect to microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity at 16q.

A high frequency of MI in high grade DCIS may suggest progression to high grade invasive carcinoma, whereas, a low frequency of MI in low grade DCIS and well to moderately differentiated invasive carcinomas may suggest a common pathway. LOH at 16q is common to each of the divergent pathways



# **5.2 Future Approaches**

# **DM-1 and DMPK In Breast Cancer**

Although there is a wealth of clinicopathological information available from archival tissues, the techniques which can be applied to these tissue types are limited to PCR-based approaches and immunohistochemistry. However, those cases in which a diagnosis is made preoperatively the tumour can be bisected, and one half is fixed and processed to wax, whereas the other half is snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. This enables histological evaluation in sections prepared from paraffin-embedded tissue. These can then be microdissected and analysed with markers, for example DM-1. Any alterations that are documented between different tumour foci can then be further analysed by microdissection of the corresponding region in the frozen tissue, thereby allowing analysis of mRNA. It may therefore be possible to determine whether alterations in the length of the DM-1 repeat are correlated with an alteration in expression levels of DMPK mRNA, using a quantitative RT-PCR protocol which has been optimised for use with small amounts of starting material (Bicknell *et al.*, 1996).

An important question to address is the function, if any, of DMPK in breast cancer development. Sequence analysis has revealed homology between DMPK and members of a subfamily of serine/threonine protein kinases, which are closely related to cyclic AMP-dependant protein kinases. Members of this family are present in a diverse variety of organisms. The greatest amino acid sequence similarities exist within the catalytic domains of the WARTS (*wts*) gene in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Justice *et al.*, 1995)

Studies of *wts* indicates a role in cell differentiation and proliferation. Homozygous *wts* clones develop prominent outgrowths on the adult cell body, resulting from increased proliferation of the *wts* cells (Justice *et al.*, 1995). This indicates that *wts* has tumour suppressive functions. In myotonic dystrophy (DM) the presence of neural-crest derived tumours and small bowel carcinomas in some patients may reflect DMPKs role as a tumour suppressor gene.

Testing the tumour suppressive role of DMPK in breast cancer could be performed in culture using antisense techniques in cell culture. The human mammary epithelial cells (HMECs) represent a well studied immortalised 'non-tumourigenic' cell line. By transfecting an antisense DMPK construct into HMECs and breast cancer cell lines it will be

possible to assess the effects of transiently 'knocking-out' this gene. Assays which detect differences in cell doubling time, contact inhibition, and anchorage dependence can then be performed to determine whether decrease in DMPK expression leads to an increased growth and invasive capacity, as a prelude to the acquisition of a tumourigenic phenotype.

### LOH And Tumour Suppressor Genes

Although LOH is considered as the hallmark of tumour suppressor gene in activation, there is no functional evidence to suggest that regions of chromosome 16q encode a tumour suppressor gene important in the development of breast cancer. Introduction of individual normal chromosomes in cancer cells by the process of microcell fusion-mediated transfer (MCMT) represents an alternative approach for the identification of chromosomes which contain tumour suppressor genes (Trent *et al.*, 1990). If chromosome 16q does contain a tumour suppressor gene (other than E-cadherin) then introduction of chromosome 16q into tumourigenic breast cancer cell lines should result in the generation of sublines with a suppressed phenotype. Structural analysis of the 16q segments retained in these hybrid sublines and non-suppressed sublines after fusion by MCMT may refine the location of the putative tumour suppressor gene(s).

#### **Breast Cancer Development**

The development of the laser capture microdissection technique (Emmet-Buck *et al.*, 1996) has greatly improved the accuracy and efficiency of procuring DNA template from small foci of tumour cells. The technique has the added advantage of being able to yield high quality RNA from frozen specimens. This allows the construction of short stretches of cDNA or expressed sequence tags (ESTs) for each area analysed. The Cancer Genome Anatomy Project has amalgamated these two techniques and has begun to comprehensively characterise different lesions in a number of cancers.

Analysis of the various histological subtypes including normal breast, atypical hyperplasia, pure DCIS, DCIS with associated invasion, and invasive carcinoma, using these approaches will provide a wealth of information regarding the pattern of gene expression at each stage of the hypothetical progression of the disease. This will hopefully lead to the delineation of individual pathways of development with the identification of key genetic alterations for each stage in the natural history of the disease.

a) Region 800-1050 of the E-cadherin (acc no. L34545) containing 3 HpaII sites. Primers designated EcadProm R/F flank these sites.

b) E-cadherin promoter region 840-990 and 840-940 for primer sets EcadM F/R and EcadU F/R respectively. Sequence differences between modified primers and unmodified DNA are emboldened and differences between methylated/bisulfide modified and unmethylated/bisulfide modified are underlined.

## a)PCR Based E-cadherin Promoter Methylation Analysis

EcadProm F+R

acc tagaccctag caactcc→ 800 atcagaaccg tgcaggtccc ataacccacc tagaccctag caactccagg

HpaII

850 ctagagggtc accgcgtcta tgcgagg<u>ccg g</u>gtgggcggg ccgtcagctc

Hpall

900 cgccctgggg aggggtccgc gctgctgatt ggctgtgg**cc gg**caggtgaa

HpaII

950 ccctcagcca atcagcggta cggggggggg tgct<u>cagg</u>gg ctcacctggc

# b) MS-PCR E-cadherin Promoter Methylation Assay

EcadM F/R

ttagg ttagagggtt atcgcgt→
840 caactccagg ctagagggtc accgcgtcta tgcgaggccg ggtgggcggg

890 ccgtcagctc cgccctgggg aggggtccgc gctgctgatt ggctgtggcc  $\leftarrow cag$ 

940 ggcaggtgaa ccctcagcca atcagcggta cggggggggg tgctccgggg ccatccactt **aaa**aatc**aa**t

EcadU F/R

taattttagg ttagagggtt attgd 840 caactccagg ctagagggtc accgcgtcta tgcgaggccg ggtggggggg

 $\leftarrow \underline{a}$ c  $\underline{a}$ c $\underline{a}$ ac $\underline{a}$ ataa cc $\underline{a}$ acac 890 ccgtcagctc cgccctgggg aggggtccgc gctgctgatt ggctgtggcc Bibliography

.

Aaltonen, L.A., Peltomaki, P., Leach, F.S. Sistonen, P., Pylkkanen, L., Mecklin, J.P., Jarvininen, H., Powell, S.M., Jen, J., Hamilton, S.R., Petersen, L., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., and de la Chapelle. A. Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer. Science, 260: 812-816, 1993.

Abe, T., Ouyang, H., Migita, T., Kato, Y., Kimura, M., Shiiba, K., Sunamura, M., Matsuo, S., and Horii A. The somatic mutation frequency of the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  type II gene varies widely among different cancers with microsatellite instability. Eur. J. Sug. Oncol., 22: 474-477, 1996.

Aebi, S., Kurdi-Haider, B., Gordon, R., Cenni, B., Zheng, H., Fink, D., Christen, R. D., Boland, C. R., Koi, M., Fishel, R., and Howell, S. B. Loss of DNA mismatch repair in acquired resistance to cisplatin. Cancer Res., *56*: 3087-3090, 1996.

Ahmadian, M., Wistuba, I. I., Fong, K. M., Behrens, C., Kodagoda, D. R., Saboorian, M. H., Shay, J., Tomlinson, G. E., Blum, J., Minna, J. D., and Gazdar, A. F. Analyis of the FHIT gene and FRA3B region in sporadic breast cancer, preneoplastic lesions and familial breast cancer. Cancer Res., *57*: 3664-3668, 1997.

Aldaz, C. M., Chen, T., Sahin, A., Cunningham, J., and Bondy, M. Comparative allelotype of in situ and invasive human breast cancer: high frequency of microsatellite instability in lobular breast carcinomas. Cancer Res., *55*: 3976-3081, 1995.

Ambrose, C. B., Freudenheim, J. I., Graham, S., Marshall, J. R., Vena, J. E., Brasure, J. R., Michalek, A. M., Laughlin, R., Nemoto, T., Gillenwater, K. A., Harrington, A. M., and Shields, P. G. Cigarette smoking, N-Acetyltransferase 2 genetic polymorphisms, and breast cancer risk. J. Am. Med. Ass., 276: 1494-1501, 1996.

Andersen, T.I., Holm, R., Nesland, J.M., Heimdel, K.R., Ottestad, L., and Borresen, A.L. Prognostic significance of the TP53 alterations in breast carcinoma. Br J. Cancer, *68*: 540-548, 1993.

Anderson, D.E. Genetic study of breast cancer: Identification of a high risk group. Cancer, 34: 1090, 1974.

Anderson, J., and Poulsen, H. S. Immunohistochemical oestrogen receptor determination in paraffin embedded tissue: Prediction of response to hormone treatment in advanced breast cancer. Cancer, 43: 1901-1908, 1989.

Anthoney, D. A., McIlwrath, A. J., Gallagher, W. M., Edlin, A. R. M., and Brown, R. Microsatellite instability, apoptosis, and loss of p53 function in drug-resistant tumour cells. Cancer Res., *56*: 1374-1381, 1996.

Apter, D., and Vihko, R. Early menarche, a risk factor for breast cancer, indicates early onset of ovulatory cycles. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 57: 82-86, 1983.

Athma, P., Rappaport, R., and Swift, M. Molecular genotyping shows that ataxiatelangectasia heterozygotes are predisposed to breast cancer. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet., 92: 130-134, 1996. Bargou, R. C., Daniel, P. T., Mapara, M. Y., Bommert, K., Wagener, C., and Kallinch, B. Expression of the Bcl-2 gene family in breast in normal and malignant breast tissue - low Bax alpha expression in tumour cells correlates with resistance towards apoptosis. Int. J. Cancer, *60*: 85-90, 1995.

Bargou, R. C., Wagener, C., Bommert, K., Mapara, M. Y., Daniel, P. T., Arnold, W., Dietel, M., Guski, H., Feller, A., Royer, H. D., and Dorken, B.Overexpression of the death promoting gene Bax-alpha which is down regulated in breast cancer restores sensitivity to different apoptotic stimuli and reduces tumour growth in SCID mice. J. Clin. Invest., *97*: 2651-2659, 1996.

Bartkova, J., Barnes, D. M., Millis, R. R., and Gullick, W. J. Immunohistochemical demonstration of c-*erb*-B2 protein in mammary ductal carcinoma in situ. Hum. Pathol., *21*: 1164-1167, 1990.

Bates, S., and Peters, G. Cyclin D1 as a proto-oncogene. Cancer Biol., 6: 73-82, 1995.

Behrens, J., Mareel, M. M., van Roy, F. M., and Birchmeier, W. Epithelial cells acquire invasive properties after the loss of uvomorulin-mediated cell-cell adhesion. J. Cell Biol., *108*: 2435-2447, 1989.

Beral, V., Hermon, C., Reeves, G., and Peto, R. Sudden fall in breast cancer death rates in England and Wales. Lancet, 345: 1642-1643, 1995.

Bergh, J., Norbert, T., Sjogren, S., Lindgren, A., and Holmberg, L. Complete sequencing of the p53 gene provides prognostic information in breast cancer patients, particularly in relation to adjuvant systemic therapy and radiotherapy. Nature Med., *1*: 1029-1034, 1995.

Berns, P. M. J. J., Krijn, J. G. M., Van Putten, W. L. J., Van Steveren, I. L., Portengen, H., and Foekens, J. A. c-*myc* amplification is a better prognostic factor than HER2/neu amplification in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res., *52*: 1107-113, 1992.

Berx, G., Staes, K., van Hengel, J., Molemans, F., Bussemakers, M. J. G., van Bokhoven, A., and van Roy, F. Cloning and characterisation of the human invasion suppressor gene E-cadherin (CDH1). Genomics, *26*: 281-289, 1995a.

Berx, G., Cleton-Jansen, A-M., Nollet, F., de Leeuw, W. J. F., van de Vijver, M. J., Cornelisse, C., and van Roy, F. E-cadherin is a tumour/invasion suppressor gene mutated in human lobular breast cancers. EMBO J., 14: 6107-6115, 1995b.

Berx, G., Cleton-Jansen, A-M., Strumane, K., de Leeuw, W. J. F., Nollet, F., van Roy, F., and Cornelisse, C. E-cadherin is inactivated in a majority of invasive human lobular breast cancers by truncation mutations throughout its extracellular domain. Oncogene, 13: 1919-1925, 1996.

Berx, G., Nollet, F., Strumane, K., and van Roy, F. An efficient and reliable multiplex PCR-SSCP mutation analysis test applied to the human E-cadherin gene. Hum. Mut., *9*: 567-574, 1997.

Bicknell, G. R., Shaw, J. A., Pringle, J. H., and Furness, P. N. Amplification of specific mRNA from a single human renal glomerulus, with an approach to the separation of epithelial cell mRNA. J. Pathol., *180*: 188-193, 1996.

Bieche, I., Champee, M. H., and Lidereau, R. Loss and gain of distinct regions of chromosome 1q in primary breast cancer. Clin. Cancer Res., 1: 123-127, 1995.

Birch, J. M., Hartley, A. L., Tricker, K. J., Prosser, J., Condie, A., Kelsey, A. M., Harris, M., Morris Jones, P. H., Binchy, A., Crowther, D., Craft, A. W., Eden, O. B., Evans, D. G. R., Thompson, E., Mann, J. R., Martin, J., Mitchell, E. L. D., and Santibanez-Koref, M. F. Prevalence and diversity of constitutional mutations in the p53 gene among 21 Li-Fraumeni families. Cancer Res., *54*: 1298-1304, 1994.

Birchmeier, W., and Behrens, J. Cadherin expression in carcinomas: role in the formation of cell junctions and prevention of invasiveness. Biochem. Biophys. Acta., *1198*: 11-26, 1994.

Bird, A.P. CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. Nature, 321: 209-213, 1986.

Birnboim, H. C., and Doly, J. A rapid alkaline extraction procedure for screening recombinant plasmid DNA. Nucl. Acid Res., 7: 1513, 1979.

Blot, W. J., Devesa, S. S., and Fraumeni, J. F. Declining breast cancer mortality among young American women. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 78: 451-454, 1987.

Bobrow, L. G., Happerfield, L. C., Gregory, W. M., and Millis, R. R. Ductal carcinoma in situ: Assessment of necrosis and nuclear morphology and their association with biological markers. J Pathol., *171:* 333-341, 1995.

Bodmer, W., Bailey, C., Bodmer, J., Bussey, H., Ellis, A., Gorman, P., Luibello, F., Murday, V., Rider, S., and Scambler, P. Localisation of the gene for familial adenomatous polyposis on chromosome 5. Nature, *328:* 614-616, 1987.

Bohm, M., and Wieland, I. Analysis of tumour-specific alterations in native specimens by PCR: How to procure the tumour cells! (Review). Int. J. Oncol., *10*: 131-139, 1997.

Bonilla, M., Ramirez, M., Lopez-Cueto, J., and Gariglio, P. *In vivo* amplification and rearrangements of c-*myc* oncogene in human breast tumours. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 80: 665-671, 1988.

Bonnier, P., Romain, S., Carpin, C., Lejeune, C., Tubiana, N., Martin, P. M., and Piana, L. Age as a prognostic factor in breast cancer: relationship to pathologic and biologic features. Int. J. Cancer, *17*: 138-144, 1995.

Borg, A., Zhang, Q-X., Alm, P., Olsson, H., and Sellberg, G. The retinoblastoma gene in breast cancer: allele loss is not correlated with loss of gene protein expression. Cancer Res., *52*: 2991-2994, 1992.

Boring, C. C., Squires, T. S., Tong, W., and Noxtra, A. V. Cancer Statistics 1993. Cancer, 43: 7-26, 1993.

Borresen, A-L., Ottestad, L., Gaustad, A., Andersen, T. I., Heikkila, R., Jahnsen, T., Tveit, K. M., and Nesland, J. M. Amplification and protein over-expression of the *neu*/HER-2/c-*erb*B2 proto-oncogene in human breast carcinomas: relationship to loss of gene sequence on chromosome 17, family history and prognosis. Br. J. Cancer, *62*: 585-590, 1990.

Borresen, A-L., Andersen, T. I., Garber, J., Barbierpiraux, N., Thorlacius, S., Eyfjord, J., Ottestad, L., Smithsorensen, B., Hovig, E., Malkin, D., and Friend, S. H. Screening for germline TP53 mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res., *52*: 3234-3236, 1992.

Bouzubar, N., Walker, K. J., Griffiths, K., Ellis, I. O., Elston, C. W., Robertson, J. F. R., Blamey, R. W., and Nicholson, R. I. Ki67 immunostaining in primary breast cancer: Pathological and clinical associations. Br. J. Cancer, *59*: 943-947, 1989.

Bradford, M. M. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein with respect to the principle of protein dye binding. Annals Biochem., 72: 248-254, 1976.

Brenner, A. S., and Aldaz., M. C. Chromosome 9p allelic loss and p16/CDKN2 in breast cancer and evidence of p16 inactivation in immortal breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res., 55: 2892-2895, 1995.

Brocca P. P. Traites des tumeurs, 1: 80, 1866.

Bronner, C. E., Baker, S. M., Morrison, P. T., Warren, G., Smith, L. G., Lescoe, M. K, Kane, M., Earbino, C., Lipford, J., Llindblom, A., Tannergard, P., Bollag, R. J., Godwin, A. R., Ward, D. C., Nordenskjold, M., Fishel R., Kolodner, R., and Liskay, R. M. Mutation in the DNA mismatch repair gene homologue *hMLH1* is associated with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. Nature, *368*: 258-261, 1994.

Brook, J. D., McCurrach, M. E., Harley, H. G., Buckler, A. J., Church, D., Aburatani, H., Hunter, K., Stanton, V. P., Thirion, J. P., Hudson, T., Sohn, R., Zemelman, B., Snell, R. G., Rundle, S. A., Crow, S., Davies, J., Shelbourne, P., Buxton, J., Jones, C., Juvonen, V., Johnson, K., Harper, P. S., Shaw, D. J., and Houseman, D. E. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell, *68:* 799-808, 1992.

Brown, R., Hirst, G. I., Gallagher, W. M., McIlwraith, A. J., Margison, G. P. van der Zee, A. G. J. and Anthoney, D. A. HMLH1 expression and cellular responses of ovarian tumour cells to treatment with cytotoxic anticancer drugs. Oncogene, *15*: 45-52, 1997.

Brugarolso, J., and Jacks, T. Double indemnity: p53, BRCA and cancer. Nature Med., 3: 721-722, 1997.

Bruun Rasmussen, B., Rose, C., Thorpe, S. M., Hou-Jensen, K., Daehnfeldt, J. L., and Palshof, T. Histopathological characteristics and oestrogen receptor content in primary breast carcinoma. Virchows Arch. Pathol. Anat., *390*: 347-351, 1981.

Budworth, J., Gant, T. W., and Gescher, A. Co-ordinate loss of expression of protein kinase C and multildrug resistance gene expression in revertant MCF-7/Adr breast carcinoma cells. Br. J. Cancer, *75*: 1330-1335, 1997.

Bussemakers, M. J. G., van Bokhoven, A., Voller, M. Smit, F. P., and Schalken, J. A. The genes for the calcium-dependent cell adhesion molecules P- and E-cadherin are tandemly arranged in the human genome. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 203: 1291-1294, 1994.

Bussemakers, M. J. G., Giroldi, L. A., van Bokhoven, A., and Schalken, J. A. Transcriptional regulation of the E-cadherin gene in human prostate cancer cell: Characterisation of the human E-cadherin gene promoter. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 203: 1284-1290, 1994.

Byers, S. W., Sommers, C. L., Hoxter, B, Mercurino, A. M., and Tozeren, A. Role of E-cadherin in the response of tumour cell aggregates to lymphatic, venous and arterial flow: measurement of cell-cell adhesion strength. J. Cell Sci., *108*: 2053-2064, 1995.

Cailleau, R., Young, R., Olive, M., and Reeves, W. J. Breast tumour cell lines from pleural effusions. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 53: 661-674, 1974.

Caleffi, M., Teague, M. W., Jensen, R. A., Vzencak-Jones, C. L., Dupont, W. D., and Parl, F. F. p53 gene mutations and steroid receptor status in breast cancer. Cancer, 73: 1247-1256, 1994.

Campuzano, V., Montermini, I., Molto, M. D., Pianese, L., Cossee, M., Cavalcanti, F., Monros, E., Rodius, F., Duclos, F., Monticelli, A., Zara, F., Canivares, J., Koutnikova, H., Bidichanani, S. I., Gellera, C., Brice, A., Trouillas, P., Demichele, G., Filla, A., Defrutos, R., Palau, F., Patel, P. I., Didonato, S., Mandel, J. L., Cocozza, S., Koening, M., and Pandolfo, M. Friedreich's ataxia: autosomal recessive disease caused by an intronic GAA triplet repeat expansion. Science, *271*: 1423-1427, 1996.

Candidus, S., Biscoff, P., Becker, K-F., and Hofler, H. No evidence for mutations in the  $\alpha$ and  $\beta$ - catenin genes in human gastric and breast carcinomas. Cancer Res., *56*: 49-52, 1996.

Carter, C. L., Allen, C., and Henson, D. E. Relation of tumour size, lymph node status, and survival in 24,740 breast cancer cases. Cancer, 63: 181-187, 1989.

Cattoretti, G., Pileri, S., Parravicini, C., Becker, M. H. G., Poggi, S., Bifulco, C., Keys, G., D'Amato, L., Sabattini, E., Feudale, E., Reynolds, F., Gerdes, J., and Rilke, F. Antigen unmasking on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue sections. J. Pathol., *171*: 83-98, 1993.

Cavenee, W. K., Dryja, T. P., Philips, R. A., Benedict, W. F., Dogbout, R., Allie, B. L., Murphee, A. L., Strong, L. C., and White, R. L. Expression of recessive alleles by chromosomal mechanisms in retinoblastoma. Nature, *305*: 779-784, 1983.

Chaney, S. G., and Sancar, A. DNA repair: enzymatic mechanisms and relevance to drug response. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 88: 1346-1360, 1996.

Chappell, S.A., Walsh, T., Walker, R.A., and Shaw. J. A. Loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 6q in preinvasive and early invasive breast carcinomas. Br. J. Cancer, 75: 1324-1329, 1997.

Chellappan, S. P., Hiebert, S., Mudryj, M., Horowitz, J. M., and Nevins, J. R. The E2F transcription factor is a cellular target for the RB protein. Cell, 65: 1053-1061, 1991.

Chen, L., Kurisu, W., Ljung, B. M., Goldman, E.S., Morre II, D., and Smith, H. S. Heterogeneity for allelic loss in human breast cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 84: 506-510, 1992.

Chen, T., Sahin, A., and Aldaz, M. C. Deletion map of chromosome 16q in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast: refining a putative tumour suppressor gene region. Cancer Res., *56*: 5605-5609, 1996.

Chevallier, B., Heintzman, F., Mosseri, V. Prognostic value of oestrogen and progesterone receptor assays in operable breast cancer. Cancer, 62: 2517-2524, 1978.

Choi, W., Howe. G.R., Miller, A.B., Matthews, R. W., Morgan, L., Munan, J. D., Burch, J., Feather, M., Jain, M., and Kelly, A. An epidemiological study of breast cancer. Am. J. Epidemiol., *107*: 510-521, 1978.

Chuqui, R. F., Zhuang, Z., Emmert-Buck, M. R., Liotta, L. A., and Merino, M. J. Analysis of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 11q13 in atypical ductal hyperplasia and in situ carcinoma of the breast. Am. J. Pathol., *150*: 297-303, 1997.

Clark, G.M., and McGuire, W. L. Follow-up study of HER-2/*neu* amplification in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res., 51: 944-948, 1991.

Clark, S. J., Harrison, J., Paul C. L., and Frommer, M. High sensitivity mapping of methylated cytosines. Nucl. Acid. Res., 22: 2990-2997, 1994.

Claus, E.B., Risch, N.J., and Thompson, W.D. Age at onset as an indicator of familial risk of breast cancer. Am. J. Epidemiol., 131: 961-972, 1990.

Claus, E. B., Risch, N, and Thompson, W. D. Genetic analysis of breast cancer in the cancer and steroid hormone study. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 48: 232-241, 1991.

Cleton-Jansen, A-M., Moerland, E. W., Kuipers-Dijkshoorn, N. J., Callen, D., Sutherland, G. R., Hansen, B., Devilee, P., and Cornelisse, C. J. At least two different regions are involved in allelic imbalance on chromosome arm 16q in breast cancer. Genes Chrom. Cancer, 9: 101-107, 1994.

Cleton-Jansen, A-M., Collins, N., Lakhani, S. R., Weissenbach, J., Devilee, P., Cornelisse, C. J., and Stratton, M. R. Loss of heterozygosity in sporadic breast tumours at the BRCA2 locus on chromosome 13q12-13. Br. J. Cancer, 72: 1241-1244, 1995.

Colditz, G. A., Hankinson, S. E., Hunter, D. J., Willet, W. C., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., Hennekens, C., Rosner, B., and Speizer, F. E. The use of oestrogens and progestins and the risk of breast cancer in post menopausal women. N. Eng. J. Med., *332*: 1589-1593, 1995.

Coleman, M.P., Esteve, J., and Damiecki, P. *In:* Trends in cancer incidence and mortality, No. 121. pp. 411-123. Lyon: IARC Scientific Publications, 1993.

Coles, C., Condie, A., Chetty, U., Steel, C.M., Evans, H.J., and Prosser, J. p53 mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res., 52: 5291-5298, 1992.

Contegiacomo, A., Palmirotta, R., DeMarchis, L., Pizzi, C., Mastranzo, P., Delrio, P., Petrella, G., Figliolini, M., Bianco, A. R., Frati, L., Cama, A., and Mariani-Costantini, R.

Microsatellite instability and pathological aspects of breast cancer. J. Int. Cancer, 64: 264-268, 1995.

Contessa, G., Mouriesse, H., Friedman, S., Genin, G., Sarrazin, D., and Rousesse, J. The importance of histological grade in long term prognosis: a study of 1010 patients, uniformly treated at the Institute Gustave-Roussy. J. Clin. Oncol., 5: 1378-1386, 1987.

da Costa, L. T., Liu, B., El Diery, W. S., Hamilton, S. R., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Polymerase-delta variants in RER colorectal tumours. Nature Genet., *9*: 10-11, 1995.

Costello, P., McCann, A., Carney, D. N., and Dervan, P. A. Prognostic significance of microvessel density in lymph node negative breast carcinoma. Hum. Pathol., *26*: 1181-1184, 1995.

Coussens, L., Yang-Feng, T. L., Chen, Y., Gray, A., McGrath, J., Seeburg, P. H., Libermann, T. A., Schlessinger, J., Franke, U., Levinson, A., Ullrich, A. Tyrosine kinase receptor with extensive homology to EGF receptor shares chromosomal location with *neu* oncogene. Science, *230*: 1132-1139, 1985.

Cummings, J. The molecular pharmacology of doxorubicin in vivo. Eur. J. Cancer., 27: 532-535, 1991.

De Marchis, L., Contegiacomo, A., D'Amico, C., Palmrotta, R., Pizzi, C., Ottini, L., Mastranzo, P., Figliolini, M., Petrella, G., Amanti, C., Battista, P., Bianco, A. R., Frati, L., Cama, A., and Mariani-Costantini, R. Microsatellite instability is correlated with lymph node-positive breast cancer. Clin. Cancer Res., *3*: 241-248, 1997.

Deng, G., Lu, Y., Zlotnikow, G., Thor, A. D., and Smith, H. S. Loss of Heterozygosity in normal tissues adjacent to breast carcinomas. Science, 274: 2057-22059, 1996.

Dennis, P. A., and Rifkin, D. B. Cellular activation of latent transforming growth factor b requires binding to the cation-independent mannose-6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor type II receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 88: 580-584, 1991.

De Souza, A., Hankins, G.R., Washington, M.K., Fine, R.L., Orton, T.C., Jirttle, R.L. Frequent loss of heterozygosity on 6q at the mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor II receptor locus in human hepatocellular tumours. Oncogene, *10*: 1725-1729, 1995

Devilee, P., Van Den Broek, M., Kuipers-Dijkshoorn, N., Kollouri, R., Khan, P.M., Pearson, P. L., and Cornelisse, C. J. At least four different chromosomal regions are involved in loss of heterozygosity in human breast carcinoma. Genomics, *5:* 554-560, 1989.

Devilee, P., and Cornelisse, C. J. The genetics of human breast cancer. Cancer Surv., 9: 605-630, 1990.

Devilee, P., Van Viet, M., Van Sloun, P., Kuipers-Dijkshoorn, N., Hermans, J., Pearson, P. L., and Cornelisse, C. J. Allelotype of breast cancer: a second major site for loss of heterozygosity is on chromosome 6q. Oncogene, 6: 1705-1711, 1991.

Devilee, P., Schuuring, E., van de Vijver, M. J., and Cornelisse, C. J. Recent developments in the molecular genetic understanding of breast cancer. Crit. Rev. Oncog., 5: 247-270, 1994.

Devilee, P., and Cornelisse, C. J. Somatic genetic changes in human breast cancer. Biochem. Biophys. Acta., *1198*: 113-130, 1994.

Dib, C., Faure, S., Fizames, C., Samson, D., Drouot, N., Vignal., A., Millasseau, P., Marc, S., Hazan, J., Seboun, E., Lathrop, M., Gyapay, G., Morissette, P., and Weissenbach, J. A comprehensive map of the human genome based on 5,264 microsatellites. Nature, *380:* 152-154, 1996.

Dillon, E. K., de Boer, W. B., Papadimitriou, J. M., and Turbett, G. R. Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in mammary carcinoma and its probable precursors. Br. J. Cancer, 76: 156-162, 1997.

Dobrovic, A., and Simpfendorfer, D. Methylation of the BRCA1 gene in sporadic breast cancer. Cancer Res., 57: 3347-3350, 1997.

Dorion-Bonnet, F., Mautalen, S., Hostein, I., and Longy, M. Allelic imbalance study of 16q in human primary breast carcinomas using microsatellite markers. Genes Chroms. Cancer, 14: 171-181, 1995

Drummond, J. T., Li, G. M., Longley, M. J., and Modrich, P. Isolation of an hMSH2-p160 heterodimer that restores DNA mismatch repair to tumour cells. Science, *268:* 1909-1912, 1995.

Drummond, J. T., Anthoney, A., Brown, R., and Modrich, P. Cisplatin and adriamycin resistance are associated with RER and mismatch repair defeciency in an ovarian tumour cell line. J. Biol. Chem., 271: 19645-19648, 1996.

Dubeau, L., Chandler, L. A., Gralow, J. R., Nichols, P. W., and Jones, P. A. Southern blot analysis of DNA extracted from formalin-fixed pathology specimens. Cancer Res. *46:* 2964-2969, 1986.

Dunn, J.E. Breast cancer among American Japanese in the San Fransisco Bay area. Natl. Cancer Inst. Monogr., 47: 157-160, 1977.

Dupont, W. D., and Page, L.W. Risk factors for breast cancer in women with proliferative breast disease. N. Engl. J. Med., *312*: 146-151, 1985

Dutrillaux, B, Gerbault-Seureau, M., and Zafrani, B. Characterisation of chromosomal anomalies in human breast cancer. A comparison of 30 paradiploid cases with few chromosome changes. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet., 49: 203-217, 1990.

Easton, D. F., Bishop, D. T., Ford, D., Crockford, G. P., and the Breast Cancer Linkage consortium. Genetic linkage analysis in familial breast and ovarian cancer: results from 214 families. Am. J. Hum. Genet., *52*: 678-701, 1993.

Easton, D. F., Ford, D., Bishop, D. T., and the Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Breast and ovarian cancer incidence in BRCA1 mutation carriers. Am. J. Hum. Genet., *56*: 265-271, 1995.

Eeles, R. A., Stratton, M. R., Goldgar, D. E., and Easton, D. F. The genetics of familial breast cancer and their practical implications. Eur. J. Cancer, *30A*: 1383-1390, 1994.

Elledge, R. M., Fuqua, S. A. W., Clark, G. M., Pujol, P., Allred, D. C., and McGuire, W. L. Prognostic significance of p53 alterations in node-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat., *26*: 225-235, 1993.

Ellis, I. O., Galea, M., Broughton, N., Locker, A., Blamey, R. W., and Elston, C. W. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer, II: Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long term follow up. Histopathology, *20*: 479-489, 1992.

Ellis, M. J. C., Singer, C., Hornby, A., Rasmussen, A., and Cullen, K. J. Insulin-like growth factor mediated stromal-epithelial interactions in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat., *31*: 249-261, 1994.

Elston, C.W., and Ellis, I.O. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long term follow up. Histopathology, *19*: 403-410, 1991.

Emmet-Buck, M. R., Bonner, R. F., Smith, P. D., Chuaqui, R. F., Zhuang, Z., Goldstein, S. R., Weiss, R. A., and Liotta, L. A. Laser capture microdissection. Science, 274: 998-1001, 1996.

Escot, C., Theillet, C., Lidereau, R., Spyratos, F., Champeme, M-H., Gest, J., Callahan, R. Genetic alterations of the c-*myc* proto-oncogene (MYC) in human breast carcinomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 83: 4834-4838, 1986.

Eshleman, J. R., and Markowitz, S.D. Microsatellite instability in inherited and sporadic neoplasms. Curr. Opin. Oncol. 7: 83-89, 1995.

Eshleman, J. R., and Markowitz, S.D. Mismatch repair defects in human carcinogenesis. Hum. Mol. Genet., 5: 1489-1494, 1996.

Evan, G. I., Wyllie, A. H., Gilbert, C. S., Littlewood, T. D., Land, H., Brooks, M., Waters, C.M., Penn, L. Z., and Hancock, D. C. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. Cell, 69: 1-20, 1992.

Eyfjord, J. E., Thorlacius, S., Steinarsdottir, M., Valgardottir, R., Ogmundsdottir, H. M., and Anamthawat-Jonsson, K. p53 abnormalities and genomic instability in primary human breast carcinomas. Cancer Res., *55*: 646-651, 1995.

Fazeli, A., Dickinson, S. L., Hermiston, M. L., Tighe, R. V., Steen, R. G., Small, C. G., Stoeckli, E. T., Keino-Masu, K., Masu, M., Rayburn, H., Simons, J., Bronson, R. T., Gordon, J. I., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Weinberg, R. A. phenotype of mice lacking functional deleted in colorectal cancer (Dcc) gene. Nature, *386*: 796-803, 1997.

Fearon, E. R., Cho, K. R., Nigro, J. M., Kern, S. E., Simons, J. W., Ruppert, J. M., hamilton, S. R., Preisinger, A. C., Thomas, G., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Identification of a chromosome 18q gene that is altered in colorectal cancers. Science, 247: 49-56, 1990.

Fearon, E. R., and Vogelstein, B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell, 54: 3011-3020, 1990.

Fechner, R. E.. *In:* Diagnostic histopathology of the breast. Page, D. L., and Anderson, T. J. (Eds). Fibroadenomas and related lesions. pp. 72-85. Edinburgh. Churchill Livingston. 1987.

Ferguson, D. J., Meier, P., Karrison, T., Dawson, P. J., Straus, F. H., and Lowenstein, F. E. Staging of breast cancer and survival rates. An assessment based on 50 years of experience with radical mastectomy. J. Am. Med. Ass., 248: 1337-1341, 1982.

Ferguson-Smith, A. C., Sasaki, H., Cattanach, B. M., and Surani, M. A. Parental origin specific epigenetic modification of the mouse *H19* gene. Nature, *362*: 751-755, 1993.

Ferguson, A. T., Lapidus, R. G., Baylin, S. B., and Davidson, N. E. Demethylation of the estrogen receptor gene in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer cells can reactivate estrogen receptor gene expression. Cancer Res., *55*: 2279-2283, 1995.

Field, N. A., Baptiste, M. S., Nasca, P. C., and Metzger, B. B. Cigarette smoking and breast cancer. Int. J. Epidemiol., 21: 842-848, 1992.

Fishel, R., Lescoe, M. K., Rao, M. R., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., Garber, J., Kane, M., and Kolodner, R. The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. Cell, *75*: 1027-1038, 1993.

Fishel, R., Ewel, A., and Lescoe, M. K. Purified human MSH2 protein binds to DNA mismatched nucleotides. Cancer Res., 54: 5539-5542, 1994.

Fisher, B., Slack, N. H. D., Bross, I. D. J., and cooperating investigators. Cancer of the breast - size of neoplasm and prognosis. Cancer, 24: 1071-1080, 1969.

Fisher. B., Slack, N. H., and Katrych, D. Ten year follow up results of patients with carcinoma of the breast in a co-operative clinical trial evaluating surgical adjuvent chemotherapy. Surg. Gynecol. Obstet., *140:* 528-534, 1975.

Fisher, B., Redmon, D. C., Fischer, E. R., and Caplan, R. Relative worth of oestrogen and progesterone receptor and pathologic characteristic of differentiation as indicators of prognosis in node negative breast cancer patients: findings from the national sugical adjuvant breast and bowel project protocol B-06. J. Clin. Oncol., *6*: 1076-1087, 1988.

Fitzgerald, M. G., Bean, J. M., Hedge, S. R., Unsal, H., MacDonald, D. J., Harkin, D. P., Finkelstein, D. M., Isselbacher, K. J., and Haber, D. A. Heterozygous ATM mutations do not contribute to early onset of breast cancer. Nature Genet., *15*: 307-310, 1997.

Friend, S. H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., Weinberg, R. A., Rapaport, I. M., Albert, D. M., and Dryja, T. P. A human DNA segmant with properties of the gene that predispose to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. Nature, *323*: 643-646, 1986.

Frommer, M., McDonald, L. E., Millar, D. S., Collis, C. M., Watt, F., Grigg, G. W., Molloy, P. L., and Paul., C. L. A genomic sequencing protocol that yields a positive display of 5methylcytosine residues in individual DNA strands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. *89*: 1827-1831, 1992.

Fujii, H., and Shimada, T. Isolation and characterisation of cDNA clones derived from the divegently transcribed gene in the region upstream from the human dihydrofolate reductase gene. J. Biol. Chem., *264*: 10057-10064, 1989.

Fujii, H., Marsh, C., Cairns, P., Sidransky, D., and Gabrielson, E. Genetic divergence in the clonal evolution of breast cancer. Cancer Res., 56: 1493-1497, 1996a.

Fujii, H., Szumel, R., Marsh, C., Zhou, W., and Gabrielson, E. Genetic progression, histological grade, and allelic loss in ductal carcinoma in situ. Cancer Res., 56: 5260-5265, 1996b.

Futreal, P.A., Liu, Q., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Cochran, C., Harshman, K., Tavtigian, S., Bennett, L. M., Haugen-Strano, A., Swensen, J., Miki, Y., Eddington, K., McClure, M., Frye, C., Weaver-Feldhaus, J., Ding, W., Gholami, Z., Soderkvist, P., Terry, L., Jhanwar, S., Berchuck, A., Iglehart, J. D., Marks, J. G., Ballinger, D. H., Barrett, J. C., Skolnick, M. H., Kamb, A., and Wiseman, R. BRCA1 mutations in primary breast and ovarian carcinomas. Science, *266*: 120-122, 1994.

Gaffney, E. V., Polanowski, F. P., and Blackurn, S. E. Origin, concentration and structural features of human mammary gland cells from breast secretions. Cell Tissue Res., *172*: 269-279, 1976.

Gamallo, C., Palacios, J., Suarez, A, Pizarro, A., Navaro, P., Quintanilla, M., and Cano, A. Correlation of E-cadherin expression with differentiation grade and histological type in breast carcinoma. Am. J. Pathol., *142*: 987-993, 1993.

Garret, P., Hulka, B., Kim, Y., and Farber, R. HRAS protooncogene polymorphism and breast cancer. Cancer Epi. Biomarkers Prevention, 2: 131-138, 1993.

Gillet, C., Fantl, V., Smith, R., Fisher, C., Bartek, J., Dickson, C., Barnes, D. M., and Peters, G. Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunocytochemistry staining. Cancer Res., *54*: 1812-1817, 1994.

Gillet, C., Smith, P., Gregory, W., Richard, M., Millis, R., Peters, G., and Barnes, D. Cyclin D1 and prognosis in human breast cancer. Int. J. Cancer, 69: 92-99, 1996.

Glebov, O. K., McKenzie, K. E., White, C. A., and Sukumar, S. Frequent p53 gene mutations and novel alleles in familial breast cancer. Cancer Res., 54: 3703-3709, 1994.

Goelz, S. E., Hamilton, S. R., and Vogelstein, B. Purification of parafifn embedded human tissue. Biochem. Biophys, Res. Comm., 130: 118-126, 1985.

Going, J. J., and Lamb, R. F. Practical histological microdissection for PCR analysis. J. Pathol., 179: 121-124, 1996.

Gomm, J. J., Browne, P. J., Coope, R. C., Liu, Q. Y., Buluwela, L., and Coombes, R. C. Isolation of pure populations of epithelial and myoepithelial cells from the normal human mammary gland using immunomagnetic beads. Anal. Biochem., 226: 91-99, 1995.

Graff, J. R., Herman, J. G., Lapidus, R. G., Chopra, H., Xu, R., Jarrad, D. F., Isaacs, W. B., Pitha, P. M., Davidson, N. E., and Baylin, S. B. E-cadherin expression is silenced by DNA hypermethylation in human breast and prostate carcinomas. Cancer Res., *55*: 5195-5199, 1995.

Greenblatt, M. S., Grollman, A. P., and Harris, C. C. Deletions and insertions in the p53 tumor suppressor gene in human cancers - confirmation of the DNA polymerase slippage misalignment model. Cancer Res., *56*: 2130-2136, 1996.

Grettarsdottir, S., Tryggvadottir, I., Jonasson, J. G., Sigurdsson, H., Olafsdottir, K., Agnarsson, B. A., Ogmundsdottir, H., and Eyfjord, J. E. TP53 mutation analyses on breast carcinomas - a study of paraffin-embedded archival material. Br. J. Cancer, 74: 555-561, 1997.

Gronstajaski, R M., Goldberg, A. L. and Pardee, A. B. Energy requirement for degradation of tumour-associated protein p53. Mol. Cell. Biol., 4: 442-448, 1984.

Gonzalez-Zulueta, M., Bender, C. M., Yang, A. S., Nguyen, T., Beart, R. W., Van Tornout, J. M., and Jones, P. A. Methylation of the 5'CpG island of the p16/CDKN2 tumour suppressor gene in normal and transformed human tissues correlates with gene silencing. Cancer Res. *55:* 4531-4535, 1995.

Gu, Y., Shen, Y., Gibbs, R. A., and Nelson, D. L. Identification of FMR2, a novel gene associated with the FRAXE CGG repeat and CpG island. Nature Genet., 13: 109-113, 1996.

Gullick, W. J., Love, S. B., Wright, C., Barnes, D. M., Gusterson, B., Harris, A. L., and Altman, D. G. c-*erb*B2 protein overexpression in breast cancer is a risk factor in patients with involved and uninvolved lymph nodes. Br. J. Cancer, *63*: 434-438, 1991.

Gupta, P. W., Sahota, A., Boyadjiev, S. A., Bye, S., Shao, C., O'Neill, J. P, Hunter, T. C., Albertini, R. J., Stambrook, P. J., and Tischfield, J. A. High frequency *in vivo* loss of heterozygosity is primarily a consequence of mitotic recombination. Cancer Res., 57: 1188-1193, 1997.

Gupta, S. K., Douglas-Jones, A. G., Jasani, B., Morgan, J. M., Pignatelli, M., and Mansel, R. E. E-cadherin (E-cad) expression in duct carcinoma in situ (DCIS) of the breast. Virchows Arch., *430*: 23-28, 1997.

Haenszel, W. Cancer mortality rates among the foreign born in the United States. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 26: 37-132, 1961.

Hainsworth, P.J., Raphael, K. L., Stitllwell, R. G., Bennet, R. C., and Garson, O. M. Cytogenetic features of twenty-six primary breast cancers. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 52: 205-218, 1991.

Hall, J. M., Lee, M. K., Newman, B., Morrow, J. E., Anderson, L. A., Huey, B., and King, M-C. Linkage of early-onset breast cancer to chromosome 17q21. Science, *250:* 1684-1689, 1990.

Han, H. J., Yanagisawa, A., Kato, Y., Park, J. G., and Nakamura, Y. Genetic instability in pancreatic cancer and poorly differentiated type of gastric cancer. Cancer Res., *53*: 5087-5089, 1993.

Hankins, G. R., De Souza, A. T., Bentley, R. C., Patel, M.R., Marks, J. R., Iglehart, J. D., and Jirttle, R. L. M6P/IGF2 receptor: a candidate breast tumour suppressor gene. Oncogene, *12*: 2003-2009, 1996.

Hardingham, J. E., Kotasek, D., Farmer, B., Butler, R. N., Mi, J. X., Sage, R. E. and Dobrovic, A. Immunobead-PCR: a technique for the detection of circulating tumour cells using immunomagnetic beads and the polymerase chain reaction. Cancer Res., *53*: 3455-3458, 1993.

Harris, H., Miller, O. J., Klein, G., Worst, P., and Tachibana, T. Suppression of malignancy by cell fusion. Nature, 223: 363-368, 1969.

Hartveit, F., Naartmann-Moe., and Stoa, K. F. Early recurrence in oestrogen receptor negative breast carcinomas. Acta Scand., *146*: 93-95, 1980.

Henderson, B.E., Pike, M.C., and Casagrande, J.T. Breast cancer and the estrogen window hypothesis. Lancet, 2: 363, 1981

Henning, G., Behrens, J., Truss, M., Frisch, S., Reichmann, E., and Birchmeier, W. Progression of carcinoma cells is associated with alterations in chromatin structure and factor binding at the E-cadherin promoter *in vivo*. Oncogene: *11*: 475-484, 1995.

Herman, J. G., Latif, F., Weng, Y., Lerman, M. I., Liu. I., Zbar, B., Liu, S., Samid, D., Duan, D. S., Gnarra, J. R., and Linehan, W. M. Silencing of the VHL tumour-suppressor gene by DNA methylation in renal carcinoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., *91*: 9700-9704, 1994.

Herman, J. G., Merlo, A., Mao, L., Lapidus, R. G., Jean-Pierre, J., Issa, J., Davidson, N. E., Sidransky, D., and. Baylin, S. B. Inactivation of the p16/CDKN2/MTS1 gene is frequently associated with DNA methylation in all common human cancers. Cancer Res., *55*: 4525-4530, 1995.

Herman, J. G., Graff, J. R., Myohanen, S., Nelkin, B. D., and Baylin, S. B. Methylationspecific PCR: A novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 93: 9821-9826, 1996.

Hermon, C., and Beral. V. Breast cancer mortality rates are levelling off or beginning to decline in many Western countries: analysis of timed trends, age-cohort and age-period models of breast cancer mortality in 20 countries. Br. J. Cancer, 73: 955-960, 1996.

Hill, S., Rodgers, C.S., and Hulten, M.A. Cytogenetic analysis in human breast carcinoma. II. Seven cases in the triploid/tetraploid range investigated using direct preparations. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet., 24: 45-62, 1987.

Hoang, J-M., Cottu, P. H., Thuille, B., Salmon, R. J., Thomas, G., and Hamelin, R. BAT-26, an indicator of the replication error phenotype in colorectal cancers and cell lines. Cancer Res., *57*: 300-303, 1997.

Hosking, L., Trowsdale, J., Nicolai, H., Solomon, E., Foulkes, W., Stamp, G., Signer, E., and Jeffreys, A. A somatic BRCA1 mutation in an ovarian tumour. Nature Genet., 9: 343-344, 1995.

Houlston, R. S., Collins, A., Slack, J., and Morton, N. E. Dominant genes for colorectal cancer are not rare. Ann. Hum. Genet., 56: 99-103, 1992.

Hsu, S. M., Rannie, L., and Fanger, H. Use of avidin-biotin-peroxidase technique: a comparison between ABC and unlabelled antibody (PAP) procedures. Am. J. Clin. Pathol., 75: 734-738, 1981.

Huang, J., Papadpoulos, N., McKinley, A. J., Farrington, S. M., Curtis, L. J., Wyllie, A. H., Zheng, S., Willson, J. K. V., Markowitz, S. D., Morin, P., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., and Dunlop, M. G. APC mutations in colorectal tumours with mismatch repair deficiency. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., *93*: 9049-9054, 1996.

Huang, H-M., Yeh, P. L-H., Martin, M. B., Straub, R. E., Gilliam, T. C., Caldwell, C. W., and Skibba, J. L. Genetic alterations of microsatellites on chromosome 18 in human breast carcinoma. Diagn. Mol. Pathol., 4: 66-72, 1995.

Huage, X., and Litt, L. A study of the origin of 'shadow bands' seen when typing dinucleotide repeat polymorphisms by the PCR. Hum. Mol. Genet., 2: 411-415, 1993.

Hultman, T., Stahl, S., Hornes, E., and Uhlen, M. Direct solid phase sequencing of genomic and plasmid DNA using magnetic beads. Nucl. Acid. Res., *17:* 4937-4946, 1989.

Iida, A., Isobe, R., Yoshimoto, M., Kasumi, F., Nakamura, Y., and Emi, M. Localization of a breast cancer tumour suppressor gene to a 3cM interval within chromosomal region 16q22. Br. J. Cancer, *75*: 264-267, 1997.

Imbert, G., Saudou, F., Yvert, G., Devys, D., Trottier, Y., Garnier, J. M., Weber, C., Mandel, J. L., Cancel, G., Abbas, N Durr, A., Didierjean, O., Stevanin, G., Agid, Y., and Brice, A. Cloning of the gene for spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 reveals a locus with high sensitivity to expanded CAG/glutamine repeats. Nature Genet., *14*: 285-291, 1996.

Ionov, Y., Peinado, M.A., Malkohysan, S., Shibata, D., and Perucho, M. Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. Nature, *363:* 558-561, 1993.

Isola, J. J., Kallioniemi, O-P., Chu, L. W., Fuqua, S. A. W., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Osborne, C. K., and Waldman, F. M. Genetic aberrations detected by comparative genomic hybridisation predict outcome in node-negative breast cancer. Am. J. Pathol., *147*: 905-911, 1994.

Issa, J-P. J., Ottaviano, Y.L., Celano, P., Hamilton, S. R., Davidson, N. E., Baylin, S. B. Methylation of the oestrogen receptor CpG islands links ageing and neoplasia in human colon. Nature Genet., 7: 536-540, 1994.

Ito, T., Yoshimoto, M., Iwase, T., Watanabe, S., Katagiri, T., Harada, Y., Kasumi, F., Yasuda, S., Mitomi, T., Emi, M., and Nakamura, Y. Association of genetic alterations on chromosome 17 and loss of hormone receptors in breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, *71*: 438-441, 1995.

Jackson, V., and Chalkey, R. Separation of newly synthesised nucleohistone by equilibrium centrifugation in cesium chloride. Biochemistry, *13*: 3952-3956, 1974.

James, L. A., Mitchell, E. L. D., Menasce, L., and Varley, J. M. Comparative genomic hybridisation of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast: identification of regions of DNA amplification and deletion in common with invasive breast carcinoma. Oncogene, *14*: 1059-1065, 1997.

Jansen, G., de Jong, P. J., Amemiya, C., Aslanidis, C., Shaw, D. J., Harley, H. G., Brook, J. D., Fewick, R., Korneluk, R. G., Tsilfidis, C., Shulter G., Hermens, R., Wormskamp, N. G. M., Smeets, H. J. M., and Wieringa, B. Physical and genetic characterisation of the distal segment of the myotonic dystophy area on 19q. Genomics, *13*: 509-517, 1992.

Jiang, W. D. E-cadherin and its associated protein catenins, cancer invasion and metastasis. Br. J. Surg., 83: 437-446, 1996.

Johnson, R. E., Kovvali, G. K., Prakash, L., and Prakash, S. Requirement of the yeast MSH3 and MSH6 genes for MSH2 dependent genomic stability. J. Biol. Chem., 271: 7285-7288, 1996.

Jones, J. L., Royall, J. E., and Walker, R. A. E-cadherin relates to EGFR expression and lymph node metastasis in primary breast cancers. Br. J. Cancer, 74: 1237-1241, 1996.

Jones, P. A. DNA methylation errors and cancer. Cancer Res., 56: 2463-2467, 1996.

Jones, P. A., and Gonzalgo, M. L. Altered DNA methylation and genome instability: A new pathway to cancer?. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 94: 2103-2105, 1997

Jonsson, M., Johannsson, O., and Borg, A. Infrequent occurrence of microsatellite instability in sporadic and familial breast cancer. Eur. J. Cancer, *31A*: 2330-2334, 1995

Justice, R. W., Zilian, O., Woods, D. F., Noll, M., and Bryant, P. J. Drosophila tumour suppressor gene warts encodes a homolog of human myotonic dystrophy kinase and is required for the control of cell shape and proliferation. Genes Dev., *9*: 534-546, 1995.

Kallioniemi, A., Kallioniemi, O-P., Sudar, D., Rutovitz, D., Gray, J. W., Waldman, F. M., and Pinkel, D. Comparative genomic hybridisation for molecular analysis of solid tumours. Science, *258*: 818-821, 1992.

Kallioniemi, A., Kallioniemi, O-P., Piper, Tanner, M., Stokke, T., Chen, L., Smith, H. S., Pinkel, D., Gray, J. W., and Waldman, F. M. Detection and mapping of amplified DNA sequences in breast cancer by comparative genomic hybridisation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA. *91*: 2156-2160, 1994.

Kanai, Y., Oda, T., Tsuda, H., Ochiai, A., and Hirohashi, S. Point mutations of the E-cadherin gene in invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast. Jpn. J. Cancer Res., 85: 1035-1039, 1994. Karnick, P., Plummer, S., Casey, G., Myles, J., Tubbs, R., Crowe, J., and Williams, B. R. G. Microsatellite instability at a single locus (D11S988) on chromosome 11p15.5 as a late event in mammary tumourigenesis. Hum. Mol. Genet., *10*: 1889-194, 1995.

Karran, P. Appropriate partners make good matches. Science, 268: 1857-1858, 1995

Karran, P. Microsatellite instability and DNA mismatch repair in human cancer. Semin. Cancer. Biol., 7: 15-24, 1996.

Kasami, M., Vnencak-Jones, C. L., Manning, S., Dupont, W. D., and Page, D. L. Loss of heterozygosity and microsatellite instability in breast hyperplasia. Am. J. Path., *150*: 1925-1932, 1997.

Kashiwaba, M., Tamura, G., Suzuki, Y., Maesawa, C., Ogasawara, S., Sakata, K., and Sotadate, R. Epithelial-cadherin gene is not mutated in ductal carcinoma of the breast. Jpn. J. Cancer Res., *86*: 1054-1059, 1995.

Kawaguchi, Y., Okamoto, T., Taniwaki, M., Aizawa, M., Inoue, M., Katayama, Kawakami, H., Nakamura, S., Nishimura, M., Akiguchi, I., Kimura, J., Narumiya, S., and Kakaizuka, A. CAG expansions in a novel gene for Machado-Joseph disease at chromosome 14q 32.1. Nature Genet., 8: 221-228, 1994.

Kerangueven, F., Essioux, L., Dib, A., Nogauchi, T., Allione, F., Geneix, J., Longy, M., Lidereau, R., Eisinger, F., Pebusque, M-J., Jacquemier, J., Bonaiti-Pellie, C., Sobol, H., and Birnbaum, D. Loss of heterozygosity and linkage analysis in breast cancer: indication for a 3rd susceptibility gene on the short arm of chromosome 8. Oncogene, *10*: 1023-1026, 1995.

Keydar, I., Chen, L., Karby, S., Weiss, F. R., Delarea, J., Radu, M., Chaitcik, S., and Brenner, H. J. Establishment and characterisation of a cell line of human breast carcinoma origin. Eur. J. Cancer, *15*: 659-670, 1979.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell, 87: 159-170, 1996.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Gatekeepers and Caretakers. Nature, 386: 761-762, 1997.

Klijn, J. G. M., Berns, E. M. M. J., and Foekens, J.A. Prognostic factors and response to therapy in breast cancer. Cancer Surv., 18: 165-198, 1993.

Knudson, A. G. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 68: 820-823, 1971.

Knudson, A. G. Hereditary cancer, oncogenes and antioncogenes. Cancer Res., 45: 1437-1443, 1985.

Koide, R, Ikeuchi, T., Onodera, O., Tanaka, H., Igarashi, S., Endo, K., Takahashi, H., Kondo, R., Ishikawa, A., Hayashi, T., Saito, M., Tomodoa, A., miike, T., Naito, H., Ikuta, F., and

Tsuji, S. Unstable expression of CAG repeat in hereditary denatorubral pallidoluysian atrophy (DRPLA). Nature Genet., 6: 9-13, 1994.

Koli, K. M., and Arteaga, C. L. Predominant cytosolic localisation of type II transforming growth factor  $\beta$  receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer Res., *57*: 970-977, 1997.

Koreth, J., Bethwaite, P. B. and O'D McGee, J. Mutation at 11q23 in human non-familial breast cancer. A microdissection microsatellite analysis. J. Pathol., *176*: 11-18, 1995.

Korinek, V., Barker, N, Morin, P. J, vanWichen, D., deWeger, R., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., and Clevers, H. Constitutive transcriptional activation by a beta-catenin-Tcf complex in APC(-/-) colon carcinoma. Science, 275: 1784-1787, 1997.

Kornfield, S. Structure and function of the mannose-6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor II receptors. Annu. Rev. Biochem., *61*: 307-330, 1992.

Kozman, H. M., Philips, H. A., Callen, D. F., Sutherland, G. R., and Mulley, J. C. Integration of the cytogenetic and genetic linkage maps of human chromosome 16 using 50 physical intervals and 50 polymorphic loci. Cytogenet. Cell Genet., *62*: 194-198, 1993.

Krajewski, S., Blomqvist, C., Franssila, K., Krajeski, M., Wasenius, V-M., Niskanen, E., and Reed, J. C. Reduced expression of pro-apoptotic gene Bax is associated with poor response rates to combination chemotherapy and shorter survival in women with metastatic breast adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res., *55*: 4471-4478, 1995.

Kramer, E. J., Pritchard, M., Lynch, M., Yu, S., Holman, K., Baker, E., Warren, S. T., Schlessinger, D., Sutherland, G. R., and Richards, D. I. Mapping of DNA instability at the fragile X to a trinucleotide repeat sequence p(CGG)n. Science, *252*: 1711-1714, 1991.

Krontiris, T. G., Delvin, B., Karp, D. D., Robert, J. J., and Risch, N. An association between the risk of cancer and mutations in the H-*ras*-1 mini-satellite locus. New Eng. J. Med., *329*: 517-523, 1993.

Kuukasjarvi, T., Tanner, M., Pennanen, S., Karthu, R., Kallioniemi, O-P., and Isola, J. Genetic changes in intraductal breast cancer detected by comparative genomic hybridisation. Am. J. Path., *150*: 1465-1471, 1997.

Lagios, M. D., Westadahl, P. R., Margolin, F. R., and Rose, M. R. Duct carcinoma in situ. Relationship of extent of non-invasive disease to the frequency of occult invasion, multicentricity, lymph node metastes and short-term treatment failures. Cancer, *50*: 1309-1314, 1982.

Lagios, M. D., Margolin, F., R., Westadahl, P. R., Rose, M. R. Mammographically detected duct carcinoma in situ: in frequency of local recurrence following tylectomy and prognostic effect of nuclear grade on local recurrence. Cancer, *63*: 618-624, 1989.

Lakhani, S. R., Collins, N., Sloane, J. P., and Stratton, M. R. Loss of heterozygosity in lobular carcinoma in situ of the breast. J. Clin. Pathol: Mol. Pathol., *48*: M74-M78, 1995a.

Lakhani, S. R., Collins, N., Sloane, J. P., and Stratton, M. R. Atypical ductal hyperplasia of the breast: clonal proliferation with loss of heterozygosity on chromosomes 16q and 17p. J. Clin. Pathol., *48*: 611-615, 1995b.

Lancaster, J. M., Wooster, R., Mangion, J., Phelan, C. M., Cochran, C., Gumbs, C., Seal, S., Barfoot, R., Collins, N., Bignell, G., Patel, S., Hamoudi, R., Larsson, C., Wiseman, R., W., Berchuck, A., Iglehart, J. D., Marks, J. R., Ashworth, A., Stratton, M. R., and Futreal, P. A. BRCA2 mutations in primary breast and ovarian cancers. Nature Genet. *13*: 238-240, 1996.

Lane, D. P., and Crawford, L. V. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV-40 transformed cells. Nature, 278: 261-263, 1979.

Lane, D. P., and Benchimol, S. p53: oncogene or anti-oncogene. Genes Dev., 4: 1-8, 1990.

Lane, D. P. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature, 358: 15-16, 1992.

Larsson, C., Bystrom, C., Skoog, L., Rotstein, S., and Nordenskjold. M. Genomic alterations in human breast carcinomas. Genes Chroms. Cancer, 2: 191-197, 1990.

Lasko, D., Cavenee, W., and Nordenskjold, M. Loss of constitutional heterozygosity in human cancer. Ann. Rev. Genet., 25: 281-314, 1991.

La Spada, A. R., Wilson, E. M., Lubahn, D. B. Harding, A. E., and Fischbeck, K. H. Androgen receptor mutations in X-linked spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy. Nature, *352*: 77-79, 1991.

La Thangue, N. B. DRTF1/E2F: an expanding family of heterodimeric transcription factors implicated in cell-cycle control. Trends Biochem. Sci., 19: 108-114, 1994.

La Vecchia, C., Negri, E., Franceschi, S., Favero, A., Nanni, O., Filiberti, R., Conti, E., Montella, M., Veronesi, A., Ferraroni, M., and Decarli, A. Hormone replacement treatment and breast cancer risk: a co-operative Italian study. Br. J. Cancer, 72: 244-248, 1995.

Leach, F. S., Nicolaides, N. C., Papadopoulos, N., Liu, B., Jen, J., Parsons, R., Peltomaki, P., Sistonen, P., Aaltonen, L. A., Nystrom-Lahti, M., Guan, X-Y., Zhang, J., Meltzer, P. S., Yu, J-W., Kao, F-T., Chen, D., J., Cerosaletti, K. M., Fournier, R. E. K., Todd, S., Lewis, T., Leach., R. J., Naylor, S. L., Weissenbach, J., Mecklin, J-P., Jarvinen, H., Petersen, G. M., Hamilton, S. R., Green, J., Jass, J., Watson, P., Lynch, H. T., Trent, J. M., de la Chappelle, A., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Mutations of a *mutS* homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Cell, *75*: 1215-1225, 1993.

Lee, S. W. H-cadherin, a novel cadherin with growth inhibitory functions and diminished expression in human breast cancer. Nature Med., 2: 776-782, 1996.

Leong, A. S. Y., and Lee, A. K. C. Biological indices in the assessment of breast cancer. J. Clin. Mol. Pathol., 48: M22-M28, 1995.

Leppert, M., Dobbs, M., Scambler, P., O'Connell, P., Nakamura, Y., Stauffer, D., Woodard, S., Burt, R., Hughes, J., Gardner, E., and White, R. The gene for familial polyposis coli maps to the long arm of chromosome 5. Science, *238:* 1411-1443, 1987.

Levine, A. J. Tumour suppressor genes. Bioessays, 12: 60-66, 1990.

Lew, E.A., and Garfunkel, L. Variations in mortality by weight among 750, 000 men and women. J. Chron. Dis., 563: 32, 1979.

Li, C. Y., Ziesmer, S.C., and Lazcano-Villareal, O. Use of azide and hydrogen peroxide as an inhibitor for endogenous peroxidase in the immunoperoxidase method. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 35: 1457-1460, 1987

Li, D., Wang, M., Dhingra, K., Hittleman, W. M. Aromatic DNA adducts in adjacent tissues of breast cancer patients: clues to breast cancer etiology. Cancer Res., *56*: 287-293, 1996.

Li, F., P, Fraumeni, J. F., Mulvihill, J. J., Blattner, W. A., Dreyfus, M. G., Tucker, M. A., and Miller, R. W. A cancer family syndrome in 24 kindreds. Cancer Res., *48*: 5357-5362, 1988.

Li, H., Gyllensten, U. B., Cui, X., Saiki, R. K., Erlich, H. A., and Arnheim, N. Amplification and analysis of DNA sequences in single human sperm and diploid cells. Nature, *335*: 414-417, 1988.

Li, J., Yen, C., Liaw, D., Podsypanina, K., Bose, S., Wang, S. I., Puc, J., Miliaresis, C., Rodgers, L., McCombie, R., Bigner, S. H., Giovanella, B. C., Ittmann, M., Tycko, B., Hibshoosh, H., Wigler, M. H., and Parsons, R. PTEN, a putative tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science, *275*: 1943-1946, 1997.

Liaw, D., Marsh, D. J., Li, J., Dahia, P. L. M., Wang, S. I., Zheng, Z., Bose, S., Call, K. M., Tsou, H. C., Peacocke, M., Eng, C., and Parsons, R. Germline mutations of the PTEN gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. Nature Genet., *16:* 64-67, 1997.

Lidereau, R., Escot, C., Theillet, C., Champene, M-H., Brunet, M., Gest, J., and Callahan, R.. High frequency of rare alleles of the human c-Ha-ras-1 proto-oncogene in breast cancer patients. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 77: 697-700, 1986.

Lindblom, A., Rotstein, S., Skoog, L., Nordensjold, M., and Larsson, C. Deletions on chromosome 16 in primary breast carcinomas are associated with development of distant metastases. Cancer Res., *53*: 3707-3711, 1993.

Linzer, D. I., and Levine, A. J. Characterisation of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumour antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell, *17*: 43-52, 1979.

Lippman, M. E., and Allegra, J. C. Quantitative oestrogen receptor analyses: the response to endocrine and cytotoxic chemotherapy in human breast cancer and the disease free interval. Cancer, *46*: 2884-2888, 1980.

Lippman, M. E., Dickson, R. B., and Bates, S. Autocrine and paracrine growth regulation in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat., 1: 59-70, 1986.

Lipponen, P., Ji, H., Aaltomaa, S., Syrjanen, K., p53 protein expression in breast cancer as related to histopathological characteristics and prognosis. Int. J., Cancer, 55: 51-56, 1993.

Lipponen, P., Saarelainen, E., Ji, H., Aaltomaa, S., and Syrjanen, K. Expression of E-cadherin (E-Cd) as related to other prognostic factors and survival in breast cancer. J. Pathol., *174:* 101-109, 1994.

Liu, B., Parsons, R., Nicolaides, N. C., Markowitz, S., Wilson, J. K., Parsons, R. E., Jen, J., Papadopolous, N., Peltmomaki, P., de la Chapelle, A., and Hamilton, S. R. Mismatch repair gene defects in sporadic colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Nature Genet., *9*: 48-55, 1995.

Liu, B., Papadopoulos, N., Nicolaides, N. C., Lynch, H. T., Watson, P., Jass, J. R., Dunlop, M., Wyllie, A., Peltomaki, P., de la Chapelle, A., Hamilton, S. R., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. Analysis of mismatch repair genes defects in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer patients. Nature Med., 2: 169-174, 1996.

Lizard-Nacol, S., Lideau, R., Collin, F., Arnal, M., Hahnel, L., and Roignot, P. Benign breast disease: absence of genetic alterations at several loci implicated in breast cancer malignancy. Cancer Res., *55*: 4416-4419, 1995.

Lobo, R. A. Benefits and risks of oestrogen replacement therapy. Am. J. Obs. Gynae., 173: 982-989, 1995.

Lodata, R. J. F., Maguire, H. C., Greene, M. L., Weiner, D. B., and LiVolisi, V. I. A. Immunohistochemical evaluation of c-*erb*-B2 oncogene expression in ductal carcinoma in situ and atypical ductal hyperplasia of the breast. Mod. Pathol., *3*: 449, 1990.

Loeb, L A. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res., 51: 3075-3079, 1991.

Loeb, L A. Microsatellie instability: marker of a mutator phenotype in cancer. Cancer Res., 54: 5059-5063, 1994.

London, S. J., Connolly, J. L. Schnitt, S. J., and Colditz, G. A. A prospective study of benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer. J. Am. Med. Ass., *267:* 941-944, 1992.

Louis, D. N., von Deimling, A., and Seizinger, B. R. A (CA)n dinucleotide repeat assay for evaluating loss of allelic heterozygosity in small and archival human brain tumour specimens Am. J. Path., *141*: 777-782, 1992.

Love, R. R., Mazess, R. B., Barden, H. S., Epstein, S., Newcomb, P. A., Jordan, V. C., Carbone, P. P., and DeMets, D. L. Effects of tamoxifen on bone-mineral density in postmenapausal women with breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med., *326*: 852-856, 1992.

Lovekin, C., Ellis, I. O., Locker, A., Robertson, J. F. R., Bell, J., Nicholson, R., Gullick, W. J., Elston, C. W., and Blamey, R. W. c-*erb*-B2 oncoprotein expression and prognosis in operable breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, *63*: 439-443, 1991.

Lubin, F., Ruder, A. M., Wax, Y., and Modan, B. Overweight and changes in weight throughout adult life in breast cancer aetiology. Am. J. Epidemiol., *122*: 579-588, 1985.

Lundberg, C., Skoog, L., Cavenee, W. K., and Nordenskjold, M. Loss of heterozygosity in human ductal breast tumors indicates a recessive mutation on chromosome 13. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, *84*: 2372-2376, 1987.

Lynch, H. T., and Smyrk, T. Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome). Cancer, 78: 1149-1167, 1996.

MacMahon, B., Cole, P., and Lin, T.M. Age at first birth and cancer of the breast. A summary of an international study. Bull. WHO, 43: 209, 1970.

Malkin, D., Li, F. P., Strong, L.C., Fraumeni, J. F. Jr., Nelson, C. E., Kim, D. H., Kassel, J., Gryka, M. A., Bishoff, F. Z., Tainsky, M. A., and Friend, S. H. Germ-line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. Science, *250*: 1233-1238, 1990.

Mallory, S. B. Cowden syndrome (multiple hamartoma syndrome). Der. Clinics, 13: 27-31, 1995.

Marcu, K. B., Bossone, S. A., and Patel, A. J. myc function and regulation. Ann. Rev. Biochem., 61: 809-860, 1992.

Malkhosyan, S., Rampino, N., Yamamoto, H., and Perucho, M. Frameshift mutator mutations. Nature, *382*: 499-500, 1996.

Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F., and Sambrook, J. Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. New York: Cold Spring Harbour, 1989

Markowitz, S. D., Wang, J., Myeroff, L., Parsons, R., Sun, L., Lutterbaugh, J., Fan, R. S., Zborowska, E., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Brattain, M., and Willson, J. K. V. Inactivation of the type II TGF- $\beta$  receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. Science, *268*: 1336-1338, 1995.

Marra, G., and Boland, C. R. Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC): the syndrome, the genes, and historical perspective. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 87: 1114-1125, 1995.

Mars, W. M., and Saunders, G. F. Chromosomal abnormalities in human breast cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev., 9:35-43, 1990.

Martin, P.M., Rolland, P.H., and Jacquemier, J. Multiple steroid receptors in human breast cancer. II. Estrogen and progestin receptors in 672 primary tumours. Cancer Chemotherapy Pharmacol 2: 107, 1979.

Marx, D., Schauer, A., and Reiche, C. c-erbB-2 expression and correlation to other biological parameters of breast cancer. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol., *116*: 15-20, 1990.

Mau, S. Ellis, I.O., Sibbering, M., Blamey, R.W., Brook, J.D. High-levels of allele loss at the FHIT and ATM genes in non-comedo Carcinoma in situ and grade-I tubular invasive breast cancers. Cancer Res., *56*: 5484-5489 1996.

Maynard, P. V., Blamey, R. W., Elston, C. W., Haybittle, J. L., and Griffiths, K. Oestrogen receptor assay in primary breast cancer and early recurrence of the disease. Cancer Res., *38*: 4292-4295, 1978.

Mazars, R., Spinardi, L., Ben-Cheikh, M., Simony-Lafontaine, J., Jeanteur, P., and Theillet, C. p53 mutations occur in aggressive breast cancer. Cancer Res., *52*: 3918-3923, 1992.

McGuire, W. L., Vollmer, E. P., and Carbone, P. P. (eds). Estrogen receptor in human breast cancer. New York, Raven Press. (1975)

McGuire, W. L., and Clark, G. M. Prognostic factors for recurrence and survival in axillary node-negative breast cancer. J. Steroid Biochem., 34:145-148, 1989.

Mello, J. A., Acharya, S., Fishel, R., and Essigmann, J. A. The mismatch-repair protein hMSH2 binds selectively to DNA adducts of the anticancer drug cisplatin. Chem. Biol., *3*: 579-589, 1996.

Mellon, I., Rajpal, D. K., Koi, M., Boland, C. R., and Champe, G. N. Transcription-coupled repair defeciency and mutations in human mismatch repair genes. Science, 272: 557-560, 1996.

Meltzer, S. J., Yin, J., Huang, Y., McDaniel, T. K., Newrick, C., Iseri, O., Vogelstein, B., and Reseau, J. H. Reduction to homozygosity involving p53 in esophageal cancers demonstrated by the polymerase chain reaction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, *88*: 4976-4980, 1991.

Merajver, S. D., Pham, T. M., Caduff, R. F., Chen, M., Poy, E. L., Weber, B. L., Collins, F. S., Johnston, C., and Frank, T. S. Somatic mutations in the BRCA1 gene in sporadic ovarian tumours. Nature Genet., *9*: 439-443, 1995.

Merkel, D. E., and McGuire, W. L. Ploidy, proliferative activity and prognosis. DNA flow cytometry of solid tumours. Cancer, 65: 1194, 1990.

Merlo, A., Herman, J. G., Mao, L., Lee, D. J., Gabrielson, E., Burger, P., Baylin, S. B., and Sidransky, D. 5' CpG island methylation is associated with transcriptional silencing of the tumour suppressor p16/CDKN2/MTS1 in human cancers. Nature Med., *1*: 686-692, 1995.

Merlo, G. R., Bernardi, A., Diella, F., Venesio, T., Cappa, A. P. M., Callahan, R., and Liscia, D. S. In primary human breast carcinomas mutations in exons 5 and 6 of the p53 gene are associated with high S-phase index. Int. J. Cancer, *53*: 531-535, 1993.

Meyer, M.-E., Gronmeyer, H., Turcotte, B., Bocquel, M.-T., Tasset, D., and Chambon, P. Steroid hormone receptors compete for factors that mediate their enhancer function. Cell, *57*: 433-442, 1989.

Meyers, J. S., Rao, B. R., Stevens, S. C., and White, W. L. Low incidence of estrogen receptor in breast carcinomas with rapid rates of cellular replication. Cancer, *40*: 2290, 1977.

Meyn, M. S. Ataxia-Telangiectasia and cellular responses to DNA damage. Cancer Res., 55: 5991-6001, 1995.

Miki, Y., Swensen, J., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Futreal, P. A., Harshman, K., Tavtigian, S., Liu, Q, Cochran, C., Bennet, L. M., Ding, W., Bell, R., Rosenthal, J., Hussey, C., Tran, T., McClure, M., Frye, C., Hattier, T., Phelps, R., Haugen-Strano, A., Katcher, H., Yakumo, K., Gholami, Z., Shaffer, D., Stone, S., Bayer, S., Wray, C., Bogden, R., Dayananth, P., Ward, J., Tonin, P., Narod, S., Bristow, P. K., Norris, F. H., Helvering, L., Morrison, P., Rosteck, P., Lai, M., Barrett, J. C., Lewis, C., Neuhausen, S., Cannon-Albright, L., Goldgar, D., Wiseman, R., Kamb, A., and Skolnick, M. H. A strong candidate for the 17q-linked breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science, *266*: 66-71, 1994.

Miki, Y., Katagiri, T., Kasumi, F., Yoshimoto, T., Nakamura, Y. Mutation analysis in the BRCA2 gene in primary breast cancers. Nat. Genet., 13: 245-247, 1996.

Miller, A.B. Incidence and demographics: Radiation risk. In Harris, J.R., Hellman, S., Henderson, I.C., Kinne, D.W. Breast Diseases. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott, pp119-126, 1992.

Miller D. R., Rosenberg, I., and Kaufmann, D. W. Breast cancer before the age of 45 and oral contraceptive use: New findings. Am. J. Epidemiol., *126*: 269-280, 1989.

Mitas, M. Trinucleotide repeats associated with human disease. Nucl. Acid. Res., 25: 2245-2252, 1997.

Mitelman, F., Meterns, F., and Johansson, B. A breakpoint map of recurrent chromosomal rearrangements in human neoplasia. Nature Genet., 417-419, 1997. (Special Issue).

Modrich, P. Mechanisms and biological effects of mismatch repair. Ann. Rev. Genet., 25: 229-253, 1991.

Moll, R., Mitze, M., Frixen, V. H., and Birchmeier, W. Differential loss of E-cadherin in infiltrating ductal and lobular breast carcinoma. Am. J. Pathol., *143*: 1731-1742, 1993.

Morabia, A., Bernstein, M., Heritier, S., and Khatchatrian, N. Relation of breast cancer with passive and active exposure to tobacco smoke. Am. J. Epidemiol., 143: 918-928, 1996.

Morin, P. J., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. Apoptosis and APC in colorectal tumourigenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 93: 7950-7954, 1996.

Morin, P. J., Sparks, A. B., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. Activation of  $\beta$ -catenin-Tcf signalling in colon cancer by mutations in  $\beta$ -catenin or APC. Science, 275: 1787-1790, 1997.

Muleris, M., Almaelda, A., Gerbault-Seureau, M., Malfy, B., and Dutrillaux, B. Detection of DNA amplificationin 17 primary breast carcinomas with homogenously staining regions by modified genomic comparative hybridisation technique. Genes Chms. Cancer, *10:* 160-17-, 1994.

Munn, K.E., Walker, R.A., and Varley, J.M. Frequent alterations of chromosome 1 in ductal carcinoma *in situ* of the breast. Oncogene, *10*: 1653-1657, 1995.

Munn, K.E., Walker, R.A., Menasce, L., and Varley, J.M. Mutation of the TP53 gene and allelic imbalance at chromosome 17p13 in ductal carcinoma *in situ*. Br. J. Cancer, 74: 1578-1585, 1996a.

Munn, K.E., Walker, R.A., Menasce, L., and Varley, J.M. Allelic imbalance in the region of the BRCA1 gene in ductal carcinoma *in situ* of the breast. Br. J. Cancer, 73: 636-639, 1996b.

Myeroff, L. L., Parsons, R., Kim, S-J., Hedrick, L., Cho, R. K., Orth, K., Mathis, M., Kinzler, K. W., Lutterbaugh, J., Park, K., Bang, Y-J., Lee, H, Y., Park, J-G., Lynch, H. T., Roberts, A, B., Vogelstein, B., and Markowitz, S.D. A transforming growth factor receptor  $\beta$  type II gene common in colon and gastric but rare in endometrial cancers with microsatellite instability. Cancer Res., *55*: 5545-5547, 1995.

Nagafuchi, A., Shiarayoshi, Y., Okazaki, K., Yasuda, K., and Takeichi, M. Transformation of cell adhesion properties by exogenously introduced E-cadherin cDNA. Nature, *329*: 341-343, 1987.

Nagai, H., Negrini, M., Carter, S. L., Gillum, D. R., Rosenberg, A. L., Schwartz, G. F., and Croce, C. M. Detection and cloning loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 1p in breast cancer. Cancer Res., 55: 1752-1757, 1995.

Narod, S.A., Feunteun, J., Lynch, H. T., Watson, P., Conway, T., Lynch, J., T., and Lenoir, G. M. Familial breast-ovarian cancer locus on chromosome 17q12-23. Lancet, *338*: 82-83, 1991.

Nayar, R., Zhuang, Z., Merino, M. J., and Silverberg, S. G. Loss of Heterozygosity on chromosome 11q13 in lobular lesions of the breast using tissue microdissection and the polymerase chain reaction. Hum. Pathol., 28: 277-282, 1996.

Nelen, M. R., Padberg, G. W., Peeters, E. A. J., Lin, A. Y., van den Helm, B., Trants, R. R., Coulon, V., Goldstein, A. M., van Reen, M. M. M., Easton, D. F., Eeles, R. A., Hodgson, S., Mulvihill, J. J., Murday, V. A., Tucker, M. A., Mariman, E. C. M., Starink, T. M., Ponder, B. A. J., Ropers, H. H., Kremer, H., Longly, M., and Eng, C. Localisation of the gene for Cowden disease to chromosome 10q22-23. Nature Genet., *13*: 114-116, 1996.

Newton, C. R., and Graham, A. PCR. *In:* The introduction to Biotechniques series. Graham, J. M., and Billington, D. (Eds). Bios Scientific publications. Oxford. 1994.

Nicolaides, N. C., Papadopoulus, N., Liu, B. Wei, Y. F., Carter, K. C., Ruben, S. M., Rosen, C. A., Haseltine, W. A., Fleshchmann, R. D., and Fraser, C. M. Mutations of two PMS homologues in HNPCC. Nature, *371:* 75-80, 1994.

Nicolaides, N. C., Carter, K. C., Shell, B. K., Papadopoulos, N., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. Genomic organisation of the human *PMS2* gene family. Genomics, *80:* 195-206, 1995.

Nowell, P. The clonal evolution of tumour populations. Science, 194: 23-28, 1976.

Ockleford, C. The confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM). J. Pathol., 176: 1-2, 1995.

Oda, T., Kanai., Y., Oyama, T., Yoshiura, K., Shimoyama, Y., Birchmeier, W., Sugimura, T., and Hirohashi, S. E-cadherin gene mutations in human gastric carcinoma cell lines. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. *91*: 1858-1862, 1994.

Ogretmen,B., and Safa, A. R. Expression of the mutated p53 tumour suppressor gene protein and its molecular and biochemical characterisation in multidrug resistant MCF-7/Adr human breast cancer cell. Oncogene, *14*: 499-506, 1997.

Oka, H., Shiozaki, H., Kobayashi, K., Inove, M., Tahara, H., Kobayashi, T., Takatsuka, Y., Matsuyoshi, N., Hirno, S., Takeichi, M., Mori, T. Expression of E-cadherin cell adhesion molecules in human breast cancer tissues and its relationship to metastasis. Cancer Res., *53*: 1696-1701, 1993

Oltavi, Z. N., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. Bcl-2 heterodimerises in vivo with a conserved homolog, bax, that accelerates programmed cell death.Cell, 74: 609-619, 1993.

Orita, M., Iwahana, H., Kanazawa, H., Hayashi., and Seiya, T. Detection of polymorphisms of human DNA by gel electrophoresis as single stranded conformational polymorphisms. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, *86*: 2766-2770, 1989a.

Orita, M., Suzuki, Y., Seika, T., and Hayashi, K. Rapid and sensitive detection of point mutations and DNA polymorphisms using the polymerase chain reaction. Genomics, 5: 874-879, 1989b

Orphanos, V., McGown, G., Hey, Y., Boyle, J. M., and Santibanez-Koref, M. Proximal 6q, a region showing allele loss in primary breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, 71: 290-293, 1995

Orr, H. T., Chung, M. Y., Banfi, S., Kwiatkowski, T. J.Jr., Servadio, A., Beaudet, A. L., McGall, A. E., Duvick, L. A., Ranum, L. P., and Zoghbi, H. Y. Expansion of an unstable trinucleotide CAG repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Nature Genet., *4*: 221-226, 1993.

Osbourne, R. J., Merlo, G. R., Mitsudomi, T., Venesio, T., Liscia, D. S., Cappa, A. P. M., Chiba, I., Takahashi, T., Nau, M. M., Callahan, R., Minna, J. D. Mutations in the p53 gene in primary human breast cancers. Cancer Res., *51*: 6194-6198, 1991.

Ottaviano, Y. L., Issa, J. P., Parl, F. F., Smith, H. S., Baylin, S. B., and Davidson, N. E. Methylation of the oestrogen receptor gene CpG island marks loss of estrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res., *54*: 2552-2555, 1994.

Ouyang, H., Shiwaku, H. O., Hagiwara, H., Miura, K., Abe, T., Kato, Y., Ohtani, H., Shiiba, K., Souza, R. F., Meltzer, S. J., and Horrii, A. The Insulin-like Growth Factor II Receptor gene is mutated in genetically unstable cancers of the endometrium, stomach, and colorectum. Cancer Res., *57*: 1851-1854, 1997

Page, D. L., and Anderson, T. J. (Eds). Diagnostic histopathology of the breast. Churchill Livingstone. Edinburgh, 1987.

Page, D. L., Kidd, T. E., Dupont, W. D., Simpson, J. F., and Rogers, L. W. Lobular neoplasia of the breast: higher risk for subsequent invasive cancer predicted by more extensive disease. Hum. Pathol., 22: 1232-1239, 1991.

Page, D. L., Dupont, W. D., Rogers, L. W., Jensen, R. A, and Schuyler, P. A. Continued local recurrence of carcinoma 15-25 years after a diagnosis of low grade ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast treated only by biopsy. Cancer, 76: 1197-1200, 1995.

Palacios, J., Benito, N., Pizarro, A., Suarez, A., Espada, J., Cano, A., and Gamallo, C. Anomalous expression of P-cadherin in breast carcinoma. Am. J. Path., *146*: 605-612, 1995.

Palambo, F., Gallinari, P., Iaccarino, Lettieri, T., Hughes, M., D'Arrigo, A., Truong, O., Hsuan, J. J., and Jirincy, J. GTBP, a 160-kilodalton protein essential for mismatch-binding activity in human cells. Science, *268*: 1912-1914, 1995.

Pang, Q., Alani, E., Kolodner, R. D., and Liskay, R. M. MLH1, PMS1 and MSH2 interactions during the initiation of DNA mismatch repair in yeast. Science, 265: 1091-1093, 1994.

Patel, U., Grundfest-Broniatowski, S., Gupta, M., and Banerjee, S. Microsatellite instabilities at five chromosomes in primary breast tumours. Oncogene, 9: 3695-3700, 1994.

Paul, C., Skegg, D. C. G., Spears, G. F. S., and Kaldor, J. M. Oral contraceptives and breast cancer: a national study. Br. Med. J., 293: 723-726, 1986

Paulson, T. G., Wright, F. A., Parker, B. A., Russack, V., and Wahl, G. M. Microsatellite instability correlates with reduced survival and poor disease prognosis in breast cancer. Cancer Res., *56*: 1641-1644, 1996.

Peifer, M. β-catenin as oncogene: the smoking gun. Science 275: 1752-1753, 1997.

Peltomaki, P., Lothe, R. A., Aaltonen, L. A., Pylkkanen, L., Nystrom-Lahti, M. N., Seruca, R., David, L., Holm, R., Ryberg, D., Haugen, A., Brogger, A., Borresen, A-L., and de la Chapelle, A. Microsatellite instability is associated with tumours that characterise the hereditary non-polyposis colorectal carcinoma syndrome. Cancer Res., *53*: 5853-5855, 1993.

Pertschuk, L.P., Feldman, J.G., Eisenberg, K.B., Carter, A.C., Thelmo, W.L., Cruz, W.P., Thorpe, S.M., Christensen, J., Rasmussen, B.B., Rose, C., Greene, G.L. Immunocytochemical detection of progesterone receptor in breast cancer with monoclonal antibody - Relation to biochemical assay, disease free survival and clinical endocrine response. Cancer, *62*: 342-349, 1988.

Perucho, M., Peiado, M. A., Ionov, Y., Casares, S., Malkhosyan, S., and Stanbridge, E. Defects in replication fidelity of simple repeated sequences reveal a new mutator mechanism for oncogenesis. Cold Spring Harbor Sympos. Quant. Biol. *59*: 339-348, 1994.

Perucho, M. Microsatellite instability: The mutator that mutates the other mutator. Nature Med., 2: 630-631, 1996.

Pfeiffer, G. D., Steigerwald, S. D., Hansen, R. S., Garther, S. M., and Riggs, A. D. Polymerase chain reaction-aided genomic sequencing of an X chromosome-linked CpG island: methylation patterns suggest clonal inheritance, CpG site autonomy, and an explanation of activity state stability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 87: 8252-8256, 1990.

Pierceall, W. E., Woodward, A. S., Morrow, J.S., Rimm, D. L., and Fearon, E. R. Frequent alterations in E-cadherin and  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -catenin expression in human breast cancer cell lines. Oncogene, *11*: 1319-1326, 1994.

Pike, M. C. Henderson, B. E., Krailo, M. D., Duke, A., and Roy, S. Breast cancer and oral contraceptives: reply to critics. Lancet, 1414 (1983)

Poller, D. A. N., Hutchings, C. E., Galea, M., Bell, J. A., Nicholson, R. A., Elston, C. W., Blamey, R. W., and Ellis, I. O. p53 protein expression in human breast carcinoma: relationship to expression of epidermal growth factor receptor, c-*erb*-B2 protein overexpression, and oestrogen receptor. Br. J. Cancer, *66*: 583-588, 1992.

Polyak, K. Negative regulation of cell growth by TGFβ. Biochem. Biophys. Acta, *1242*: 185-199, 1996.

Powell, S. M., Petersen, G. M., Krush, A. J., Booker, S., Giardiello, F. M., Hamilton, S. R., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. Molecular diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis. New. Engl. J. Med., 329: 1982-1987, 1993.

Press, M. F., Piek, M. C., Chazin, V. R., Hung, G., Udove, J. J. A., Markowitcz, M., Danyluk, J., Godolphin, W., Sliwkowski, M., Akita, R., Paterson, M. C., and Slamon, D. J. Her-2/*neu* expression in node negative breast cancer: direct tissue quantitation by computerized image analysis and association of over expression with increased risk of recurrent disease. Cancer Res., *53*: 4960-4970, 1993.

Prolla, T. A., Christie, D. M., and Liskay, R. M. Dual requirement in yeast DNA mismatch repair for MLH1 and PMS1, two homologues of the bacterial mutL gene. Mol. Cell Biol., *14*: 407-415 1994.

Pulst, S. M., Nechiporuk, A., Nechiporuk, T., Gispert, S., Chen, X. N., Lopes-Cendes, I., Pearlman, S., Starkman, S., Orozco-Diaz, G., Lunkes, A. *et al.* Moderate expansion of a normally biallelic trinucleotide repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 2. Nature Genet., *14*: 269-276, 1994.

Radford, D. M., Fair, K. L., Phillips, N. J., Ritter, J. H., Steinbrueck, T., Holt, M. S., and Donis-Keller, H. Allelotyping of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast: deletion of loci on 8p, 13q, 16q, 17p, and 17q. Cancer Res., *55*: 3399-3405, 1995.

Rajan, P. B., Scott, D. J., Perry, R. H., and Griffith, C. D. M. p53 protein expression in ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) of the breast. Br. Cancer Res. Treat., *42*: 283-290, 1997.

Ramachandra, S., Machin, L., Ashley, S., Monaghan, P., and Gusterson, B. A. Immunohistochemical distribution of c-*erb*-B2 in in situ breast carcinoma - a detailed morphological analysis. J. Pathol., *161:* 7-14,1990.

Rampino, N., Yamamoto, H., Ionov, Y., Li, Y., Sawai, H., Reed, J. C., and Perucho, M. Somatic mutations in the *BAX* gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science, *275*: 967-969, 1997.

Rasbridge, S. A., Gillet, C. E., Sampson, S. A., Walsh, F. S., and Millis, R. R. Epithelial (E-) Placental (P-) cadherin cell adhesion expression in breast carcinoma. J. Pathol., *169*: 245-250, 199

Raycroft, L., Wu, H., and Lozano, G. Transcriptional activation by wild-type but not transforming mutants of the p53 antioncogene. Science, 249: 1049-1051, 1990.

Reddy, P. S., and Housman, D. E. The complex pathology of trinucleotide repeats. Curr. Opinion Cell Biol., 9: 364-372, 1997.

Reed, J. Balancing cell life and death: Bax, apoptosis and breast cancer. Clin. Invest., 97: 2403-2404, 1996.

Reid, T., Just, K. E., Holtgreve-Grez, H., du Manoir, S., Speicher, M. R., Schrock, E., Latham, C., Blegen, H., Zetterberg. A., Cremer, T., and Auer, G. Comparative genomic hybridisation of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded breast tumours reveals different patterns of chromosomal gains and losses in fibroadenomas and diploid and aneuploid carcinomas. Cancer Res., *55*: 5415-5423, 1995.

Rhyu, M. S. Molecular mechanisms underlying hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal carcinoma. J. Natl. Cancer. Inst., 88: 240-251, 1996.

Risinger, J. I., Barrett, C. J., Watson, P., Lynch, H. T., and Boyd, J. Molecular genetic evidence of the occurrence of breast cancer as an integral tumour in patients with the hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal carcinoma syndrome. Cancer, 77: 1836-1843, 1996.

Rodenhiser, D., Chakraborty, P., Andrews, J., Ainsworth, P., Mancini, D., and Singh, S. Heterogeneous point mutations in the *BRCA1* gene occur in high frequency at the site of homonucleotide tracts, short tandem repeats and methylatable CpG/CpNpG motifs. Oncogene, *12*: 2623-2629, 1996.

Rodgers, C. S., Hill, S. M., and Hulten, M. A. Cytogenetic analysis in human breast carcinoma. I. Nine cases in the near diploid range investigated using direct preparations. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet., 13: 95-119, 1984.

Rosen, P. P. The pathological classification of human mammary carcinoma: past, present and future. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci., 9: 144-156, 1979.

Rosen, P. P., Braun, D., and Kinne, D. E. The clinical significance of pre-invasive breast carcinoma. Cancer, 46: 919-925, 1980.

Rosenberg, C. L., Larson, P. S., Romo, J. D., De Las Morenas, A., and Faller, D. V. Microsatellite alterations indicating monoclonality in atypical hyperplasias associated with breast cancer. Hum. Pathol., 28: 214-219, 1997.

Royal College of Pathologists Working Group. NHS Breast Screening Programme: Pathology Reporting in Breast Cancer Screening. London: Royal College of Pathologists, 1996.

Rubins, R. D., and Hayward, J. L. Estrogen receptors and response to endocrine therapy and cytotoxic chemotherapy in advanced breast cancer. Cancer, *46*: 2922-2924, 1980.

Rush, E. B., Calvano, J. E., VanZee, K. J., Zelenetz, A. D., and Borgen, P. I. Microsatellite instability in breast cancer. Annals Surg. Oncol., 4: 310-315, 1997.

Russo, J., and Russo, I.H. Mammary tumourigenesis. Prog. Exp. Tumour Res., 33: 175-191, 1991.

Saiki, R.K., Scharf, S., Faloona, F., Mullis, K.B., Horn, G.T., Erlich, H.A., Arnheim, N. Enzymatic amplification of  $\beta$ -globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anaemia. Science, 230: 1350-1354, 1985.

Saiki, R.K., Gelfand, D.H., Stoffel, S., Sharf, S.J., Higuchi, R., Horn. G.T., Mullis, K.B., and Erlich, H.A. Primer directed enzymatic amplification of DNA with a thermostable DNA Polymerase. Science, 239: 487-491, 1988.

Sakai, T., Toguchida, J., Ohtani, N., Yandell, D. W., Rapaport, J. M., and Dryja, T. P. Allele specific hypermethylation of the retinoblastoma tumour-suppressor gene. Am. J. Hum. Genet., *48*: 880-888, 1991.

Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.F., Maniatis, T. Molecular cloning, Cold Spring Harbour Press, E5, (1989a).

Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.F., Maniatis, T. Molecular cloning, Cold Spring Harbour Press, p 1.74-1.84 (1989b).

Sanderson, B. J. S., Fergusson, L. R., and Denny, W. A. Mutagenic and carcinogenic properties of platinum-based anticancer drugs. Mut. Res., 355: 59-70, 1996.

Sanger, F., Niklen, S., and Coulson, A.R. DNA Sequencing with chain terminating inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 74: 5463-5467, 1977.

Sanpei, K., Takano, H., H., Igarashi, S., Sato, T., Oyake, M., Sasaki, H., Wakisaka, A., Tashiro, K., Ishida, Y., Ikeuchi, T., koide, R., Saito, M., Sato, A., Tanaka, T., Hanyu, S., Takiyama, Y., Nishizawa, M., Shimizu, N., Nomura, Y., Segawa, M., Iwabuchi, K., eguchi, I., Tanaka, H., Takahashi, H., and Tsuji, S. Identification of the spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 gene using a direct identification of repeat expansion and cloning technique. Nat. Genet., *14*: 277-284, 1996.

Santibanez-Koref, M. F., Birch, J. M., Hartley, A. L., Jones, P. H., Craft, A. W., Eden, T., Crowther, D., Kelsey, A. M., and Harris, M. p53 germline mutations in Li Fraumeni syndrome. Lancet, *338*: 1490-1491, 1991.

Sardat, C., Vida, M., Cobrinik, C., Geng, Y., Onufryk, C., Chen, A., and Weinberg, R. A. E2F-4 and E2F-5, two members of the E2F family, are expressed in the early phases of the cell cycle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., *92*: 2403-2407, 1995.

Sasaki, H., Jones, P. A., Chaillet, J. R., Ferguson-Smith, A. C., Barton, S. C., Reik, W., and Surani, M. Parental imprinting: potentially active chromatin of the repressed maternal allele of the mouse insulin-like growth factor II (*Igf-2*) gene. Genes & Dev., 6: 1843-1856, 1992.

Sato, T., Tanigami, A., Yamakawa, K., Akiyama, F., Kasumi, F., Sakamoto, G., and Nakamura, Y. Allelotype of breast cancer: cummilative allele losses promote tumour progression in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res., *50*: 7184-7189, 1990.

Sato, T., Akiyama, F., Sakamoto, G., Kasumi, F., and Nakamura, Y. Accumulation of genetic alterations and progression of primary breast cancer. Cancer Res., *51*: 5794-5799, 1991.

Sattin, R.W., Rubin, G. L., Webster, L. A., Huezo, C. M., Wingo, P. A., Ory, H. W., and Layde, P. M. Family history of breast cancer. J. Am. Med. Ass., 253: 1908-1913, 1985.

Savistsky, K., Bar-Shira, A., Gilad, S., Rotman, G., Ziv, Y., Vanagaite, L., Tagle, D. A., Smith, S., Uziel, T., Sfez, S., Ashkenazi, M., Pecker, I., Frydman, M., Harnik, R., Patanjali, S. R., Simmons, A., Clines, G. A., Sartiel, A., Gatti, R. A., Chessa, L., Sanal, O., Lavin, M. F., Jaspers, N. G. J., Taylor, A. M. R., Arlett, C. F., Miki, T., Weissman, S. M., Lovett, M., Collins, F. S., and Shiloh, Y. A single Ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase. Science, *268*: 1749-1753, 1995.

Scherer, S. J., Welter, C., Ang, K. D., and Dooley, S. Specific in vitro binding of p53 to the promoter region of the human mismatch repair gene. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 221: 722-728, 1996.

Schildkraut, J. M., Risch, N., and Thompson, W. D. Evaluating genetic association among breast, and endometrial cancer: evidence for a breast/ovarian cancer relationship. Am. J. Hum. Genet., *45*: 521-529, 1989.

Schott, D. R., Chang, J. N., Deng, G., Kurisu, W., Kuo, W-L., Gray, J., and Smith, H. S. A candidate tumour suppressor gene in human breast cancers. Cancer Res., 54: 1393-1396, 1994.

Schottenfeld, D., Nash, A. G., Robbins, G. F., and Beattie, E. J. Ten year results of the treatment of primary operable breast carcinoma. Cancer, *38*: 1001-1007, 1976.

Scott, K-A., and Walker, R. A. Lack of cyclin E reactivity in non-malignant breast and association with proliferation in breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, *in press*.

Scott, K-A., and Walker, R. A. Cyclin D1 expression and regulation in breast cancer. J. Pathol., 181: 22A, 1997 (Abstract).

Scully, R., Chen, J., Plug, A., Xiao, Y, H., Weaver, D., Feunteun, J., Ashley, T, and Livingston, D. M. Association of BRCA1 with Rad51 in mitotic and meiotic cells. Cell, *88*: 265-275, 1997.

Shapiro, L., Fannon, A. M., Kwong, P. D., Thompson, A., Lehmann, M. S., Grubel, G., Legrand, J. F., Alsnielsen, Colman, D. R., Hendrickson, W. A. Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. Nature, *374*: 327-337, 1995.

Shapiro, S., Venet, W., Strax, P., Venet, L., and Roeser, R. Selection, follow-up and analysis in the health insurance plan study: a randomized trial with breast cancer screening. Natl. Cancer Inst., Monogr., 67: 65-74, 1985.
Sharan, S. K., Morimatsu, M., Albrecht, U., Lim, D. S., Regel, E., Dinh, C., Sands, A., Eichele, G., Hasty, P., and Bradley, A N. Embryonic lethality and radiation hypersensitivity mediated by Rad51 in mice lacking Brca2. Nature, *386*: 772-773, 1997.

Shaw, J. A., Walsh, T., Chappell, S. A., Carey, N., Johnson, K., and Walker, R. A. Microsatellite instability in early sporadic breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, 73: 1393-1397, 1996.

Shi, S-R., Key, M.E., and Kalra, K. Antigen retrieval in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues: An enhancement method for immunohistochemical staining based on microwave oven heating of tissue sections. J. Histochem. Cytochem., *39*: 741-748, 1991.

Shibata, D., Hawes, D., Li, Z-H., Hernandez, A. M., Spruck, C. H., and Nichols, P. W. Specific genetic analysis of microscopic tissue after selective ultraviolet radiation fractionation and the polymerase chain reaction. Am. J. Path., *141*: 539-543, 1992.

Shibata, D. Selective ultraviolet radiation fractionation and polymerase chain reaction analysis of genetic alterations. Am. J. Pathol., *143*: 1523-1526, 1993.

Shimoyama, Y., Hirohashi, S., Hirano, S., Noguchi, M., Shimosato, Takeichi, M., and Abe, O. Cadherin cell-adhesion molecules in human epithelial tissues and carcinomas. Cancer Res., 49: 2128-2133, 1989.

Sidransky, D., Tokino, T., Helzilsouer K., Zehnbauer, B., Rausch, G., Shelton, B., Prestigiacomo, Vogelstein, B., and Davidson, N. Inherited p53 gene mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res., *52*: 2984-2986, 1992.

Siitonen, S. M., Kononen, J. T., Helin, H. J., Rantala, I. S., Holli, K. A., and Isola, J. J. Reduced E-cadherin expression is associated with invasiveness and unfavourable prognosis in breast cancer. Am. J. Clin. Pathol., *105*: 394-402, 1996.

Silvestrini, R., Daidone, M. G., and Costa, A. Cell kinetics of solid tumours with time and its clinical implication. Tumouri., 75: 367-370, 1989.

Simms, L. A., Zou, T-T., Young, J., Shi, Y-Q., Lei, J., Appel, R., Rhyu, M-G., Sugimara, H., Chenevix-Trench, G., Souza, R. F., Meltzer, S. J., and Legget, B. A. Apparent protection from instability of repeat sequences in cancer-related genes in replication error gastrointestinal cancers. Oncogene, *14*: 2613-2618, 1997.

Singer-Sam, J., Yang, T. P., Mori, N., Tanguay, R. L., Le Bon, J. M., Flores, J. C., and Riggs, A. D. DNA methylation in the 5' region of the mouse PGK-1 gene and a quantitative PCR assay for methylation. *In:* Nucleic Acid Methylation. pp. 285-298. Alan R Liss, 1990.

Skirnisdottir, S., Eiriksdottir, G., Baldursson, T., Barkardottir, R. B., Egilsson, V., and Ingvarsson, S. High frequency of allelic imbalance at chromosome region 16q22-23 in human breast cancer: correlation with high PgR and low S phase. Int. J. Cancer, *64*: 112-116, 1995.

Slamon, D. J., Clark, G. M., Wong, S. G., Levin, W. J., Ullrich, A., McGuire, W. L. Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science*, 235: 177-182, 1987.

Soule, H. D., Vazquez, J., Long, A., Albert, S., and Brennan, M. A human cell line from a pleural effusion derived from a breast carcinoma. J. Natl. Cancer. Inst., *51*: 1409-1416, 1973.

Sourvinos, G., Kiaris, H., Tsikkinis, A., Vassilaros, S., and Spandidos, D. A. Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in primary breast tumours. Tumour Biol., 18: 157-166, 1997.

Souza, R. F., Appel, R., Yin, J., Wang, S., Smolinski, K. N., Abraham, J. M., Zou, T-T., Shi, Y-Q., Lei, J., Cottrell, J., Cymes, K., Biden, K., Simms, L., Legget, B, N., Lynch, P. M., Frazier, M., Powell, S. M., Harpaz, N., Sugimara, H., Young, J., and Meltzer, S. J. Microsatellite instability in the insulin-like growth factor II receptor gene in gastointestinal tumours. Nature Genet., *14*: 255-257, 1996.

Souza, R. F., Yin, J., Smolinski, K. N., Zou, T-T., Wang, S., Shi, Y-Q., Rhyu, M-G., Cottrell, J., Abraham, J. M., Biden, K., Simms, L., Legget, B, N., Ikeda, M., Tanino, M., Hanafusa, H., Tanaka, N., and Shimizu, K. ., Bova, G. S., Frank, T., Powell, S. M., Sugimara, H., Young, J., Harpaz, N., Shimizu, K., Matsubara, N., and Meltzer, S. J. Frequent mutation of the E2F-4 cell cycle gene in primary human gastrointestinal tumours. Cancer Res., *57*: 2350-2353, 1997.

Srivastava, S., Zou, Z., Pirollo, K., Blattner, W., and Chang, E. H. Germ-line transmission of a mutated p53 gene in a cancer-prone family with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Nature, *348:* 747-749, 1990.

Stanbridge, E. J. Functional evidence for human tumour suppressor genes: chromosome and molecular genetic studies. Cancer Surveys, 12: 5-24, 1992.

Starink, T. M., Vanderveen, J. P. W., Arert, F., Dewaal., L. P., Delange, G. G., Gille, J. J. P., and Eriksson, A. W. The Cowden syndrome: a clinical and genetic study in 21 patients. Clin. Genet. 29: 222-233, 1986.

Steck, P. A., Pershouse, M. A., Jasser, S. A., Yung, W. K. A., Lin, H., Ligon, A. H., Langford, L. A., Baumgard, M. L., Hattier, T., Davis, T., Frye, C., Hu, R., Swedlund, B., Teng, D. H. F., and Tavtigian, S. V. Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nature Genet., *15*: 356-362, 1997.

Sternlicht, M. D., and Barsky, S. H. The myopethelial defense: a host defence against cancer. Med. Hypoth., 48: 37-46, 1997.

Stoger, R., Kubricka, P., Liu, C-G., Kafri, T., Razin, A., Cedar, H., and Barlow, D. P. Maternal-specific methylation of the imprinted mouse *Igf-2r* locus identifies the expressed locus as carrying the imprinting signal. Cell, 73: 61-71, 1993.

Stratton, M. R., Ford, D., Neuhausen, S., Seal, S., Wooster, R., Friedman, L. S., King, M-C., Egilsson, V., Devilee, P., McManus, R., Daly, P. A., Smyth, E., Ponder, B. A. J., Peto, J., Cannon-Albright, L., Elston, D. F., and Goldgar, D. Familial breast cancer is not linked to the BRCA1 locus on chromosome 17q. Nature Genet., 7: 103-107, 1994.

Stratton, M. R., Collins, N., Lakhhani, R., and Sloane, J.P. Loss of heterozygosity in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. J. Pathol., *175:* 195-201, 1995.

Strax, P. Control of breast cancer through mass screening: From research to action. Cancer, 63: 1881-1887, 1989.

Streisinger, G., Okada, Y., Emrich, J., Newton, J., Tsugita, A., Terzaghi, E., and Inouye, M. Frameshift mutations and the genetic code. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol., 31: 77-84, 1966.

Swift, M., Reitnauer, P. J., Morrell, D., and Chase, C. L. Breast and other cancers in families with ataxia telangiectasia. N. Engl. J. Med., *316*: 1289-1294, 1987.

Sun, L., Wu, G., Willson, J. K., Zborowska, E., Yang, J., Rajikarunanayake, I., Yang, J., Gentry, L. E., Wang, X. F., and Brittain, M. G. Expression of TGF $\beta$  type II receptor leads to reduced malignancy in human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. J. Biol. Chem., *269:* 26449-26455, 1994.

Tabar, L., Fagerberg, C. J. G, Gad, A., Baldetorp, L., Holmberg, L. H., and Grontoft, O. Reduction in mortalilty from breast cancer after mass screening with mammography. Lancet, *1*: 829-832, 1985.

Takahashi, H., Behbakht, K., McGovern, P. E., Chiu, H. C., Couch, F. J., Weber, B. L., Friedman, L. S., King, M-C., Furusato, M., LiVolso, V. A., Menzin, A. W., Liu, P. C., Benjamin, I., Morgan, M. A., King, S. A., Rebane, B. A., Cardonick, A., Mikuta, J. J., Rubin, S. C., and Boyd, J. Mutation analysis of the BRCA1 gene in ovarian cancers. Cancer Res., 55: 2998-3002, 1995.

Takahashi, H., Chiu, H-C., Bandera, C. A., Behbakht, K., Liu, P. C, Couch, F. J., Weber, B. L., liVolsi, V. A., Furusato, M., Rebae, B., Cardonick, A., Benjamin, I., Morgan, M. A., King, S. A., Mikuta, J. J., Rubin, S. C., and Boyd, J. Mutations of the *BRCA2* gene in ovarian carcinomas. Cancer Res., *56*: 2738-2741, 1996.

T'Ang, A., Varley, J. M., Chakraborty, S., Murphree, A. L., and Fung, Y-K. T. Structural rearrangement of the retinoblastoma gene in human breast carcinoma. Science, *242*: 263-266, 1988.

Tanner, M. M., Tirkhonen, M., Kallioniemi, A., Collins, C., Stokke, T., Karhu, R., Kowbel, D., Shadravan, F., Hintz, M., Kuo, W-L., Waldman, F. M., Isola, J. J., Gray, J. W., and Kallioniemi, O-P. Increased copy number at 20q13 in breast cancer: defining the critical region and exclusion of candidate genes. Cancer Res. *54*: 4257-4260, 1994.

The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. Cell, 72: 971-983, 1993.

Theillet, C., Lidereau, R., Escot, C., Hutzell, P., Brunet, M., Gest, J., Schlom, J., and Callahan, R. Loss of c-Ha-ras-1 allele and aggressive human primary breast carcinomas. Cancer Res., *46*: 4776-4781, 1989.

Thiagalingam, S., Lengauer, C., Leach, C., Schutte, Hahn, S. A., Overhauser, J., Willson, J. K. V., Markowitz, S., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B.

Evaluation of candidate tumour-suppressor genes on chromosome 18 in colorectal cancers. Nature Genet., 13: 343-346, 1996.

Thibodeau, S. N., Bren, G., and Schaid, D. Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science, *260*: 816-819, 1993.

Thibodeau, S. N., French, A. J., Roche, P. C., Cunningham, J. M., Tester, D. J., Lindor, N. M., Moslein, G., Baker, S. M., Liskay, R. M., Burgart, L. J., Honchel, R., and Halling, K. C. Altered expression of hMSH2 and hMLH1 in tumours with microsatellite instability and genetic alterations in mismatch repair genes. Cancer Res., *56*: 4836-4849, 1996.

Tokunga, M., Land, C. E., Yamamoto, T. Breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors. In Boice, J.D., and Fraumeni, J. R. Jr. (eds): Radiation Carcinogenesis: Epidemiology and Biological Significance, pp 45-55. New York, Raven Press, 1984.

Towbin, H., Staehein, T., and Geodon, J. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: Procedure and some applications. Proc. Natl. Acad, Sci. USA. *76*: 4350-4354, 1979.

Toyama, T., Iwase, H., Yamashita, H., Iwata, H., Yamashita, T., Ito, K., Hara, Y., Suchi, M., Kato, T., Nakamura, T., and Kobayashi, S. Microsatellite instability in sporadic human breast cancers. Int. J. Cancer, *68*: 447-451, 1996a.

Toyama, T., Iwase, H., Iwata, H., Hara, Y., Omoto, Y., Suchi, M., Kato, T., Nakamura, T., and Kobayashi, S. Microsatellite instability in in situ and invasive sporadic breast cancers of Japanese women. Cancer Letts., *108*: 205-209, 1996b.

Trent, J. M., Stanbridge, E. J., and McBride, H. L. Tumourigenicity in human melanoma cell lines controlled by the introduction of human chromosome 6. Science, 247: 568-571, 1990.

Trichopoulos, D., MacMahon, B., and Cole, P. Menopause and breast cancer risk. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 48: 605-613, 1972.

Tsuda, H., Callen, D. F., Fukutomi, T., Nakamura, Y., and Hirohashi, S. Allele loss on chromosome 16q24.2-qter occurs frequently in breast cancers irrespective of differences in phenotype and extent of spread. Cancer Res., *54*: 513-517, 1994.

UK National case-control study group. Oral contraceptive use and breast cancer risk in young women. Lancet, 973-982, 1989.

Valagussal, P., Bondadonna, G., and Veronsei, V. Patterns of relapse and survival following radical mastectomy. Cancer, *41*: 1170-1178, 1978.

van der Vijver, M. J., Peterse, J. L., Mooi, W. J., Wiseman, P., Lomans, J., Dalesio, O., and Nuse, R. *Neu*-proetin over-expression in breast cancer: association with comedo-type ductal carcinoma in situ and limited prognostic value in Stage II breast cancer. New Eng. J. Med., *319*: 1239-1245, 1988.

Varley, J. M., Swallow, J. E., Brammar, W. J., Whittaker, J. L., and Walker, R. A. Alterations to either c-*erb*B2 (*neu*) or c-*myc* proto-oncogenes in breast carcinomas correlate with poor short-term prognosis. Oncogene, *1*:423-430, 1987.

Varley, J. M., Armour, J., Swallow, J. E., Jeffereys, A. J., Ponder, B. A. J., T' Ang, A., Fung, Y-K. T., Brammar, W. J., and Walker, R. A. The retinoblastoma gene is frequently altered leading to loss of expression in primary breast tumours. Oncogene, *4*: 725-730, 1989.

Varley, J. M., Brammar, W. J., Lane, D. P., Swallow, J. E., Dolan, C., and Walker, R. A. Loss of chromosome 17p13 sequences and mutation of p53 in human breast carcinomas. Oncogene, *6*: 413-421, 1991.

Varley, J. M., McGown, G., Thorncroft, M., Santibanez-Koref, M. F., Kelsey, A. M., Tricker, K. J., Evans, D. G. R., and Birch, J. M. Germ-line mutations of TP53 in Li-Fraumeni families: An extended study of 39 families. Cancer Res., *57*: 3245-3522, 1997.

Vasen, H. F., Mecklin, J. P., Watson, P., Utsunomiya, J., Bertario, L., Lynch, P., Svendsen, L. B., Cristofaro, G., Muller, H., Khan, O. M., and Lynch, H. T. Surveillance in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal-cancer - An international cooperative study of 165 families. Dis. Rectum, *1*: 1-4, 1993

Venter, D. J., Tuzi, N. L., Kumar, S., and Gullick, W. J. Over-expression of the c-*erb*B2 oncoprotein in human breast carcinomas: immunohistological assessment correlates with gene amplification. Lancet ii: 69-72, 1987.

Verbeek, A. L. M., Holland, R., Sturmans, F., Hendricks, J. H. C. L., Mravunacm M., and Day, N. E. Reduction of breast cancer mortality through mass screening with modern mammography. First results of the Nijmegen project, 1975-1981. Lancet, 122-1224, 1984.

Verkerk, A. J. M. H., Pieretti, M., Sutcliffe, J. S., Fu, Y-H., Kuhl, D. P. A., Pizzuti, A., Reiner, O., Richards, S., Victoria, M. F., Zhang, F. P., Eussen, B. E., Vanommen, G. J. B., Nelson, D. L., Oostra, B. A., Warren, S. T. Identification of a gene (FMR-1) containing a CGG repeat coincident with a breakpoint cluster region exhibiting length variation in fragile X syndrome. Cell, *165*: 905-914, 1991.

Veronese, S. M., and Gambacorta, M. Detection of Ki67 proliferation rate in breast cancer. Correlation with clinical and pathologic features. Am. J. Clin. Pathol., 6: 30-34, 1991.

Vincent, F., Hagiwara, K., Ke, Y., Stoner, G. D., Demetrick, D. J., and Bennett, W. P. Mutation analysis of the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  type II receptor in sporadic human cancers of the pancreas, liver, and breast. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 223: 561-564, 1996.

Vleminckx, K., Vakaet, L, Jr., Mareel, M. M., Fries, W., and van Roy, F. M. Genetic manipulation of E-cadherin expression by epithelial tumour cells reveals invasion suppressor role. Cell, *66*: 107-119, 1991.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E. R., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Preisinger, A. C., Leppert, M., Nakamura, Y., White, R., Smits, A. M. M., and Bos, J. L. Genetic alterations during colorectal tumour development. New Eng. J. Med., *319*: 525-532, 1988.

Walker, R. A., and Camplejohn, R. S. Comparison of monoclonal antibody Ki-67 reactivity with grade and DNA flow cytometry of breast carcinomas. Br. J. Cancer, 57: 281-283, 1988.

Walker, R. A., Gullick, W. J., and Varley, J. An evaluation of immunoreactivity for c-erbB-2 protein as a marker of short term prognosis in breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, 60: 426-429, 1989a.

Walker, R. A., Senior, P. V., Jones, J. L., Critchley, D. R., and Varley, J.M. An immunohistochemical and in-situ hybridisation study of c-*myc* and c-*erb*B2 expression in primary breast tumours. J. Pathol., *158*: 97-105, 1989b.

Walker, R. A. Breast cancer: Oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes. *In:* The biology of female cancers. pp. 61-74. (Eds). Miller, W. R, Langdon, S., and Berchuck, A. CRC Press. Florida. 1997.

Walker, R. A., Jones, J. L., Chappell, S., Walsh, T., and Shaw, J. A. Molecular pathology of breast cancer and its application to clinical management. Cancer Met. Rev., *16*: 5-27, 1997.

Warford, A., Pringle, J. H., Hay, J., Henderson, S. D., and Lauder, I. Southern blot analysis of DNA extracted from formol-saline fixed and paraffin embedded tissue. J. Pathol., *154*: 313-320, 1988.

Watson, K. I. Drosophila WARTS - tumour suppressor and member of the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase family. Bioessays, 17: 673-676, 1995.

Weber, J.L., and May, P.E. Abundant class of human DNA polymorphism which can be typed using the polymerase chain reaction. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 44: 388-396, 1989.

Weinberg, R. A. Tumour suppressor genes. Science, 254: 1138-1146, 1992.

Weissenbach, J., Gyapay, G., Dib, C., Vignal, A., Morissette, J., Millasseau, P., Vaysseux, G., Lathrop, M. A 2<sup>nd</sup> generation linkage map of the human genome. Nature, *359*: 794-801, 1992.

WHO Histological Typing of Breast Tumours, 2nd ed, p19. International histological classification of tumours no. 2. Geneva, World Heath Organisation, 1981.

WHO collaborative study of neoplasia and steroid contraceptives. Breast cancer and combined oral contraceptives: results from a multinational study. Br. J. Cancer, *61*: 110-119, 1990.

Williams, G. T. Programmed cell death: apoptosis and oncogenesis. Cell, 65: 1097-1098, 1991.

Winqvist, R., Hampton, G. M., Mannermoa, A., Blanco, G., Alavaikko, M., Kiviniemi, H., Taskinen, P. J., Wright, F. A., Newsham, I., Cavenee, W. K. Loss of Heterozygosity for chromosome 11 in primary human breast tumours is associated with poor survival after metastasis. Cancer Res., *55*: 2660-2664, 1995.

Winstanley, J., Cooke, T., Murray, G. D., Platt-Higgins, A., George, W. D., Holt, S., Mystov, M., Spedding, A., Barraclough, B. R., and Rudland, P. S. The long-term prognostic significance of c-*erb*-B2 in primary breast cancer. Br. J. Cancer, 63: 447-450, 1991.

Wooster, R., Neuhausen, S. L., Mangion, J., Quirk., Y., Ford, D., Collins, N., Nguyen, K., Seal, S., Tran, T., Averill, D., Fields, P., Marshall, G., Narod, S., Lenoir, G. M., Lynch, H., Feunteun, J., Devilee, P., Cornelisse, C. J., Menko, F. H., Daly, P. A., Ormiston, W., McManus, R., Pye, C., Lewis, C. M., Cannon-Albright, L. A., Peto, J., Ponder, B. A. J., Skolnick, M. H., Easton, D. F., Goldgar, D. E., and Stratton, M. R. Localisation of a breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2, to chromosome 13q12-13. Science, 265: 2088-2090, 1994a.

Wooster, R., Cleton-Jansen, A-M., Collins, N., Mangion, J., Cornelis, R. S., Cooper, C. S., Gusterson, B. A., Ponder, B. A. J., von Deimling, A., Wiestler, O. D., Cornelisse, C. J., Devilee, P., and Stratton, M. R. Instability of short tandem repeats (microsatellites) in human cancers. Nature Genet., *6*: 152-156, 1994b.

Wooster, R., Bignell, G. Lancaster, J., Swift, S., Seal, S., Mangion, J., Collins, N., Gregory, S., Gumbs, C., Micklem, G., Barfoot, R., Hamoudi, R., Patel, S., Rice, C., Biggs, P., Hashim, Y., Smith, A., Conner, F., Arason, A., Gudmundsson, J., Ficenec, D., Kelsell, D., Ford, D., Tonin, P., Bishop, D. T., Spurr, N. K., Ponder, B. A. J., Eeles, R., Peto, J., Devilee, P., Cornelisse, C., Lynch, H., Narod, S., Lenoir, G., Egilsson, V., Barkadottir, R. B., Easton, D. F., Bentley, D. R., Futreal, P. A., Ashworth, A., and Stratton, M. R. Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2. Nature, *378:* 789-792, 1995.

Wyllie, A. H., Kerr, J. F. R., and Currie, A. R. Cell death, the significance of apoptosis. Int. Rev. Cytol., 68: 251-306, 1980.

Xu, G., Livingston, D. M., and Krek, W. Multiple members of the E2F transcription family are the products of products of oncogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 92: 1357-1361, 1995

Yamada, M., O'Regan, E., Brown, R., and Karran, P. Selective recognition of a cisplatin-DNA adduct by human mismatch repair proteins. Nucl. Acid Res., 25: 491-495, 1997.

Yang, X., Russo, I. H., Huang, Y., and Russo, J. Microsatellite instability of D17S513 on chromosome 17 is associated with progression of breast cancer. Int. J. Oncol., *11*: 41-46, 1997.

Yee, C. J., Roodi, N., Verrier, C. S., and Parl, F. F. Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer. Cancer Res., 54: 1641-1644, 1994.

Yoshitaka, T., Matsubara, N., Ikeda, M., Tanino, M., Hanafusa, H., Tanaka, N., and Shimizu, K. Mutations of the E2F-4 trinucleotide repeat in colorectal cancer with microsatellite instability. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 227: 553-557, 1996.

Yoshiura, K., Kanai, Y., Ochiai, A., Simoyama, Y., Sugimura, T., and Hirohashi, S. Silencing of the E-cadherin invasion-suppressor gene by CpG methylation in human carcinomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. *92*: 7416-7419, 1995.

Yunis, J. J., and Ramsey, N. Am. J. Dis. Child., 132: 161-163, 1978.

Zenklusen, J. C., Bieche, I., Lidereau, R., and Conti, C. J. (CA)n microsatellite repeat D7S522 is the most commonly deleted region in human primary breast cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, *91*: 12155-12158, 1994.

Zhou, D., Battifora, H., Yokata, J., Yamamoto, T., Cline, M.J. Association of multiple copies of the c-*erb*-B2 oncogene with the spread of breast cancer. Cancer Res., 47: 6123-6125, 1987.

Zhou, D., Ahuja, H., and Cline, M. J. Proto-oncogene abnormalities in human breast cancer: c-*erb*-B2 amplification does not correlate with recurrence of disease. Oncogene, *4*: 105-108, 1989.

Zhuang, Z., Merino, M. J., Chuqui, R., Liotta, L. A., and Emmert-Buck. M. R. Identical allelic loss on chromosome 11q13 in microdissected in situ and invasive human breast cancer. Cancer Res., 55: 467-471, 1995.

Zhuchenko, O., Bailey, J., Bonnen, P., Ashizawa, T., Stockton, D. W., Amos, C., Dobyns, W.B., Subramoy, S. H., Zoghbi, H. Y., and Lee, C. C. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (SCA6) asociated with small polyglutamine expansions in the alpha 1A voltage-dependent calcium channel. Nature Genet., *15*: 62-69, 1997.

Ziche, M., and Gullino, P. M. Angiogenesis and neoplastic progression in vitro. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 69: 483-487, 1982.

# PUBLICATIONS AND ABSTRACTS

# PUBLICATIONS

# Microsatellite Instability In Early Invasive Sporadic Breast Cancer

JA Shaw, T Walsh, SA Chappell, N Carey, K Johnson, RA Walker British Journal of Cancer 73: 1393-1397 (1996)

# Microsatellite Instability In Ductal Carcinoma In Situ

T Walsh, SA Chappell, RA Walker, JA Shaw Submitted to The Journal Of Pathology

# Loss of Heterozygosity At Chromosome 6q In Early Invasive And Preinvasive Breast Carcinomas

SA Chappell, T Walsh, JA Shaw, RA Walker British Journal of Cancer 75: 1324-1329 (1997)

Molecular Pathology Of Breast Cancer And Its Application To Clinical Management RA Walker, JL Jones, S Chappell, T Walsh, JA Shaw

Cancer and Metastasis Reviews 16: 5-27 (1997)

Loss of heterozygosity at the mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor gene correlates with poor differentiation in early breast carcinomas. SA Chappell, T Walsh, JA Shaw, RA Walker British Journal of Cancer - In Press

# ABSTRACTS

**Microsatellite Instability In Ductal Carcinoma In Situ** T Walsh, SA Chappell, RA Walker, JA Shaw Proceeding of the American Association For Cancer Research

Microdissection-Microsatellite Analysis Of Early Invasive Breast Cancers - Lack Of Instability In Tubular Carcinomas

T Walsh, SA Chappell, RA Walker, JA Shaw Journal of Pathology **178**, page 6a (1996)

Identification Of A Mutator Phenotype In Non-Invasive Breast Cancer T Walsh, SA Chappell, RA Walker, JA Shaw British Journal of Cancer 74, suppl. XXVI page 17 (1996)

Loss Of Heterozygosity At Chromosome 6q In Early Invasive Breast Cancer SA Chappell, T Walsh, JA Shaw, RA Walker Journal of Pathology 178, page 6a (1996)

Loss Of Heterozygosity At Chromosome 6q In Non-Invasive Breast Cancer SA Chappell, T Walsh, JA Shaw, RA Walker

British Journal of Cancer 74, suppl. XXVI page 47 (1996)

# Microsatellite instability in early sporadic breast cancer

JA Shaw<sup>1</sup>, T Walsh<sup>1</sup>, SA Chappell<sup>1</sup>, N Carey<sup>2</sup>, K Johnson<sup>3</sup> and RA Walker<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Breast Cancer Research Unit, Department of Pathology, University of Leicester, Clinical Sciences, Glenfield General Hospital, Groby Road, Leicester LE3 90P, UK; <sup>2</sup>Departments of Biochemistry and Surgery, Charing Cross and Westminster Medical School, Fulham Palace Road, London W6 8RF, UK; <sup>3</sup>Laboratory of Genetics. University of Glasgow, Pontecorvo Building, Anderson College. 56 Dumbarton Road, Glasgow G11 6NU, UK.

> Summary We have studied the incidence of microsatellite instability at three trinucleotide repeats and seven dinucleotide repeats from five chromosomal regions, in a group of 30 mammographically detected 'early' invasive breast cancers and correlated its occurrence with clinicopathological parameters. The myotonic dystrophy (DM-1) trinucleotide repeat was analysed in 48 additional cases. In 4 out of 78 (5%) paired tumour-normal DNA samples we found evidence of somatic microsatellite instability at DM-1: a novel allele of a different size was seen in the tumour DNA which was not present in the normal DNA sample. All four tumours that showed evidence of instability were from the core group of 30 cases (13%) and were well or moderately differentiated, oestrogen receptor-positive, infiltrating ductal carcinomas. Two of these tumours were unstable at nine of ten loci studied, both trinucleotide and dinucleotide repeats. DNA prepared from different normal tissues showed no evidence of instability, for all four instability cases. These data indicate that microsatellite instability is specific to the tumour DNA and is an early event in the genesis of some sporadic breast cancers.

Keywords: breast carcinoma; mammography; microsatellite instability

Breast cancer is a heterogenous disease, both clinically and with regard to the genetic alterations involved in tumorigenesis. Hence, multiple somatic and inherited genetic changes that lead to loss of growth control may contribute to the development of breast cancer. Despite notable recent advances. with the cloning of BRCA1 (Miki et al., 1994; Futreal et al., 1994) and mapping of BRCA2 (Wooster et al., 1994a), there is no clear understanding of the natural history of the disease. This contrasts with colorectal carcinoma where extensive studies have identified a benign to malignant progression with recognisable molecular changes. frequently point mutations that involve proto-oncogene and tumoursuppressor gene loci (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990).

Recently, a novel alteration based on DNA repeat misalignment mutagenesis has been described (Aaltonen et al., 1993: Thibodeau et al., 1993: Ionov et al., 1993). This type of mutagenesis occurs in microsatellite DNA sequences in which one- to six-nucleotide motifs are tandemly repeated and are often highly polymorphic (Weber and May, 1989). Mono-, di- and trinucleotide repeats are unstable in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) as well as sporadic colorectal cancer cells. Germline mutations in four DNA mismatch repair genes, including hMSH2 on chromosome 2p21-22, have been implicated as the cause of the hereditary non-polyposis syndrome and the associated microsatellite instability (Fishel et al., 1993: Leach et al., 1993). Microsatellite instability may reflect defective function of DNA mismatch repair genes and be manifested when both copies of a mismatch repair gene are inactivated (Parsons et al., 1993).

If similar mismatch repair defects are involved in the relatively early stages of breast cancer, then microsatellite instability should be found in 'early' carcinomas and 'at risk' lesions. In a preliminary study we have detected somatic microsatellite instability at the myotonic dystrophy (DM-1) associated-CTG repeat in 'early' mammographically detected breast cancers (Shaw et al., 1995). We now report our findings from analysis of ten polymorphic markers, three trinucleotide repeats and seven dinucleotide repeats in a

Correspondence: JA Shaw, Department of Pathology, University of Leicester, Robert Kilpatrick Clinical Sciences Building, PO Box 65, Leicester Royal Infirmary, Leicester LE2 7LX, UK, Received 7 March 1995; revised 12 December 1995; accepted 4 group of 30 'early' sporadic breast cancers together with the analysis of DM-1 in a total of 78 cases. The markers analysed map to five chromosomal regions: 6p (SCA-1), 6q (ERTA and D6S193), 16q (D16S289. D16S400. D16S402. D16S413), 19q (DM-1 and X75b) and Xq (AR). The oestrogen receptor maps to 6q25 (Menasce et al., 1993) and D6S193 maps to 6q27 (Saito et al., 1992). The chromosome 16q markers span over 50 cM (Weissenbach et al., 1992) and DM-1 and X75b reside within 90 kb of each other (Jansen et al., 1992). We have analysed the frequency and type of microsatellite instability and correlated these data with clinicopathological findings. Since the markers studied are highly polymorphic concurrent assessment of allelic loss was also possible.

#### Materials and methods

## Patients

A total of 78 invasive breast carcinomas which were impalpable and detected by mammography were studied. All were from the prevalent round of screening and were detected by the Leicestershire Breast Screening Service. Cases 15 mm or less in maximum diameter were examined. All had either axillary node sampling or axillary dissection. None of the tumours were from women with a strong family history of breast cancer.

#### Tissues

All tissues were fixed in 4% formaldehyde in saline for 18-36 h. After slicing, selected blocks were processed through graded alcohols and xylene to paraffin wax. Following review of haematoxylin and eosin stained sections representative blocks were chosen for further study. Additional normal tissue from hysterectomy specimens were retrieved from the pathology files of the Leicester Royal Infirmary. These were sampled and processed at different time periods to the original tumour material.

#### Histology

The carcinomas were reported according to the Royal College of Pathologists working party guidelines (1990). Infiltrating ductal carcinomas were graded using the modified Bloom and Richardson system (Elston and Ellis, 1991). All

January 1996

histology was undertaken by RAW. The clinicopathological features are shown in Table I.

## Oestrogen receptor

Oestrogen receptor was determined immunohistochemically using antigen retrieval and 1D5 monoclonal antibody (Dako) (Rajakariar and Walker, 1995).

#### DN.4 extraction

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue from breast tumour samples and non-involved lymph nodes served as the sources of tumour and normal DNA respectively. For each sample, DNA was extracted from 7  $\mu$ m paraffin-embedded tissue sections or material prepared by microdissection. Briefly,

Table I Clinicopathological features of 78 'early' sporadic breast

		Garreers	A DESCRIPTION OF TAXABLE PARTY.	A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER.
Туре	Grade	Number of cases	Tumour size (mm)	Number of cases
Tub	Part in the	13	< 10	15
Lob/Tub		2	10	17
Idc.Ilc		3	11	4
Ilc		3	12	8
Idc	I	22 (2)	13	6
Idc	II	31 (1)	14	3
Idc	III	4	15	25
Total		78		78

Tub. tubular carcinoma; Lob/Tub. lobular and tubular carcinoma; Idc. Ilc. infiltrating ductal with infiltrating lobular carcinoma; Ilc. infiltrating lobular carcinoma; Idc. infiltrating ductal carcinoma; numbers in brackets, node-positive cases. sections were dewaxed and rehydrated by sequential addition, mixing and removal of  $2 \times 1$  ml xylene,  $2 \times 1$  ml 99% ethanol and  $2 \times 1$  ml 95% ethanol. Air-dried pellets were resuspended in 250  $\mu$ l proteinase K solution (1 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> in 50 mM Tris HCl. pH 8.0, 1% sodium dodecyl sulphate), and incubated overnight at 37°C. Samples were then extracted twice with phenol-chloroform, precipitated with ethanol and resuspended in distilled water.

#### PCR analysis

Microsatellite repeats were analysed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Primer pairs and amplification conditions were as described in previous reports. Trinucleotide repeats comprised: DM-1 (Brook et al., 1992), SCA-1 (Orr et al., 1993) and AR (La Spada et al., 1991). Dinucleotide repeats were: X75b (Jansen et al., 1992), a (TA)n repeat in the upstream region of the human oestrogen receptor gene (ERTA) (Del Senno et al., 1992), D6S193 (Saito et al., 1992), D16S289 (Shen et al., 1992), D16S400, D16S402 and D16S413 (Weissenbach et al., 1992). The PCR products were labelled by the addition of 3  $\mu$ Ci of [ $\alpha$ -<sup>35</sup>S]dATP to the reaction. The labelled PCR products were electrophoresed through denaturing 6% polyacrylamide gels at 70 W for 1-3 h depending on the fragment size. Gels were dried and exposed to radiographic film for 1-4 days. Comparison of the migration of alleles from paired normal and tumour DNA samples that showed the appearance of alleles of altered length in tumour DNA served to indicate microsatellite instability. Where instability was detected, the analyses were repeated using freshly prepared DNA using adjacent sections prepared from the paraffin blocks. Allele sizes were estimated by comparison with a M13mp 18 DNA sequence ladder.



Figure 1 Microsatellite instability in early breast cancer. Genomic DNA samples from paired normal lymph node (N) and microdissected tumour (T) samples were compared by PCR amplification, electrophoresis on 6% sequencing gels and autoradiography. (a) Expansion at DM-1 in microdissected tumour from case 2 with analysis of six normal tissues: lymph node (N), normal breast (B), endometrium (E), cervix (C), myoendometrium (M) and ovary (O). (b) Contraction at X75b in case 1. (c) Contraction at AR in case 2. (d) Contraction at DM-1 in case 4. (e) Contraction at SCA-1 in case 1. Case numbers refer to Table II. Arrows indicate altered length alleles in tumour compared with normal tissue DNA indicating somatic microsatellite instability.

#### Results

Ten polymorphic microsatellite markers, three trinucleotide repeats and seven dinucleotide repeats, from five chromosomal regions were amplified from 30 tumour-normal DNA pairs using the PCR. The DM-1 (CTG) repeat was analysed through 48 additional tumour-normal DNA pairs.

The appearance of alleles of altered length in tumour DNA indicated an alteration in microsatellite size (Figure 1 and Table II). Microsatellite instability was maximally detected at the DM-1 trinucleotide repeat in four of 78 (5%) tumours. Two of these four tumours showed instability at nine loci, both trinucleotide and dinucleotide repeats. These data were replicated firstly with freshly prepared DNA samples from adjacent sections from the paraffin blocks and secondly with DNA samples prepared by microdissection of small areas of tumour within a section.

In order to verify whether these DNA changes are restricted to the tumour DNA, we next analysed DNA prepared from other normal tissues for these instability cases. DNA prepared from uninvolved breast, endometrium and cervix showed no evidence of microsatellite instability for all four cases. Figure 1a shows microsatellite instability at DM-1 in tumour 2. None of six normal tissues analysed (lymph node, histologically normal breast, endometrium, cervix, myoendometrium and ovary) showed any evidence of microsatellite instability, suggesting that instability is indeed specific to the tumour cell population.

For the DM-1 repeat, all of the novel alleles seen in tumour DNA lie within the normal population range, although the new allele sizes differed by up to 16 repeat units from the alleles seen in normal DNA. These data have been confirmed for two of the cases by cloning and sequencing of the altered length alleles (data not shown).

The incidence of microsatellite instability in tumour DNA was less frequent at the two other trinucleotide repeats studied. Two of the four cases showing instability at DM-1 showed instability at the SCA-1 and AR repeats (e.g. Figure 1c and e). The size of the novel alleles seen in these tumours lies within the normal population range of polymorphisms, as for DM-1. The two tumours that showed instability at all three trinucleotide repeats also showed instability at six of the seven dinucleotide repeats. No instability was detected at the D16S289 repeat in the core group of 30 tumours studied.

The clinicopathological features of the four cases showing microsatellite instability are listed in Table II. All were nodenegative infiltrating ductal carcinomas, well or moderately differentiated and oestrogen receptor (ER) positive (Rajakariar and Walker, 1995). However, when we analysed DM-1 through a total of 78 cases, none of 53 other infiltrating ductal carcinomas, 13 tubular carcinomas, two tubular and lobular carcinomas and three infiltrating lobular carcinomas studied showed any evidence of DNA instability.

Table	II	Clinicopathological a	Ind	microsatellite	instability	data	for
		early sporad	lic	breast cancers			

Case	Type	Grade	Tumour size (mm)	ER H-score	MSI detected at markers
I	lde lle	11	15	215	DM-1, SCA-1, AR, X75b, ERTA, D6S193 D16S400, D16S402, D16S413
2	[dc	II	15	183	DM-1, SCA-1, AR, X75b, ERTA, D6S193 D16S400, D16S402 D16S413
3	Ide	11	11	194	DM-I
4	Ide	1	14	231	DM-1

Ide Ile, infiltrating ductal with infiltrating lobular carcinoma: Ide, infiltrating ductal carcinoma; ER, oestrogen receptor; MSI, microsatellite instability. All cases node negative. Microsatellite instability in breast cancer JA Shaw et al

#### Discussion

Expansion of specific trinucleotide repeats was first noted in several heritable neuromuscular diseases including fragile X syndrome, myotonic dystrophy and Huntington's disease (Miwa, 1994). All these repeats are polymorphic in normal populations as a result of variation in the number of trinucleotide repeat units. Although instability of these repeats is a feature of expanded disease-specific alleles, 'smearing' of the signal from a single allele of trinucleotide repeat genes has not been reported in normal individuals, indicating that somatic microsatellite instability is uncommon in the normal population.

We have detected somatic microsatellite instability at the DM-1 (CTG)n repeat in four of 78 (5%) 'early' sporadic breast cancers. Two tumours showed instability at multiple loci: the DM-1, SCA1 and AR trinucleotide repeats and six of seven dinucleotide repeats. It seems unlikely that the instability seen in breast tumours represents a random background instability for this reason. Analysis of DNA samples prepared from different normal tissues (uninvolved breast, cervix and uterus) showed no evidence of microsatellite instability for the four instability cases. These data provide firm evidence that the instability seen was specific to the breast tumour DNA. Parsons et al. (1995) reported recently that rare cells in a normal tissue population from HNPCC patients may harbour microsatellite alterations. Our data from analysis of different normal tissues do not conflict with this finding. The analysis of total DNA prepared from a 7  $\mu$ m normal tissue section would not be sufficiently sensitive to detect a rare variant normal cell and microsatellite instability in these breast cancers may have arisen by a different mechanism to that seen in HNPCC.

Our data show a lower level of microsatellite instability (5%) than other published reports. This may reflect differences between the groups of tumours studied, with our study being restricted to early mammographically detected cases, and variable frequencies of instability for the different markers studied. Our data are most similar to the findings of Wooster et al. (1994b) who noted instability at trinucleotide repeats in 10% of 100 breast cancers, with only rare instability at dinucleotide repeats. However, in their study larger DM-1 alleles were preferentially unstable, whereas in our group the small five (CTG), repeat allele was most frequently altered. Other studies of breast cancer have noted higher levels of instability, but fewer cases studied. Four of 20 (20%) sporadic breast cancers showed somatic microsatellite instability at several loci (Yee et al., 1994). Glebov et al. (1994) noted differences in instability between tumour DNA from patients with a family history of breast cancer (FHBC) and sporadic breast cancers. Fifteen of 18 FHBC tumours showed instability at multiple loci whereas sporadic breast cancers showed infrequent instability at specific loci. Patel et al. (1994) examined 13 primary breast cancers and noted high levels of both instability and loss of heterozygosity for specific loci on chromosomes 2p. 8p and 10p.

Most colorectal tumours that display instability reveal alleles of altered length at multiple loci that are frequently dinucleotide repeats (Aaltonen *et al.*, 1993; Ionov *et al.*, 1993). Two of the four breast tumours that displayed microsatellite instability, revealed altered length alleles at multiple loci and therefore appear to reflect the pattern of instability seen in colorectal cancer. These tumours are worthy of investigation for mutation in candidate DNA repair loci. However, two other tumours displayed rare instability, only detected for the DM-1 trinucleotide repeat, and more closely reflect the pattern of instability observed by Wooster *et al.* (1994b). Other markers need to be analysed in these cases to confirm whether the instability is indeed restricted to specific trinucleotide repeat loci.

The variation in frequency of instability seen for the ten repeats studied imply that some loci may be more unstable than others. For our trinucleotide repeat data, DM-1 appears to be a more 'sensitive' locus than either AR or SCA-1 for Microsatellite instability in breast cancer JA Shaw et al

studying microsatellite instability. This appears not to be a function of repeat length, as the number of repeats at the AR locus for example tends to be longer than at DM-1. Six of seven dinucleotide repeats studied showed evidence of instability in one tumour and again the variation in frequency appears not to be a function of repeat length. These data suggest that some chromosomal regions are more unstable than others. Both chromosome 6q (Devilee *et al.*, 1991) and 16q (Sato *et al.*, 1991) have been shown previously to harbour areas of loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer. Our data provide other evidence for genomic instability in these chromosomal regions and for specific trinucleotide repeats on 6p, 19q and Xq in breast cancer. Any structural perturbation of these chromosomal regions may alter the function of gene(s) harboured on the specific chromosomes.

The DNA instability observed in the four breast cancers could be a manifestation of errors in DNA repair as has been found for HNPCC (Fishel et al., 1993; Leach et al., 1993). The relaxed genome stability, observed as microsatellite instability, could be initiated by alteration of genes involved in either DNA replication or repair and would be an early event in carcinogenesis (Loeb. 1994). Such unstable cancer cell genomes could promote a cascade of mutations some of which enable the cancer cells to bypass the host regulatory process. Similarly the allele instability observed in our series of 'early' breast cancers may be a sensitive indicator of genomic hypermutation in these tumours. Although the DM-1 and AR microsatellites are expressed, it is unlikely that these loci themselves contribute to the development of breast cancer since all of the unstable alleles lie well within the normal population range and their sizes are common in the normal population. However, different length repeat alleles, even within the normal range, may have subtle influences on cellular metabolism, which may manifest in breast cancer.

The clinicopathological features of the four breast tumours that display instability were examined for possible correlation

#### References

- AALTONEN LA, PELTOMAKI P. LEACH FS. SISTONEN P. PYLKKA-NEN L. MECKLIN JP. JARVINEN H. POWELL SM, JEN J. HAMILTON SR. PETERSEN GM. KINZLER KW. VOGELSTEIN B AND DE LA CHAPELLE A. (1993). Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer. *Science*, **260**, 812-816.
- BROOK JD. MCCURRACH ME. HARLEY HG. BUCKLER AJ, CHURCH D. ABURATANI H. HUNTER K. STANTON VP. THIRION JF. HUDSON T. SOHN R. ZEMELMAN B. SNELL RG. RUNDLE SA. CROW S. DAVIES J. SHELBOURNE P. BUXTON J. JONES C. JUVONEN V. JOHNSON K. HARPER PS. SHAW DJ AND HOUSEMAN DE. (1992). Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell. 68, 799-808.
- DEL SENNO L. AGUIARI GL AND PIVA R. (1992). Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism in the human estrogen receptor (ESR) gene. Hum. Mol. Genet., 1, 354.
- DEVILEE P. VAN VLIET M. VAN SLOUN P. KUIPERS-DIJKSHOORN N. HERMANS J. PEARSON PL AND CORNELISSE CJ. (1991). Alleiotype of human breast carcinoma: a second major site for loss of heterozygosity is on chromosome 6q. Oncogene, 6, 1705-1711.
- ELLIS IO. GALEA M. BROUGHTON N. LOCKER A. BLAMEY RW AND ELSTON CW. (1992). Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. II. Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*, 20, 479-489.
- ELSTON CW AND ELLIS IO. (1991). Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*, 19, 403-410.
- FEARON ER AND VOGELSTEIN B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumourigenesis. Cell. 61, 759-767.
- FISHEL R. LESCOE MK, RAO MRS, COPELAND NG, JENKINS NA, GARBER J. KANE M AND KOLODNER R. (1993). The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. *Cell*. **75**, 1027 - 1038.

with this phenotype. All were infiltrating ductal carcinomas, well or moderately differentiated, and node-negative. Oestrogen receptor was detected in all at moderate to high levels (Rajakariar and Walker, 1995). No evidence of instability at DM-1 was detected for 13 tubular, two mixed lobular and tubular cases and three infiltrating lobular carcinomas from a total of 78 tumours that were screened. Linell *et al.* (1980) have suggested that tubular carcinomas may progress to less differentiated carcinomas if left untreated, and the tubular mixed carcinomas described by Ellis *et al.* (1992) may lend support to this. If this is the case, our findings would suggest either that instability occurs at a particular stage of development and progression or only with certain pathways of development and progression.

In summary, we have detected somatic microsatellite instability in 5% of 78 'early' sporadic breast cancers. These data for 'early' breast cancers support the suggestion that microsatellite instability may be an early event in the genesis of some sporadic breast cancers (Yee *et al.*, 1994). Moreover, our data demonstrate that instability is not found between different normal tissues from the same individual, but appears to be specific to DNA prepared from within a tumour. An extended study on a larger range of lesions including additional tubular and lobular carcinomas, cases of ductal carcinoma *in situ* and 'at risk' lesions (e.g. florid and atypical hyperplasia) will be important to verify these observations and to determine the role of these DNA changes in the natural history of breast cancer.

#### Acknowledgements

T Walsh and S Chappell are undertaking PhD studies supported by the Royal Society and the University of Leicester. K Johnson is supported by the Muscular Dystrophy Group of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, grant number RA3/126/3. We are grateful to Mrs S Dearing for technical support.

- FUTREAL PA. LIU Q, SHATTUCK-EIDENS D. COCHRAN C, HARSH-MAN K, TAVTIGIAN S, BENNETT LM, HAUGEN-STRANO A, SWENSEN J, MIKI Y, EDDINGTON K, MCCLURE M, FRYE C, WEAVER-FELDHAUS J, DING W, GHOLAMI Z, SODERKVIST P, TERRY L, JHANWAR S, BERCHUCK A, IGLEHART JD, MARKS J, BALLINGER DG, BARRETT JC, SKOLNICK MH, KAMB A AND WISEMAN R. (1994). BRCAI Mutations in primary breast and ovarian carcinomas. Science, 266, 120-122.
- GLEBOV OK, MCKENZIE KE. WHITE CA AND SUKUMAR S. (1994). Frequent p53 gene mutations and novel alleles in familial breast cancer. *Cancer Res.*, 54, 3703-3709.
- IONOV Y. PEINADO MA. MALKHOSYAN S. SHIBATA D AND PERUCHO M. (1993). Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature*, 363, 558-561.
- JANSEN G, DE JONG PJ, AMEMIYA C, ASLANDIS C, SHAW DJ, HARLEY HG, BROOK D, FENWICK R, KORNELUK RG, TSILFIDIS C, SHUTLER G, HERMENS R, WORMSKAMP NGM, SMEETS HJ AND WEIRINGER B. (1992). Physical and genetic characterisation of the distal segment of the myotonic dystrophy area on 19q. *Genomics*, 13, 509-517.
- LA SPADA AR. WILSON EM. LUBAHN DB. HARDING AE AND FISCHBECK KH. (1991). Androgen receptor gene mutations in Xlinked spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy. Nature, 352, 77-79.
- LEACH FS. NICOLAIDES NC. PAPADOPOULOS N. LIU B. JEN J. PARSONS R. PELTOMAKI P. SISTONEN P. AALTONEN LA. NYSTROM-LAHTI M. GUAN X-Y. FOURNIER REK. TODD S. LEWIS T. LEACH RJ. NAYLOR SL. WEISSENBACH J. MECKLIN J-P. JARVINEN H. PETERSEN GM. HAMILTON SR. GREEN J. JASS J. WATSON P. LYNCH HT. TRENT JM. DE LA CHAPELLE A. KINZLER KW AND VOGELSTEIN B. (1993). Mutations of a mutS homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Cell. 75, 1215-1225.
- LINELL F. LJUNBERG O AND ANDERSSON 1. (1980). Breast carcinoma aspects of early stages, progression and related problems. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 272 (suppl.), 63-101.

396

- LOEB LA. (1994). Microsatellite instability: marker of a mutator phenotype in cancer. Cancer Res., 54, 5059-5063.
- MENASCE LP, WHITE GRM, HARRISON CJ AND BOYLE JM. (1993).
  Localisation of the estrogen receptor (ESR) to chromosome 6q25.
  1 by FISH and a simple post-FISH banding technique. *Genomics*, 17, 263-265.
- MIKI Y, SWENSEN J, SHATTUCK-EIDENS D, FUTREAL PA, HARSH-MAN K. TAVTIGIAN S, LIU Q, COCHRAN C, BENNETT LM, DING W. BELL R, ROSENTHAL J, HUSSEY C, TRAN T, MCCLURE M, FRYE C. HATTIER T, PHELPS R, HAUGEN-STRANO A, KATCHER H, YAKUMO K, GHOLAMI Z, SHAFFER D, STONES. BAYER S, WRAY C. BOGDEN R, DAYANATH P, WARD J, TONIN P, NAROD S. BRISTOW PK, NORRIS F, HELVERING L. MORRISON P, ROSTECK P, LAI M, BARRETT JC, LEWIS C, NEUHAUSEN S, CANNON-ALBRIGHT L, GOLDGAR D, WISEMAN R, KAMB A AND SKOLNICK MH. (1994). A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene *BRCA1. Science*, **266**, 66– 71.
- MIWA S. (1994). Triplet repeats strike again. Nature Genet., 6, 3-4.
- ORR HT. CHUNG MY, BANFI S, KWIATKOWSKI TJ, SERVADIO A. BEAUDET AL. MCCALL AE, DUVICK LA, RANUM LP AND ZOGHBI HY. (1993). Expansion of an unstable trinucleotide CAG repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Nature Genet., 4, 221-226.
- PARSONS R. LI G-M, LONGLEY MJ, FANG W-H, PAPADOPOULOS N, JEN J. DE LA CHAPELLE A, KINZLER KW, VOGELSTEIN B AND MODRICH P. (1993). Hypermutability and mismatch repair deficiency in RER + tumour cells. *Cell*. **75**, 1227-1236.
- PARSONS R. LI G-M. LONGLEY M. MODRICH P. LIU B. BERK T. HAMILTON SR. KINZLER KW AND VOGELSTEIN B. (1995). Mismatch repair deficiency in phenotypically normal human cells. Science, 268, 738-740.
- PATEL U. GRUNDFEST-BRONIATOWSKI S. GUPTA M AND BANE-RJEE S. (1994). Microsatellite instabilities at five chromosomes in primary breast tumours. *Oncogene*, 9, 3695-3700.
- RAJAKARIAR R AND WALKER RA. (1995). Pathological and biological features of mammographically detected invasive breast carcinomas. *Br. J. Cancer.* 71, 150-154.
- ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS WORKING GROUP. (1990). NHS Breast Screening Programme: Pathology Reporting in Breast Cancer Screening. Royal College of Pathologists: London.

- SAITO S. OKUI K, TOKINO T, OSHIMURA M AND NAKAMURA Y. (1992). Isolation and mapping of 68 RFLP markers on human chromosome 6. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 50, 65-70.
- SATO T. AKIYAMA F, SAKAMOTO G, KASUMI F AND NAKAMURA Y. (1991). Accumulation of genetic alterations and progression of primary breast cancer. Cancer Res., 51, 5794-5799.
- SHAW JA, EVANS JG, JOHNSON K AND WALKER R. (1995). Microsatellite instability in early breast cancer. J. Pathol., 175, 109.
- SHEN Y. THOMPSON AT. HOLMAN K, CALLEN DF, SUTHERLAND GR AND RICHARDS RI. (1992). Four dinucleotide repeat polymorphisms on human chromosome 16 at D16S289, D16S318, D16S319 and D16S320. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 1, 773.
- THIBODEAU SN, BREN G AND SCHAID D. (1993). Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science, 260, 816-819.
- WEBER JL AND MAY PE. (1989). Abundant class of human DNA polymorphisms which can be typed using the polymerase chain reaction. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 44, 388-396.
- WEISSENBACH J, GYAPAY G, DIB C, VIGNAL A, MORISETTE J, MILLASSEAU P, VAYSSIEX G AND LATHROP M. (1992). A second generation linkage map of the human genome. *Nature*, **359**, 794-801.
- WOOSTER R, NEUHAUSEN S, MANGION J, QUIRK Y, FORD D, COLLINS N, NGUYEN K, SEAL S, TRAN T, AVERILL D, FIELDS P, MARSHALL G, MAROD S. LENOIR GM. LYNCH H, FEUNTEUN J, DEVILEE P, CORNELISSE CJ, MENKO FH, DALY PA, ORMISTON W. MCMANUS R, PYE C, LEWIS CM, CANNON-ALBRIGHT LA, PETO J, PONDER BAJ, SKOLNICK MH, EASTON DF, GOLDGAR DE AND STRATTON MR. (1994a). Localisation of a breast cancer susceptibility gene. BRCA2, to chromosome 13q12-13. Science, 265, 2088-2090.
- WOOSTER R. CLENTON-JANSEN AM, COLLINS N, MANGION J, CORNELIS RS, COOPER CS. GUSTERSON BA. PONDER BAJ, VON DEIMLING A, WEISTLER OD, CORNELISSE CJ. DEVILEE P AND STRATTON MR. (1994b). Instability of short tandem repeats (microsatellites) in human cancers. Nature Genet., 6, 152-156.
- YEE CJ. ROODIN, VERRIER CS AND PARL FF. (1994). Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.*, 54, 1641-1644.

# Loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 6q in preinvasive and early invasive breast carcinomas

# SA Chappell, T Walsh, RA Walker and JA Shaw

Breast Cancer Research Unit, Department of Pathology, University of Leicester, Clinical Sciences Building, Glenfield General Hospital, Groby Road, Leicester LE3 9QP, UK

Summary We have used polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis to study the incidence of allelic imbalance at four polymorphic microsatellite markers on chromosome 6q25.1–27, three dinucleotide repeats and one trinucleotide repeat, for microdissected tumour foci from a group of 75 'early' breast carcinomas. The tumours comprised 16 preinvasive cases of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and 59 mammographically detected early invasive carcinomas. Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) was detected at all four loci and in all types and grade of disease. The frequency of LOH ranged from 23% to 50% depending on the marker studied. The highest frequency of LOH was observed at the D6S186 locus for the cases of DCIS and at the oestrogen receptor locus for the invasive carcinomas. These data suggest that the inactivation of tumour-suppressor genes within this region on chromosome 6q is important for the development of these early lesions.

Keywords: breast carcinoma; mammography; loss of heterozygosity; tumour-suppressor genes

According to the multistep model of carcinogenesis, tumours may develop and progress as a result of alterations in oncogene and tumour-suppressor gene loci. In colon cancer, a benign to malignant progression with recognizable molecular changes has been described (Fearon and Volgelstein, 1990). However, the situation for breast cancer is less clear, since there is no clear understanding of the natural history of the disease.

Cytogenetic analyses of primary breast tumours have identified frequent alterations to a number of chromosomes, notably deletions, suggesting the potential localization of tumour-suppressor genes (for a review, see Devilee and Cornelisse, 1994). These studies demonstrated that deletion of chromosome 6q was one of the most frequent chromosomal changes (Dutrillaux et al, 1990; Mars and Saunders, 1990). A subsequent study, using Southern analysis of restriction fragment length polymorphisms to compare constitutional and tumour DNAs, identified chromosome 6q as the second most frequent site for allelic loss (loss of heterozygosity) after 17p in breast cancer (Deville et al, 1991).

Other evidence for the presence of putative tumour-suppressor genes on chromosome 6q comes from chromosome-mediated transfer experiments of normal chromosome 6 into melanoma cell lines (Trent et al, 1990), uterine endometrial cell lines (Yamada et al, 1990) and the breast cancer cell lines, MDA-MD231 and MCF-7 (Negrini et al, 1994), all resulting in the suppression of tumorigenesis.

The advent of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis of microsatellite polymorphisms (Weber and May, 1989) has confirmed the cytogenetic evidence for chromosomal deletion at 6q and has enabled construction of a more detailed deletion map. Allelic loss at 6q24–27 has been observed in different tumour types, including breast carcinoma (Orphanos et al. 1995), ovarian

Received 31 July 1996 Revised 31 October 1996 Accepted 18 November 1996 Correspondence to: JA Shaw carcinoma (Saito et al, 1992; Rodabaugh et al, 1995). hepatic carcinoma (De Souza et al, 1995), small-cell lung carcinoma (Merlo et al, 1994), renal cell carcinoma (Morita et al, 1991), malignant melanoma (Millikin et al. 1991; Walker et al, 1994) and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (Menasce et al, 1994). The reported frequencies of allelic loss range from 30% to 60% depending on the tumour types and markers studied. This shared region of allelic loss may harbour putative tumour-suppressor genes that are pleiotropic for these tumour types and reflect a common mechanism of tumorigenesis.

Recent detailed analyses of microsatellite markers on chromosome 6q in breast cancers have highlighted two key regions showing high levels of LOH at 6q13 and 6q26–27, indicating the presence of at least two tumour-suppressor genes (Devilee et al, 1991: Orphanos et al, 1995). Since these studies were concerned with symptomatic, well-established breast carcinomas, it is not clear whether allelic loss on chromosome 6q is an early event in the development of breast cancers. Small, mammographically detected breast cancers form a useful group for study of the involvement of tumour-suppressor genes in tumour development and earlier stages of progression. In this report, we examined LOH at the more distal region, chromosome 6q25–q27, using four polymorphic microsatellite markers, in a group of 75 'early' lesions comprising 59 mammographically detected invasive carcinomas and 16 preinvasive lesions of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS).

The markers span a chromosomal region of approximately 15 Mb. Two of the markers (D6S186 and D6S193) were analysed previously in well-established carcinomas (Orphanos et al, 1995). The two other markers studied comprise repeats at or within coding sequences that might be candidates for 'early' mutations in breast cancer: a (TA)<sub>n</sub> repeat positioned 1 kb upstream of the oestrogen receptor gene (ESR) (Del Senno et al, 1992) and a  $(CAG)_n$  repeat within the human TATA box-binding protein (TBP) (Polymeropoulos et al, 1991). We have analysed the frequency of LOH in the two groups of cases and correlated these data with oestrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) status and other clinicopathological findings.

Table 1 Clinicopathological features of 59 mammographically detected early invasive breast carcinomas

Туре	Grade	Number of cases	Tumour size (mm)	Number of cases
Tub	1	6	< 10	10
Lob/tub	1	1	10	14
IDC/ILC	6.40	1	11	4
ILC	П	1	12	5
IDC	1	17 (1)	13	3
IDC	11	29 (2)	14	2
IDC	111	4	15	21
Total		59		59

Tub, tubular carcinoma; Lob/tub, lobular and tubular carcinoma; IDC/ILC, infiltrating ductal with infiltrating lobular carcinoma; ILC, infiltrating lobular carcinoma; IDC, infiltrating ductal carcinoma. Numbers in brackets, node-positive cases.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Patients

A total of 59 invasive breast carcinomas that were impalpable and detected by mammography were studied. All were from the prevalent round of screening and were detected by the Leicestershire Breast Screening Service. Cases of 15 mm or less in maximum diameter were examined. All had either axillary node sampling or axillary dissection. None of the tumours were from women with either a strong family history of breast cancer or any known inherited predisposition to the development of tumours. Some 56 cases were node negative.

A total of 16 cases of pure ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) were studied. These comprised three low, three intermediate and ten high nuclear grade cases. Ten of these were mammographically detected and six were clinically presenting.

# Tissues

All tissues were fixed in 4% formaldehyde in saline for 18–36 h. After slicing, selected blocks were processed through graded alcohols and xylene to paraffin wax. Following review of haematoxylin and eosin-stained sections, representative blocks were chosen for further study. Tissue from histologically normal lymph node served as the source of normal DNA.

## Histology

All carcinomas were reported according to the NHS Breast Screening Programme National Coordinating Group for Breast Screening Pathology Guidelines (1995). Infiltrating ductal carcinomas were graded using the modified Bloom and Richardson system (Elston and Ellis, 1991). Cases of DCIS were graded as low, intermediate or high nuclear grade. All histology was undertaken by RA Walker. The clinicopathological features of the invasive carcinomas are shown in Table 1.

## Oestrogen receptor and progesterone receptor immunohistochemistry

Avidin-biotin complex peroxidase immunohistochemistry was carried out for the 59 early invasive carcinomas as described



T1 T2 T3



Figure 1 Loss of heterozygosity in early breast cancer. Genomic DNA samples from paired normal lymph node (N) and microdissected tumour (T) samples were compared by PCR amplification, electrophoresis on 6% sequencing gels and autoradiography. (A) LOH at D6S193 in case 37: (T1-T3) solid component of infiltrating ductal carcinoma. (B) LOH at D6S186 in case 21: (T1 and T2) solid component of infiltrating ductal carcinoma. (C) LOH at D6S193 in case 102: (T1 and T2) solid component of infiltrating ductal carcinoma. (C) LOH at D6S193 in case 102: (T1 and T2) solid component of infiltrating ductal carcinoma. (C) LOH at D6S193 in case 57: (T1 and T2) solid component of DLOH at D6S186 in DCIS case D5: (T1 and T2) individual ducts. (E) LOH at ERTA in case 57: (T1) area of DCIS, (T2) tubular component, (T3) tubular component

British Journal of Cancer (1997) 75(9), 1324-1329

#### 1326 SA Chappell et al

Case no.	Туре	Grade		Loss of heterozy	osity at markers		H scol	res
			ESR (q25.1)	D6S186 (q26)	D6S193 (q27)	TBP (q27)	ER	PR
3	ILC	11	•	0	NI	0	175	106
7	IDC	I	•	NI	0	0	182	49
13	Tub	I	0	0	NI	•	142	94
15	IDC	1	•	NI	NI	0	181	97
17	Tub	1	0	0	NI	•	195	3
19	IDC	11	0	NI	•	0	162	168
21	IDC	H	•	•	•	NI	151	92
23	IDC	I	•	•	NI	NA	175	31
29	Lob/tub	I	•	NI	0	NI	196	0
31	IDC	1	MSI	NI	NI	•	202	115
37	IDC	11	NI	0	•	0	22	3
41	IDC	11	NI	0	•	0	192	170
49	IDC	11	NI	•	NI	NI	215	46
57	IDC	1	•	NI	0	NT	173	192
59	IDC	I.	•	•	•	NI	196	19.2
70	IDC	I.	•	NI	NA	NI	231	0
76	IDC	I.	•	NI	NA	NI	219	0
78	IDC	1	NI	•	0	NT	202.5	85
80	Tub	1	NI	NI	•	NI	162	83
98	IDC	11	•	•	٠	NT	187.5	0
102	1DC	H	•	•	•	NT	142	0
106	IDC	11	0	NI	•	NT	195	33.5
108	IDC	11	•	NI	•	NI	0	0
122	IDC	П	NI	NI	•	NI	160	0

Table 2 Pattern of loss of heterozygosity observed using four microsatellite markers from 59 early invasive breast carcinomas

•. loss of heterozygosity; O, heterozygosity; MSI, microsatellite instability; NI, not informative; NA, no amplification; NT, not tested, Tub, tubular carcinoma; Lob/tub, lobular and tubular carcinoma; ILC, infiltrating lobular carcinoma; IDC, infiltrating ductal carcinoma.

 Table 3
 Pattern of loss of heterozygosity observed using three microsatellite

 markers from 16 preinvasive lesions of DCIS

Case no.	Grade	C	Chromosom	e 6q markers	3
		ESR (q25.1)	D6S186 (q26)	D6S193 (q27)	TBP (q27)
D2 (M)	High	NA	•	NI	NT
D3 (M)	Low	•	NI	0	NT
D4 (M)	Low	NI	•	٠	NT
D5 (M)	High	•	•	•	NT
D8 (M)	Low	NI	NI	•	NT
D12 (C)	High	NI	٠	•	NT
D13 (C)	High	•	NI	0	NT
D14 (C)	High	NI	NI	•	NT

 $\bullet.$  loss of heterozygosity;  $\bigcirc,$  heterozygosity; NI, not informative; NA, no amplification; NT, not tested; (M), mammographically detected; (C), clinically presenting.

previously (Rajakariar and Walker, 1995) with minor modifications. For antigen retrieval pretreatment, sections were exposed to two cycles of microwaving for oestrogen receptor [mouse monoclonal ID5 (Dako)] and progesterone receptor [mouse monoclonal NCL-PgR (NovaCastra)].

# DNA extraction and microdissection from paraffin embedded sections

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue from breast tumour samples and non-involved lymph nodes served as the source of tumour and normal DNA respectively. For each tumour-normal pair, DNA was extracted from 10-µm paraffin-embedded sections as described previously (Shaw et al, 1996).

Microdissection of tumour foci from invasive carcinomas and areas of DCIS was carried out using a method based on that described by Koreth et al (1995). In brief, serial 10-µm paraffin sections were deparaffinized in xylene  $(2 \times 5 \text{ min})$  and dehydrated in 99% ethanol  $(2 \times 2 \text{ min})$  and 95% ethanol  $(1 \times 2 \text{ min})$ , and rehydrated in water before staining. Tissues were stained in 0.5% eosin solution for 20 s, washed in water and allowed to air dry. A serial reference slide for each tumour was stained with haematoxylin and eosin, dehydrated and coverslipped. Tumour foci of interest from the invasive carcinomas included tubular, solid, invasive lobular components and preinvasive areas of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) within infiltrating ductal carcinomas. These areas were visualized using the haematoxylin and eosin reference and microdissected from corresponding eosin sections using  $a \times 40$ magnification microdissection microscope (American Optical Corporation) using sterile, 20-µl drawn-out glass Pasteur pipettes. Tumour foci (approximately 100 cells) were placed into 25 µl of digestion buffer [100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1 mM EDTA (pH 8), 200 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> proteinase K] and incubated at 55°C for 3 h, then at 94°C for 10 min. Volumes (2  $\mu$ l) of this mixture were used in the PCR analysis.

# PCR analysis at 6q25.1-27

A total of 75 'early' breast carcinomas were studied for LOH at four polymorphic markers from chromosome 6q25.1–27: the oestrogen receptor (ESR) at 6q25.1 (Del Senno et al, 1992), D6S186 (6q26) and D6S193 (6q27) (Saito et al, 1992; Orphanos et al, 1995) and the TATA box-binding protein (TBP) gene at 6q27 (Polymeropoulos et al, 1991; Saito et al, 1994). PCR reaction conditions were as follows: 45 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 11 mM ammonium sulphate, 4.5 mM magnesium chloride, 200 µM dTTP, dCTP and dGTP, 25 μM dATP (Pharmacia, UK), 0.3 μl [α-<sup>35</sup>S]deoxyadenosine-5'-triphosphate (600 Ci mmol<sup>-1</sup>, 10 mCi ml<sup>-1</sup>; ICN Pharmaceuticals, UK), 113 µg ml-1 bovine serum albumin (Boehringher Mannheim), 6.7 mM β-mercaptoethanol, 4.4 μM EDTA. pH 8.0, 10 pmol of forward and reverse primers, 2 µl of microdissected DNA and 1 unit Taq DNA polymerase (Gibco BRL, UK) in a total volume of 25 µl. Hot-start PCR was carried out using the following cycles: 5 min denaturation at 94°C followed by 30 (40 for microdissections) cycles of 1 min denaturation at 94°C, 1 min annealing and 1 min extension at 72°C with a final extension of 7 min at 72°C on a DNA Thermal Cycler (Perkin Elmer Cetus, UK). Analysis of PCR products was as described previously (Shaw et al, 1996).

# **Detection of LOH**

Autoradiographs were scored independently by two individuals (SC and JS) and the results compared. All examples of LOH were confirmed by microdissection analysis to prepare multiple tumour foci and then by repeating the PCR analysis where possible.

# RESULTS

A total of 59 early invasive breast tumours and 16 preinvasive lesions of DCIS were screened for LOH with four polymorphic microsatellite markers, mapping to chromosome 6q25.1-q27. LOH was considered to be present when the constitutive tissue DNA was heterozygous (informative) for the locus under investigation. and where there was complete or > 50% loss of one allele in the corresponding tumour DNA as estimated by visual inspection. The complex heterogeneity of the disease and the presence of non-tumour cells can mask LOH, therefore all analyses were confirmed using DNA prepared by microdissection from different histological tumour foci within the same tumour section (Figure 1). The use of microdissected tumour material produced almost complete allelic loss (Figure 1), such that densitometric analysis of the data was not considered necessary.

For example, Figure 1 B. C and D shows two invasive carcinomas and one case of DCIS that all exhibit complete LOH for two separate microdissected foci at the markers studied. The turnours analysed in Figure 1A and E show some evidence of heterogeneity with variation between different microdissected foci. For example Figure 1E is an infiltrating ductal carcinoma grade I that exhibits LOH at ERTA. Analysis of three distinct microdissected foci shows an area of in situ carcinoma with LOH (T1), a tubular component with heterogeneity of LOH (T2) and a second tubular component with complete LOH (T3). This discrepancy could be attributable to the presence of contaminating nonneoplastic stromal cells in the tubular component, even when it was dissected away from normal tissue. Although microdissection analysis revealed occasional heterogeneity of distinct structural components, e.g. in situ, solid or tubular lesions within a tumour section, with some foci showing clear LOH and others showing no evidence of LOH, no clear correlation was seen between specific structural components and LOH at any particular locus.

Table 2 and 3 summarize the observed patterns of LOH at 6q25.1-q27 for the invasive and preinvasive study groups respectively. LOH was seen for all types and grades of disease studied. Altogether, 24 of 59 invasive carcinomas (48%) showed evidence of LOH. Of these, 17 exhibited LOH only at a single locus (Table 2) and one tumour (case 31) also showed clear microsatellite instability at ESR. The situation was similar for the cases of DCIS with eight of 16 cases (50%) showing evidence of LOH and five of these only exhibiting LOH at a single locus (Table 3). The frequency of LOH at individual markers ranged from 23% to 40.6% for the early invasive cases and from 33.3% to 50% for the DCIS group (Table 4). The highest frequency of LOH was observed at the ESR locus for the invasive carcinomas and at the D6S186 locus for the cases of DCIS. LOH was observed in both high- and low-grade DCIS. The cases of DCIS were not studied for LOH at the TBP marker owing to the paucity of available material for study.

In addition, the 59 early invasive carcinomas were studied for oestrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status by immunohistochemistry (Table 2). In all, 53 (90%) were oestrogen receptor positive and 27 (46%) were progesterone receptor positive. Thirteen of the early invasive carcinomas showed LOH at the ESR locus. Of these, 12 were ER positive (92%) and four were PR positive (31%) by immunohistochemistry (Table 2). Therefore, LOH at ESR is not necessarily reflected in negative values for ER and/or PR. There was no significant relationship between LOH at ESR and either ER or PR status.

# DISCUSSION

Using microdissection of distinct structural components from within a tumour tissue section and PCR amplification of microsatellite repeats, we have demonstrated loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at chromosome 6q25.1–27 in foci of both DCIS and 'early' invasive carcinomas. Comparing the proportion of in situ lesions with the proportion of invasive lesions exhibiting LOH at each locus revealed similar frequencies. Moreover, there was a general spread of LOH detected for all types and grades of disease studied. These data for the 'early' carcinomas suggest that the majority of allele losses previously reported at these loci in symptomatic

Table 4 Summary of chromosome 6q LOH data in early invasive tumours and preinvasive cases of DCIS

Locus (	Chromosomal location	No. of cases tested		No. of informati	ive cases (%)	No. of cases with LOH (%)	
		Invasive	DCIS	Invasive	DCIS	Invasive	DCIS
ESR	6q25.1	57	15	32 (56)	9 (60)	13 (40.6)	3 (33.3)
D6S186	6q26	54	16	23 (42.6)	8 (50)	7 (30.4)	4 (50)
D6S193	6q27	57	16	35 (61.4)	12 (75)	11 (31.4)	5 (41.7)
твр	6q27	28	-	13 (46)		3 (23)	-

invasive cancers (Orphanos et al, 1995; Iwase et al, 1995) can be found in preinvasive carcinomas. This suggestion is supported by evidence from a small number of the infiltrating ductal carcinomas (e.g. Figure 1) in which it was possible to analyse an invasive and in situ component from the same tumour section. In each case, LOH was detected in both lesions. In combination, these data suggest that loss of alleles on chromosome 6q is an early event in the progression of malignancy in the breast.

Although the highest frequency of LOH was observed at the ESR locus (40.6%) for the invasive carcinomas and at the D6S186 locus (50%) for the cases of DCIS, these differences may merely reflect the different groups of cases studied and the difference in sample size between the two groups. In addition, the slightly higher frequency of LOH noted for the cases of DCIS may reflect the fact that most were of high nuclear grade, and therefore a more aggressive disease type. It is interesting to note that LOH was found for all three markers studied in both high- and low-grade DCIS, suggesting the early involvement of loci on 6q in the development of these lesions. In a study of chromosome 1, differences were found between chromosomal regions for the different subtypes of DCIS with no alteration at two regions in low-grade DCIS (Munn et al, 1995).

The prevalent detection of LOH at a single locus rather than multiple loci in both the 'early' invasive carcinomas and cases of DCIS argues against random losses resulting from general chromosomal instability and gross chromosomal alterations. Some invasive carcinomas and cases of DCIS showed LOH at more than one locus. Since the markers studied map from 6q25–27, a distance of several megabases, it is not possible to say whether a contiguous region harbouring the relevant loci has been lost, or whether there are distinct areas of LOH within this region of 'chromosome 6q.

Knowledge of the ER status of a carcinoma is of value in aiding prediction of hormone responsiveness and can provide some prognostic information. Tumours lacking ER and PR generally grow faster than those containing both ER and PR (McGuire and Clark, 1989). Overall, 46.1% of informative cases for the invasive carcinomas exhibited LOH at the oestrogen receptor locus (ESR), and 33% of the informative cases of DCIS showed LOH at ESR. These frequencies are higher than the 19% LOH at ESR observed by Iwase et al (1995) and may reflect different groups of cases, or might be due to the more informative analysis of material prepared by microdissection in this study. The high incidence of LOH at the ESR locus in the invasive carcinomas was not reflected by loss of ER as detected by immunohistochemistry. Indeed, the majority of the group of early invasive lesions were ER positive. This would be expected, since the group studied was predominantly well or moderately differentiated. Evolving tumour cells may later acquire new proliferative pathways as a consequence of multiple genetic alterations, enabling the tumour cells to bypass oestrogendependent proliferation (Liu et al. 1988).

Other studies have found no relationship between LOH on chromosome 6q and ER status (Devilee et al, 1991; Iwase et al, 1995), suggesting that allele loss may not play an important role in the lack of ER function in breast cancer tissues. However, our results have identified nine of 13 tumours exhibiting LOH at ESR that were ER positive and PR negative. This might indicate inactivation of the remaining ESR allele leading to production of an inactive but detectable ER protein, and hence loss of PR. These cases are candidates for screening for either mutations or spliced variants of the oestrogen receptor gene. The identification of spliced variants would seem most likely, since ER-positive/PR-negative phenotype breast tumours were shown by Fuqua et al (1993) to contain a variant ER (missing exon 7) that was unable to function as a transcriptional inducer of PR expression.

Only three invasive carcinomas showed evidence of LOH at the TBP locus (23%), at 6q27. This frequency of LOH is only marginally raised above expected levels for random background loss. These data suggest that inactivation of this region of the chromosome is of lesser importance than of that harbouring the ESR, D6S186 and D6S193 loci in these early lesions.

The mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor (M6P/IGFr) functions in the intracellular trafficking of lysosomal enzymes, the degradation of IGF2, a mitogen often overproduced in tumours (Kornfeld, 1992), and the activation of the potent growth inhibitor, transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (Dennis and Rifkin, 1991). Some 70% of human hepatocellular carcinomas show LOH at this locus, which maps to chromosome 6q26-27 (Laureys et al, 1988), and 25% of these show point mutations in the remaining allele (De Souza et al, 1995). Clearly, M6P/IGFr might be inactivated in breast cancers also. Recently, Hankins et al (1996) reported point mutations in two comedo-type (high-grade) DCIS cases, suggesting that this is a candidate tumour-suppressor gene in some breast cancers. Our preliminary analyses of this locus have shown no evidence of LOH in the well to moderately differentiated invasive carcinomas suggesting that inactivation of M6P/IGFr is not common in these tumours (manuscript in preparation). In combination, these data suggest that inactivation of M6P/IGFr may occur only within certain more aggressive subgroups (poorly differentiated cases) of breast cancers. The frequent LOH that we have detected at 6q25.1-q27 might, therefore, be caused by inactivation of other tumour-suppressor genes on chromosome 6q as well as M6P/IGFr.

In summary, we have detected frequent LOH at three polymorphic loci from chromosome 6q25.1–27 in cases of both high- and low-grade DCIS and all types and grades of early invasive carcinomas. In combination, these data confirm distal chromosome 6q as a major site for genetic change in the early stages of development of some sporadic breast cancers, and form the starting point to identify the corresponding genes.

#### REFERENCES

- Del Senno L. Aguiari GL and Piva R (1992) Dinucleotide repeat polymorphism in the human estrogen receptor (ESR) gene. *Hum Mol Genet* 1: 354
- Dennis PA and Rifkin DB (1991) Cellular activation of latent transforming growth factor β requires binding to the cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate/ insulin like growth factor type II receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88: 580–584
- De Souza A, Hankins GR, Washington MK, Fine RL, Orton TC and Jirttle RL (1995) Frequent loss of heterozygosity on 6q at the mannose 6-phosphate/ insulin like growth factor II receptor locus in human hepatocellular tumours. Oncogene 10: 1725–1729
- Devilee P and Cornelisse CJ (1994) Somatic genetic changes in human breast cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1198: 113–130
- Devilee P, Van Vilet M, Van Sloun P, Kuipers Dijkshoorn M, Hermans J, Pearson PL and Cornelisse LJ (1991) Allelotype of human breast carcinoma: a second major site for loss of heterozygosity is on chromosome 6q. Oncogene 6: 1705–1711
- Dutrillaux B. Gerbault-Seureau M and Zafrani B (1990) Characterization of chromosomal abnormalities in human breast cancer. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 49: 203–217
- Elston CW and Ellis IO (1991) Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer.
   I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long term follow-up. *Histopathology* 19: 403–410

#### LOH at chromosome 6q in breast carcinoma 1329

- Fearon ER and Volgelstein BA (1990) A genetic model for colorectal tumourigenesis. Cell 61: 759–767
- Fuqua SAW, Chamness GC and McGuire WL (1993) Estrogen receptor mutations in breast cancer. J Cell Biochem 51: 135–139
- Hankins GR. De Souza AT, Bentley RC, Patel MR, Marks JR, Iglehart JD and Jirtle RL (1996) M6P/IGF2 receptor: a candidate breast tumour suppressor gene. Oncogene 12: 2003–2009
- Iwase H, Greenman JM, Barnes DM, Bobrow L, Hodgson S and Mathew CG (1995) Loss of heterozygosity of the oestrogen receptor gene in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 71: 448–450
- Koreth J, Bethwaite PB and O'D McGee J (1992) Mutation at 11q23 in human nonfamilial breast cancer. A microdissection microsatellite analysis. J Pathol 176: 11-18
- Kornfeld S (1992) Structure and function of the mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor II receptor. Annu Rev Biochem 61: 307-330
- Laureys G. Barton DE, Ullrich A and Franke U (1988) Chromosomal mapping of the gene for type II insulin-like growth factor receptor/cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor in man and mouse. *Genomics* 3: 120–129
- Liu E. Dollbaum C and Scott G (1988) Molecular lesions involved in the progression of human breast cancer. *Oncogene* 3: 323-327
- McGuire WL and Clark GM (1989) Prognostic factors for recurrence and survival in axillary node-negative breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem 34: 145–148
- Mars WM and Saunders GF (1990) Chromosomal abnormalities in human breast cancer. Cancer Metast Rev 9: 35-43
- Menasce LP, Orphanous V, Santibanez-Koref M, Boyle JM and Harrison CJ (1994) Common region of deletion on the long arm of chromosome 6 in nonhodgkin's lymphoma and acute lymphoblastoic leukaemia. Genes Chrom Cancer 10: 286-288
- Merlo A, Gabrielson E, Mabry M, Vollmer R, Baylin SB and Sidransky D (1994) Homozygous deletions on chromosome 9p and loss of heterozygosity on 9q, 6p, and 6q in primary human small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Res* 54: 2322–2326
- Millikin D. Meeses E, Vogelstein B, Witowski C and Trent J (1991) Loss of heterozygosity for loci on the long arm of chromosome 6 in human malignant melanoma. *Cancer Res* 51: 5449–5453
- Morita R, Saito S, Ishikawa J, Ogawa O, Yoshida O, Yamakawa K and Nakamura Y (1991) Common regions of deletion on chromosomes 5q, 6q, and 10q in renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 51: 5817–5820
- Munn KE, Walker RA and Varley JM (1995) Frequent alterations of chromosome 1 in ductal carcinoma *in situ* of the breast. *Oncogene* 10: 1653-1657

- National Coordinating Group for Breast Screening Pathology (1995) Pathology Reporting in Breast Cancer Screening, 2nd edn. NHSBSP: Sheffield
- Negrini M. Sabbioni S, Possati L, Corallini A, Barbanti-Brodano G and Croce CM (1994) Suppression of tumourogenicity of breast cancer cells by microcellmediated chromosome transfer studies on chromosome 6 and 11. Cancer Res 54: 1331–1336
- Orphanos V, McGowen G, Hey Y, Boyle JM and Santibanez-Koref M (1995) Proximal 6q, a region showing allele loss in primary breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 71: 290–293
- Polymeropoulos MH. Rath DS, Xiao H and Merril CR (1991) Trinucleotide repeat polymorphism at the human transcription factor IID gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* 19: 4307
- Rajakariar R and Walker RA (1995) Pathological and biological features of mammographically detected invasive breast carcinomas. Br J Cancer 71: 150–154
- Rodabaugh KJ, Blanchard G, Welch WR, Bell DA, Berkowitz RS and Mok SC (1995) Detailed deletion mapping of chromosome 6q in borderline epithelial ovarian tumours. *Cancer Res* 55: 2169–2172
- Saito S. Saito H. Koi S, Sagae S, Kudo R, Saito J, Noda K and Nakamura Y (1992) Fine-scale deletion mapping of the distal long arm of chromosome 6 in 70 human ovarian cancers. *Cancer Res* 52: 5815–5817
- Saito S, Yamamoto T, Horikoshi M and Ikeuchi T (1994) Direct mapping of the human TATA box-binding protein (TBP) gene to 6q27 by fluorescence in situ hybridisation. Jpn J Hum Genet 39: 421–425
- Shaw JA, Walsh T, Chappell SA, Carey N, Johnson K and Walker RA (1996) Microsatellite instability in early sporadic breast cancer. Br J Cancer 73: 1393–1397
- Trent JM, Stanbridge EJ, McBride HL, Meese EU, Casey G, Araujo DE, Witkowski CM and Nagle RB (1990) Tumourigenicity in human melanoma cell lines controlled by introduction of human chromosome 6. *Science* 247: 568–571
- Walker G, Palmer JM, Walters MK, Nancarrow DJ, Parsons PG and Hayward NK (1994) Simple tandem repeat allelic deletions confirm the preferential loss of distal chromosome 6q in melanoma. Int J Cancer 58: 203–206
- Weber JL and May PE (1989) Abundant class of human DNA polymorphism which can be typed using the polymerase chain reaction. *Am J Hum Genet* 44: 388-396
- Yamada H, Wake N, Fujimoto S, Barrett JC and Oshimura M (1990) Multiple chromosomes carrying tumour suppressor activity for a uterine endometrial carcinoma cell line identified by microcell-mediated chromosome transfer. Oncogene 5: 1141-1147

# Molecular pathology of breast cancer and its application to clinical management

Rosemary A. Walker, J. Louise Jones, Stephen Chappell, Tom Walsh and Jacqueline A. Shaw Department of Pathology, University of Leicester, Breast Cancer Research Unit, Clinical Sciences, Glenfield Hospital NHS Trust, Groby Road, Leicester LE3 9QP, UK

Key words: breast cancer, genetic analysis, steroid receptor, epidermal growth factor receptor, cell adhesion, proteases

# Abstract

Breast cancer is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in women in many parts of the world. Breast carcinomas are heterogenous in their biological and clinical behaviour and a greater understanding of how they develop and progress could lead to more directed forms of screening and therapy. It is important to determine the molecular mechanisms underlying the natural history of breast cancer.

Developments in the techniques for molecular analysis have meant that they can now be applied to a large range of clinical material such as cytological preparations and fixed, embedded material, so increasing the potential for relating any molecular alterations to clinical behaviour and response to therapy.

In this review we consider recent developments in three areas of importance to breast cancer: genetic analysis – oncogenes, tumour suppressor genes, loss of heterozygosity, microsatellite instability, familial breast cancer; steroid receptors, oestrogen regulated proteins, epidermal growth factor receptor, growth factor sparticularly transforming growth factor beta; and cell adhesion, invasion and metastasis – E-cadherin, integrins, proteases. These are discussed in relation to potential for screening, prognosis and treatment.

# Introduction

Breast carcinoma is the most common malignancy in women in North America and Western Europe and is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. Although there have been advances in treatment only modest improvements in survival have been achieved. One of the important points to appreciate about breast cancers is that they are heterogeneous in the way they behave both biologically and clinically. It is, therefore, essential that the nature of individual tumours is characterised and used to plan the most appropriate therapy. A greater understanding of how breast cancers develop and how they progress could lead to more directed forms of screening and therapy. This is why it is necessary to determine the molecular mechanisms underlying the natural history of breast cancer.

The techniques which have been available for analysis have changed considerably so that many can now be applied to routine, diagnostic histopathological material and to aspirates/small biopsies. The various approaches which can be used will be referred to in the different sections where relevant. A summary of the possible ways of analysing breast cancers is given in Table 1.

It is not possible to cover every aspect of breast cancer and we will concentrate on three areas. However, for each of these the concern is to consider the following:

• can alterations be identified which represent early events and have potential for screening

- do any alterations/abnormalities provide information about how individual cancers will behave
- can the molecular alterations be used for the selection of the most appropriate form of treatment or be targets for new forms of therapy.

# **Genetic alterations**

# Oncogenes

Alterations to a number of proto-oncogenes appear to be of importance in a proportion of breast cancers.

# c-myc

This encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein which acts as a transcriptional regulator, controlling cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis [1]. Whilst studies of c-myc in mouse systems suggest that alterations to the gene may be an important early event in the development of tumours [2], the evidence from human breast carcinomas is less conclusive. Alterations to the c-myc gene, predominantly amplification, have been found in approximately 25% of carcinomas but whilst Bonilla et al. [3] considered this to be associated with the development of breast cancer, other studies have found c-myc alterations to correlate with aggressive features and/ or poor prognosis [4-6]. When c-myc mRNA and protein is determined in carcinomas by Northern analysis, in-situ hybridisation, immunohistochemistry and flow cytometry it is evident that there is a poor correlation between levels and extent of expression and amplification of the gene [7-8] and hence these approaches are of no value in determining prognosis.

# ras

Although activation of the *ras* proto-oncogene family is important in rodent mammary tumours the role of *ras* genes in human breast cancer is less clear.

Table 1.	The	various	techniques	s which can	be applie	d to breast	cancer	samples	of different	i typ	bes

	Method	Detect	Application
DNA	Southern blotting	Amplification, deletion, allelic loss, imbalance	Fresh, frozen tissue.
	PCR amplification	Amplification, deletion allelic loss, imbalance, microsatellite instability.	Fresh, frozen tissue. Fixed, paraffin embedded tissue. Fine needle aspiration.
	Flow cytometry	Ploidy status.	Fresh, frozen tissue, fixed, paraffin embedded tissue, Aspirates (if sufficient cells).
	Fluorescent and non-radioactive in-situ hybridisation	Deletions, allelic loss, aneusomy.	Fixed, paraffin embedded tissue. Fine needle aspirates.
RNA	Northern blotting	Over expression, mutation	Fresh, frozen tissue.
	RT-PCR	Expression (can be quantified)	Fresh. frozen tissue. Fine needle aspirates.
	RT-PCR with SSCP <sup>a</sup> /CDGE <sup>b</sup>	Variants. Mutations.	Fresh, frozen tissue. Fine needle aspirates.
	In-situ hybridisation	Expression with localisation.	Fresh, frozen tissue. Fixed, embedded tissue.
Protein	Western blotting	Molecular weights of proteins, plus relative levels.	
	Immunohistochemistry, with or without antigen retrieval	t Localisation of protein. Extent of reactivity e.g. receptors.	Fresh, frozen tissue. Fixed, embedded tissue. Fine needle aspirates.

Abbreviations: \* SSCP - Single strand conformational polymorphism: \* CDGE - Constant denaturing gel electrophoresis.

Mutations have rarely been identified [9], although loss of one H-*ras*-1 allele has been correlated with aggressive features [10].

Immunohistochemical studies give conflicting results regarding *ras* protein expression, some of which may result from the lack of specificity of the antibody used by several groups. Although some studies found greater expression in carcinomas [11– 12], we did not [13]. Going et al. [14] found an increase in staining from normal to *in-situ* carcinomas, but surprisingly found greater staining in myoepithelial cells.

Of greater significance from a screening point of view comes from the finding of the tight linkage of H-*ras*-1 to a minisatellite locus which consists of four common alleles and several rare alleles. There is a significant association of the rare alleles with cancer and as many as 1 in 11 breast cancers might be attributed to this [15].

# c-erbB-2

This proto-oncogene has proved to be of particular interest in human breast cancer. Also called *neu* or HER2, it encodes a 185 kD transmembrane glycoprotein, that has extensive homology with epidermal growth factor receptor and is a putative growth factor receptor [16].

Amplification of the gene is found in 20–30% in invasive carcinomas [5, 17–19] and a correlation has been found between amplification and aggressive features and poor short term prognosis, although not by all [20–21]. The vast majority of these studies have used Southern blotting techniques but more recent work has employed differential polymerase chain reaction since it can be applied to fixed, embedded tissue. Liu et al. [22] identified amplification in 21% of breast cancers but Hubbard et al. [23] found it at a much higher incidence.

Importantly, there is a good concordance between c-erbB-2 gene amplification and over-expression of mRNA and protein as detected by Northern analysis, *in situ* hybridisation and immunohistochemistry [7, 19, 24]. C-erbB-2 can be readily detected in fixed, paraffin embedded tissue using immunohistochemistry. It is our experience that antigen retrieval should not be used, since this can result in a greater incidence of low level staining and loss of the correlation with amplification. Although some studies failed to find a relationship between over-expression and prognosis [21], or only for node positive cases [25], many have found c-erbB-2 overexpression to be an independent predictor of poorer disease free interval and survival [26–30] and we continue to do so. There is now a wealth of antibodies available and a detailed analysis of them found their ability to detect over-expression to be variable, which may account for some of the differences concerning the relationship between c-erbB-2 and prognosis [31].

Amplification and over-expression of c-erbB-2 does appear to be associated with an aggressive form of breast cancer, so it was surprising that in immunohistochemical studies the protein could be detected in ductal carcinoma *in situ* [32]. More extensive studies found c-erbB-2 expression in 40– 60% of cases but always associated with the high grade (comedo) type [33–35]. Allred et al. [36] proposed that either over-expression of c-erbB-2 decreases as carcinomas evolve from *in-situ* to invasive or that many invasive carcinomas arise *denovo* by mechanisms not involving c-erbB-2. We would propose that there are several molecular pathways by which breast carcinomas arise and alteration to c-erbB-2 is just one of them.

Knowledge of c-*erb*B-2 status can be of value in determining therapy since there is clear evidence that c-*erb*B-2 positive tumours show a poor response to endocrine therapy [37–39].

# **CCNDI**

Interest in genes on chromosome 11q13 came originally from retroviral studies in mice, where the oncogenic effect of mouse mammary tumour virus is due to the transcriptional activation of the cellular proto-oncogenes *int-*1 and *int-*2 (now *Wnt-*1 and *FgF-*3). Initially, the *int-*2/FGF3 gene, which is at 11q13, was studied and shown to be amplified in 10– 20% of breast cancers. An association was found with the presence of oestrogen receptor [40] although others found that amplification was associated with poor prognosis [41, 42]. It was subsequently shown that FGF3 is not expressed in human breast cancers and so the amplification was just a useful indicator of amplification of another gene in that region of the chromosome.

CCND1 is at 11q13 and encodes cyclin D1 [43]. This, when complexed with its associated cyclin-dependent kinase, controls cell cycle progression in G1 by phosphorylating retinoblastoma protein [44]. Over-expression of cyclin D1 has been found in breast cancer cell lines in both the presence and absence of amplification and dysregulation of expression of cyclin D1 may be a potential factor in the pathogenesis of breast cancer [45].

Antibodies have been generated against recombinant human cyclin D1. Over-expression has been identified in breast cancers, both with and without amplification [46, 47]. In one study patients whose carcinomas co-expressed cyclin D1 with epidermal growth factor receptor were found to have a poorer prognosis [48]. Barnes et al. [49] found a good correlation between immunohistochemically detectable cyclin D1 and oestrogen receptor and noted that cyclin D1 was a very good marker of likely response to endocrine therapy. Using a different monoclonal antibody and pressure-cooker antigen retrieval methods, we have found a similar correlation between cyclin D1 and oestrogen receptor (p < 0.001). It could clearly form an alternative to progesterone receptor or pS2 as a marker of hormone responsiveness.

# Tumour suppressor genes

# Retinoblastoma gene

Retinoblastoma gene (RB1) is the classical example of a tumour suppressor gene. It has been located on 13q14 [50] and encodes for a Mr105000 protein which in its unphosphorylated form restricts cell cycle progression in G1, by interacting with E2F transcription factor [51].

It would potentially appear to be a candidate gene to be altered in the early stages of the disease. Alterations to chromosome 13q have been found at several loci in breast carcinomas [52] as have structural alterations in the RB1 gene [53]. Two studies have compared allele loss and protein expression, either by immunohistochemistry or immunoblotting, with one finding loss of protein with allele loss [54] and the other high expression with allele loss [55]. Of significance was that alterations were found either in advanced cases [54] or in an euploid, high S phase cancers [55], suggesting that alterations to RB are not an initiating event in breast cancer but is an event occurring in an unstable genome.

# p53

There is substantial evidence that alterations to p53 can provide information about many aspects of breast cancer.

Germline p53 mutations have been found in families with the Li-Fraumeni Syndrome [56], a rare syndrome in which there is young onset sarcoma associated with breast cancer, primary brain tumour or leukaemia in a first degree relative under the age of 45 years. The mutations were initially found in exon 7, but have subsequently been found in other areas in the conserved region. However, only about half the Li-Fraumeni families have p53 mutations [57] and germline p53 mutations are rarely found in cases of early-onset breast cancer and those with a strong family history [58, 59].

Although allelic loss on 17p and in the region of the p53 gene has been reported by many groups, it would appear that the presence and nature of mutations provide more information that is of clinical value.

Several approaches have been made for identifying p53 mutations. These have included generating cDNA from RNA or starting from DNA; subsequent single-stranded conformation polymorphism analysis or constant denaturing gel electrophoresis with sequencing to confirm potential mutations, or cDNA sequencing. Most studies have focused on sequence changes in exons 5, 6, 7 and 8 with highly conserved domains [60-67] although complete sequencing has been undertaken [68]. The other method used which was initially considered to detect mutations was immunohistochemistry. It is now evident that an increase in p53 expression can occur in response to DNA damage and can be detected by immunohistochemistry [69]. The incidence of mutations and immunoreactive protein in the same group of carcinomas does differ [60, 70]. The main advantage of immunohistochemistry is that many antibodies can be applied to fixed, embedded tissue and the use of antigen retrieval (microwave, pressure cooker) improves results. but care has to be taken in interpretation and it is best to consider staining to represent stabilised, possibly mutant, protein.

There is an association between the presence of mutations and aggressive features within breast carcinomas e.g. lack of oestrogen receptor [62, 65, 66], high S phase index [64]. Andersen et al. [65] found a significant association between p53 mutations and disease-free and overall survival. Bergh et al. [68] who screened the whole coding sequence found differences in the sites of mutations between node positive and node negative cases. Mutations in conserved regions II and V were associated with a significantly worse prognosis. Although immunohistochemistry may not always identify mutations the results also relate to tumour characteristics. It is important that there are clearly defined cut-off points for defining positive and negative cases [71]. Prominent reactivity for p53 is associated with lack of oestrogen receptor, poor differentiation, high proliferation rates, and presence of epidermal growth factor receptor [70, 72-74]. It has also been shown to be an independent marker of prognosis [72, 75, 76], although sequencing has been found to give better prognostic information than the monoclonal antibody Pab1801 [77].

Besides being of value for the prediction of prognosis, p53 can aid in the selection of therapy. Bergh et al. [68] found adjuvant tamoxifen therapy to be of less value in p53 mutation lymph node positive cases. Response to chemotherapy and radiotherapy can be affected by altered p53 function, due to its role in regulating DNA damage response [78].

# Loss of heterozygosity

The frequent loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at a certain chromosomal locus in tumours indicates that this could be the sight of a tumour suppressor gene. There have been many studies which have examined a variety of chromosomes for LOH in series of breast cancers. Specific allelic losses have been reported for many chromosomes (reviewed by Devilee and Cornelisse [79]). Certain allelic losses or imbalances appear to be late events, whereas changes affecting 7p, 16q, 17p and 17q appear to be early abnormalities since they have been found in 25–30% of ductal carcinoma *in situ* cases [80]. Clearly identification of such changes at very early stages of the disease could be of value as use as markers in women who are at increased risk.

We have been studying ductal carcinoma *in situ* and small, impalpable lymph node negative invasive carcinomas detected by mammographic screening, concentrating on chromosome 6q since it is the second most frequent site for allelic loss. The 6q 25-27 region has been analysed using PCR analysis of four polymorphic microsatellite markers. Tumour foci and individual ducts from ductal carcinoma *in situ* were microdissected from formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded sections and DNA was extracted from fixed, embedded corresponding normal tissue for comparison.

The microdissection ensures that there is no contamination from non-tumour cells and can also demonstrate heterogeneity within individual tumours. We have found LOH in 48% of invasive carcinomas and 50% of ductal carcinoma *in situ*, with loss at single and multiple loci. Changes were observed in all types of invasive and *in situ* carcinomas which suggests that inactivation of tumour suppressor genes in this region on chromosome 6q could occur relatively early and would be an area worthy of study in 'at risk' lesions.

# Microsatellite instability

The simple random repeat DNA sequences of mono-, di- and trinucleotides represent a very common and highly polymorphic class of genetic elements, which are used in gene mapping and linkage analysis. Microsatellite instability, demonstrated by expansion or contraction of repeat elements was first reported in neoplasms in colorectal tumours [81]. In hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal carcinoma (HNPCC) this instability has been shown to be caused by inherited and somatic mutations in DNA mismatch repair genes.

Microsatellite instability has been found in breast carcinomas. Wooster et al. [82] concluded that in-

stability occurred almost exclusively at higher order tri- and tetranucleotide repeats and that instability at more than one locus was rare. Other studies [83, 84] have identified tumours showing instability at more than one locus, including dinucleotide repeats, which is reminiscent of that seen in HNPCC kindreds. Yee et al. [83] suggested that microsatellite instability is an early event in mammary tumourigenesis, whilst LOH may occur at a later stage.

We have undertaken an analysis of microsatellite instability in early, mammographically-detected, invasive carcinomas [85] and *in situ* carcinomas, using multiple markers. A small number of invasive carcinomas showed instability with 7% showing instability at multiple loci. There was no instability in tubular carcinomas, including cases which presented clinically. Microsatellite instability was detected in *in situ* carcinoma but only when microdissection was performed. The incidence was greater in the high grade type. Differences between ducts from the same case was found in 3 of 23 cases. The data suggest that microsatellite instability is an early event in the genesis of some sporadic breast cancers and that it could have potential as a screening tool.

# Familial breast cancer

The majority of breast cancers are due to acquired mutations, with only 5 to 8% of breast cancer patients having a strong family history, indicative of inheritance of mutations.

Inherited early onset breast cancer has been linked to two genes. BRCA1 [86] and BRCA2 [87]. The genomic structure of BRCA1 is complex. Currently the protein truncation test promises to become a valuable technique for detecting mutations. Hogervorst et al. [88] used it to screen for mutations in exon 11 which encodes 61% of BRCA1. However, there is no hard evidence that these genes are important in sporadic breast cancers. Beckmann et al. [89] investigated LOH of BRCA1 and BRCA2 in sporadic cancers using PCR-based fluorescent DNA technology and found that it was not of the same prognostic value as for familial cancer. No BRCA1 mutations have been found in sporadic cases [90].

# Steroid and growth factor receptors, oestrogen related regulated proteins and growth factors

# Oestrogen receptor

# **Determination**

The evaluation of the oestrogen receptor status of a breast cancer has been used for over 20 years to help determine the likely response to hormonal therapy. Oestrogen receptor (ER) can be detected in 60-70% of breast cancers, of whom about a half (i.e. a third overall) will respond to hormonal manipulation [91]. The predominant assay method has been ligand binding in nature, in which radiolabelled steroid is added to homogenised breast tumour cytosol and binding determined after removal of free steroid by dextran-coated charcoal. It has been replaced in some laboratories by an enzyme immunoassay, utilising an antibody generated against the receptor. Both these approaches can be quantified, but they do require fresh tissue which can be a limiting factor.

The introduction of antibodies to ER has meant that immunohistochemistry can be used. The initial antibodies were used predominantly on frozen sections [92], although with various enzyme pretreatments, reactivity could be achieved in fixed material [93]. Further antibodies have been generated and are available commercially which work on formalin-fixed material. These require antigen retrieval. either by microwaving or pressure cooking in citrate buffer, but give results which are comparable with quantitative enzyme immunoassay [94]. They clearly have the advantage in that they can be applied to routine pathology material and also to fine needle aspirates or small biopsies. However, evaluation of reactivity and defining cut-off points which will provide information about response to hormone therapy, can cause problems. It can only be semiquantitative, there are problems in reproducibility [95] and there can be problems in achieving consistency in staining intensity. With care both the more complex H score and simpler scoring systems can provide useful clinical information [96].

# Significance of ER

Whilst the main interest in oestrogen receptor has

been its role in the clinical management of breast cancer, there are several important questions surrounding the significance of ER in breast cancer:

- do receptors in normal breast epithelial cells and malignant cells have the same structure and function?
- why are a proportion of carcinomas ER negative?
- why do a proportion of ER positive cancers fail to respond to endocrine therapy?
- why do a small number of ER negative tumours response to hormone therapy?
- what is the role of ER in breast cancer development and progression?

The cloning of ER DNA [97] has made possible structural and functional analyses of ER which could contribute to our understanding of the above problems.

ER has 6 conserved domains, A-F [98] with different functions: transcriptional activation and repression, nuclear localisation. DNA binding and hormone binding. The DNA binding domain is responsible for the recognition of specific enhancer sequences found in hormone-responsive genes, e.g. progesterone receptor. Discrimination between different hormone response elements is determined by three amino acids at the base of the first zinc finger of the DNA binding region [99] so mutations could have important functional consequences. The E region, which contains both the hormone binding domain and the region required for stable dimerization, is very complex and mutations within this region could have profound consequences on receptor function.

# Alterations to ER

There are some alterations which have been identified which can contribute to explaining some of the questions outlined above.

• Analysis of DNA has shown no good evidence for amplification of the gene in breast cancers [100]. Using Southern blotting techniques Watts et al. [101] failed to find any gross rearrangements.

Several reports have suggested that a polymorphism associated with the restriction endonuclease PvuII was linked to ER expression in human breast cancer [102] with absence of one allele being related to failure to express ER. However Yaich et al. [103] failed to find any such association. Andersen et al. [104] analysed *Bst* VI and *PvuII* polymorphisms and found alleles with the *PvuII* restriction site were more frequent in patients with progesterone receptor negative tumours, although there was no association between any polymorphisms and ER status.

One mechanisms that could block transcription of the ER gene in ER negative tumours without structural alterations in the gene is methylation of cytosine-rich areas. CpG islands, in the 5' regulatory region of the gene. Hypermethylation has been found in ER negative tumours [105, 106] and cell lines [107]. Supporting the concept that methylation can affect expression is the finding that demethylation of the ER gene in ER negative breast cancer cells can reactivate expression [108].

However, the major focus of research into the genetic analysis of ER has been concerned with the identification of mutations or variants which may play a role in receptor dysfunction. The basis for some of these studies is because Sluyser [109] proposed that mutated or truncated forms of the steroid receptor family have oncogenic potential, with aberrant forms completing with normal receptor for binding to hormone response elements, so interfering with normal transcription mechanisms.

One of the first studies [110] used RNase protection assays to screen primary breast carcinomas and identified modifications in the B region of ER which correlated with low levels of oestrogen binding. However, this was subsequently found at a similar frequency in both ER positive and ER negative tumours [111], suggesting it may be of no functional significance.

Alterations to the DNA binding domain could be important in determining receptor function. Scott et al. [112] used gel-retardation assays to measure ER-DNA binding capacity and reported that two thirds of cancers with high ER levels retain DNA binding ability while most tumours with low or intermediate levels have lost this activity. Also, they found an association between ER-DNA binding and progesterone receptor. Both DNA binding and non DNA binding receptors could be found in the same tumour demonstrating the heterogeneity of breast cancers. Fuqua et al. [113] identified a variant which resulted from a deletion of exon 3 of the DNA-binding domain such that the second zinc finger was missing. Although this would appear to be important as a dominant negative receptor, it may be a natural alternative spliced mistake which is functionally insignificant.

Murphy and Dotzlaw [114] identified variant ER mRNAs in breast cancer biopsies, and the smaller variants appeared to be mising some or all of the E and F domains of the receptor. Since these would have altered hormone binding some of them were cloned and sequenced [115]. One, Clone 4, which was present in multiple tumours, had sequences identical to wild type exons 1 and 2 but then diverged. To determine whether this variant is of importance, 106 carcinomas which were ER+ PgR+, ER+ PgR- and ER- PgR- were assayed using an RNase protection assay. Significantly higher levels of clone 4 variant mRNA were found in PgR negative tumours and in tumours with markers of poor prognosis [116]. This particular variant could be important in the progression of breast cancer from hormone dependence to independence.

Fuqua et al. [117] developed a sensitive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay to detect ER mRNA using small amounts of RNA, so as to semiquantitate ER expression and to identify rare transcripts. Using this approach they identified a variant lacking exon 5 of the hormone binding domain, which was the predominant ER RNA expressed in ER-PgR+ tumours [118] and could account for this particular phenotype. They also studied tumours of the ER+ PgR- phenotype and identified a truncated ER lacking Exon 7, which was unable to induce transcription and which prevented normal ER function.

There has been interest about the role of ER variants/mutations in tamoxifen resistance. Karnik et al. [120] screened tamoxifen resistant and tamoxifen sensitive tumours for mutations and identified a base-pair replacement and a base pair deletion in exon 6 in 2 of 20 tamoxifen resistant tumours. Since these were at a low frequency they suggested that mutations did not account for tamoxifen resistance. Daffada et al. [121] investigated the exon 5 deletion splice variant in a similar group of tumours using RT-PCR. Higher levels of the variant were found in the ER-PgR+ or pS2+ group and there was significantly greater variant exon 5 mRNA expression in the ER+pS2+ tamoxifen-resistant group. While the variant is unlikely to be responsible for tamoxifen resistance in most breast cancers, it may be important in some.

Roodi et al. [122] screened DNA from ER positive and negative tumours for deletions/insertions or point mutations, amplifying exons 1 through to 8. No deletions/insertions were identified and only 2 mutations were found in the same ER negative tumour. A polymorphism in codon 325 showed a strong association with family history and this warrants further study.

The studies to date go towards explaining some of the questions posed e.g. the ER-PgR+ pheno-

Tuble 2. Summary of the unerutions identified in the Ert Sent	Table 2. Su	immary of	the alteration	s identified in	n the ER g	gene
---	-------------	-----------	----------------	-----------------	------------	------

Alteration	Significance	Reference No
Polymorphism	Absence of one allele, failure to	102
Pvu II	express ER.	
	Absence of one allele, no effect.	103
	Association with PgR negative tumours.	104
Codon 325	Associated with family history.	122
Modification to B region	No functional significance.	111
Deletion of exon 3	No functional significance.	113
Wild type exon 1 and 2 then divergence (clone 4)	Higher levels in PgR negative tumour, tumours with	
•	markers of poor prognosis.	116
Exon 5 variants	Associated with ER- PgR+ phenotype	118
	Associated with tamoxifen resistance in ER+ PS2+	
	tumours	121



Figure 1. Four carcinomas (lanes A, B, D, E) and ER cDNA (lane C). The DNA binding domain has been analysed by RT-PCR and single stranded conformational polymorphism analysis. There is a band shift in carcinoma B (to be sequenced).

type, but there is still a lot to understand about ER in normal cells, and ER function. The published data regarding the ER gene is summarised in Table 2.

We have investigated a group of cancers different from those in published series. These have been mammographically-detected small invasive carcinomas which have a much higher incidence of ER positivity [123]. RNA has been extracted from frozen sections using a Dynabead method, reversetranscribed and regions of the DNA binding and hormone binding domains amplified by PCR. These have been analysed by single stranded conformational polymorphism analysis. Using primers to amplify a region covering the DNA binding domain including the zinc fingers, band shifts have been identified in seven of 45 carcinomas (Figure 1). One carcinoma showed a band shift when exon 5 was amplified. Interestingly, 11 of the 45 cases showed splice variants in the second half of the hormone binding domain when a region spanning exons 6 to 8 was amplified (Figure 2). We are in the process of sequencing all abnormal patterns and relating the abnormalities to characteristics of the tumours such as PgR and proliferation status. It would be of value also to screen non-invasive carcinomas and 'at-risk' lesions such as atypical ductal hyperplasia to determine whether similar alterations are found in these even earlier changes.

#### Progesterone receptor

Progesterone receptor (PgR) is regulated by oestrogen acting through ER and is itself a gene regu-



*Figure 2.* Four carcinomas (lanes A to D) analysed for the second half of the hormone binding domain by RT-PCR. The negative control (E) and 100 bp ladder is shown. Carcinoma A has a weak (upper) wild type band and a stronger lower variant band, carcinoma B only has the variant, and carcinomas C and D have both wild type (600 bp) and variant.

lator. It is a useful predictor of response to endocrine therapy [91].

PgR can be detected by binding assays, similar to those used for ER providing a synthetic progestogen is used. Monoclonal antibodies have been developed and these can be used reliably on formalin fixed material [123], and on aspirates.

Absence of PgR in breast cancers may be due to defects in ER function, as described above, or to molecular alterations in PgR. Fuqua et al. [124] did not find any major gene rearrangements to PgR in a study of 132 tumours and concluded that this mechanism could not explain the lack of PgR expression for the majority of breast tumours. Although LOH has been detected within the PgR gene it did not correlate with loss of immunoreactive PgR [125]. Loss of PgR more likely relates to altered ER function.

# Oestrogen regulated proteins

Various oestrogen regulated proteins have been identified from the MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, either by analysis of culture medium after oestrogen stimulation or by differential screening of cDNA from hormone treated and untreated cells. The pS2 gene was identified by the latter approach [126] and subsequently identified by other groups and called pNR2 [127] and Md2 [128]. Expression of pS2 mRNA and protein is related to oestrogen receptor within breast carcinomas [129–131] and is a useful marker of potential hormone responsiveness [132]. Westley's group has developed a competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction for quantitation of pS2 (and ER and PgR) which can be used to measure expression in small numbers of cells obtained by fine needle aspiration [133]. This type of approach is of particular value for tumours in elderly patients.

pS2 is a trefoil peptide [134] and its function remains unclear. It can be found in tissues which are oestrogen unresponsive e.g. gastric mucosa and here it may be involved in healing. The gene is also responsive to epidermal growth factor, TPA, c-Hras and c-jun [135]. There may be factors other than oestrogen regulating its expression in breast cancers which may account for the complex staining pattern seen with immunohistochemistry and the finding of pS2 in ER negative tumours [136].

Other proteins which were originally identified as being oestrogen regulated appear to be markers of aggressive behaviour, which contrasts with ER. Cathepsin D, a major lysosomal protease, was initially identified in the medium of MCF-7 cells cultured in the presence of oestrogen [137]. However, it is constitutively overexpressed in ER negative breast cancer cell lines and several studies have failed to find a relationship between cathepsin D and ER in primary breast carcinomas [131, 138-140]. Transfection of cathepsin D resulted in transformed cells increasing their metastatic capacity [141]. Clinical studies, using immunoassays, have suggested that cathepsin D is a marker of poor prognosis [138-140] but immunohistochemical studies have shown that the cathepsin D may be in the stromal component, rather than the tumour cells and that this may be a reflection of macrophage infiltrate [142].

Another oestrogen regulated protein, heat shock stress response protein (Srp-27) has also been associated with tumours being aggressive, despite a correlation with ER [143]. Manning et al. [144] have identified an oestrogen-regulated gene, pLIV1, which is associated with lymph node involvement and may represent a candidate gene for metastatic spread in ER+ cancers.

# Epidermal growth factor receptor

Epidermal growth factor (EGF) is necessary for the

growth of normal breast epithelium, acting through its receptor (EGFR) which is a transmembrane glycoprotein. This has an extra cellular ligand binding domain and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain, with close similarity to v-*erb*B [145]. High levels of EGFR, as determined by binding assays of homogenates and immunohistochemistry, have been shown to correlate with a poor prognosis and failure to respond to hormone therapy [146–149]. In most tumours there is an inverse relationship with ER. EGFR can provide useful clinical information.

The increased expression is not due to gene amplification. Increased levels of EGFR mRNA are found [150]. We have undertaken in-situ hybridisation for EGFR mRNA in both benign and malignant breast tissue using a digoxigenin-labelled oligonucleotide probe. In normal/benign tissue mRNA is detectable to a greater extent than protein as demonstrated by immunohistochemistry, but this difference is more striking in the carcinomas. Two thirds of the cancers assessed had demonstrable mRNA (Figure 3), whereas only one third had detectable protein. Those cases with both were all ER and PgR negative, but the group with EGFR mRNA but no protein comprised a mixture of ER+ PgR+, ER+ PgR- cases, and ER-PgR. It has been suggested [151] that regulation of the EGFR gene involves a number of interactions between positive regulatory factors and repressors (some of which may be oestrogen regulated) with binding sites in both the promoter and first intron and that there is a progression from an ER positive with low levels of EGFR, considered negative, to an ER negative, EGFR overexpressing tumour. We would suggest that there could be other reasons and that it is important to consider EGFR expression in the different cell types present in normal breast e.g. could there have been development from an ER negative EGFR positive myoepithelial cell.

# Growth factors

Peptide growth factors act in an autocrine/paracrine manner. Primary breast carcinomas consist of epithelium, stroma, vascular and other elements and interactions between these are important for tumour growth. Altered cellular expression and/or response to different growth factors by epithelia and/or stromal cells could clearly be important in the development and progression of breast cancers.

Various growth factors have been studied e.g. insulin growth factor 1 and 2, transforming growth factor alpha, fibroblast growth factors. Our own studies have been concerned with transforming growth factor beta, and this will be considered in more detail.

## Transforming growth factor beta

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) comprises a group of multifunctional regulatory proteins which have effects on many processes which could be of importance in the overall behaviour breast cancer [152]. These include proliferation, differentiation, stimulation of extracellular matrix formation, cell migration, angiogenesis and immune function.

There are some conflicting findings regarding the role(s) of TGF- $\beta$  in breast carcinomas. TGF- $\beta$  has been reported to inhibit [153] and stimulate [154] proliferation of breast cancer cells. Tamoxifen has been shown to modify the expression of TGF- $\beta_1$ [155] and it has been proposed that this may be a secondary mechanism for the mediation of its antitumour effects. In this in vivo study [155] stromal fibroblasts were demonstrated as the source of extracellular TGF- $\beta$ , which would then act in a paracrine fashion on tumour cells. Subsequent in vitro studies [156] suggest that synthesis of TGF- $\beta$  by fibroblasts is increased by tamoxifen, but not necessarily the secretion which is needed for the paracrine effect. MacCallum et al. [157] examined mRNA for the three mammalian TGF-B isoforms in carcinomas before and after tamoxifen treatment and found that TGF- $\beta_1$ , rather than TGF- $\beta_1$ , expression tended to increase. The role of TGF- $\beta$  in the regulation of proliferation and its relationship to tamoxifen is obviously complex and requires further study.

There is evidence from several studies, including our own, that TGF- $\beta$  expression by breast carcinomas is associated with poorer prognostic features [158–161]. We identified a difference in TGF $\beta_1$  protein, as detected by immunohistochemistry, be-



*Figure 3.* Breast carcinoma hybridised with digoxigenin-labelled oligonucleotide probe to EGFR, showing strong labelling of tu-mour cells. EGFR protein was detected immunohistochemically.

tween *in-situ* and invasive carcinomas, with fewer *in-situ* cases having reactivity. We also demonstrated that TGF- $\beta_1$  but not TGF- $\beta_2$  expression was associated with lymph node metastasis [161]. It was also associated with increased reactivity for the stromal components fibronectin and tenascin and altered macrophage and T lymphocyte infiltration, all of which may be important in enhancing invasion and metastasis. In an *in-situ* hybridisation study, using digoxigenin-labelled riboprobes, we demonstrated TGF- $\beta_1$  mRNA in the epithelial tumour cells and not stromal cells [162] which is contrary to some immunohistochemical studies.

Due to the complex, multifunctional properties of TGF- $\beta$  further studies are required to elucidate its value in clinical management.

#### Cell adhesion, invasion, metastasis

This is a large topic which includes cell-cell interactions, cell-stromal interactions, proteases, angiogenesis, growth factors, anti-metastasis genes such as nm23, and interaction of tumour cells with specific organ environments. Since it is not possible to cover all of these aspects comprehensively, we will concentrate on areas of particular interest to our laboratory.

th E-cadhérán, we lought that neacsivity obtild be

# E-cadherin

E-cadherin plays a critical role in initiating and maintaining cell-cell contacts and is a member of the growing family of calcium-dependent cadherin adhesion molecules [163]. E-cadherin molecules are located within adherans junctions and are transmembrane structures; the cytoplasmic region interacts with the catenins, which are in turn connected to the actin microfilament network [164]. Evidence that E-cadherin is important in suppressing invasion comes from studies in which this is observed in cells transfected with the cDNA [165].

Studies of primary breast carcinomas have given inconsistent results. The predominant method of analysis has been immunohistochemistry; some studies have used frozen material and some have used fixed tissue. The interpretation and definition of positive/negative has also varied and some of this may account for the discrepancies.

Reduced E-cadherin has [166, 167] and has not [168, 169] been related to poorer differentiation of infiltrating ductal carcinomas. We [169] and other [167] have found a relationship between reduced membrane staining and lymph node metastasis. We also demonstrated a highly significant association between cytoplasmic reactivity for E-cadherin in tumour cells and nodal metastasis. This altered Ecadherin localisation may be the result of abnormal catenin expression, or be due to local environmental influences. We also demonstrated a correlation between the presence of EGFR and cytoplasmic reactivity. There is evidence that phosphorylation of EGFR leads to dissociation of E-cadherin/catenin complexes from the cvtoskeleton [164] and so may modify function.

One of the interesting, and potentially useful diagnostically, observations that we and other have made is that infiltrating lobular carcinomas and lobular carcinoma *in situ* do not express E-cadherin [166, 168–170]. This may be of relevance in explaining the infiltrative nature of this type of invasive carcinoma.

The E-cadherin gene maps to chromosome 16q; deletions of this region occur frequently and have been associated with distant metastasis [171]. We have used microsatellite markers covering 16q21 to 16q24.3 and identified LOH ranging from 25–44%, depending on the marker. One third of the informative cases showed LOH for D16S400, the closest to the region of the E-cadherin gene but we failed to find any relationship between LOH and loss of Ecadherin staining. Those cases showing LOH were then screened for mutations in exons 6, 7 and 9 of the E-cadherin gene. One had a 1 bp insertion in exon 7 but no other mutations were identified. This was a well differentiated infiltrating ductal carcinoma with homogenous cytoplasmic reactivity for Ecadherin. Mutations have been identified by others in a small number of infiltrating lobular carcinomas [172, 173], but not in infiltrating ductal carcinomas [174].

The control of E-cadherin in breast carcinomas is complex and alterations in the link between membrane signalling pathways and E-cadherin expression may be the key to its role in invasion.

# Integrins

Integrins are cell adhesion molecules which are involved in cell-stromal interactions, and possibly cell-cell interactions. They are heterodimers composed of non-covalently liked  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits which provide a transmembrane link between the cytoskeleton and specific extracellular matrix proteins [175]. The integrins are classified according to their  $\beta$  subunit. They include receptor for collagen, laminin and fibronectin.

Because they play an important role in cell adhesion and migration, alterations in expression and/ or function could be important in altered growth and invasion in neoplasms. There have been several studies of integrin expression in primary breast carcinomas, using immunohistochemistry although Zutter et al. [176] have examined mRNA expression of  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_5$  and  $\beta_1$  with radioactive-labelled riboprobe *in-situ* hybridisation. All studies have shown reduced expression at the protein [177–180] and mRNA [176] levels for  $\alpha_2\beta_1$ ,  $\alpha_6\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_6\beta_4$ . We [180] found no relationship to grade or node status, although others have found loss of  $\alpha_2\beta_1$  to be greater in poorly differentiated carcinomas [177, 178]. As with E-cadherin, we found that reactivity could be cytoplasmic rather than membrane [180] and this loss of polarization has been reported by Pignatelli et al. [181]. Overall alterations in integrin expression have not been of value in providing prognostic information.

We observed an alteration in the staining for  $\alpha_6\beta_4$ in non-involved tissue from cancer-containing breasts, in that two thirds of the cases showed loss of reactivity, identical to that of the corresponding tumour [180]. This was not seen for other integrins and suggests that altered  $\alpha_6\beta_4$  integrin staining may be an early event in the neoplastic process, and as such, may be of use as a marker of pre-malignant change.

# Proteases

Proteolytic enzymes that could degrade extracellular matrix may play an important role in invasion and metastasis. Proteases fall into three main groups: aspartyl, which includes cathepsin D, which has already been discussed; serine, such as plasminogen activators; and metal dependent, which includes metalloproteinases and stromelysins.

#### Plasminogen activators

There are two main forms of plasminogen activators, uPA and tPA, which activate plasmin; uPA also participates in tissue remodelling under normal and pathological conditions [182]. The uPA pathway is regulated by two inhibitors PAI-1 and PAI-2 and by a cell surface receptor for uPA (uPAR) which binds both pro-uPA and active uPA. Thus the cell surface may be the physiological site of uPA-initiated fibrinolysis.

There has been interest as to whether the plasminogen activators could provide prognostic information and there have been several reports that carcinomas with high levels of uPA and PAI-1 have a high risk of relapse [183–186]. These studies have used ELISA assays of tissue homogenates, which has the advantage of quantification but does require fresh tissue. Certainly uPA and PAI-1 appear to be useful prognostic markers.

These approaches though do not provide information about cellular location of the different components and their inter-relationships. Using immunohistochemistry uPA can be detected in tumour cells, with a greater intensity than normal/ benign epithelium and also weakly in stromal cells [187]. A similar pattern of staining is seen for PAI-1 [187]. Results for the localization of uPAR have been conflicting. Pyke et al. [188] and Bianchi et al. [189] did not detect uPAR in normal and benign breast, but the former only found the receptor on tumour associated macrophages, while the latter found it on tumour cells as well in a proportion of cases. In contrast Constantini et al. [187] detected uPAR on normal and tumoural epithelial cells and stromal cells, but to a greater extent in tumours. One reason for some of the differences could be due to differences in the sensitivities of the antibodies used, since the glycosylated variants of uPAR may have been detected to different degrees.

The finding of reactivity in tumour and stromal cells suggests the existance of complex paracrine interactions. However, staining may reflect bound enzyme and does not necessarily indicate the site of synthesis. Also, it is not known whether the expression observed in carcinomas is a primary alteration or is simply a marker of the effects of cytokines and growth factors on tumour cells. A more detailed understanding of this would be of value so as to identify the most appropriate targets, for the design of new therapeutic agents.

# Matrix metalloproteinases

The matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) are a family of zinc dependent enzymes capable of degrading different components of the extracellular matrix [190]. At least 11 members are now described [191] which can be broadly categorized into collagenases, gelatinases and stromelysins acording to their specificity. The collagenases include MMP-1 (interstitial collagenase), MMP-8 (neutrophil collagenase) and MMP-13 (collagenase 3), and degrade fibrillar interstitial collage. The gelatinases, also known as type IV collagenases. are particularly potent against denatured collagen and include MMP-2 (gelatinase A, 72 kd gelatinase) and MMP-9 (gelatinase B, 92 kd gelatinase). Stromelysins 1, 2 and 3 (MMP-3, MMP-10 and MMP-11 respectively) have a broader substrate specificity and degrade glycoproteins such as laminin and fibronectin.

MMP activity can be controlled at multiple levels which include transcriptional activation, conversion of latent precursor to active enzyme and inhibition via interaction with the specific tissue inhibitors of the MMPs, TIMP-1, 2 and 3 [192, 193].

Both immunohistochemistry and zymography have demonstrated increased reactivity for MMP-2 in breast carcinomas in comparison to normal and benign breast (194, 195], with some studies showing a relationship to lymph node involvement [196]. Our own studies have confirmed the reactivity but not found any relationship with node status (manuscript in preparation). MMP-9 immunoreactivity has also been shown to correlate with nodal metastasis [197]. MMP-11 or stromelysin 3 [198] has been detected in most invasive and high grade in situ carcinomas but is rarely detected in benign breast disease [199, 200]. Levels of stromelysin 3 mRNA may be of prognostic value in that one study found recurrence more common in patients with tumours having high as compared to low levels [201].

Because of the interactions between MMPs, their activators and inhibitors, assessment of one alone or even a panel may be of limited value with regards to prognosis. This is illustrated by a study using quantitative RT-PCR to compare MMP-2 and TIMP-2 mRNA in node negative and positive cases [202]. When levels of mRNA were analysed separately no relationship was found, but when the ratios of MMP-2 mRNA to TIMP-2 mRNA were examined, ratios of 2–4:1 were associated with node metastasis and < 1:1 with negative nodes. Analysis by Northern blotting did not find any relationship between MMP-2 mRNA levels and malignancy, only higher levels of MMP-11 mRNA in carcinomas [203].

Whilst immunohistochemical studies show staining of MMPs in tumour and stromal cells, *in-situ* hybridization studies have localised MMP transcripts predominantly to the stromal cells [204, 205]. This apparent discrepancy can be explained by the presence-of receptors for MMPs on tumour cells [206]. Also a new form of MMP has recently been described, the membrane type MMP (Mt-MMP) [207–209]. The three molecules, MT1-MMP, MT2MMP and MT3-MMP, have in common a transmembrane domain and are localised at the cell membrane. Both MT1-MMP and MT2-MMP are potent activators of progelatinase A [207, 210] and so expression of these receptors on tumour cells would localise proteolytic activity to the site of invasion, mirroring the strategy displayed by the uPA receptor [187]. Elevated levels of MT1-MMP has been demonstrated in various tumour tissues [211, 212]. Work in our laboratory has revealed consistently high reactivity for MT1-MMP in breast carcinomas and suggests that combined expression of MT1-MMP and MMP-2 show a better correlation with prognosis than MMP-2 alone (manuscript in preparation).

There has been considerable interest in the development of agents which could modify MMP function, that would have therapeutic applications for many diseases, including neoplasia. Application of these in breast cancer would clearly be of interest.

# Conclusions

It is not possible to cover every aspect of the molecular pathology of breast cancer which could be of clinical importance e.g. multi-drug resistance genes. However, many aspects have been covered which show that our greater understanding of molecular mechanisms and the increasing ability to investigate these in primary breast carcinomas should aid the clinical management of breast cancer. We highlighted three important areas in the development and progression of breast cancer and have identified alterations which could be of relevance to three aspects of clinical management:

*Early changes/screening potential* BRCA1 and BRCA2.

Loss of key chromosmal regions e.g. 6q.

Microsatellite instability as a marker of DNA repair defects.

P53 mutations in certain families.

Certain ER variants and polymorphisms.

Altered  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin expression in non involved cancerous breast.

# Behaviour/prognosis

C-erb2 over-expression and prognosis. P53 mutations and prognosis. EGFR and prognosis. Cathepsin D and prognosis. TGF-β1 and lymph node metastasis. E-Cadherin and lymph node metastasis. uPA and PAI-1 and prognosis. MMP-2 and MT1-MMP and prognosis.

# Treatment strategy/new therapies

C-erbB-2 and poor response to endocrine therapy. Potential target site for new drug.

P53 mutation and poor response to endocrine therapy; development of therapeutic agents against mutants.

ER and response to endocrine therapy, possibility of variants explaining tamoxifen resistance.

PgR, PS2 and Cyclin D1 response to endocrine therapy.

EGFR and poor response to endocrine therapy.

Plasminogen activators and inhibitors (uPA and PAI-1) and metalloproteinases as targets for design of new therapeutic agents.

The only way forward is to ensure that both biological and clinical features of breast carcinoma are considered together since we need to have an understanding of the former if we are to improve the clinical outcome of breast cancer. There is still much work to be done.

# Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Mrs Sheila Dearing for her continuing excellent technical support, the secretaries of the Department of Pathology, particularly Mrs Beverley Richardson, for secretarial support, and Cancer Research Campaign, Trent Regional Health, Royal Society and the University of Leicester for financial support.

# References

1. Evan GI, Wyllie AH, Gilbert CS, Littlewood TD, Land H, Brooks M, Waters CM, Penn LZ, Hancock DC: Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. Cell 69: 1–20, 1992

- Edwards PAW, Ward JL, Bradbury JM: Alteration of morphogenesis by the v-myc oncogene in transplants of mouse mammary gland. Oncogene 2: 407–412, 1988
- Bonilla M, Ramirez M, Lopez-Cueto J, Gariglio P: In vivo amplification and rearrangements of c-myc oncogene in human breast tumours. J Natl Cancer Inst 80: 665–671, 1988
- Escot C. Theillet C, Lidereau R. Spyratos F, Champeme M-H, Gest J. Callaham R: Genetic alterations of the c-myc proto-oncogene (MYC) in human breast carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83: 4834–4838, 1986
- Varley JM, Swallow JE, Brammar WJ, Whittaker JL, Walker RA: Alterations to either c-*erb*B2 (neu) or c-*myc* proto-oncogenes in breast carcinomas correlate with poor short-term prognosis. Oncogene 1: 423–430, 1987
- Berns PMJJ, Krijn JGM, Van Putten WLJ, Van Steveren IL, Portengen H, Foekens JA: C-myc amplification is a better prognostic factor than HER2/new amplification in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res 52: 1107–1113, 1992
- Walker RA, Senior PV. Jones JL, Critchley DR, Varley JM: An immuno-histochemical and *in-situ* hybridisation study of c-myc and c-erbB-2 expression in primary breast tumours. J Pathol 158: 97-105, 1989
- Locker AP, Dowle CS. Ellis IO, Elston CW, Blamey RW, Kikora K, Evan G, Robins RA: C-myc oncogene product expression and prognosis in operable breast cancer. Br J Cancer 60: 669–672, 1989
- Rochlitz CF, Scott GK, Dodson JM, Liu E, Dolbaum C, Smith HS, Benz CC: Incidence of activating *ras* oncogene mutations associated with primary and metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res 49: 357–360, 1989
- Theillet C, Liderau R, Escot C, Hutzell P, Brunet M, Gest J, Schlom J, Callahan R: Loss of c-H-ras-1 allele and aggressive human primary breast carcinomas. Cancer Res 46: 4776–4781, 1986
- Ohuchi N. Thor A. Page DL, Horan Hand P, Halter S, Schlom J: Expression of the 21,000 molecular weight *ras* protein with a molecular weight *ras* protein in a spectrum of benign and malignant human mammary tissues. Cancer Res 46: 2511–2519, 1986
- Clair T. Miller WR. Cho-Chung YS: Prognostic significance of the expression of a *ras* protein with a molecular weight of 21,000 by human breast cancer. Cancer Res 47: 5290–5293, 1986
- Walker RA, Wilkinson N: p21 ras protein expression in benign and malignant human breast. J Pathol 156: 147–153, 1988
- Going JJ, Anderson TJ, Wyllie AH: Ras p21 in breast tissue: associations with pathology and cellular localisation. Br J Cancer 65: 45–50, 1992
- Krontiris TG, Devlin B. Karp DD. Robert JJ. Risch N: An association between the risk of cancer and mutations in the Hrasl mini-satellite locus. N Engl J Med 329: 517–523, 1993
- Coussens L, Yang-Feng TL. Chen Y-CLE, Gray A. McGrath J. Seeburg PH. Libermann TA, Schlessinger J,

Francke U, Levinson A, Ullrich A: Tyrosine kinase receptor with extensive homology to EGF receptor shares chromosomal location with *neu* oncogene. Science 230: 1132–1139, 1985

- Slamon DJ, Clark G, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, McGuire WL: Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science 235: 177–182, 1987
- Zhou D, Battifora H, Yokata J, Yamamoto T, Cline MJ: Association of multiple copies of the c-erbB-2 oncogene with the spread of breast cancer. Cancer Res 47: 6123–6125, 1987
- Borresen A-L, Ottestad L, Gaustad A, Andersen TI, Heikkila R, Jahnsen T, Tveit KM, Nesland JM: Amplification and protein over-expression of the *neu/HER-2/c-erbB-2* proto-oncogene in human breast carcinomas: relationship to loss of gene sequences on chromosome 17, family history and prognosis. Br J Cancer 62: 585–590, 1990
- Clark GM, McGuire WL: Follow-up study of HER-2/neu amplification in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res 51: 944– 948, 1991
- Zhou D-J, Ahuja H, Cline MJ: Proto-oncogene abnormalities in human breast cancer: c-erbB-2 amplification does not correlate with recurrence of disease. Oncogene 4: 105– 108, 1989
- 22. Liu E, Thor A, He M, Barcos M, Ljung B-M, Benz C: The HER-2(*c-erb*B-2) oncogene is frequently amplified in *insitu* carcinomas of the breast. Oncogene 7: 1027–1032, 1992
- Hubbard AL, Doris CP, Thompson AM, Chetty U, Anderson TJ: Critical determination of the frequency of c-erbB-2 amplification in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 70: 434–439, 1994
- Venter DJ, Tuzi NL, Kumar S, Gullick WJ: Over-expression of the c-*erb*B-2 oncoprotein in human breast carcinomas: immunohistological assessment correlates with gene amplification. Lancet ii: 69–72, 1987
- O'Reilly SM, Barnes DM, Camplejohn RA, Bartkova J, Gregory WM, Richards MA: The relationship between cerbB-2 expression. S-phase fraction and prognosis in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 63: 444–446, 1991
- Walker RA, Gullick WJ, Varley JM: An evaluation of immunoreactivity for c-erbB-2 protein as a marker of shortterm prognosis in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 60: 426–429, 1989
- 27. Gullick WJ, Love SB, Wright C, Barnes DM, Gusterson B, Harris AL, Altman DG: C-erbB-2 protein overexpression in breast cancer is a risk factor in patients with involved and uninvolved lymph nodes. Br J Cancer 63: 434–438, 1991
- 28. Lovekin C. Ellis IO, Locker A. Robertson JFR, Bell J, Ni-
- cholson R, Gullick WJ, Elston CW, Blamey RW: C-erbB-2 oncoprotein expression and prognosis in operable breast cancer. Br J Cancer 63: 439–443, 1991
- Winstanley J, Cooke T, Murray GD, Platt-Higgins A, George WD, Holt S, Mystov M, Spedding A, Barraclough BR, Rudland PS: The long-term prognostic significance of cerbB-2 in primary breast cancer. Br J Cancer 63: 447–450, 1991

- Press MF, Piek MC, Chazin VR, Hung G, Udove JJA, Markowicz M, Danyluk J, Godolphin W, Sliwkowski M, Akita R, Paterson MC, Slamon DJ: Her-2/neu expression in node negative breast cancer: direct tissue quantitation by computerized image analysis and association of over-expression with increased risk of recurrent disease. Cancer Res 53: 4960–4970, 1993
- Press MF, Hung G, Godolphin W, Slamon DJ: Sensitivity of HER-2/neu antibodies in archival tissue samples: potential source of error in immuno-histochemical studies of oncogene expression. Cancer Res 54: 2771–2777, 1994
- 32. Van der Vijver MJ, Peterse JL, Mooi WJ, Wisman P, Lomans J. Dalesio O, Nuse R: *Neu*-protein over-expression in breast cancer: association with comedo-type ductal carcinoma *in situ* and limited prognostic value in Stage II breast cancer. N Engl J Med 319: 1239–1245, 1988
- Bartkova J, Barnes DM, Millis RR, Gullick WJ: Immunohistochemical demonstration of c-erbB-2 protein in mammary ductal carcinoma in situ. Hum Pathol 21: 1164–1167, 1990
- Ramachandra S, Machin L, Ashley S, Monaghan P, Gusterson BA: Immunohistochemical distribution of c-*erbB*-2 in in situ breast carcinoma – a detailed morphological analysis. J Pathol 161: 7–14, 1990
- Lodata RJF, Maguire HC Jr, Greene MI, Weiner DB, Li-Volsi VA: Immunohistochemical evaluation of c-erbB-2 oncogene expression in ductal carcinoma *in situ* and atypical ductal hyperplasia of the breast. Mod Pathol 3: 449, 1990
- 36. Allred DC, Clark GMR, Tandon AK, Schmitt SJ, Gilchrist KW, Osborne CK. Tormey DC, McGuire WL: Overexpression of HER-2/neu and its relationship with other prognostic factors change during the progression of *in situ* to invasive breast cancer. Hum Pathol 23: 474–479, 1992
- 37. Wright C, Nicholson S, Angus B, Sainsbury JRC, Farndon J, Cairns J, Harris AL, Horne CHW: Relationship between c-erbB-2 protein product expression and response to endocrine therapy in advanced breast cancer. Br J Cancer 65: 118–121, 1992
- Nicholson RI, McClelland RA, Finlay P, Eaton CL, Gullick WJ, Dixon AR, Robertson JFR, Ellis IO, Blamey RW: Relationship between EGF-R, c-erbB-2 protein expression and Ki67 immunostaining in breast cancer and hormone sensitivity. Eur J Cancer 29A: 1018–1023, 1993
- Klijn JGM, Berns EMMJ. Foekens JA: Prognostic factors and response to therapy in breast cancer. Cancer Surv 18: 165–198, 1993
- 40. Fantl V. Richards MA, Smith R, Lammie GJA, Johnstone G, Allen D, Gregory W, Peters G, Dickson C, Barnes DM: Gene amplification on chromosome band 11q13 and oestrogen receptor status in breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 26: 423–429, 1990
- Borg A, Sigurdsson H, Clark G, Femo M, Fuqua SAW, Olsson H, Killander D, McGuire WL: Association of INT2/ HST1 coamplification in primary breast cancer with hor-
mone-dependent phenotype and poor prognosis. Br J Cancer 63: 136–142, 1991

- Henry JA, Hennessy C, Levett DL, Lennard TWJ, Westley BR, May FEB: *Int-2* amplification in breast cancer: association with decreased survival and relationship to amplification of c-erbB-2 and c-myc. Int J Cancer 53: 774–780, 1993
- Xiong Y, Menninger J, Beach D, Ward DC: Molecular cloning and chromosomal mapping of CCND genes encoding human D-type cyclins. Genomics 13: 575–584, 1992
- Scherr CJ: G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. Cell 79: 551–555, 1994
- 45. Buckley MF, Sweeney KJE, Hamilton JA, Sini RL, Manning DL, Nicholson RI, de Fazio A, Watts CKW, Musgrove EA, Sutherland RL: Expression and amplification of cyclin genes in human breast cancer. Oncogene 8: 2127–2133, 1993
- Bartkova J, Lukas J, Muller H. Lutzhoft D. Strauss M, Bartek J: Cyclin D1 protein expression and function in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer 57: 353–361, 1994
- Gillet C, Fantl V, Smith R, Fisher C, Bartek J, Dickson C, Barnes DM, Peters G: Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunohistochemical staining. Cancer Res 54: 1812–1817, 1994
- McIntosh GG, Anderson JJ, Milton I, Steward M, Part AH, Thomas MD, Henry JA, Angus B, Lennard TWJ, Horne CHW: Determination of the prognostic value of cyclin D1 overexpression in breast cancer. Oncogene 11: 885– 891, 1995
- Gillet C, Smith P, Gregory W, Richard M, Millis R, Peters G, Barnes D: Cyclin D1 and prognosis in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer 69: 92–99, 1996
- 50. Friend SH, Bernards R, Rogelj S, Weinberg RA, Rapaport IM, Albert DM, Dryja TP: A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. Nature 323: 643–646, 1986
- Chellappan SP, Hierbert S, Mudryj M, Horowitz JM, Nevins JR: The E2F transcription factor is a cellular target for the RB protein. Cell 65: 1053–1061, 1991
- 52. Lundberg C, Skoog L, Cavanee WK, Nordenskjold M: Loss of heterozygosity in human ductal breast tumors indicates a recessive mutation on chromosome 13. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84: 2372–2376, 1987
- T'Ang A, Varley JM, Chakraborty S, Murphree AL, Fung Y-KT: Structural rearrangement of the retinoblastoma gene in human breast carcinoma. Science 242: 263–266, 1988
- Varley JM, Armour J. Swallow JE, Jeffreys AJ. Ponder BAJ, Tang A, Fung Y-KT, Brammar WJ, Walker RA: The retinoblastoma gene is frequently altered leading to loss of expression in primary breast tumours. Oncogene 4: 725– 730, 1989
- 55. Borg A, Zhang Q-X, Alm P, Olsson H, Sellberg G: The
  retinoblastoma gene in breast cancer: allele loss is not correlated with loss of gene protein expression. Cancer Res 52: 2991–2994, 1992
- 56. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC, Fraumeni JF Jr, Nelson CE,

Kim DH, Kassel J, Gryka MA, Bischoff FZ, Tainsky MA, Friend SH: Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas and other neoplasms. Science 250: 1233–1238, 1990

- Santibanez-Koref MF, Birch JM, Hartley AL, Norris Jones PH, Craft AH, Eden T. Crowther D, Kelsey AM, Harris M: p53 germline mutations in Li Fraumeni syndrome. Lancet 338: 1490–1491, 1991
- Sidransky D, Tokins T, Helzisouer K, Rauch G, Zehnbauer B, Shelton B, Prestiglacomo L, Vogelstein B, Davidson N: Inherited p53 gene mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res 52: 2984–2986, 1992
- Warren W, Eeles RA, Ponder BAJ, Easton DF, Averill D, Ponder MA, Anderson K, Evans AM, De Mars R, Love R: No evidence for germline mutations in exons 5–9 of the p53 gene in 25 breast cancer families. Oncogene 7: 1043–1046, 1992
- Varley JM, Brammar WJ, Lane DP, Swallow JE, Dolan C, Walker RA: Loss of chromosome 17p13 sequences and mutation of p53 in human breast carcinomas. Oncogene 6: 413–421, 1991
- Osborne RJ, Merlo GR, Mitsudomi T, Venesio T, Liscia DS, Cappa APM, Chiba I, Takahashi T, Nau MM, Callahan R, Minna JD: Mutations in the p53 gene in primary human breast cancers. Cancer Res 51: 6194–6198, 1991
- Mazars R, Spinardi L, Ben Cheikh M, Simony-Lafontaine J. Jeanteur P, Theillet C: p53 mutations occur in aggressive breast cancer. Cancer Res 52: 3918–39213, 1992
- Coles C, Condie A, Chetty U, Steel CM, Evans HJ, Prosser J: p53 mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res 52: 5291– 5298, 1992
- 64. Merlo GR, Bernardi A, Diella F, Venesio T, Cappa APM, Callahan R, Liscia DS: In primary human breast carcinomas mutations in exons 5 and 6 on the p53 gene are associated with high S-phase index. Int J Cancer 53: 531–535, 1993
- Andersen TI, Holm R, Nesland JM, Heimdel KR, Ottestad L, Borresen AL: Prognostic significance of TP53 alterations in breast carcinoma. Br J Cancer 68: 540–548, 1993
- Caleffi M, Teague MW. Jensen RA, Vzencak-Jones CL, Dupont WD, Parl FF: p53 gene mutations and steroid receptor status in breast cancer. Cancer 73: 1247–1256, 1994
- Eyfjord JE, Thorlacius S. Steinarsdottir M, Valgardsdottir R, Ogmundsdottir HM, Anamthawat-Jonsson K: p53 abnormalities and genomic instability in primary human breast carcinomas. Cancer Res 55: 646–651, 1995
- Bergh J, Norbert T. Sjogren S, Lindgren A, Holmberg L: Complete sequencing of the p53 gene provides prognostic information in breast cancer patients, particularly in relation to adjuvant systemic therapy and radiotherapy. Nature Med 1: 1029–1034, 1995
- Hall PA, McKee PH, Menage H, Du P, Dover R, Lane DP: High levels of p53 protein in UV-irradiated normal human skin. Oncogene 8: 203–207, 1993
- Jacquemier J, Moles JP, Penault-Llorca F, Adelaide J, Torrente M, Viens P, Birnbaum D, Theillet C: p53 immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer with four monoclonal

antibodies: comparison of staining and PCR: SSCP results. Br J Cancer 69: 846–852, 1994

- Fisher CJ, Gillett CE, Vojtesek B, Barnes DM, Millis R: Problems with p53 immunohistochemical staining: the effect of fixation and variation in the methods of evaluation. Br J Cancer 69: 26–31, 1994
- 72. Thor AD, Moore IDH, Edgerton SM, Kawasski ES, Reihsaus E, Lynch HT, Marcus JN, Schwartz L, Chen L-C, Mayall BH, Smith HS: Accumulation of p53 tumor suppressor gene protein: an independent marker of prognosis in breast cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst 84: 845–855, 1992
- Walker RA, Dearing SJ, Lane DP, Varley JM: Expression of p53 protein in infiltrating and *in-situ* breast carcinomas. J Pathol 165: 203–211, 1991
- 74. Poller DN, Hutchings CE, Galea M, Bell JA, Nicholson RA, Elston CW, Blamey RW, Ellis IO: p53 protein expression in breast cancer carcinoma: relationship to expression of epidermal growth factor receptor, c-erbB-2 protein overexpression, and oestrogen receptor. Br J Cancer 66: 583–588, 1992
- Barnes DM, Dublin EH, Fisher CJ, Levison DA, Millis RR: Immunohistochemical detection of p53 protein in mammary carcinoma: an important new independent indicator of prognosis? Human Pathol 24: 469–476, 1993
- Lipponen P. Ji H, Aaltomaa S, Syrjanen S, Syrjanen K: P53 protein expression in breast cancer as related to histopathological characteristics and prognosis. Int J Cancer 55: 51– 56, 1993
- 77. Sjogren S. Inganas M. Norberg T. Lindgren A. Nordgren H. Holmbergh L, Bergh J: The p53 gene in breast cancer: prognostic value of complementary DNA sequencing versus immunohistochemistry. J Natl Cancer Inst 88: 173–182. 1996
- Lowe SW, Ruley HE, Jacks T, Housman DE: p53 dependent apoptosis modulates the cytotoxicity of anti cancer agents. Cell 84: 957–967, 1993
- Devilee P. Cornelisse CJ: Somatic genetic changes in human breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Acta 1198: 113–130. 1994
- Stratton MR, Collins N, Lakhani SR, Sloane JP: Loss of heterozygosity in ductal carcinoma *in situ* of the breast. J Pathol 175: 195–202, 1995
- 81. Thibodeau SN, Bren G, Schaid D: Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science 269: 816–819, 1993
- Wooster R, Cleton-Jansen A-M, Collins N. Mangion J, Cornelis RS, Cooper CS, Gusterson BA, Ponder BAJ, von Deimhing A, Wiestler OD, Cornelisse CJ, Devilee P. Stratton MR: Instability of short tandem repeats (microsatellites) in human cancers. Nature Genetics 6: 152–156, 1994
- Yee CJ, Roodi N, Verrier CS, Parl FP: Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in breast cancer. Cancer Res 54: 1641–1644, 1994
- Patel U, Grundfest-Broniatowski S, Gupta M, Banerjee S: Microsatellite instabilities in 5 chromosomes in primary breast tumours. Oncogene 9: 3695–3700, 1994
- 85. Shaw JA, Walsh T, Chappell SA, Carey N, Johnson K,

Walker RA: Microsatellite instability in early breast cancer. Br J Cancer 73: 1393–1397, 1996

- 86. Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens JD, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, Liu Q, Cochran C, Bennett LM, Ding W, Bell R, Rosenthall J, Hussey C, Tran T, McClure M, Frye C, Hattier T, Phelps R, Hangen-Strauo A, Kalchen H, Yakumo K, Gholami Z. Shaffer D, Stone S, Bayer S, Wray C, Bogden R, Dayananth P, Ward J, Tonin P, Narod S, Bristow PK, Norris FH, Helvering L, Morrison P, Rostek P, Lai M, Barrétt JC, Lewis C, Neuhausen S, Cannon-Albright L, Goldgar D, Wiseman R, Kamb A, Skolnick MH: A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science 266: 66–71, 1996
- Wooster R, Bignell G, Lancaster J, Swift S, Seal S, Mangion J, Collinss N, Gregory S, Gumbs C, Micklem G, Barfoot R, Hamoudi R, Pantel S, Rice C, Biggs P, Hashim Y, Smith A, Connor F, Arason A, Gudmundsson J, Ficenec D, Kelsell D, Ford D, Tonin P, Bishop DT, Spurr NK. Ponder BAJ, Eeles R, Peto J, Devilee P, Cornelisse C, Lynch H, Narod S, Lenoir G, Egilsson V, Barkadottir RB, Lynch H, Easton DF, Bentley DR, Futreal PA, Ashworth A, Stratton MR: Identification of the breast cancer gene BRCA2. Nature 378: 789–792, 1995
- Hogervorst FBL, Cornelis RS, Bout M, Van Vliet M, Oosterwijk JC, Olmer R, Bakker B, Klijn TGM, Vasen HFA, Meijers-Heijbuer H, Menko FH, Cornelisse CJ, Den Dunnen JT, Devilee P, Van Ommen G-JB: Rapid detection of BRCA1 mutations by the protein truncation test. Nature Gen 10: 208–212, 1995
- Beckmann MW, Picard F, Anlt X, Van Roeyen CRC, Dominik SI, Mosny DS, Schnurch HG, Bender HG, Niederacher D: Clinical impact of detection of loss of heterozygosity of BRCA1 and BRCA2 markers in sporadic breast cancer. Br J Cancer 73: 1200–1226, 1996
- Hosking L, Trowsdale J, Nicolai H, Solomon E, Foulkes W, Stamp G, Signer E, Jeffreys A: A somatic BRCA1 mutation in an ovarian tumour. Nature Genet 9: 343–344, 1995
- Rose C, Thorpe SM, Andersen KW on behalf of Danish Breast Cancer Co-operative Group: Beneficial effect of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy in primary breast cancer patients with high oestrogen receptor values. Lancet i: 16–20, 1985
- King WJ, Al Sombre ER, Jensen EV, Greene GL: Comparison of immunocytochemical and steroid-binding assays for oestrogen receptor in human breast tumors. Cancer Res 45: 293–304, 1985
- Andersen J, Orntoft TF. Poulsen HS: Immunohistochemical demonstration of estrogen receptor (ER) in formalinfixed. paraffin embedded human breast cancer tissue by use of monoclonal antibody to ER. J Histochem Cytochem 36: 1553–1560, 1988
- 94. Saccani Jotti G, Johnstone SRD, Salter J, Detre S, Dowsett M: Comparison of new immunohistochemical assay for oestrogen receptor in paraffin wax embedded breast carcinoma tissue with quantitative enzyme immunoassay. J Clin Pathol 47: 900–905, 1994

- McClelland RA. Wilson D, Leake R, Finlay P, Nicholson RI: A multicentre study into the reliability of steroid receptor immunocytochemical assay quantification. Eur J Cancer 27: 711–715, 1991
- 96. Barnes DM, Millis RR: Oestrogen receptors: the history, the relevance and the methods of evaluation: In: Kirkham N, Lemoine NR (eds) Progress in Pathology, Vol 2. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1995, pp 89–114
- Walter P, Green S, Greene G, Krust A, Bornert J-M, Jeltsch J-M, Staubs A, Jensen E, Scrace G, Waterfield M, Chambon P: Cloning of the human oestrogen receptor. cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82: 7889–7893, 1985
- Kumar V, Green S, Stack G, Berry M, Jin J-R, Chambon P: Functional domains of the human oestrogen receptor. Cell 51: 941–951, 1987
- Umesono K, Evans RM: Determinates of target gene specificity for steroid/thyroid hormone receptors. Cell 57: 1139– 1146, 1989
- Koh EH, Ro J, Wildsick DM, Hortobagyi GN, Buck GN: Analysis of the oestrogen receptor gene structure of human breast cancer. Anti Cancer Res 9: 1841–1846, 1989
- Watts CKW, Handel ML, King RJB, Sutherland RL: Oestrogen receptor gene structure and function in breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol 41: 529–536, 1992
- 102. Hill SM, Fuqua SAW, Chamness GC, Greene GL, McGuire WL: Estrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer associated with an estrogen receptor gene restriction fragment length polymorphism. Cancer Res 49: 145-148, 1989
- Yaich L, Dupont WD, Cavener DR, Parl FF: Analysis of the PVU II restriction fragment-length polymorphism and exon structure of the estrogen receptor gene in breast cancer and peripheral blood. Cancer Res 52: 77–83, 1992
- Andersen TI, Heimdel KR, Skrede M, Tveit K, Berg K, Borresen A-L: Oestrogen receptor (ESR) polymorphisms and breast cancer susceptibility. Hum Genet 94: 665–670, 1994
- 105. Piva R, Rimondi AP, Hanan S, Moestu I, Alvisi A, Kumar VL, del Senno L: Different methylation of oestrogen receptor DNA in human breast carcinomas with and without oestrogen receptor. Br J Cancer 61: 270–275, 1990
- 106. Lapidus RG, Fergusson AT, Ottaviano YL, Parl FF, Smith HS, Weitzman SA, Baylin SA, Issa J-PJ, Davidson NE: Methylation of oestrogen and progesterone receptor gene 5 CpG islands correlates with lack of oestrogen and progesterone receptor gene expression in breast tumors. Clin Cancer Res 2: 805–810, 1996
- 107. Ottaviano YL, Issa J-P, Parl FF, Smith HS, Baylin SB, Davidson NE: Methylation of the estrogen receptor gene CpG island marks loss of estrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 54: 2552–2555, 1994
- Fergusson AT, Lapidus RG, Baylin SB, Davidson NE: Demethylation of the estrogen receptor gene in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer cells can reactivate estrogen receptor gene expression. Cancer Res 55: 2279–2283, 1995

- Sluyser M: Steroid/thyroid receptor-like proteins with oncogenic potential: a review. Cancer Res 50: 451–458, 1990
- 110. Garcia T, Lehrer S, Bloomer WD, Schachter B: A variant estrogen receptor messenger ribonucleic acid is associated with reduced levels of estrogen binding in human mammary tumors. Mol Endocrinol 2: 785–791, 1988
- 111. Schmutzler RK, Sanchez M, Lehrer S, Chaparro C, Phillips C, Rabin J, Schachter B: Incidence of estrogen receptor polymorphism in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat 19: 111–117, 1991
- Scott GK, Kushner P. Vigne J-L, Benz CC: Truncated forms of DNA-binding estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest 88: 700–706, 1991
- 113. Fuqua SAW, Allred DC, Elledge RM, Kreig SL, Benedix MG, Nawaz Z, O'Malley BW, Greene GL, McGuire WL: The ER-positive/PgR negative breast cancer phenotype is not associated with mutations within the DNA binding domain. Breast Cancer Res Treat 26: 191–202, 1993
- Murphy LC, Dotzlaw H: Variant estrogen receptor mRNA species detected in human breast cancer biopsy samples. Mol Endocrinol 3: 687–693, 1989
- Dotzlaw H, Ackhalaf M, Murphy LC: Characterization of estrogen receptor variant in mRNAs from human breast cancers. Mol Endocrinol 3: 687–693, 1989
- 116. Murphy LC, Hilsenbeck SG, Dotzlaw H, Fuqua SAW: Relationship of clone 4 estrogen receptor variant messenger RNA expression to know prognostic variables in human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1: 155–159, 1995
- 117. Fuqua SAW, Falette NF, McGuire WL: Sensitive detection of estrogen receptor mRNA by polymerase chain reaction assay. J Natl Cancer Inst 82: 858–861, 1990
- 118. Fuqua SAW, Fitzgerald SD, Chamness GC, Tandon AK, McDonnell DP, Nawaz Z, O'Malley BW, McGuire WL: Variant human breast tumor estrogen receptor with constitutive transcriptional activity. Cancer Res 51: 105–109, 1991
- 119. Fuqua SAW, Fitzgerald SD, Allred DC, Elledge RM, Nawaz Z. McDonnell DP, O'Maley BW, Greene GL, McGuire WL: Inhibition of estrogen receptor action by a naturally occurring variant in human breast tumors. Cancer Res 52: 483–486, 1992
- Karwik PS, Kulkarni S, Liu X-P, Budd GT, Bukowski RM: Estrogen receptor mutations in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer. Cancer Res 54: 349–353, 1994
- 121. Daffala AAI, Johnston SRD, Smith IE, Detre S, King N, Dowsett M: Exon 5 deletion variant estrogen receptor messenger RNA expression in relation to tamoxifen resistance and progesterone receptor/pS2 status in human breast cancer. Cancer Res 55: 288–293. 1995
- 122. Roodi N, Bailey LR, Yuo N-Y, Verrier CS, Yee CJ, Dupont LD, Parl FF: Estrogen receptor gene analysis in estrogen receptor-positive and receptor-negative primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 87: 446–451, 1995
- 123. Rajakariar R, Walker RA: Pathological and biological features of mammographically detected invasive breast carcinomas. Br J Cancer 71: 150–154, 1995
- 124. Fuqua SAW, Hill SM, Chamness GC, Benedix MG, Green

GL, O'Malley BW, McGuire WL: Progesterone receptor gene restriction fragment length polymorphisms in human breast tumours. J Natl Cancer Inst 83: 1157–1160, 1991

- Walker RA, Varley JM: The molecular pathology of human breast cancer. Cancer Surv 16: 31–57, 1993
- 126. Masiakowski P, Breathnach R, Bloch J, Gannon T, Krust A. Chambon P: Cloning of cDNA sequences of hormone regulated genes from the MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line. EMBO J 10: 7895–7903, 1982
- 127. May FEB, Westley BR: Cloning of estrogen-regulated messenger RNA sequences from human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 46: 603–6040, 1986
- 128. Skilton RA, Luqmani YA, McClelland RA, Coombs RC: Characterisation of a messenger RNA selectively expressed in human breast cancer. Br J Cancer 60: 168–175, 1989
- 129. Henry JA, Nicholson S, Hennessy C, Lenard TWJ, May FEB, Westley BR: Expression of oestrogen regulated pNR 2 mRNA in human breast cancer: relation to oestrogen receptor mRNA levels and response to endocrine therapy. Br J Cancer 50: 3832–3837, 1989
- Koerner FC, Goldberg D, Edgerton SM, Schwartz LH: pS2 protein and steroid hormone receptors in invasive breast carcinomas. Int J Cancer 52: 183–188, 1992
- Walker RA, Rajakariar R, Dookeran KA: Comparison of pS2 and cathepsin D in primary breast carcinoma. The Breast 4: 137–142, 1995
- 132. Henry JA, Piggott NH, Mallick VK, Nicholson S, Farndon JR, Westley BR, May FEB: pNR-2/pS2 immunohistochemical staining in breast cancer: correlation with prognostic factors and endocrine response. Br J Cancer 62: 615– 622, 1991
- 133. Carr M, May FEB, Lennard TWJ, Westley BR: Determination of oestrogen responsiveness of breast cancer by competitive reverse transcription – polymerase chain reaction. Br J Cancer 72: 1427–1434, 1995
- Poulson R, Wright NA: Trefoil peptides: a newly recognised family of epithelial mucin-associated molecules. Am J Physiol 265: 205-213, 1993
- 135. Nunez A-M, Berry M, Imler J-L. Chambon P: The 5' flanking region of the pS2 gene contains a complex enhancer region responsive to oestrogens, epidermal growth factor, a tumour promoter (TPA), the c-H-ras oncoprotein and the c-jun protein. EMBO J 8: 823–829, 1989
- 136. Dookeran KA, Rye PD, Dearing SJ, Walker RA: Expression of the pS2 peptide in primary breast carcinomas: comparison of membrane and cytoplasmic staining patterns. J Pathol 171: 123–129, 1993
- Westley BR, Rochefort H: A secreted glycoprotein induced by oestrogen in human breast cancer cell lines. Cell 20: 353–362, 1980
- 138. Thorpe SM, Rochefort H, Garcia M, Freiss G, Christensen J, Khalaf S, Paoluccii F, Parr B, Rasmussen BB, Rose C: Association between high concentrations of 52 k cathepsin D and poor prognosis in primary breast cancer. Cancer Res 49: 6008–6014, 1989

- 139. Tandon AC, Clarke GM, Chamness GC, Chirgwin JM, McGuire WL: Cathepsin D and prognosis in breast cancer. N Engl J Med 322: 297–302, 1990
- 140. Duffy MJ, Brouillet J-P, Reilly D, McDermott E, O'Higgins N, Fennelly J, Maudelonde T, Rochefort H: Cathepsin D concentration in breast cancer cytosols: correlation with biochemical, histological and clinical findings. Clin Chem 37: 101–104, 1991
- 141. Garcia M, Derocq P, Pujol P, Rochefort H: Overexpression of transfected cathepsin D in transformed cells increased their malignant phenotype and metastatic potency. Oncogene 5: 1809–1814, 1990
- 142. Walker RA, Denley H, Dookeran KA: Cathepsin D in breast carcinomas – the role of the stromal cell component. Oncology Rep 1: 227–231, 1994
- 143. Thor A, Benz C, Moore D, Goldman E, Edgerton S, Landry J, Schwartz L, Mayall B, Hickey E, Weber LA: Stress response protein (srp-27) determination in primary human breast carcinomas: Clinical histologic and prognostic correlations. J Natl Cancer Inst 83: 170–178, 1991
- 144. Manning DL; Robertson JFR, Ellis IO, Elston CW, McClelland RA, Gee JMW, Jones RJ, Green CD, Cannon P, Blamey RW, Nicholson RI: Oestrogen regulated genes in breast cancer: association of pLIV1 with lymph node involvement. Eur J Cancer 30A: 675–678, 1994
- 145. Downward J, Yarden Y, Mayes E, Scarce G, Totty N, Stockwell P, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J, Waterfield MD: Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erbB oncogene protein sequences. Nature 307: 521–527, 1984
- 146. Sainsbury JRC, Needham GC, Malcolm A, Farndon JR, Harris AL: Epidermal growth factor receptor status as predictor of recurrence and of death from breast cancer. Lancet I: 1398–1402, 1987
- 147. Klijn JGM, Berns PMJJ. Schmitz PIM, Foekens JA: The clinical significance of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer: a review of 5232 patients. Endocr Rev 13: 3–17, 1992
- 148. Nicholson S, Halcrow P, Farndon JR, Sainsbury JRC, Chambers P, Harris AL: Expression of epidermal growth factor receptors associated with lack of response to endocrine therapy in recurrent breast cancer. Lancet i: 182–185, 1989
- 149. Nicholson RI, McClelland RA, Gee JMW, Manning DL, Cannon P, Robertson JFR, Ellis IO, Blamey RW: Epidermal growth factor recexpression in breast cancer: association with response to endocrine therapy. Br Cancer Res Treat 29: 117–125, 1994
- Harris AL, Nicholson S: Epidermal growth factor receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer Treat Res 40: 93–118, 1988
- Chrysogelos SA. Yarden RI. Lauber AH. Murphy JM: Mechanisms of EGF receptor regulation in breast cancer cells. Br Cancer Res Treat 31: 227–236, 1994
- 152. Roberts AB, Thompson NL, Heine V, Flanders K, Sporn

MB: Transforming growth factor beta<sub>1</sub>: possible roles in carcinogenesis. Br J Cancer 57: 594–600, 1988

- 153. Knabbe C, Lippman ME, Wakefield LM, Flanders KC, Kasid AL, Derynck R, Dickson RB: Evidence that transforming growth factor-β is a hormonally regulated negative growth factor in human breast cancer cells. Cell 48: 417– 428, 1987
- 154. Arrick BA, Lopez AR, Elfman F, Ebner R, Damsky CH, Derynck R: Altered metabolic and adhesive properties and increased tumorigenicity associated with increased expression of transforming growth factor  $\beta_1$ . J Cell Biol 118: 715–726, 1992
- 155. Dutta A, MacLennan K, Flanders KC, Sacks NPM, Smith I, McKinna A, Dowsett M, Wakefield LM, Sporn MB. Baum M, Colletta AA: Induction of transforming growth factor  $β_t$  in human breast cancer *in vivo* following tamoxifen treatment. Cancer Res 52: 4261–4264, 1992
- 156. Benson JR, Wakefield LM, Baum M, Colletta AA: Synthesis and secretion of transforming growth factor beta isoforms by primary cultures of human breast tumour fibroblasts *in vitro* and their modulation by tamoxifen. Br J Cancer 74: 352–358, 1996
- 157. MacCallum J, Keen JC, Bartlett JMS, Thompson AM, Dixon JM, Miller WR: Changes in expression of transforming growth factor beta mRNA isoforms in patients undergoing tamoxifen therapy. Br J Cancer 74: 474–478. 1996
- 158. Walker RA, Dearing SJ: Transforming growth factor beta, in ductal carcinoma *in-situ* and invasive carcinomas of the breast. Eur J Cancer 28: 641–644, 1992
- 159. Gorsch SM, Moli VA, Stukel TA, Gold LI, Arrick BA: Immunohistochemical staining for transforming growth factor  $\beta_1$  associates with disease progression in human breast cancer. Cancer Res 52: 6949–6952, 1992
- 160. Dalal BI, Keown PA, Greenberg H: Immunocytochemical localization of secreted transforming growth factor  $\beta_1$  to the advancing edges of primary tumours and to lymph node metastases of human mammary carcinoma. Am J Pathol 143: 381–389, 1993
- 161. Walker RA, Dearing SJ, Gallacher B: Relationship of transforming growth factor beta<sub>1</sub> to extracellular matrix and stromal infiltrates in invasive breast carcinoma. Br J Cancer 69: 1160–1165, 1994
- 162. Walker RA, Gallacher B: Determination of transforming growth factor beta, mRNA expression in breast carcinomas by *in situ* hybridization. J Pathol 177: 123–127, 1995
- 163. Kemler R: Classical cadherins. Semin Cell Biol 3: 149–155.1992
- Kembler R: From cadherins to catenins: cytoplasmic protein interactions and regulation of cell adhesion. Trends Genet 9: 317–321, 1993
- 165. Vleminckx K, Vakaet L, Mareel MM, Fiers W, Van Roy F: Genetic manipulation of E-cadherin expression by epithelial tumour cells reveals an invasion suppressor role. Cell 66: 107–119, 1991
- 166. Moll R, Mitze M, Frixen VH, Birchmeier W: Differential

loss of E-cadherin in infiltrating ductal and lobular breast carcinomas. Am J Pathol 143: 1731–1742, 1993

- 167. Oka H, Shiozaki H, Kobayashi K, Inove M, Tahara H, Kobayashi T, Takatsuka Y, Matsuyoshi N, Hirno S, Takeichi M, Mori T: Expression of E-cadherin cell adhesion molecules in human breast cancer tissues and its relationship to metastasis. Cancer Res 53: 1696–1701, 1993
- Lipponen P. Saarelainen E. Ji H. Aaltomaa S. Syrjanen K: Expression of E-cadherin (E-Cd) as related to other prognostic factors and survival in breast cancer. J Pathol 174: 101–109, 1994
- 169. Jones JL. Royall JE, Walker RA: E-cadherin relates to EGFR expression and lymph node metastasis in primary breast carcinoma. Br J Cancer 74: 1237–1241, 1996
- 170. Lindblom A, Rotstein S, Skoog L, Nordenskjold M, Larsson C: Deletions on chromosome 16 primary breast carcinomas are associated with development of distant metastases. Cancer Res 53: 3707–3711, 1993
- Rasbridge SA, Gillett CE, Sampson SA, Walsh FS, Millis RR: Epithelial (E-) and placental (P-) cadherin cell adhesion molecule expression in breast carcinoma. J Pathol 169: 245–250, 1993
- 172. Kanai Y, Oda T, Tsuda H, Ochiai A, Hirohashi S: Point mutation of the E-cadherin gene in invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast. Jpn J Cancer Res 85: 1035–1039, 1994
- 173. Berx G, Cleton-Jansen A-M. Nollet F, De Leeuw JF, Van der Vijver MJ, Cornelisse C, Van Roy F: E-cadherin in a tumour/invasion suppressor gene mutated in human lobular breast cancers. EMBO J 14: 6107–6115, 1995
- 174. Kashiwaba M, Tamura G, Suzuki Y, Maesawa C. Ogasawara S, Sakata K. Sotadate R: Epithelial-cadherin gene is not mutated in ductal carcinomas of the breast. Jpn J Cancer Res 86: 1054–1059, 1995
- Hynes RO: Integrins, versatility, modulation and signalling in cell adhesion. Cell 69: 11–25, 1992
- 176. Zutter MM, Krigman HR, Santoro SA: Altered integrin expression in adenocarcinoma of the breast. Analysis by *in situ* hybridization. Am J Pathol 142: 1439–1448, 1993
- 177. Zutter MM, Mazoujian G, Santoro SA: Decreased expression of integrin adhesive protein receptors in adenocarcinoma of the breast. Am J Pathol 137: 863–870, 1990
- Pignatelli M, Hanby AN, Stamp GWH: Low expression of β<sub>1</sub>, α<sub>2</sub> and α<sub>3</sub> subunits of VLA integrins in malignant mammary tumours. J Pathol 165: 25–32, 1994
- 179. Natali PG, Nicotra MR, Botti C, Mottolese M, Bigothi A, Segatto O: Changes in expression of α<sub>0</sub>/β<sub>4</sub> integrin heterodimer in primary and metastatic breast cancer. Br J Cancer 66: 318–322, 1992
- Jones JL, Critchley DR, Walker RA: Alteration of stromal protein and integrin expression in breast – a marker of premalignant change? J Pathol 167: 399–406, 1992
- 181. Pignatelli M, Cardillo MR, Hanby A, Stamp GWH: Integrins and their accessory adhesion molecules in mammary carcinomas: loss of polarization in poorly differentiated tumours. Hum Pathol 23: 1159–1166, 1992
- 182. Blasi F, Vassalli JD, Dano K: Urokinase-type plasminogen

activate: proenzyme, receptor and inhibitors. J Cell Biol 104: 801-804, 1987

- 183. Duffy MJ, Reilly D, O'Sullivan C, O'Higgins N, Fennelly JJ, Andreasen P: Urokinase-plasminogen activator, a new and independent prognostic marker in breast cancer. Cancer Res 50: 6827–6829, 1990
- 184. Janicke F, Schmitt M, Pache L, Ulm K, Harbeck N, Hoefler H, Graeff H: Urokinase (uPA) and its inhibitor PAI-1 are strong independent prognostic factors in node negative breast cancers. Br Cancer Res Treat 24: 195–208, 1993
- 185. Grondhahl-Hansen J, Christensen IJ, Rosenquist C, Brunner N, Mouridsen HT, Dano K, Buchet-Toft M: High levels of urokinase-type plasminogen activation and its inhibitor PAI-1 in cytosolic extracts of breast carcinomas are associated with poor prognosis. Cancer Res 53: 2573–2521, 1993
- 186. Bouchet C, Spyratos F, Martin PM, Hacene K, Gentile A, Oglobine J: Prognostic value of urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its inhibitor PAI-1 and PAI-2 in breast carcinomas. Br J Cancer 69: 398–405, 1994
- 187. Constantini V, Sidoni A, Deveglia R, Cazzoto OA, Bellezza G, Ferri I, Bucciarelli E, Nenci GG: Combined overexpression of urokinase. urokinase receptor, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 is associated with breast cancer progression. Cancer 77: 1079–1088, 1996
- Pyke C, Graem N, Ralfkiaer N, Hoeyer-Hansen G, Brunner N, Dano K: Receptor for urokinase in present in tumour-associated macrophages in ductal breast carcinoma. Cancer Res 53: 1911–1915, 1993
- 189. Bianchi E, Cohen RL, Thor AT, Todd III RF, Mizukami IF, Lawrence DA, Ljung BM, Shuman MA, Smith HS: The urokinase receptor is expressed in invasive breast cancer but not in normal breast tissue. Cancer Res 54: 841–866. 1994
- Woessner JF: Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in connective tissue remodelling. FASEB J 5: 2145– 2154, 1991
- Powell WC, Matrisian LM: Complex roles of matrix metalloproteinases in tumour progression. In: Gunthert U. Schleg PM, Birchmeier W (eds) Attempts to Understand Metastasis Formation. 1. Metastasis Related Molecules. Springer-Verlag, Heidelburg, 1996, pp 1–21
- Cawston TE: Protein inhibitors of metalloproteinases. In: Barnett AJ, Salvesen G (eds) Proteinase Inhibitors. Elsevier, Amsterdam. 1986, pp 589-610
- 193. Uria JA, Ferrando AA, Velasco G, Freije JMP, Lopez-Otin C: Structure and expression in breast tumours of human TIMP-3, a new member of the metalloproteinase inhibitor
   family. Cancer Res 54: 2091–2094, 1994
- 194. Monteagudo C, Merino MJ, San JJ, Liotta LA, Stetler-Stevenson WG: Immunohistochemical distribution of type IV collogenase in normal, benign and malignant breast tissue. Am J Pathol 136: 585–592, 1990
- 195. Davies B, Miles DW, Happerfield LC, Naylor MS, Bobrow LG, Rubens RD, Balkwill FR: Activity of type IV collagenases in benign and malignant breast disease. Br J Cancer 67: 1126–1131, 1993

- 196. D'Errico A, Gerbisa S, Liotta LA, Castronovo V, Stetler-Stevenson WG, Grigioni WF: Augmentation of type IV collagenase, laminin receptor and Ki 67 proliferation antigen associated with human colon, gastric and breast carcinoma progression. Mod Pathol 4: 239–246, 1991
- 197. Iwata H, Kobayashi S, Iwase H, Masaoka A, Fujimoto N, Okada Y: Production of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in human breast carcinomas. Jpn J Cancer Res 87: 602–611, 1996
- 198. Basset P, Bellocq JP, Wolf C, Stoll I, Hutin P, Limacher JM, Podhajcer OL, Chenard MP, Rio MC, Chambon P: A novel metalloproteinase gene specifically expressed in stromal cells of breast carcinomas. Nature 348: 699–704, 1990
- 199. Kawami H, Yoshida K, Ohsaki A, Kuroi K, Nishiyama M, Toge T: Stromelysin-2 mRNA expression and malignancy: comparison with clinicopathological features and type IV collagenase mRNA expression in breast tumors. Anticancer Res 13: 2319–2324, 1993
- Hahnel E, Harvey JM, Joyce R, Robbins RD, Sterrett GF, Hahnel R: Stromelysin-3 expression in breast cancer biopsies: clinicopathological correlations. Int J Cancer 55: 771– 774, 1993
- 201. Engel G, Heseemeyer K, Auer G, Backdahl M, Eriksson E, Linder S: Correlation between stromelysin-3 level and outcome of human breast cancer. Int J Cancer 58: 1–7, 1994
- 202. Onisto M, Riccio MP, Scannapieco P, Caenozzo C, Griggio L, Spina M, Stetler-Stevenson WG. Garibsa S: Gelatinase A/TIMP-2 imbalance in lymph node positive breast cancer as measured by RT-PCR. Int J Cancer 63: 621–626, 1995
- 203. Kossakowska AG, Huchcroft SA, Urbanski SJ, Edwards DR: Comparative analysis of the expression patterns of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in breast neoplasia, sporadic colorectal neoplasia, pulmonary carcinomas and malignant non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in humans. Br J Cancer 73: 1401–1408, 1996
- 204. Poulsom R. Hanby AM, Pignatelli M, Jeffrey RE, Longcroft JM, Rogers L, Stamp GWH: Expression of gelatinase A and TIMP-2 mRNAs in desmoplastic fibroblasts in both mammary carcinomas and basal carcinomas of the skin. J Clin Pathol 46: 429–436, 1993
- 205. Soini Y, Hurskainen T, Hoyhtya M, Oikarinen A, Autio-Harmainen H: 72 kD and 92 kD type collagenase, type IV collagen and laminin mRNAs in breast cancer: a study by *in situ* hybridisation. J Histochem Cytochem 42: 945–951, 1994
- Emonard H, Remack A, Boel A, Grimaud JA, Stetler-Stevenson WG, Foidart JM: Tumour cell surface associated binding site for the Mr 72,000 type IV collagenase. Cancer Res 52: 5845–5848, 1992
- 207. Sato H. Takino T, Okado Y, Cao J, Shinagawa A, Yamamoto E. Seiki M: A matrix metalloproteinase expressed on the surface of invasive tumour cells. Nature 370: 61–65, 1994
- 208. Will H, Hinzmann B: cDNA sequence and mRNA tissue distribution of a novel human matrix metalloproteinase with a potential transmembrane segment. Eur J Biochem 231: 602–608, 1995

26

- Sato H, Seiki M: Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) in tumour metastasis. J Biochem 119: 209– 215, 1996
- 210. Takino T, Sato H, Shinagawa A, Seiki M: Identification of the second membrane type matrix metalloproteinase (MT-MMP2) gene from a human placenta cDNA library: MT-MMP form a unique membrane-type subclass in the MMP family. J Biol Chem 270: 23013–23020, 1995
- 211. Nomura H, Sato H, Seiki M, Mai M, Okada Y: Expression of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase in human gastric carcinomas. Cancer Res 55: 3263–3266, 1995

212. Tokuraku M, Sato H. Murakami S, Okoda Y, Watanabe Y,Seiki M: Activation of the precursor of gelatinase A/72 kDa type IV collagenase/MMP-2 in lung carcinomas correlates with the expression of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase (MT-MMP) and with lymph node metastasis. Int J Cancer 64: 355–359, 1995

Address for offprint: R.A. Walker, Breast Cancer Research Unit, Clinical Sciences, Glenfield Hospital, Groby Road, Leicester, LE3 9QP, UK

## **SPECIAL NOTE**

## ITEM SCANNED AS SUPPLIED PAGINATION IS AS SEEN

•